
 

 
 

Lloyd White 

Head of Democratic Services 

London Borough of Hillingdon, 

3E/05, Civic Centre, High Street, Uxbridge, UB8 1UW 

www.hillingdon.gov.uk  

   

Hillingdon 
Planning 
Committee 

  

Councillors on the Committee 
 
Councillor Henry Higgins (Chair) 
Councillor Adam Bennett (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Keith Burrows 
Councillor Roy Chamdal 
Councillor Ekta Gohil 
Councillor Elizabeth Garelick 
Councillor Raju Sansarpuri 
 

   

Date: WEDNESDAY, 14 
JANUARY 2026 
 

 

Time: 7.00 PM 
 

Venue: COMMITTEE ROOM 5 - 
CIVIC CENTRE 

  
Meeting 
Details: 

The public and press are welcome 
to attend and observe the meeting.  

 
For safety and accessibility, security measures will 
be conducted, including searches of individuals and 
their belongings. Attendees must also provide 
satisfactory proof of identity upon arrival. Refusal to 
comply with these requirements will result in non-
admittance. 
 
This meeting may be broadcast on the Council’s 
YouTube channel. You can also view this agenda 
online at www.hillingdon.gov.uk 

 

  
Published: Tuesday, 06 January 2026  

 Contact: Ryan Dell 
Email: democratic@hillingdon.gov.uk 

 
  

Public Document Pack

http://www.hillingdon.gov.uk/
http://www.hillingdon.gov.uk/


 

 

 
 
Useful information for  
residents and visitors 
 

Travel and parking 
 
Bus routes 427, U1, U3, U4 and U7 all stop at the 
Civic Centre. Uxbridge underground station, with 
the Piccadilly and Metropolitan lines, is a short walk 
away. Limited parking is available at the Civic 
Centre. For details on availability and how to book a 
parking space, please contact Democratic Services. 
Please enter from the Council’s main reception 
where you will be directed to the Committee Room.  
 
Accessibility 
 
An Induction Loop System is available for use in the 
various meeting rooms. Please contact us for 
further information.  
 
Attending, reporting and filming of meetings 
 
For the public part of this meeting, residents and the media are welcomed to attend, and if 
they wish, report on it, broadcast, record or film proceedings as long as it does not disrupt 
proceedings. It is recommended to give advance notice to ensure any particular 
requirements can be met. The Council will provide a seating area for residents/public, an 
area for the media and high speed WiFi access to all attending. The officer shown on the 
front of this agenda should be contacted for further information and will be available at the 
meeting to assist if required. Kindly ensure all mobile or similar devices on silent mode. 
 
Please note that the Council may also record or film this meeting and publish this online. 
 
Emergency procedures 
 
If there is a FIRE, you will hear a continuous alarm. Please follow the signs to the nearest 
FIRE EXIT and assemble on the Civic Centre forecourt. Lifts must not be used unless 
instructed by a Fire Marshal or Security Officer. 
 
In the event of a SECURITY INCIDENT, follow instructions issued via the tannoy, a Fire 
Marshal or a Security Officer. Those unable to evacuate using the stairs, should make their 
way to the signed refuge locations. 



 

 

Agenda 
 

 

 

Chairman's Announcements 

1 Apologies for absence  

2 Declarations of Interest in matters coming before this meeting  

3 To receive the minutes of the previous meeting 1 - 10 

4 Matters that have been notified in advance or urgent  

5 To confirm that the items of business marked Part I will be considered in 
Public and the items marked Part II will be considered in Private 

 

 

Planning Committee Report Part 1_Standard Information      11-18 

 

Applications with a Petition 
 

6   47 Sweetcroft - 
15756/APP/2024/3112 
 
 

Hillingdon 
East 
 

Demolition of existing house and 
erection of a two storey, new build 
house consisting of 6no. bedrooms with 
a basement (Amended plans and 
description). 
 
Recommendations: Approval 

19 – 62 
 

230 – 246   

 

Applications without a Petition 
 

7   Ariel Hotel, 118 Bath 
Road - 
1126/APP/2023/3671 
 
 

Heathrow 
Villages 
 

Reconfiguration, alteration, and 
extension of existing hotel (providing 
additional hotel rooms) (Use Class C1), 
together with erection of a new apart-
hotel building (Use Class C1) on car 
park land to the north (AMENDED 
PLANS) 
 
Recommendations: Approve + Sec 
106 

63 – 116 
 

247 – 276  



 

8   82-84 High Street, 
Ruislip - 
78935/APP/2025/2287 
 
 

Ruislip 
 

Creation of 5no. self-contained flats 
with associated cycle and bin storage, 
following the change of use of first floor 
from office (Class E) to residential 
(Class C3), the erection of a two storey 
rear extension and alterations to rear 
building at first floor level and the 
retention and reconfiguration of the 
Class E unit at ground floor level with 
alterations to fenestration. 
 
Recommendations: Approval 

117 – 162 
 

277 – 289  

9   9 Kingsend - 
36969/APP/2025/2303 
 
 

Ruislip 
 

Facade alteration for the installation of 
On Demand Grocery Hatch (ODG) at 
ground floor level, with associated 
parking space for delivery vehicles 
(Description Amended) 
 
Recommendations: Approval 

163 – 188 
 

290 – 296  

 

Planning Committee Report Part 3_Policy Appendices    189 – 228  

 

Plans for the Hillingdon Planning Committee                    229 – 296  

10 Addendum 297 – 300  



 

 

Minutes 
 

 

HILLINGDON PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
16 December 2025 
 
Meeting held at Council Chamber - Civic Centre, 
High Street, Uxbridge UB8 1UW 
 
 

 Committee Members Present:  
Councillors Henry Higgins (Chair) 
Roy Chamdal 
Elizabeth Garelick 
Tony Gill 
Ekta Gohil  
 
LBH Officers Present:  
Eoin Concannon, Planning Team Leader 
Natalie Fairclough, Deputy Principal Planning Lawyer 
Roz Johnson, Head of Development Management and Building Control 
Ed Laughton, Area Planning Service Manager 
Sally Robbins, Senior Planning Officer 
Ian Thynne, Head of Environmental Specialists 
Dr Alan Tilly, Transport Planning and Development Team Manager  
 

106.     APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  (Agenda Item 1) 
 

 Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Adam Bennett, Councillor Keith 
Burrows and from Councillor Raju Sansarpuri with Councillor Tony Gill substituting for 
the latter.  
 

107.     DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST IN MATTERS COMING BEFORE THIS MEETING  
(Agenda Item 2) 
 

 There were no declarations of interest.  
 

108.     TO RECEIVE THE MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  (Agenda Item 3) 
 

 RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting dated 5 November 2025 be agreed 
as an accurate record.  
 

109.     MATTERS THAT HAVE BEEN NOTIFIED IN ADVANCE OR URGENT  (Agenda Item 
4) 
 

 None.  
 

110.     TO CONFIRM THAT THE ITEMS OF BUSINESS MARKED PART I WILL BE 
CONSIDERED IN PUBLIC AND THE ITEMS MARKED PART II WILL BE 
CONSIDERED IN PRIVATE  (Agenda Item 5) 
 

 It was confirmed that all items of business were marked Part I and would be considered 
in public.  

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



  

 

 

111.     HEATHROW AIRPORT - 41573/APP/2024/2838  (Agenda Item 6) 
 

 Enabling works to allow implementation of full runway alternation during easterly 
operations at Heathrow Airport including the creation of a new 'hold area' at the 
western end of the northern runway, the construction of new access and exit 
taxiways, the construction of an acoustic noise barrier to the south of Longford 
Village and temporary construction compounds. 
  
The proposed development is subject to an Environment Impact Assessment 
(Notice under Article 19 of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental 
Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017). 
 
The Area Planning Service Manager and the Head of Environmental Specialists 
introduced the application which concerned an application at Heathrow Airport. It was 
noted that the application related to enabling works intended to implement full runway 
alternation during easterly operations. The proposals included the creation of a new 
holding area at the western end of the northern runway, construction of new access 
and exit taxiways, installation of an acoustic noise barrier south of Longford village, and 
establishment of temporary construction compounds. These works were subject to an 
Environmental Impact Assessment. 
 
Officers clarified that the application did not propose an increase in the air traffic 
movement cap set by the Terminal Five decision, nor did it enable airport expansion. 
The submission was standalone and unrelated to expansion proposals. Detailed plans 
and constraints maps were presented, highlighting conservation areas, listed buildings, 
and green belt land. Officers explained the operational context, including the historic 
Cranford Agreement, which had previously restricted departures over Cranford village. 
It was noted that the agreement had been formally ended to allow equitable noise 
distribution and predictable respite periods for affected communities. 
 
The proposed easterly alternation mirrored westerly operations, introducing runway 
alternation to provide relief from noise. Planning history indicated that a similar 
application had been refused in 2013 but subsequently approved on appeal in 2017, 
with consent later lapsing. The current application sought to secure appropriate 
mitigation measures, including the noise barrier and rapid access taxiways. Due to the 
significant environmental effects, permitted development rights had been removed, 
necessitating a full assessment. 
 
Members heard that an extended consultation process had been undertaken, involving 
370 letters, public notices, advertisements in local and regional newspapers, and 
publication on the Council’s website. It was noted that the London Borough of 
Hounslow had objected, citing insufficient engagement and technical detail regarding 
mitigation measures. Officers clarified that these concerns had been addressed in the 
Committee report and Heathrow’s response, and recommended approval of the 
application with mitigation secured. Amendments to conditions and heads of terms 
were outlined, including sustainable water management and ultrafine particle 
considerations. 
 
 
A petition had been received in objection to the application, and the lead petitioner was 
in attendance to address the Committee Members. Key points highlighted included:  
 

Page 2



  

 

 It was stated that the officer’s recommendation was unsound because it relied 
on an incomplete environmental statement with key impacts either unassessed 
or assessed using flawed methodologies. Noise, vibration, and ultrafine particle 
impacts were identified as missing or uncertain, while mitigation measures were 
deferred, undefined, and ineffective. The proposed increase in departures from 
approximately 100 per year to over 56,000 was highlighted as a significant 
concern, exposing the Council to legal risk. 

 It was stated that the application failed to comply with the Environmental Impact 
Assessment Regulations 2017, as Regulation 26 required a clear and reasoned 
conclusion on the significance of environmental effects. The environmental 
statement lacked baseline monitoring for ultrafine particles and vibration, and 
relied on uncertain modelling and future assessments, making a lawful 
conclusion impossible. 

 The noise and vibration assessment was criticised for using LAQ averaging, 
which masked event-based disturbances, and for treating a 3 dB increase as 
minor despite its acoustic significance. Limited real-world data and absence of 
baseline vibration monitoring further undermined reliability. The claimed benefits 
for 62,100 people were deemed questionable due to flawed methodology. 

 Mitigation measures were considered legally inadequate under CIL Regulation 
122, as they were undefined, deferred, and disproportionate. Monitoring and 
compensation were deemed insufficient to make unacceptable impacts 
acceptable. Specific concerns included reliance on flawed noise contours, lack 
of low-frequency noise mitigation, and inadequate vibration measures. 

 The lead petitioner requested that the Committee either refuse the application or 
defer determination until baseline monitoring, and a complete environmental 
statement were provided. This approach was presented as evidence-led and 
procedurally sound, rather than anti-development.  

 
Representatives of Heathrow were also in attendance and addressed the Committee 
Members. Key points highlighted included:  
 

 It was noted that the application involved no increase in flights or passenger 
numbers but required significant runway works and a noise barrier, representing 
substantial costs to Heathrow. It was confirmed that the application had been 
submitted to fulfil Heathrow’s commitment to introduce easterly alternation 
following the government’s decision to cancel the Cranford Agreement, which 
had created an inequitable situation since the 1950s by subjecting tens of 
thousands of households to continuous overflying during easterly operations. 

 Heathrow reaffirmed its pledge to implement easterly alternation as soon as 
practicable, subject to planning consent, with completion targeted for 2028. This 
commitment was embedded in Heathrow’s People and Planet Strategy and 
Noise Action Plan. It was noted that the environmental statement had been fully 
scoped with Borough officers and reviewed by legal and technical experts. It 
was stated that the application would deliver fairness and equity, providing 
62,000 people with predictable respite from overflying for half of each day, 
regardless of wind direction. 

 It was acknowledged that a smaller number of communities previously protected 
under the Cranford Agreement would experience change. To address this, noise 
insulation exceeding government policy requirements and additional mitigation 
measures for newly affected areas were being offered.  

 Regarding Longford, it was stated that the impacts had been taken seriously, 
and that Heathrow had engaged with residents early, held meetings and public 
exhibitions, and conducted a postal survey regarding the noise barrier design. 

Page 3



  

 

The airfield works had been designed to minimise impacts on Longford, and the 
barrier would be installed first to reduce construction and operational noise. The 
barrier was expected to slightly reduce ground noise compared with current 
levels. On easterly operations, it was confirmed that Longford would experience 
take-offs for 50% of the day instead of landings, equating to approximately 15% 
of the year, with noise increasing by less than one decibel. Longford already 
qualified for full noise insulation, with 470 properties eligible and 70% 
completed. 

 Air quality impacts were assessed as negligible, with no increase in flights and 
only a minimal change in ground emissions. However, Heathrow committed to 
installing a new ultrafine particle monitor in Longford—one of only six in the 
country—and to collaborate with officers on an air quality plan for the area 

 
In response to the lead petitioner’s submission, the Head of Environmental Specialists 
acknowledged residents’ concerns regarding ultrafine particles (UFPs) and confirmed 
that the impact had been recognised. However, it was explained that no policy 
framework had previously existed to enable a comprehensive assessment, as the 
necessary policy backing had not yet been established. Proposals had been secured 
through the heads of terms, which required compliance and action linked to prevailing 
UK standards, forming part of an agreed action plan with Heathrow Airport Limited. 
 
In relation to Regulation 26, officers believed that the Environmental Impact 
Assessment (EIA) satisfied the requirements, as it considered vibration and noise, 
including assessments based on LAeq, which was the standard metric for aviation 
noise and had been used in previous cases such as Gatwick and Luton. It was noted 
that the environmental statement contained a range of methodologies, providing 
sufficient information to assess noise impacts, and was therefore deemed appropriate 
and policy compliant. 
 
Regarding mitigation, it was noted that Heathrow Airport Limited had been challenged, 
and a package of measures considered adequate had been agreed. For vibration, a 
monitoring process was required, as impacts varied depending on property structure 
and foundations. Consequently, mitigation was to be applied where impacts were 
identified. This approach was regarded as fair and reasonable. Concerning UFP 
monitoring, it was explained that deferring the application until comprehensive 
monitoring was in place would have caused significant delays, as long-term controls 
and evidence were needed to establish trends. The existing monitor measured 
concentrations rather than particle counts, which were necessary for assessing UFP 
impacts. Further work was required with Heathrow Airport Limited and Defra to ensure 
robust monitoring. 
 
It was considered that sufficient information had been provided within the 
environmental statement to support the recommendation. It was also confirmed that 
ongoing work with Heathrow Airport Limited would ensure mitigation was appropriately 
targeted and monitoring was robust, as set out in the heads of terms. 
 
Members sought clarifications as to why compensation or mitigation costs differed from 
those at other airports, despite the same noise level thresholds being applied. In 
response, representatives of the applicant explained that the differences were 
attributable to the nature of the projects and what was being sought. It was noted that 
the Luton and Gatwick schemes involved substantial Development Consent Order 
applications with significant increases in aircraft movements, and their mitigation 
reflected the scale of impact and number of affected residents. It was stated that no 

Page 4



  

 

specific justification for the funding levels at Luton and Gatwick had been identified in 
the evidence reviewed. Heathrow’s approach was based on its current quieter 
neighbourhood support scheme, and the proposed amounts were considered sufficient 
to achieve internal noise level criteria in accordance with British Standards for 
appropriate living conditions. In summary it was clarified that there was no new air 
noise in this case, whereas in Gatwick and Luton there had been a significant 
expansion of the airport.  
 
Members queried the applicant’s approach noting that alternation and its delivery were 
key elements, as well as compliance with policy and previous inspectors’ decisions. It 
was explained that, although Gatwick and Luton had gone beyond Heathrow’s 
measures, the critical point was the significant observed adverse effect level, where full 
costs were required to be paid. It was confirmed that Heathrow Airport Limited had 
imposed a cap of £34,000, but officers stated that full costs would be secured through 
the heads of terms if exceeded. It was further highlighted that the application was 
Cranford-specific and represented a significant improvement on the previous planning 
application, with alternation providing additional mitigation. Officers had deemed the 
measures presented to be adequate. 
 
Councillors questioned whether engagement with Longford residents had been 
sufficient. The applicant responded that efforts had been made to maximise 
participation, including two exhibitions in Longford, one arranged at the request of the 
Residents’ Association, a postal survey, social media engagement, letter drops, and 
door-to-door visits. Attendance at exhibitions was described as healthy, and it was 
stated that residents had access to information through multiple channels, including 
summaries on the Council’s website. When asked whether schools had been 
contacted, the applicant confirmed that they had. 
 
Committee Members raised concerns regarding enforcement powers if Heathrow 
Airport Limited failed to deliver mitigation, insulation, or rehousing commitments. 
Officers explained that, unlike the current noise scheme, the proposed measures would 
be incorporated into the Section 106 agreement, making them enforceable through 
planning regulations. It was confirmed that detailed provisions would be included for 
dispute resolution, complaint handling, and local authority involvement. 
 
A further question was asked by Members about the reliability of vibration data from a 
2011 report, given that some instruments listed were outdated. Officers confirmed that 
a fresh approach to vibration monitoring would be implemented under the Section 106 
agreement, using up-to-date equipment and extending beyond the original scope to 
ensure accurate assessment and appropriate mitigation. It was clarified that the 
existing report was not redundant but would be supplemented by additional work. 
 
Councillors raised concerns regarding air quality and health impacts, citing local and 
London Plan policies requiring prevention of unacceptable pollution and mitigation of 
impacts. They questioned whether reliance on post-consent monitoring and future 
action plans met these policy tests, given uncertainty around ultrafine particles (UFPs) 
and the absence of defined mitigation. Officers acknowledged the challenge, explaining 
that while conventional pollutants were addressed through standard measures and 
action plans, UFPs lacked scientific and policy benchmarks. It was stated that the 
World Health Organisation had proposed particle count standards, but these had not 
yet been adopted nationally. Officers confirmed that robust heads of terms had been 
secured, linking future action to any forthcoming government standards, and 
enforcement would be possible through Section 106 if breaches occurred. It was 

Page 5



  

 

acknowledged that this was not an ideal situation but considered the best achievable 
outcome under current circumstances. Officers also confirmed that neighbouring 
boroughs had been consulted and responses addressed in the report, with ongoing 
engagement offered. 
 
Members noted the potential risk of losing negotiated mitigation if the application were 
to be refused or deferred. It was observed that, despite objections and concerns, the 
officers had secured significant improvements compared to previous applications. 
Councillors concluded that the best possible outcome had been achieved. The officers’ 
recommendation was moved, seconded and, when put to a vote, approved with three 
Members voting in favour and two abstentions.  
 
RESOLVED: That the application be approved subject to Section 106, conditions 
set out in the report and the information in the addendum.   
 

112.     78 HIGH STREET, NORTHWOOD - 32265/APP/2025/280  (Agenda Item 7) 
 

 Demolition of existing rear workshop buildings (Use Class E) and construction of 
2 no. self-contained flats and 1 no. dwellinghouse (Use Class C3) with associated 
private amenity space, landscaping, cycle and refuse storage, together with 
alterations and a two-storey rear extension to the existing building, including 
internal layout changes to the first-floor residential flat above the retail unit and 
the installation of a rear dormer window (REVISED DESCRIPTION) 
 
Sally Robbins, Senior Planning Officer, presented the application and highlighted the 
information in the addendum. It was noted that the site was located within the Old 
Northwood Area of Special Local Character and subject to constraints including critical 
drainage, air quality focus, and potential land contamination. The proposal introduced a 
car-free arrangement with bin and cycle storage, hard and soft landscaping, and 
defensible space within a courtyard. The unit mix comprised one retained and altered 
flat, two two-storey dwellings, and one single-storey dwelling, all meeting internal space 
standards. 
It was considered that the design broadly reflected the existing footprint and preserved 
the character of the area while optimising site capacity. The proposal was considered 
to provide acceptable living conditions, safeguard neighbour amenity, and address 
environmental matters through conditions. Highways officers had raised no objection, 
and the increase in built form was not deemed harmful to neighbouring properties. 
Overall, the scheme represented an appropriate design-led approach for a High Street 
location and was recommended for approval, subject to the conditions set out in the 
report.  
 
A petition had been received in objection to the application, and a representative of the 
Northwood Residents’ Association (NRA) was in attendance to address the Committee 
Members on behalf of the lead petitioner who had been the tenant of the shop and 
resident of the flat above since 1985. Key points highlighted included:  
 

 The proposal required the lead petitioner to vacate the premises, resulting in the 
loss of her home and business.  

 The NRA strongly opposed the application, primarily due to the complete 
absence of on-site car parking.  

 It was argued that reliance on proximity to bus stops as justification for no 
parking would set a borough-wide precedent, as most properties were within 
walking distance of public transport.  

Page 6



  

 

 Previous applications for the site had included car parking spaces, and earlier 
refusals highlighted inadequacy of proposed parking provision.  

 The current scheme introduced three additional residential units to the rear of 
the site, accommodating approximately ten residents, without any on-site 
parking provision.  

 Concerns were raised about increased illegal parking and difficulties for 
residents and visitors, as well as the impracticality of assuming reliance solely 
on public transport.  

 The applicant had initially claimed ownership of the pavement in front of the 
shop for parking purposes, later admitting this was incorrect after evidence was 
provided.  

 Additional objections included inadequate amenity space, lack of lift access to 
upper floors, and loss of storage facilities for the retail unit.  

 The NRA submitted a further objection during the November reconsultation, 
reiterating that on-site parking was a requirement under the local plan and that 
the property’s distance from the station did not justify its exclusion.  

 It was noted that granting consent without parking provision would create a 
precedent affecting the entire borough and could not be justified by special 
circumstances.  

 The NRA requested that the application be refused. 
 
The agent for the application was also in attendance and addressed the Committee 
Members. Key points highlighted included:  
 

 The scheme aimed to make effective use of a previously developed Brownfield 
site to deliver much-needed modern housing in line with central government 
directives.  

 The location was described as highly sustainable, and the development sought 
to enhance the character of the site and its surroundings.  

 The existing site comprised a ground-floor shop with a flat above and a series of 
dilapidated ancillary storage and former workshop buildings to the rear.  

 The proposal included extending the frontage building at ground and first-floor 
levels to create two new residential units (one one-bedroom and one two-
bedroom), along with a new WC and storage areas for the shop.  

 The rear workshops were to be demolished and replaced with a three-bedroom 
family home over ground and loft levels, featuring a private garden.  

 The design incorporated an attractively landscaped pedestrian courtyard 
providing outlook and defensible space, with bin and cycle storage positioned 
near the High Street frontage.  

 Statutory consultees, including highways, had raised no technical objections, 
and all proposed units complied with space and daylight/sunlight standards.  

 The applicant had engaged proactively with officers during pre-application and 
formal submission stages to achieve a well-resolved scheme.  

 It was noted that land ownership was not a material consideration in planning 
decisions.  

 The application was commended to the Committee for approval. 
 
Officers responded to the points raised by the petitioners noting that their main concern 
related to the absence of parking provision and an alleged conflict with the Local Plan. 
It was explained that the London Plan, which succeeded the Hillingdon Local Plan, had 
taken precedence regarding parking standards. Policy T6 of the London Plan was 
highlighted, stating that car-free development should have been the starting point for 

Page 7



  

 

proposals in areas well connected by public transport. Officers confirmed that there 
were no sustainable grounds to refuse the application on the basis of lack of parking, 
given the site’s accessibility and sustainable location. 
 
It was further reiterated that opportunities for overspill parking in the vicinity were 
extremely limited. On the eastern side of the High Street, parking bays and waiting 
restrictions were in place, while the western side contained numerous dropped kerbs 
serving residential properties, leaving no available space. Controlled parking zones 
existed further afield; however, as the site was outside these zones, residents would 
not have been eligible for permits. It was therefore concluded that overspill parking 
could not have been accommodated in the immediate area. 
 
Dr Alan Tilly, Transport, Planning and Development Team Manager, explained that, 
under the London Plan, the development would have been permitted a maximum of 2.5 
car parking spaces. On that basis, it was anticipated that up to 2.5 cars could have 
been displaced onto the street, assuming car ownership. It was noted that the 
surrounding area was subject to extensive parking controls, making the location 
suitable for residents seeking a car-free lifestyle. The proximity of bus stops served by 
two routes providing access to Eastcote and Greenford was highlighted. It was noted 
that the site would not be appropriate for individuals reliant on a car for daily travel 
needs, whereas those wishing to adopt a car-free lifestyle would find it suitable. It was 
further observed that, for those who still owned a car, surrounding roads were covered 
by parking restrictions. 
 
A question was raised by Councillors regarding the absence of parking provision in the 
current application compared to the previous submission, and clarification was sought 
on the design approach and the PTAL value, which was understood to be 2, 
suggesting car dependency. In response, the agent explained that the red line 
boundary did not determine parking rights and confirmed that the land previously 
considered for parking was owned by Hillingdon Council, where parking was prohibited. 
It was noted that illegal parking had occurred in front of the shop and adjacent 
premises, but this was under Council control. 
 
Further concerns were expressed by Members about the PTAL rating and the 
presence of parking for neighbouring properties, as shown in photographs. Officers 
responded that, although the PTAL rating was 2, the site was located within a town 
centre accessibility zone where residential units above commercial premises typically 
lacked dedicated parking. It was added that the rear development referenced had been 
approved on appeal in 2008 under previous policies, whereas current London Plan 
policies imposed maximum parking standards. Officers confirmed that the site’s 
location and proximity to transport routes, including a seven-minute walk to a school, 
supported a car-free scheme. Members reiterated their concerns that PTAL 2 indicated 
car reliance and that surrounding properties had parking, suggesting the proposed 
development would also require it. 
 
The Transport, Planning and Development Team Manager acknowledged the low 
PTAL rating but stated that car-free development was acceptable due to nearby rail 
services, local shops, and parking controls on surrounding streets, which would deter 
car ownership. The Chair commented that refusal could not be justified solely on 
numerical PTAL grounds and that real-world circumstances must be considered, noting 
that harm could not be demonstrated. A further question was raised about emergency 
access for fire and ambulance services. Officers confirmed that fire engines could 
operate within the required 45-metre hose length from the highway and that other 

Page 8



  

 

emergency vehicles could access the site on foot. 
 
Committee Members suggested revising the scheme to include parking or imposing 
conditions restricting car ownership by visitors, but officers advised that such conditions 
were unenforceable and that an appeal would likely result in loss of control over 
conditions.  
 
No further queries or concerns were raised. The officer’s recommendation was moved, 
seconded and, when put to a vote, unanimously approved. 
 
RESOLVED: That the application be approved subject to conditions and the 
information in the addendum.  
 

113.     ADDENDUM  (Agenda Item 8) 
 

  
The meeting, which commenced at 7.00 pm, closed at 8.48 pm. 
 

  
These are the minutes of the above meeting.  For more information on any of the 
resolutions please contact Liz Penny on democratic@hillingdon.gov.uk  Circulation of 
these minutes is to Councillors, Officers, the Press and Members of the Public. 
 

 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning 

Committee Report 

Part 1: 

 

 Standard Information for 

Members - Applicable to All 

Applications on the Agenda 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 11

Agenda Annex



2 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

Contents 

 

Section 
Ref. 
 

Content Page 

 
1. Statutory Planning and Human Rights Considerations 

1.1 Development Plan 3 

1.2 Equality Act 3 

1.3 Human Rights 4 

1.4 Development in Conservation Areas 4 

1.5 Development Affecting Listed Buildings 5 

 
2. Other Relevant Information for Members 

2.1 Five Year Housing Land Supply  5 

2.2 Planning Appeals / Risk of Costs Award 
Against the Council 

5 

2.3 Use of Planning Conditions  6 

2.4 Planning Obligations 6 

2.5 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 7 

2.6 Environmental Impact Assessment 8 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 12



3 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

Part 1: Statutory Planning and Human Rights 

Considerations 

 
1.1 Development Plan 

1.1.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and section 

70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, require that applications for 

planning permission be determined in accordance with the development plan, 

unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

1.1.2 The development plan for the London Borough of Hillingdon consists of the 

following documents: 

• Hillingdon Local Plan Part 1: Strategic Policies (2012) 

• Hillingdon Local Plan Part 2: Development Management Policies 

(2020) 

• Hillingdon Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Designations (2020) 

• The West London Waste Plan (2015) 

• The London Plan (2021) 

 

1.2 Equality Act 

1.2.1 Section 149 of the Equalities Act 2010, requires the Council, in considering 

planning applications to have due regard to the need to eliminate 

discrimination, advance equality of opportunities and foster good relations 

between people who have different protected characteristics. The protected 

characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and 

maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

1.2.2 The requirement to have due regard to the above goals means that Members 

should consider whether persons with protected characteristics would be 

affected by a proposal when compared to persons who do not share that 

protected characteristic. Where equalities issues arise, Members should 

weigh up the equalities impact of the proposals against the other material 

considerations relating to the planning application. Equalities impacts are not 

necessarily decisive, but the objective of advancing equalities must be 

considered in weighing up the merits of an application. The weight to be given 

to any equalities issues is a matter for the decision maker to determine in all 

the circumstances. 

 

 

 

Page 13

https://www.hillingdon.gov.uk/local-plan
https://www.hillingdon.gov.uk/local-plan
https://www.hillingdon.gov.uk/local-plan
https://www.hillingdon.gov.uk/local-plan
https://www.hillingdon.gov.uk/west-london-waste-plan
https://www.london.gov.uk/programmes-strategies/planning/london-plan


4 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

1.3 Human Rights 

1.3.1 The Human Rights Act 1998 incorporates the key articles of the European  

 Convention on Human Rights into domestic law. These include:  

•  Article 8: Right to respect for private and family life. 

Everyone has the right to respect for his private and family life, his  

 home and his correspondence. This right embodies the right to a  

 name, the right to change one’s civil status and to acquire a new  

 identity, and protection against telephone tapping, collection of private 

 information by a State’s security services and publications infringing 

 privacy. This right also enables Members of a national minority to have 

     a traditional lifestyle.  

•  Article 1 of the First Protocol: Protection of property.  

Every natural or legal person is entitled to the peaceful enjoyment of 

 his possessions. No one shall be deprived of his possessions except in 

 the public interest and subject to the conditions provided for by law and 

  by the general principles of international law.  

•  Article 14: Prohibition of discrimination.  

The enjoyment of the rights and freedoms set forth in this Convention 

 shall be secured without discrimination on any ground such as sex,  

 race, colour, language, religion, political or other opinion, national or 

 social origin, association with a national minority, property, birth, or  

 other status. 

1.3.2 Members must be aware of the rights contained in the Convention   

 (particularly those set out above) when making any planning decisions. 

 However, most Convention rights are not absolute and set out circumstances 

 when an interference with a person's rights is permitted. Any interference with 

 any of the rights contained in the Convention must be sanctioned by law and 

 be aimed at pursuing a legitimate aim and must go no further than is  

 necessary and be proportionate. Members must, therefore, carefully consider 

 the balance to be struck between individual rights and the wider public  

 interest. 

 

1.4 Development in Conservation Areas 

1.4.1 Section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 

 1990 requires the local planning authority, in determining applications  

 affecting conservation areas, to pay special attention to the desirability of  

 preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area. This  

 statutory duty needs to be considered alongside relevant heritage policies  

 contained in the National Planning Policy Framework and local plan. 

Page 14



5 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

1.5 Development Affecting Listed Buildings 

1.5.1 Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 

 1990 requires the local planning authority, in determining applications  

 affecting a listed building or its setting, to “have special regard to the  

 desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special 

 architectural or historic interest which it possesses”. This statutory duty needs 

 to be considered alongside relevant heritage policies contained in the  

 National Planning Policy Framework and local plan. 

 

Part 1: Other Relevant Information for Members  

 

2.1 Five Year Housing Land Supply 

2.1.1 Land supply is a key part of planning and links plan policies and sites with  

 actual delivery. The need to demonstrate a 5yr rolling supply of sites, known 

 as 5yr housing land supply (5YHLS), is an embedded part of the planning  

 system.  

2.1.2 When councils are unable to demonstrate a 5YHLS the National Planning  

 Policy Framework 2023 (NPPF) presumption in favour of sustainable  

 development - the so-called ‘tilted balance’ - is engaged. NPPF paragraph 11 

 (d) ii states that in these circumstances the development plan policies most 

 important for  determining the application are to be treated as out-of-date.  

 Therefore, where the presumption applies, planning permission should be  

 granted unless:  

1. The application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of 

particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 

proposed; or  

2. Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 

outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this 

Framework taken as a whole. 

 

2.1.3 Hillingdon Council is currently able to demonstrate a 5yr supply of deliverable 

 housing sites. Therefore, the ‘tilted balance’ is not engaged. 

 

2.2 Planning Appeals / Risk of Costs Award Against the 

Council 

2.2.1  Members should be aware that in the event of an appeal, local planning 

authorities are at risk of an award of costs if they behave unreasonably with 

respect to the substance of the matter under appeal. For example, by 

Page 15



6 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

unreasonably refusing or failing to determine planning applications, or by 

unreasonably defending appeals.  

2.2.2 A further example includes imposing a condition that is not necessary, 

relevant to planning and to the development, enforceable, nor precise or 

reasonable in all other respects (and thus does not comply with NPPF 

guidance on planning conditions and obligations). It should be noted that 

planning conditions can be appealed.  

2.23 Another example includes failing to substantiate each reason for refusal on 

appeal. Therefore, should members determine to refuse an application 

(contrary to officer recommendation for approval) planning reasons for refusal 

should be provided.   

 

2.3 Use of Planning Conditions 

2.3.1 Members may decide to grant planning consent subject to conditions.  

 Planning consent should not be refused where planning conditions can  

 overcome a reason for refusal.  

2.3.2 Planning conditions should only be imposed where members are satisfied that 

 imposing the conditions are necessary, relevant to planning, relevant to the 

 development to be permitted, enforceable, precise and reasonable in all other 

 respects. Where conditions are imposed, the Council is required to provide 

 full reasons for imposing those conditions. 

 

2.4 Planning Obligations 

2.4.1 Policy DMCI 7 of the Hillingdon Local Plan: Part 2 (2020) states that whilst 

infrastructure requirements will be predominantly addressed through the 

Council's Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL), planning obligations will be 

sought on a scheme-by-scheme basis. Applications that fail to secure an 

appropriate Planning Obligation to make the proposal acceptable will be 

refused. 

2.4.2 The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulation 2010 (Regulations issued 

Pursuant to the 2008 Act) and the NPPF have put three tests on the use of 

planning obligations into law. It is unlawful to request planning obligations that 

do not meet the following tests: 

i. necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms, 

ii. directly related to the development, and 

iii. fairly and reasonable related in scale and kind to the development. 

 2.4.3 The effect of the Regulations is that the Council must apply the tests much 

 more strictly and is only to ask for planning obligations that are genuinely  

Page 16



7 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

 necessary and directly related to a development. Should planning obligations 

 be requested that do not meet the policy tests, the Council would have acted 

 unlawfully and could be subject to a High Court challenge. 

2.4.4 Members must be satisfied that any planning obligations to be secured by  

 way of an agreement or undertaking pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and 

 Country Planning Act 1990 are necessary to make the development  

 acceptable in planning terms. The obligations must be directly related to the 

 development and fairly and reasonably related to the scale and kind to the 

 development (Regulation 122 of Community Infrastructure Levy 2010). 

 

 2.5 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

2.5.1 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) allows local authorities to raise  

 funds from developers undertaking new building projects in their area. The 

 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a charge collected from new  

 developments.  
  

2.5.2 The CIL applies to all proposals that add 100 square metres of new  

 floorspace or an extra dwelling. This includes bringing a vacant building back 

 into use. The amount to pay is the increase in floorspace (m2) multiplied by 

 the rate in the CIL charging schedule plus indexation. 

   

2.5.3 The money raised from the Community Infrastructure Levy pays for the  

 infrastructure required to support development. This includes transport  

 schemes, flood defences, schools, health and social care facilities, parks,  

 open spaces and leisure centres. 

2.5.4 The London Borough of Hillingdon adopted its CIL Charging Schedule on 10 

July 2014 and it is applied to new developments in the borough since 1 

August 2014. The use types that are charged borough CIL is large format 

retail development (greater than 1,000sqm) outside of designated town 

centres; offices; hotels; residential dwellinghouses; and industrial storage and 

distribution.  

2.5.5 The Mayor’s CIL (MCIL)  

The Mayor's CIL applies to all qualifying developments approved on or after 1 

 April 2012. Hillingdon Council is a CIL collecting authority for the Mayor of  

 London. 

2.5.6 The Mayoral CIL 1 (MCIL 1) rate was £35 per sqm plus indexation and is used 

by the Mayor of London to fund the delivery of Crossrail.   

2.5.7 For planning permissions granted from 1 April 2019, the Mayoral CIL 2 (MCIL 

 2) rate of £60 per square metre plus indexation applies. This rate may also 

 apply to some phased planning permissions granted before then. 

Page 17

https://www.hillingdon.gov.uk/community-infrastructure-levy


8 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

2.6 Environmental Impact Assessment  

2.6.1 The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment)  

 Regulations 2017 (as amended) requires that an Environmental Impact  

 Assessment (EIA) is undertaken, and an Environmental Statement (ES)  

 produced for certain developments. 

  

2.6.2 EIA is a procedure which serves to provide information about the likely  

 significant effects of a proposed project to inform the decision-making process 

  and whether the project should be allowed to proceed, and if so on what  

 terms. 

  

2.6.3 An overview of the EIA process is provided as part of government’s Planning 

Practice Guidance. An EIA is normally only necessary for a small proportion of 

projects. 
  

2.6.4 An EIA Screening Opinion can be obtained from the council to determine  

 whether a proposed development needs an EIA. Once it has been determined 

 that an EIA is required, an EIA Scoping Opinion can be obtained from the  

 Local Planning Authority to provide advice on the scope and content of the 

 Environmental Statement (ES). 

 

 

Page 18

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/environmental-impact-assessment
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/environmental-impact-assessment


Hillingdon Planning Committee  14th January 2026  

PART 1  Members, Public & Press 

Report of the Head of Development Management and Building Control  
Planning Committee Report 

 
 

    
Case Officer:  Daniel Ambrose 15756/APP/2024/3112 
 

 
Date 
Application 
Valid: 

26/11/24 Statutory / Agreed 
Determination 
Deadline: 

26/01/2026 

Application 
Type:  

Full Ward: Hillingdon East 

 
 
Applicant: Mr Kiran Bhatia  
Site Address: 47 Sweetcroft Lane, Uxbridge 
Proposal: Demolition of the existing house and erection of 

a two storey, new build house consisting of 6no. 
bedrooms with a basement and garage 
outbuilding to the front. 

Summary of 
Recommendation: 
 

GRANT planning permission subject to 
conditions 

Reason Reported 
to Committee: 

Required under Part 3 of the Planning Scheme 
of Delegation (Petition received) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 19

Agenda Item 6



Hillingdon Planning Committee  14th January 2026  

PART 1  Members, Public & Press 

 Summary of Recommendation: 
  
 GRANT planning permission subject to the conditions set out in 

Appendix 1. 
  
1 Executive Summary 
  
1.1 Planning permission is sought for the demolition of the existing house and erection 

of a two storey, new build house consisting of 6no. bedrooms with basement and 
a garage outbuilding to the front. 

  
1.2 The application follows on from the submission of application reference 

15756/APP/2023/2417 which was withdrawn on 09-11-2023. It should be noted 
that whilst the application was withdrawn, Officers had concerns with the 
application based on the proposed new dwelling s siting, design and massing and 
the subsequent impact this would have on the street scene and Hillingdon Court 
Park Area of Special Local Character. A further issue with the previous application 
related to the absence of a tree report to demonstrate that there would be no 
unacceptable loss of trees to facilitate the development.  

  
1.3 This revised application demonstrates that the applicant has taken on board the 

points that were raised during the assessment of the previous application. This 
revised scheme illustrates a reduction in the massing, particularly the height of the 
proposed dwelling and the reduction in the scale of the crown roof. An 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment has also been submitted, which has been 
reviewed by Officers and out of the 31 trees surveyed, 2 would require removal. 
These are category U and C trees which have the lowest value and therefore their 
removal is not considered to result in an objection. Furthermore, an enhanced 
landscaping scheme has been submitted, and further details are proposed to be 
secured by condition. It is considered that the revised submission satisfactorily 
addresses and resolves the issues raised during the assessment of the previous 
application.  

  
1.4 During the processing of the application, a petition in objection to the development 

was received with 41 signatures.  
 
1.5 The main issues, which shall be addressed within this Committee Report, relate 

to the impact on neighbouring dwellings and the impact on the character and 
appearance of the street scene.  

  
1.6 The Committee Report seeks to provide a comprehensive assessment of the 

application and supporting documentation. All relevant material planning 
considerations have been considered.  

  
1.7 The proposal is considered to comply with the Development Plan, and no material 

considerations indicate that a contrary decision should be taken. Consequently, 

Page 20



Hillingdon Planning Committee  14th January 2026  

PART 1  Members, Public & Press 

the application is recommended for approval subject to the conditions set out in 
Appendix 1. 

  
  
2 The Site and Locality 
  
2.1 The site is approximately 1,854 sqm in area and is located on the south side of 

Sweetcroft Lane. There is currently a large detached, single storey, single family 
dwelling known as No. 47 Sweetcroft Lane on the site, with associated parking 
and private amenity space. The existing site contains 1 main building and two 
small out-buildings, one at the front of the site and the other at the rear for storage. 

  
2.2 The site is accessed via a narrow strip of land between two houses, numbers 45a 

and 49, which are situated on the frontage of Sweetcroft Lane. Number 47 
Sweetcroft Lane sits to the rear of these properties and therefore comprises a 
backland site. This property sits amongst a number of other backland properties, 
including numbers 31, 35, 39, and 43 Sweetcroft Lane which are situated to the 
East of the application site. 

  
2.3 The site is located within the Hillingdon Court Park Area of Special Local Character 

and is subject to Tree Protection Order (TPO 32a) and is also within a Critical 
Drainage Area. The site is also bound to the south by the Hillingdon Court Park 
which is an area of Nature Conservation Site of Grade II Borough Importance and 
forms part of the Green Belt. The area also forms part of the declared Hillingdon 
Air Quality Management Area. 

  

Page 21



Hillingdon Planning Committee 14th January 2026

PART 1 Members, Public & Press

Figure 1: Location Plan (application site edged red)

Figures 2-5: Agent Photographs of the Application Property

Page 22



Hillingdon Planning Committee 14th January 2026

PART 1 Members, Public & Press
Page 23



Hillingdon Planning Committee 14th January 2026

PART 1 Members, Public & Press

Figures 6: Agent Photograph of the driveway

Page 24



Hillingdon Planning Committee 14th January 2026

PART 1 Members, Public & Press

Figures 7-8: Agent Photographs of the front lawn and parking area

Page 25



Hillingdon Planning Committee 14th January 2026

PART 1 Members, Public & Press

Figures 9-10: Agent Photographs of neighbouring property of no. 43 Sweetcroft 
Lane

Page 26



Hillingdon Planning Committee 14th January 2026

PART 1 Members, Public & Press

Figures 11-12: Agent Photographs of neighbouring property of no. 51 Sweetcroft 
Lane and Portman Gardens viewed from the upper floor windows of the existing 
dwelling

Page 27



Hillingdon Planning Committee 14th January 2026

PART 1 Members, Public & Press

Figures 13-14: Agent Photographs of existing dwelling when viewed from Portman 
Gardens

Page 28



Hillingdon Planning Committee  14th January 2026  

PART 1  Members, Public & Press 

3 Proposal  
  
3.1 The application proposes the demolition of the existing house and erection of a 

three storey, new build dwelling consisting of 6no. bedrooms with a basement 
and garage outbuilding to the front as depicted in the proposed plans. Whilst the 
description refers to a three storey dwelling, the dwelling would comprise of a 
two storey dwelling with accommodation provided in the roof. The previous 
applications on the site referred to the development as being 3 stories in height 
therefore in the interest of consistency the reference to heights is retained within 
the description of development for the current application.  

  
 Figure 15: Proposed Site Plan (please note  larger version of plan can be found 

in the Committee Plan Pack) 
 

 

Page 29



Hillingdon Planning Committee  14th January 2026  

PART 1  Members, Public & Press 

Figure 16: Proposed Basement Floor Plan 

 
 
Figure 17: Proposed Ground Floor Plan 

 

Page 30



Hillingdon Planning Committee  14th January 2026  

PART 1  Members, Public & Press 

Figure 18: Proposed First Floor Plan 

Figure 19: Proposed Second Floor Plan 

Page 31



Hillingdon Planning Committee  14th January 2026  

PART 1  Members, Public & Press 

Figure 20: Proposed Roof Plan 

Figure 21: Proposed North and South Elevations 

Page 32



Hillingdon Planning Committee  14th January 2026  

PART 1  Members, Public & Press 

Figure 22: Proposed East and West Elevations 

Figure 23: Proposed Site Sections

Page 33



Hillingdon Planning Committee  14th January 2026  

PART 1  Members, Public & Press 

4 Relevant Planning History 
 

4.1 A list of the relevant planning history related to the property can be found in 
Appendix 2. 
 

4.2 Application ref 15756/APP/2023/2417 was withdrawn on 09-11-2023. Officers had 

and massing and the subsequent impact this may have on the street scene and 
Hillingdon Court Park Area of Special Local Character. A further issue with the 
previous application related to the absence of a tree report to demonstrate that there 
would be no unacceptable loss of trees to facilitate the development. 
 

5 Planning Policy  
 

5.1 A list of planning policies relevant to the consideration of the application can be 
found in Appendix 3. 
 

6 Consultations and Representations 
 

6.1 4 neighbouring properties were consulted on the application by letter dated 11-12-24. 
The consultation period expired 12-01-25. However, re-consultation was required 
again due to the Christmas and New Years break and to include some additional 
neighbouring properties. A final re-consultation was undertaken upon the submission 
of revised information to address initial inconsistencies in the supporting documents, 
this consultation expired 08-10-25.  
 

6.2 Representations received in response to public consultation are summarised in Table 
1 (below). Consultee responses received are summarised in Table 2 (below). Full 
copies of the responses have also separately been made available to Members. 
 
Table 1: Summary of Representations Received  
 
Representations Summary of Issues 

Raised 
 

Planning Officer 
Response 

A petition of 41 
valid signatures 
has been 
received against 
the application 
seeking refusal  
 

I. Out of character  
overdevelopment with 
substantial massing   

Discussed at paragraph 
7.5 to 7.19 of this report. 
 
 

 II. Impacts neighbouring 
amenity of other 
properties on 

Discussed in paragraph 
7.20 to 7.25 

Page 34



Hillingdon Planning Committee  14th January 2026  

PART 1  Members, Public & Press 

Sweetcroft Lane and 
Portman Gardens 

 III. Removal of trees  Discussed in paragraph 
7.49 to 7.54 

 IV. Impact of construction 
traffic  

A construction 
management plan 
condition is to be added to 
decision notice.  

 V. Feasibility of the 
basement 

Discussed at paragraph 
7.40 to 7.46 of this report. 

15 individual 
letters of objection 
have been 
received across 
the 3 rounds of 
consultation  

I. Out of character and 
excessive in size   

Discussed at paragraph 
7.5 to 7.19 of this report 

II. Gardens have flooding 
issues and a 
basement will make 
this worse  

Discussed at paragraph 
7.40 to 7.46 of this report. 

 III. The construction will 
generate noise and 
dirt pollution   

An informative relating to 
construction hours is to be 
added and a construction 
management plan 
condition is to be added to 
the decision notice  

 IV. Removal of existing 
screening (trees and 
hedging)   

2 trees out of the 31 on 
site would be removed. 
The revised landscaping 
scheme would result in an 
enhancement in terms of 
planting in comparison with 
the existing situation on 
site.  
 

 V. Loss of privacy  Discussed in paragraph 
7.20 to 7.25 of this report. 

 VI. Height is excessive   Discussed at paragraph 
7.5 to 7.19 of this report. 

 VII. The proposal is too 
large, will be 
overdominant and 
overshadowing  

Discussed at paragraph 
7.5 to 7.19 of this report. 
 
 
 

 

 
Table 2: Summary of Consultee Responses 
 

Page 35



Hillingdon Planning Committee  14th January 2026  

PART 1  Members, Public & Press 

Consultee and Summary of Comments 
 

Planning Officer 
Response 

Access Officer: 
 
The entrance level WC is acceptable as it is the step 
free access arrangement to the principal entrance. 
Level access via the rear entrance should be 
annotated to confirm that step free access would be 
achieved. 
 

 
The comments from 
the access officer are 
noted and it is now 
acceptable from an 
accessibility 
perspective subject to 
a condition to secure 
further step free 
access details.  

Highways Officer:  
 
The reduction to two on-plot parking spaces is now 
policy compliant so the only further requirement would 

spaces via planning condition. In all other respects, 
the proposal is considered acceptable hence there is 
no objection to the application. 
 
  

 
 
The comments from 
the Highways Officer 
are noted and the 
relevant condition is 
recommended to be 
added to the decision 
notice. 
 

Design and Conservation Officer: 
 
No objection  
 

 
 

 

 
7 Planning Assessment 

 
Principle of Development  
 

7.1 Policies DMHB 11 and DMHD 12 states that new development proposals should 
ensure that development contributes positively to the built environment and enhances 
the character and quality of places in Hillingdon and improve the quality of streets. 
Policy DMHB 5 seeks to protect the unique character and appearance of Areas of 
Special Local Character. 
 

7.2 The Hillingdon Court Park Area of Special Local Character (ASLC) is a non-
designated heritage asset. It is noted that the Council's Conservation Officer did not 
previously object in respect to the loss of the existing property and its current 
contribution to the ASLC. It is considered that a refusal of the application on this 
ground alone would be unsustainable in the event of an appeal. 
 

7.3 The existing property is not a statutory listed building, nor is it a locally listed building. 
Subject to compliance with relevant planning policies and other material 

Page 36



Hillingdon Planning Committee  14th January 2026  

PART 1  Members, Public & Press 

considerations, the principle of replacing the existing dwelling with another dwelling 
is considered acceptable. 
 

7.4 Overall, the principle of the proposed development is accepted and complies 
withPolicies DMHB 11, DMHB 12 and DMHB 5 of the Hillingdon Local Plan: Part Two 

 Development Management Policies (2020). These policies can be read in full in the 
Committee Report Part 3 - Policy Appendix. 
 
Design / Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Area 
 

7.5 Policies DMHB 11 and DMHD 12 states that new development proposals should 
ensure that development contributes positively to the built environment and enhances 
the character and quality of places in Hillingdon and improve the quality of streets. 
Policy DMHB 5 seeks to protect the unique character and appearance of Areas of 
Special Local Character. 
 

7.6  As the site is located within an Area of Special Local Character, proposed 
development should consider the architectural style and formation of the originally 
established building patterns, specifically in regard to the design, height and 
architectural language. To respond to this, the scheme has been redesigned to imitate 
an Edwardian style of architecture, which is much more reminiscent of the street 
scene on Sweetcroft Lane. 
 

7.7 At present, the application site is characterised by a large detached two-storey 
property. Sweetcroft Lane does not feature a uniformed set of building lines, the road 
itself is undulating with one gradual and one sharper bend, which has informed the 
location of the buildings within their respective plots. 
 

7.8 As noted above, the site is located to the rear of the rear gardens of the properties 
which front Sweetcroft Lane. The application property forms a row of 6 properties, 
which do not share uniformed building lines. The dwelling at No. 51 Sweetcroft Lane 
(directly adjacent to the west of the application site) has been demolished, following 
a grant of planning permission reference 33932/APP/2021/1920 for the erection of 2 
x 4 bedroom dwellinghouses with associated parking and landscaping.  It is evident 
from visiting the site that its surrounding context and the street scene comprises of 
large residential properties of varying designs. The existing building is set back quite 
significantly from the front boundary and can only be accessed via an extensively 
deep access road in between 49 and 45A Sweetcoft Lane. The existing dwelling 
features a hipped roof, two stories in height with a modest rear porch and modest 
single storey side outrigger. There is also a conservatory feature which is single storey 
in height and attached to the rear elevation. The existing building is not considered to 
contribute significantly to the character and appearance of the area, it is not a listed 

acement would not be 
harmful in principle.  
 

Page 37



Hillingdon Planning Committee  14th January 2026  

PART 1  Members, Public & Press 

7.9 As noted above the previous application proposing a replacement dwelling at 47 
Sweetcroft Lane was not determined, however it does provide a useful reference to 
describe the reduction in the bulk, scale and massing of the proposed building. The 
previous submission proposed a two-storey dwelling with accommodation in the roof 
(although referred to as three storey in the description). The height of the dwelling 
measured 10.7m, the footprint would have been increased from 85m2 to 236m2. 
 

7.10 Whilst the footprint of the building would remain circa 236m2 in the current application, 
the height of the building has been reduced to 9.2m, the rear upper floor has already 
been reduced in depth by 1.3m and due to the reduction in the roof height, the extent 
and scale of the crown roof has been significantly reduced. 
 

7.11 In assessing whether the bulk, scale and mass of the building is appropriate, 
consideration has been given to other developments within the immediate area. 
Below are some examples of developments which are considered similar in scale 
overall: 
 
- No. 39 Sweetcroft Lane is a two-storey property with a traditional pitched roof and 
small crown roof, measuring circa 8m in height and 160m2 in footprint plus circa 40m2 
footprint in later additions; 
- No. 43 Sweetcroft Lane is a new chalet bungalow with accommodation in the roof, 
with a pitched roof, measuring circa 8.1m in height and 247m2 in footprint. 
 

7.12 Having regard to the site context and the location of the proposed dwelling within its 
generous plot, it is considered that the height, scale and mass of the proposed 
dwelling would be acceptable and would not give rise to any significant harm to the 
streetscene / character and appearance of the area. Furthermore, it should be noted 
that crown roofs are not uncommon in this area with No.50 and No.59 being two 
examples close to the site. The Sweetcroft Care Home is another property of note 
that extends much deeper into the site and has a much greater footprint than the 
proposed development. It extends almost the entire width of the site and is located 
next to single family dwelling houses.  
 

7.13 Turning to the increase in footprint, it is useful to note that an overlay is provided on 
the site plan which illustrates the extent of the existing dwelling. The front building line 
would be brought forward modestly, and the 3 front gabled projections provide an 
element of articulation that aid in reducing the bulk of the front elevation. The two-
storey building has been set in by at least 1m from the side boundaries and given the 
spacious plot, it is considered that the development would not appear cramped. 
 

7.14 With regards to the architectural design, the front elevation would feature a stepped 
building line formed by 3 gabled projections which are a common feature within the 
Area of Special Local Character. This creates articulation within the front elevation by 
the gabled roofs being set down from the main ridge and the various set ins applied 
across the width of the façade. Mock Tudor beams are to be constructed to the upper 
floor level with an alternative set of coloured windows compared with the ground floor 
to break up the bulk and extent of the façade. To the rear the first-floor element has 

Page 38



Hillingdon Planning Committee  14th January 2026  

PART 1  Members, Public & Press 

been set back from the ground floor by 2m which reduces the prominence of the side 
and rear elevations at upper floor level. A central gabled feature is proposed with 
modest rear dormers set comfortably within the roof space, which break up the bulk 
and massing of the rear elevation. The entire property would be constructed of a red 
external brick finish and grey roof tile. These design features and materials are not 
uncommon with the street scene and therefore would not appear out of character 
within the street or the wider Area of Special Local Character. 
 

7.15 Whilst the adjacent dwelling at number 51 has been demolished (as noted above), it 
is considered that the proposed dwelling would relate satisfactorily to a development 
in the form of the previous planning permission at number 51 were such a 
development to come forward.  
 

7.16 To conclude whilst this proposal is greater in bulk and scale than the existing dwelling 
to be demolished, it will be similar in mass to several other two-storey dwellings in the 
area, including the adjacent dwelling at no. 43. Furthermore, the bulk and scale of the 
proposed development are further mitigated by the deep nature of the site allowing 
the dwelling to sit comfortably on the property. The design features provide 
articulation to the elevation and break up the scale and massing of the building. As 
such, it is considered the proposed dwelling, while large, would be compatible with 
the existing varied character of the area, more recently approved developments and 
would not unduly harm the character of the streetscape or wider Area of Special Local 
Character.  
 

7.17 As the site is located to the rear of existing gardens which serve the properties which 
front Sweetcroft Lane the site is considered to constitute as backland. Accordingly, 
consideration has been given to Policy DMH 6 of the Hillingdon Local Plan Part 2. 
However, importantly, the site already accommodates a dwelling and sits within a row 
of other backland properties. The proposed replacement of the existing dwelling is 
accepted in principle and despite the new dwelling being larger than the existing, it 
would sit comfortably within its large plot and therefore would not appear cramped or 
contrived. It is also noted that properties within the area benefit from a larger built 
form than the existing property and a similar bulk, mass and scale to the proposed 
dwelling. As such for the reasons mentioned above, the proposed new dwelling would 
not appear overly dominant, cramped or otherwise result in any significant harm to 
the area that would warrant the refusal of planning permission. The proposal is 
therefore deemed acceptable and accords with the principle of DMH 6 of the 
Hillingdon Local Plan: Part Two - Development Management Policies (2020). 
 

7.18 It is not considered that the proposed development would cause harm to the Area of 
Special Local Character. It is acknowledged that although modest a sufficient 
separation distance is retained between the proposed dwelling and site boundaries 
which is extended due to the neighbouring buildings also being set away from the 
shared boundary, as such the development would not appear cramped within the plot.  
 

7.19 Taking into consideration the above, the proposal would respect the character and 
appearance of the surrounding area in compliance with Policy BE1 of the Hillingdon 

Page 39



Hillingdon Planning Committee  14th January 2026  

PART 1  Members, Public & Press 

Local Plan: Part 1 - Strategic Policies and Policies DMHB 5, DMHB 11, DMHB 12 and 
DMHB 14 of the Local Plan: Part Two - Development Management Policies (2020), 
as well as relevant design guidance contained within the London Plan (2021) and 
NPPF (2024). 
 
Residential Amenity  
 

7.20 Policy DHMB 11 of the Hillingdon Local Plan Part 2 (2020) states that development 
proposals should not adversely impact on the amenity, daylight and sunlight of 
adjacent properties and open space. An assessment of the potential impact on 
neighbouring residential amenity is discussed as follows. 
 

7.21 The existing dwelling sits some 2.5m away from the neighbour at No. 43, this gap 
would be increased to approximately 2.9m. Given the large plot sizes and the 
proposed size, mass and scale of the new dwelling, there would be some impact of 
the proposed dwelling on this neighbour. However, it is considered that there would 
be no undue harm. Application reference 17412/APP/2020/3984 as amended by 
17412/APP/2021/2904,  includes approved drawings relevant to the redevelopment 
at No.43. The plans illustrate the upper floor side facing windows within the roof slope 
are obscurely glazed. These side facing windows do not serve a primary habitable 
room window and are obscurely glazed, therefore the proposed dwelling would not 
result in a reduction of privacy or outlook to this neighbouring dwelling.   
 

7.22 The application is supported by a Daylight and Sunlight Assessment. The assessment 
makes reference to compliance with the BRE Guidance but also references the mirror 
image methodology within the assessment. This methodology was replaced by the 
NSL (no skyline limit) and VSL (vertical skyline) assessments in the update to the 
BRE Guidelines adopted in 2022. Notwithstanding this point, the submission includes 
the floor plans for the neighbouring property at No.43 on drawing reference 21060-
GAA-ZZ-00-DR-T-0102 Rev C04, this illustrates that the location of the new dwelling 
would not breach the 45-degree line of sight drawn from the centreline of the nearest 
neighbouring primary window serving a habitable room. is an appropriate baseline 
test for overshadowing as set out within Policy DMHB 11 of the Local Plan Part Two. 

considered that given the use of this room, not only would it not meet the description 
of a habitable room, but the nature of the use would indicate that it would need to be 
private and therefore obscurely glazed. The approved drawings indicate this to be the 
case. Based on the orientation of the primary habitable room windows and the 45-
degree line shown on drawing reference 21060-GAA-ZZ-00-DR-T-0102 Rev C04 
which is not breached, Officers conclude that the proposed development would not 
result in a level of overshadowing to the neighbouring property at No.43 which would 
be harmful.  
 

7.23 Turning to the adjacent plot at No.51, the dwelling on this site has now been 
demolished. Nevertheless, it is considered that were a development to come forward 
on the site in the form previously approved under application reference 
33932/APP/2021/1920, the proposed new dwelling would relate satisfactorily. 

Page 40



Hillingdon Planning Committee  14th January 2026  

PART 1  Members, Public & Press 

Officers have reviewed the previously approved drawings 20-036-P04 Rev B & 20-
036-P03 Rev A which are the ground and first floor plans. These drawings illustrate 
that the development previously approved at No. 51 does not feature side facing 
primary habitable room windows (with those windows located in the front and rear 
elevations of the two dwellings). Having regard to the relative siting, it is not 
considered that the proposed dwelling at 47 would give rise to harmful 
overshadowing, overbearing or loss of privacy impacts in respect of 51 Sweetcroft 
Lane.   
 

7.24 All other properties are considered to be located sufficiently far from the application 
site, so as not to be adversely affected in respect of residential amenity impacts. 
 

7.25 Having regard to the above, it is considered that the proposed development would 
not unduly impact on the living conditions of neighbouring occupiers. It would 
therefore comply with Policy DMHB 11 of the Hillingdon Local Plan: Part 2 - 
Development Management Policies (2020). 
 
Quality of Residential Accommodation (Internal and External) 
 

7.26 Regarding internal accommodation, Policy D6 of the London Plan (2021) sets out the 
requirements for the gross internal floor area of new dwellings at a defined level of 
occupancy. Table 3.1 of the London Plan (2021) set outs the same gross internal area 
space standards set out in the technical housing standards - nationally described 
space standard (2015). Policy DMHB 16 of the Local Plan (2020) aligns with this 
policy.  
 

7.27 The proposed development comprises a spacious dwelling with multiple living and 
utility areas. The dwelling would meet all internal space standards of the London Plan 
(2021). The development proposes a large basement which would provide ancillary 
leisure and living space for the enjoyment of future occupiers. No primary living space 
(such as a bedroom) is illustrated within the basement therefore no concerns are 
raised regarding the lack of outlook due to the absence of windows. A modest amount 
of natural light will be provided via the lightwell indicated on drawing ref 21060-GAA-
ZZ-B1-DR-T-2001 Rev C02. It is considered all habitable rooms would have an 
adequate source of light and outlook. As such the proposed development complies 
with Policy D6 of the London Plan (2021) and Policy DMHD 16 of the Local Plan 
(2020). 
 

7.28 With regard to external amenity space, Policy DMHB 18 of Local Plan (2020) states 
that all new residential development and conversions will be required to provide good 
quality and usable private outdoor amenity space. Amenity space should be provided 
in accordance with the standards set out in Table 5.3, which requires a 4-bedroom 
plus house to provide a minimum of 100 square metres of private genuinely usable 
amenity space. 
 

Page 41



Hillingdon Planning Committee  14th January 2026  

PART 1  Members, Public & Press 

7.29 The site would retain in excess of 100sqm of rear garden for private external amenity 
space. The external private amenity space provision is of a sufficient size, usability 
and functionality, in accordance with Policy DMHB 18 of the Hillingdon Local Plan 
(2020).  
 
Highways and Parking 
 
Parking 
 

7.30 The existing property is a family sized dwelling, the proposal would replace this 
dwelling with a new family sized dwelling and would be served by two car parking 
spaces to the front. This accords with the maximum car parking standards set out 
within Policy T6.1 of the London Plan.    
 
Cycle Parking 
 

7.31 The Published London Plan (2021) Table 10.2 Maximum Cycle Parking Standards 
requires dwellings with two or more bedrooms to have a minimum of 2no. cycle 
parking spaces. Cycle storage has been identified on the submitted plans and is 
secure and accessible cycle storage to the front of the site.   
 
Electric Vehicle Charging Points 

7.32 In line with the London Plan (2021), within the final parking quantum there is a 
requirement for a minimum 20% 'active' EVCP provision with all remaining spaces 

pace should be provided in order to future proof for anticipated demand. 
As the submitted plans do not acknowledge this requirement, it is recommended 
provision of the EVCP is secured by way of condition. 
 
Vehicular Access Provision 
 

7.33 The established driveway from Sweetcroft Lane will remain and is considered fit for 
purpose.  
 
Vehicular Trip Generation 
 

7.34 Policies DMT 1 and DMT 2 of the Hillingdon Local Plan Part 2 (2020) requires the 
council to consider whether the traffic generated by proposed developments is 
acceptable in terms of the local highway and junction capacity, traffic flows and 
conditions of general highway or pedestrian safety. The Highways Officer considers 
there would be no discernible difference in vehicle bound activity as compared to the 
scale and single tenure of the existing dwelling hence any generated activity can 
therefore be readily absorbed within the local road network without notable detriment 
to traffic congestion and road safety. The application is in accordance with Policies 
DMT 1 and DMT 2.  
 

Page 42



Hillingdon Planning Committee  14th January 2026  

PART 1  Members, Public & Press 

Operational Refuse Requirements 
 

7.35 Refuse collection will continue via Sweetcroft Lane as is the case at present. In order 
to conform to accepted 'waste collection distances' from the public highway, the bin 
storage area should be positioned within 10m of a refuse vehicle. Although the 
positioning of the waste storage at the front lawn is more than 10m from the public 
highway, this is the current arrangement with the existing dwelling where they take 
the bins to the public highway on collection days. 
 
Construction Management Plan
 

7.36 The Highways Officer considers a full and detailed CMP should be required given the 
constraints and sensitivities of the local road network to avoid/minimise potential 
detriment to the public realm. It is recommended provision of a CMP is secured by 
adding a condition to the decision notice. 
 
Conclusion 
 

7.37 The Highway Authority have been consulted on the application and are satisfied that 
the proposal would not discernibly exacerbate congestion or parking stress and would 
not raise any measurable highway safety concerns and offer no objection to the 
application subject to certain conditions.  
 
Noise 
 

7.38 The site would be used in an exclusively residential capacity. Therefore, in terms of 
the operational phase of the proposed development (occupation of the dwelling), no 
significant issues are raised by the proposal in respect to noise. 
 

7.39 Given the built-up residential nature of the area, a Construction Management Plan 
will be necessary to minimise noise and other emissions caused during the 
construction phase as far as practicable. It is recommended this is added as a 
condition to the decision notice. 
 
Basement Impact & Flood Risk  
 

7.40 Policy DMHD 3 requires the submission of a Basement Impact Assessment of 
developments which include a basement. Applicants must demonstrate that the 
construction of the basement would not result in a potential increase in floodrisk or 
structural integrity.  
 

7.41 The proposal involves a significant basement measuring 292sqm in total. The 
basement would be split into rooms for different uses such as a gym, entertainment 
room and space for the properties plant equipment and thus would remain ancillary 
to the main dwelling. As none of the illustrated spaces are to provide primary 
accommodation the lack of windows to provide outlook, daylight and sunlight does 
not raise a concern that would warrant a refusal reason based on internal amenity.  

Page 43



Hillingdon Planning Committee  14th January 2026  

PART 1  Members, Public & Press 

 
7.42 In order to demonstrate that the principle of a basement in this location is acceptable 

or disrupt the free flow of ground water, the applicant has submitted a Basement 
Impact Assessment and Flood Risk Assessment. These documents confirm that the 
site is located within Flood Risk Zone 1 which means there is no significant risk of 
flooding from rivers or the sea.  
 

7.43 The reports considered the existing geology, the existing water table and the potential 
flood risk both fluvial and pluvial. The groundwater levels are below the proposed 
basement level and would therefore not impede the free flow of water.  
 

7.44 Although there is an increase in built form proposed, the site area is significant which 
is of benefit as it provides the opportunity to increase natural attenuation features. 
The report states that a pond would be constructed within the rear garden, soft 
landscaping and permeable paving would be introduced to the front above an 
underground attenuation tank and rainwater harvesting will be used to ensure that the 
development would not result in an increase to potential flood risk.  
 

7.45 Following a review of the report it is noted that there are some minor inaccuracies 
which are not likely to have been intentional or significantly material to the assessment 
of the application. The report refers to there being no evidence of subsidence within 
the local area. This is not strictly correct, however it should be noted that such 
information would not be available publicly as it would be contained within building 

d 
these files are not publicly available. As such the consultant can only produce a report 
based on the information available to them. Notwithstanding this point, Officers have 
reviewed a secondary report submitted by the applicant which provides not only 
information on geology and ground water which are relevant considerations to both 
flooding and structural integrity, but also a methodology to be followed during the 
construction of the development. Furthermore, the proposed basement would be set 
away from the elevations of the neighbouring properties. Whilst the public 
consultation responses raise some concerns regarding the proposed basement and 
the potential for an increase in flood risk, it should be noted that the site is not located 
within an area identified as being at risk of flooding, including surface water. The 
applicant has submitted a BIA in two parts which covers both the structural elements 
for constructing a basement in a residential area and also the drainage requirements. 
It is recognised by Officers that the report in drainage terms does not elaborate on 
the potential drainage needs to serve the basement. Notwithstanding this point the 
report does demonstrate that the construction of the development as a whole would 
not pose an increased risk of flooding and therefore Officers considered that the 
detailed drainage design that includes specific reference to any drainage 
requirements needed to serve the basement shall be conditioned.  
 

7.46 Although the basement would measure circa 290 sqm, which is significantly sized, 
the site is not located in an area identified as being at risk of potential fluvial or pluvial 
flooding. The application is supported by a specialist report which demonstrates that 

Page 44



Hillingdon Planning Committee  14th January 2026  

PART 1  Members, Public & Press 

basement can be constructed without risk to the free flow of ground water or structural 
stability of neighbouring properties. Adequate drainage mitigation and enhancements 
are provided both naturally and through and underground attenuation tank. Officers 
are mindful that the report provides information to address the planning 
considerations of Policy DMHD 3 and DEMI 9 and any further considerations would 
be matters to be considered outside of the planning regulations such as civil matters. 
Officers therefore consider the proposal acceptable and would accord with Policies 
DMHD 3 and DMEI 9 of the Hillingdon Local Plan: Part Two  Development 
Management Policies (2020). 
 
Accessibility 
 

7.47 Policy D5 and D7 of the London Plan requires the design of new development meet 
the highest standards of accessibility and inclusive design.    
 

7.48 The Council s Access Officer has been consulted on the application and has no 
objection to the proposed development in terms of accessibility, subject to securing 
conditions pertaining to ensuring step free access to the dwelling. It is recommended 
this is added as a condition to the decision notice. Subject to this condition the 
proposal accords with Policies D5 and D7 of the London Plan (2021).  
 
Trees and Landscaping 
 

7.49 Policy DMHB 14 requires developments to contribute towards greening through 
comprehensive landscaping both soft and hard through the retention of existing trees 
and new planting.  
 

7.50 The site is subject to a Tree Preservation Order Area, however no trees on the site 
are protected. There are mature trees located within the gardens of the site. The new 
dwelling is to be located mostly within the footprint of the existing dwelling.  
 

7.51 An Arboricultural Impact Statement, Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan 
have been submitted to ensure the safety and protection of the onsite trees during 
the construction works. 
 

7.52 The site accommodates 31 trees according to the Arboricultrual Survey ranging from 
category A to U. Two of the 31 trees would be felled to facilitate the development 
which are category C and U. Given their low grade no objection is raised to the loss 
of the two trees, a landscaping plan has been submitted which illustrates 
enhancements and a condition is to be added to the decision notice to secure further 
details including implementation and maintenance.  
 

7.53 In addition to the two trees to be felled, crown works, and lopping would need to be 
undertaken. No objection is raised to the type of tree works proposed subject to the 
agreement of a tree retention condition, which will ensure that it is only the two trees 
proposed for removal within the assessment that would be felled.  
 

Page 45



Hillingdon Planning Committee  14th January 2026  

PART 1  Members, Public & Press 

7.54 The landscaping plan illustrates an enhancement to the existing landscaping 
arrangement on site. In addition to 29 of the 31 trees being retained, additional trees 
will be planted, soft landscaping is to be planted to the front of the property and a 
modest pond is to be constructed within the rear garden. The proposed landscaping 
scheme is supported by Officers and a condition to secure further details including 
implementation and maintenance is to be added to the decision notice. Subject to 
these conditions the proposal accords with DMHB 14 Hillingdon Local Plan Part Two 
(2020). 
 
Biodiversity Net Gain  
 

7.55 During the processing of the application a Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment was 
requested and provided. The report states that achieving the statutory 10% gain is 
not possible on-site and off-site compensation will be required.  
 

7.56 The application is supported by a BNG assessment in the form of a statutory metric 
and ecological report. The ecology report concludes that the site does not display any 
features which would provide an established and attractive habitat environment for 
local wildlife including bats. It is suggested within the conclusion of the report that 
enhancement features are secured, this has been added to the landscaping condition.  
 

7.57 It is noted that there is a discrepancy in the submitted BNG metric which refers to the 
presence of a pond within the pre-development calculation which would infer that the 
pond exists on site at present. Having visited site and reviewed the images of the rear 
garden Officers have confirmed that there is not a pond within the boundary of the 
site at present. In terms of how this impacts the outcomes of the statutory metric, the 
document states there to be a shortfall in on site provision of 0.0816 credits. Noting 
that the pond has been included in the pre-development and not post-development 
calculation clearly this would have a negative impact on the metric calculation and 
post-development outcome. Based on the outcome which is presented in the 
document and the fact that once the pond is placed within the post-development 
calculation the level of on site provision in terms of credits secured would increase, it 
is considered that the development could provide adequate provision of on-site 
biodiversity, and this can be secured by way of an appropriately worded condition. As 
such it is recommended that a condition be attached to the decision notice for an 
accurate BNG report and statutory metric submitted prior to the commencement of 
development and this will need to demonstrate how an on site 10% net gain will be 
achieved or evidence of the purchase of off-site credits to off-set the shortfall in on-
site provision.  
 

7.58 A condition has been added to the decision notice to secure an updated BNG 
assessment and if required evidence to demonstrate that the shortfall in on-site net 
gain would be offset by the purchase of statutory credits.   
 
Waste Management 
 

Page 46



Hillingdon Planning Committee  14th January 2026  

PART 1  Members, Public & Press 

7.59 Policy DMHB 11 part(d) of the Hillingdon Local Plan (2020) states that development 
proposals should make sufficient provision for well-designed internal and external 
storage space for general, recycling and organic waste, with suitable access for 
collection. External bins should be located and screened to avoid nuisance and 
adverse visual impacts to occupiers and neighbours. To conform with the Council's 
'waste-collection' distance parameter of 10 metres, refuse, recycling and food waste 
would need to be deposited kerbside on collection day. 
 

7.55 As stated in paragraph 7.33, the proposed plans show provision for refuse and 
recycling storage that is well-designed and screened from the street and neighbours. 
For the reasons explained it is deemed satisfactory.  
 
Sustainability 
 

7.60 Policy DMEI 2 of the Hillingdon Local Plan (2020) requires all developments to make 
the fullest contribution to minimising carbon dioxide emissions in accordance with the 
London Plan targets. 
 

7.61 The proposed development is of a minor scale therefore whilst the principle of SI 2 
(carbon reduction) is applicable, the London Plan Policy applies more specifically to 
major scale applications. The applicant is therefore not required to submit an energy 
statement with the application or demonstrate a policy level of on-site savings. 
 

7.62 However, to ensure the development is in accordance with SI 2, it is recommended 
to require the proposed development to achieve as a minimum, a water efficiency 
standard of no more than 110 litres per person per day maximum water consumption 
(to include a fixed factor of water for outdoor use of 5 litres per person per day in 
accordance with the option requirement defined within Approved Document G of the 
Building Regulations). It is recommended this is secured via a condition (see 
Condition 17 of the condition list) to the decision notice. 
 

7.63 The proposal would therefore be compliant with Policy SI 2 of the London Plan (2021) 
and Policy DMEI 2 of the Hillingdon Local Plan: Part 2 - Development Management 
Policies (2020). 
 
Airport Safeguarding  
 

7.64 Policy DMAV 1 of the Hillingdon Local Plan (2020) states that the Council will ensure 
that uses such as housing, education and hospitals are not located in areas 
significantly affected by aircraft noise without acceptable mitigation measures. 
 

7.65 The application site is within 3km of the RAF Northolt Zone. However, as the site is 
within an established residential area within this zone, it is considered that visibility 
and audibility of aircraft operations associated with RAF Northolt would not be of 
significant harm to the living conditions of future occupiers. It is therefore considered 
that it would be unreasonable to refuse the application on the ground of harm to the 

Page 47



Hillingdon Planning Committee  14th January 2026  

PART 1  Members, Public & Press 

residential amenity of the future occupiers, in respect to aircraft noise associated with 
RAF Northolt. 
 
Land Contamination 
 

7.66 Policy DMEI 12 of the Local Plan (2020) states that for sites which are identified as 
being at potential risk of land contamination a contaminated land report detailing the 
history of contamination on site, relevant survey work and findings should be 
submitted in support of the application. 
 

7.67 The application site is not located on contaminated land therefore a survey is not 
required nor are conditions pertaining to the submission of further information. 
 

8 Other Matters 
 
Human Rights 
 

8.1 The development has been assessed against the provisions of the Human Rights Act, 
and in particular Article 1 of the First Protocol and Article 8 of the Act itself. This Act 
gives further effect to the rights included in the European Convention on Human 
Rights. In arriving at this recommendation, due regard has been given to the 
applicant's reasonable development rights and expectations which have been 
balanced and weighed against the wider community interests, as expressed through 
third party interests / the Development Plan and Central Government Guidance. 

Equality
 

8.2 Due consideration has been given to Section 149 of the Equality Act with regard to 
the Public Sector Equality Duty in the assessment of this planning application. No 
adverse equality impacts are considered to arise from the proposal. 
 
Local Finance Considerations and CIL 
 

8.3 The Council adopted its own Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) on 1st August 
2014. The Hillingdon CIL charge for residential developments is £95 per square metre 
of additional floor space. This is in addition to the Mayoral CIL charge of £60 per 
square metre. CIL rates are index linked. The proposal involves the erection of a new 
dwelling and is therefore CIL liable if planning permission is granted.  
 

9 Conclusion / Planning Balance 
 

9.1 The proposal is for a replacement of an existing family sized dwelling. Notably the 
new dwelling would be larger in scale bulk and massing, however the development 
would not result in a significant departure from the prevailing character and 
appearance or established pattern of development within the Area of Special Local 
Character. The proposal would not result in a harmful reduction of daylight, sunlight 

Page 48



Hillingdon Planning Committee  14th January 2026  

PART 1  Members, Public & Press 

or outlook for neighbouring properties, nor would there be any notable impact upon 
the local highway network. The design is complementary to the character of the area 
which does vary and despite the scale of the basement it has been sufficiently 
demonstrated that the development would not result in an increase to the free flow of 
ground water or potential flooding. An appropriate standard of living accommodation 
is proposed including an enhancement upon the existing landscaping on site. Based 
on these points and the more detailed assessment set out above, the application is 
recommended for approval subject to conditions.  
 

9.2 The proposal is considered to comply with the Development Plan and no material 
considerations indicate that a contrary decision should be taken. Consequently, the 
application is recommended for approval subject to the conditions set out in Appendix 
1. 
 

10 Background Papers 
 

10.1 Relevant published policies and documents taken into account in respect of this 
application are set out in the report. Documents associated with the application 
(except exempt or confidential information) are available on the Council's website 
here, by entering the planning application number at the top of this report and using 
the search facility. Planning applications are also available to inspect electronically 
at the Civic Centre, High Street, Uxbridge, UB8 1UW upon appointment, by 
contacting Planning Services at planning@hillingdon.gov.uk. 
 

 
 

 

Page 49



AAPPENDICES
 

Planning Application
 

15756/APP/2024/3112

Hillingdon Planning Committee -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 1 of 13Page 50



AAppendix 1: Recommended Conditions and Informatives
 
Conditions

1. RES3 TTime Limit

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from
the date of this permission.

REASON
To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

2. RES4 AAccordance with Approved Plans

The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in complete accordance
with the details shown on the submitted plans, numbers:

PJC.1235.001 Rev B
21060-GAA-ZZ-XX-DR-T-2201 Rev C02
21060-GAA-ZZ-XX-DR-T-2102 Rev C02
21060-GAA-ZZ-XX-DR-T-2101 Rev C02
21060-GAA-ZZ-RF-DR-T-2005 Rev C02
21060-GAA-ZZ-B1-DR-T-2001 Rev C02
21060-GAA-ZZ-02-DR-T-2004 Rev C02
21060-GAA-ZZ-01-DR-T-2003 Rev C02
21060-GAA-ZZ-00-DR-T-2002 Rev C03
21060-GAA-ZZ-00-DR-T-0103 Rev C01
21060-GAA-ZZ-00-DR-T-0102 Rev C04
21060-GAA-ZZ-00-DR-T-0101 Rev C02

and shall thereafter be retained/maintained for as long as the development remains in
existence.

REASON
To ensure the development complies with the provisions of the Hillingdon Local Plan Part 1
(2012), Part 2 (2020) and the London Plan (2021).

3. RES7 MMaterials (Submission)

Notwithstanding any of the approved plans, no development shall take place until details of
all materials and external surfaces have been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the development shall be constructed in accordance
with the approved details and be retained as such. Details should include information
relating to make, product/type, colour and photographs/images.

REASON

Hillingdon Planning Committee -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 2 of 13Page 51



To ensure that the development presents a satisfactory appearance in accordance with
Policy DMHB 11 of the Hillingdon Local Plan Part 2 (2020).

44. RES9 LLandscaping (car parking & refuse/cycle storage)

Notwithstanding any of the approved plans, no development shall take place until a
landscape scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The scheme shall include: -

1. Details of Soft Landscaping
1.a Planting plans (at not less than a scale of 1:100),
1.b Written specification of planting and cultivation works to be undertaken,
1.c Schedule of plants giving species (including pollution absorbing plants), plant sizes, and
proposed numbers/densities where appropriate

2. Details of Hard Landscaping
2.a Refuse Storage
2.b Accessible Cycle Storage for 2no bicycles
2.c Means of enclosure/boundary treatments
2.d Car Parking Layout for 2 vehicles including electric vehicle charging points to serve both
spaces.
2.e Hard Surfacing Materials
2.f External Lighting

3. Details of Landscape Maintenance
3.a Landscape Maintenance Schedule for a minimum period of 5 years.
3.b Proposals for the replacement of any tree, shrub, or area of turfing/seeding within the
landscaping scheme which dies or in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority becomes
seriously damaged or diseased.

4. Schedule for Implementation

Thereafter the development shall be carried out and maintained in full accordance with the
approved details.

REASON
To ensure that the proposed development will preserve and enhance the visual amenities of
the locality and provide adequate facilities in compliance with Policies DMHB 11, DMHB 12,
DMHB 14, DMEI 1 and DMT 2 of the Hillingdon Local Plan Part 2 (2020).

5. RES8 TTree Protection and Method

The development hereby approved shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the
recommendations contained within the approved Arboricultural Method Statement, Impact
Assessment and Tree Protection Plan, PJC/6711/24-01 Rev 02.

Hillingdon Planning Committee -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 3 of 13Page 52



REASON
To ensure that trees and other vegetation can and will be retained on site and not damaged
during construction work and to ensure that the development conforms with Policy DMHB 14
of the Hillingdon Local Plan Part 2 (2020).

66. RES12 NNo additional windows or doors

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 1995 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without
modification), no additional windows, doors or other openings shall be constructed in the
walls or roof slopes of the development hereby approved facing No's 51 and 39 Sweetcroft
Lane.

REASON
To prevent overlooking to adjoining properties in accordance with Policy DMHB 11 of the
Hillingdon Local Plan Part 2 (2020).

7. RES13 OObscure Glazing

The windows at first floor and roof level in the side elevations facing Nos. 51 and 39
Sweetcroft Lane shall be glazed with permanently obscured glass to at least scale 4 on the
Pilkington scale and be non-opening below a height of 1.8 metres taken from internal
finished floor level for so long as the development remains in existence.

REASON
To prevent overlooking to adjoining properties in accordance with Policy DMHB 11 of the
Hillingdon Local Plan Part 2 (2020).

8. NONSC BBasement Impact and Drainage

No development shall commence (excluding demolition and site clearance) until an updated
Drainage Strategy has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The strategy shall include, but not be limited to:

1. Full surface water and foul water drainage design details for the entire development,
including:

a. Detailed layout drawings of the proposed drainage network;

b. Pipe sizes, gradients, flow rates and attenuation volumes;

c. Calculations demonstrating compliance with greenfield runoff rates or the maximum
allowable discharge rate;

d. SuDS features (above-ground and/or below-ground), their design specifications and
maintenance arrangements.

Hillingdon Planning Committee -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 4 of 13Page 53



2. Basement drainage details, including:

a. Measures to prevent sewer surcharge and groundwater ingress (e.g., sump pumps, non-
return valves, waterproofing classification);

b. Groundwater risk assessment and evidence demonstrating that the design will not result
in increased flood risk to the site or neighbouring land;

c. Details of any proposed pumped systems, including capacity calculations and
secondary/backup arrangements.

The development shall thereafter be carried out in full accordance with the approved details,
and the drainage systems shall be retained and maintained for the lifetime of the
development.

REASON
To ensure that adequate and sustainable foul and surface water drainage arrangements are
provided for the development, including the basement, in order to prevent increased flood
risk, manage groundwater impacts, and ensure long-term resilience. This is required to
comply with Hillingdon Local Plan: Part 2 Policies DMHB 11 and DMEI 10, and with the
London Plan (2021), including policies SI 12 and SI 13.

99. NONSC SStep free Access

Prior to any works on site above damp proof course level, details of step free access via all
points of entry and exit (excluding the basement lightwell) shall be submitted to, and
approved in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The measures implemented as
approved shall be retained thereafter.

REASON
To ensure housing of an inclusive design is achieved and maintained in accordance with
Policies D5 and D7 of the London Plan (2021).

10. NONSC MM4(2) Dwelling

The dwelling hereby approved shall accord with the requirements of Policy D7 of the London
Plan and shall not be occupied until certification of compliance with the technical
specifications for an M4(2) dwelling, as set out in Approved Document M to the Building
Regulations (2010) 2015, has been submitted to, and approved in writing, by the Local
Planning  Authority. All such provisions must remain in place for the life of the building.

REASON
To not only allow the Building Control body to require the development to comply with the
optional Building Regulations standards, but to also ensure the appropriate quantity and
standard of accessible and adaptable housing is constructed and maintained in accordance

Hillingdon Planning Committee -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 5 of 13Page 54



with Policy D7 of the London Plan (2021).

111. NONSC DDemolition and Construction Management Plan

No development shall take place until a Demolition and Construction Management Plan has
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The plan shall
detail:

a) The phasing of development works
b) Types of vehicles accessing the site, including their ability to enter the Frays Avenue
without affecting neighbouring properties
c) The hours during which development works will occur
d) How vehicles will access the site whilst protecting neighbouring sites
e) Measures to prevent mud and dirt tracking onto footways and adjoining roads (including
wheel washing facilities)
f) Traffic management and access arrangements (vehicular and pedestrian) and parking
provisions for contractors during the development process (including measures to reduce
the numbers of construction vehicles accessing the site during peak hours)
g) Measures to reduce the impact of the development on local air quality and dust through
minimising emissions throughout the demolition and construction process
h) The storage of demolition/construction materials on site.

The approved details shall be implemented and maintained throughout the duration of the
demolition and construction process.

REASON
To safeguard the amenity of surrounding areas in accordance with Policies DMHB 11, DMT
1 and DMT 2 of the Hillingdon Local Plan: Part 2 (2020).

12. NONSC NNon Standard Condition

No development shall take place on any part of the site until a Biodiversity Gain Plan for the
site, demonstrating compliance with the 10% biodiversity net gain requirement in
accordance with the Environment Act 2021, has been submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. The Biodiversity Gain Plan should include:

i. Baseline Biodiversity Assessment: Using the latest Defra Biodiversity Metric, a report of
the site's pre-development biodiversity value; and

ii. On-Site Enhancement and 30-year Habitat Management Plan (HMP) detailing measures
to achieve BNG on-site, including species protection, habitat creation, and ongoing
management strategies to maintain gains for a minimum of 30 years. The HMP should, as a
minimum, include:

a) Description and evaluation of the features to be managed.

Hillingdon Planning Committee -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 6 of 13Page 55



b) Aims, objectives and targets for management.

c) Description of the management operations necessary to achieving aims and objectives.

d) Prescriptions for management actions.

e) Preparation of a works schedule, including an annual works schedule.

f) Details of the monitoring needed to measure the effectiveness of management.

g) Details of the timetable for each element of the monitoring programme.

h) Details of the persons responsible for the implementation and monitoring.

i) Report to the Council routinely regarding the state of the Biodiversity Net Gain
requirements for development in years 1 (post-completion), 3, 5, 10, 20, and 30, with
biodiversity reconciliation calculations at each stage.

Where a biodiversity net gain of 10% is not achievable on site, in addition to the Baseline
Biodiversity Assessment (i), the following shall be included in the BGP:

iii. Off-Site Biodiversity Credits or Statutory Credits: Where on-site measures do not achieve
the 10% net gain, confirmation of the purchase of off-site biodiversity credits or statutory
credits must be provided, including a receipt or proof of transaction as part of the Plan

The approved Biodiversity Gain Plan shall be strictly adhered to, and development shall
commence and operate in accordance with it.

REASON
To ensure the development delivers a Biodiversity Net Gain and secures the protection and
effective management of the remaining habitat on site in accordance with Policy 15 of the
National Planning Policy Framework, Policy G6 of The London Plan, and Policy DMEI 7 of
the Hillingdon Local Plan Part 2.

IInformatives

1. I52 CCompulsory Informative (1)

The decision to GRANT planning permission has been taken having regard to all relevant
planning legislation, regulations, guidance, circulars and Council policies, including The
Human Rights Act (1998) (HRA 1998) which makes it unlawful for the Council to act
incompatibly with Convention rights, specifically Article 6 (right to a fair hearing); Article 8
(right to respect for private and family life); Article 1 of the First Protocol (protection of
property) and Article 14 (prohibition of discrimination).

Hillingdon Planning Committee -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 7 of 13Page 56



22. I59 CCouncils Local Plan : Part 1 - Strategic Policies

The decision to GRANT planning permission has been taken having regard to the policies
and proposals in the Hillingdon Local Plan Part 1 (2012) and Part 2 (2020) set out below,
including Supplementary Planning Guidance, and to all relevant material considerations,
including The London Plan - The Spatial Development Strategy for London consolidated with
alterations since 2011 (2021) and national guidance.

3.

The applicant is advised that the storage of materials associated with the construction of this
development should be provided within the site on land which is not public highway, and the
use of such areas must not interfere with the public highway. If this is not possible,
authorisation should be sought from the Highway Authority before construction works
commence.

4.

It is an offence under section 137 of the Highways Act 1980 for any person, without lawful
authority or excuse, in any way to wilfully obstruct the free passage along a highway or
public right of way. If this development is likely to result in the public highway or public right
of way network becoming routinely blocked (fully or partly) the applicant must contact the
Highway Authority to obtain their permission and requirements before construction works
commence.

5.

It is an offence under section 148 of the Highways Act 1980 to deposit compost, dung or
other material for dressing land, or any rubbish on a made up carriageway, or any or other
debris on a highway to the interruption of any highway user. Section 149 of the same Act
gives the Highway Authority powers to remove such material at the expense of the party
responsible. Therefore, best practical means shall be taken at all times to ensure that all
vehicles leaving the site during construction of the development and use thereafter are in a
condition such as not to emit dust or deposit mud, slurry or other debris on the highway.

6.

The applicant is advised that the Highway Authority has powers under section 163 of the
Highways Act 1980, to take appropriate steps where deemed necessary (serving notice to
the occupier of premises adjoining a highway) to prevent water from the roof or other part of
the premises falling upon persons using the highway, or to prevent so far as is reasonably
practicable, surface water from the premises flowing on to, or over the footway of the
highway.

7. I15 CControl of Environmental Nuisance from Construction Work

Nuisance from demolition and construction works is subject to control under The Control of

Hillingdon Planning Committee -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 8 of 13Page 57



Pollution Act 1974, the Clean Air Acts and other related legislation. In particular, you should
ensure that the following are complied with:-

A. Demolition and construction works which are audible at the site boundary shall only be
carried out between the hours of 08.00 and 18.00 hours Monday to Friday and between the
hours of 08.00 hours and 13.00 hours on Saturday. No works shall be carried out on
Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays.
B. All noise generated during such works shall be controlled in compliance with British
Standard Code of Practice BS 5228:2009.
C. Dust emissions shall be controlled in compliance with the Mayor of London's Best
Practice Guidance' The Control of dust and emissions from construction and demolition.
D. No bonfires that create dark smoke or nuisance to local residents. You are advised to
consult the Council's Environmental Protection Unit (www.hillingdon.gov.uk/noise Tel. 01895
250155) or to seek prior approval under Section 61 of the Control of Pollution Act if you
anticipate any difficulty in carrying out construction other than within the normal working
hours set out in (A) above, and by means that would minimise disturbance to adjoining
premises.

88. IT05 WWildlife and Countryside Act 1981

You are advised that it is an offence under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 to disturb
roosting bats, nesting birds or any other protected species.

9. I2 EEncroachment

You are advised that if any part of the development hereby permitted encroaches by either
its roof, walls, eaves, gutters, or foundations, then a new planning application may have to
be submitted. The validity of this planning permission may be challengeable by third parties if
the development results in any form of encroachment onto land outside the applicant's
control for which the appropriate Notice under Article 13 of the Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 has not been served.

10. I6 PProperty Rights/Rights of Light

Your attention is drawn to the fact that the planning permission does not override property
rights and any ancient rights of light that may exist. This permission does not empower you
to enter onto land not in your ownership without the specific consent of the owner. If you
require further information or advice, you should consult a solicitor.

11. I73 CCommunity Infrastructure Levy (CIL) (Granting Consent)

Under the terms of the Planning Act 2008 (as amended) and Community Infrastructure Levy
Regulations 2010 (as amended), this development is liable to pay the London Borough of
Hillingdon Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and the Mayor of London's Community
Infrastructure Levy (CIL). This will be calculated in accordance with the London Borough of
Hillingdon CIL Charging Schedule 2014 and the Mayor of London's CIL Charging Schedule
2012. Before commencement of works the development parties must notify the London

Hillingdon Planning Committee -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 9 of 13Page 58



Borough of Hillingdon of the commencement date for the construction works (by submitting a
Commencement Notice) and assume liability to pay CIL (by submitting an Assumption of
Liability Notice) to the Council at planning@hillingdon.gov.uk. The Council will then issue a
Demand Notice setting out the date and the amount of CIL that is payable. Failure to submit
a valid Assumption of Liability Notice and Commencement Notice prior to commencement of
the development may result in surcharges being imposed.

The above forms can be found on the planning portal at:
www.planningportal.gov.uk/planning/applications/howtoapply/whattosubmit/cil

Pre-Commencement Conditions: These conditions are important from a CIL liability
perspective as a scheme will not become CIL liable until all of the pre-commencement
conditions have been discharged/complied with.

HHillingdon Planning Committee -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 10 of 13Page 59



AAppendix 2: Relevant Planning History

15756/APP/2023/2417 47 Sweetcroft Lane Hillingdon
Demolition of existing house and erection of a three storey 6-bedroom dwelling with a
basement and garage outbuilding to the front.

Decision: 09-11-2023 Withdrawn

15756/B/90/0442 47 Sweetcroft Lane Hillingdon
Erection of a single storey side and front extension for granny annexe, erection of detached
double garage and erection of a front porch

Decision: 09-11-1990 Approved

15756/C/91/0121 47 Sweetcroft Lane Hillingdon
Installation of a rear dormer (Application for determination under Section 64 of the Act)

Decision: 28-02-1991 General
Perm.Devt.

15756/F/97/0464 47 Sweetcroft Lane Hillingdon
Erection of a rear conservatory

Decision: 10-06-1997 Approved

15756/PRC/2022/115 47 Sweetcroft Lane Hillingdon
Demolition of existing house and erection of a three storey, new build house consisting of 7
bedrooms

Decision: 07-09-2022 Objection

15756/PRC/2024/16 47 Sweetcroft Lane Hillingdon
Demolition of existing house and erection of a three storey 6-bedroom dwelling with a
basement and garage outbuilding to the front, and installation of solar panels to the roof
crown.

Decision: 19-07-2024 Pre-App Advice
Given

Hillingdon Planning Committee -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 11 of 13Page 60



AAppendix 3: List of Relevant Planning Policies

The following Local Plan Policies are considered relevant to the application:-

Part 1 Policies:

PT1.BE1 (2012) Built Environment

PT1.H1 (2012) Housing Growth

PT1.EM6 (2012) Flood Risk Management

PT1.HE1 (2012) Heritage

Part 2 Policies:

DMH 1 Safeguarding Existing Housing

DMH 2 Housing Mix

DMCI 7 Planning Obligations and Community Infrastructure Levy

DMEI 10 Water Management, Efficiency and Quality

DMEI 9 Management of Flood Risk

DMHB 15 Planning for Safer Places

DMHB 5 Areas of Special Local Character

LPP SI12 (2021) Flood risk management

LPP T2 (2021) Healthy Streets

LPP T4 (2021) Assessing and mitigating transport impacts

DMHB 11 Design of New Development

DMHB 12 Streets and Public Realm

DMHB 14 Trees and Landscaping

DMHB 16 Housing Standards

DMT 1 Managing Transport Impacts

Hillingdon Planning Committee -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 12 of 13Page 61



DMT 2 Highways Impacts

DMT 5 Pedestrians and Cyclists

DMT 6 Vehicle Parking

LPP D1 (2021) London's form, character and capacity for growth

LPP D3 (2021) Optimising site capacity through the design-led approach

LPP D4 (2021) Delivering good design

LPP D5 (2021) Inclusive design

LPP D6 (2021) Housing quality and standards

LPP D7 (2021) Accessible housing

LPP H1 (2021) Increasing housing supply

LPP H2 (2021) Small sites

LPP SI13 (2021) Sustainable drainage

LPP T5 (2021) Cycling

LPP T6 (2021) Car parking

LPP T6.1 (2021) Residential parking

NPPF11 -24 NPPF11 2024 - Making effective use of land

NPPF12 -23 NPPF12 23 - Achieving well-designed and beautiful places

NPPF14 -24 NPPF14 2024 - Meeting the challenge of climate change, flood and coastal
change

NPPF15 -24 NPPF15 2024 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

NPPF2 -24 NPPF2 2024 - Achieving sustainable development

NPPF5 -24 NPPF5 2024 - Delivering a sufficient supply of homes

NPPF9 -24 NPPF9 2024 - Promoting sustainable transport

HHillingdon Planning Committee -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 13 of 13Page 62



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 

Report of the Head of Development Management and Building  
Control Committee Report 

 
 

    
Case Officer:  Alan Corcoran 1126/APP/2023/3671 

 
Date Application 
Valid: 

19.01.2024 Statutory / Agreed 
Determination 
Deadline: 

30.01.2026 

Application 
Type:  

Full Ward: Heathrow 
Villages 

 
 
Applicant: R Heathrow Ariel Opco Ltd 

 
Site Address: Ariel Hotel, 118 Bath Road, Hayes, UB3 5AJ 

 
Proposal: Reconfiguration, alteration, and extension of 

existing hotel (providing additional hotel rooms) 
(Use Class C1), together with erection of a new 
apart-hotel building (Use Class C1) on car park 
land to the north. 
 

Summary of 
Recommendation: 
 

GRANT planning permission subject to section 
106 legal agreement and conditions 

Reason Reported 
to Committee: 

Required under Part 1 of the Planning Scheme of 
Delegation (Major application recommended for 
approval) 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 63

Agenda Item 7



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 

 
 Summary of Recommendation: 
  
 GRANT planning permission subject to the completion of a satisfactory 

section 106 legal agreement to secure the heads of terms set out below, and 
subject to the conditions as set out in Appendix 1. 

  
 It is recommended that delegated powers be given to the Director of Planning 

and Sustainable Growth to grant planning permission subject to the following:  
  
 A) That the Council enter into a legal agreement with the applicant under 

Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) or any 
other legislation to secure the following: 

  
 i. Air Quality Mitigation contribution of £88,533. 
  
 ii. A Carbon Offset sum based on an Updated Energy Strategy (to be submitted 

to discharge the Updated Energy Strategy condition), with the offset calculation 
based on £95 per tonne of CO2 over a 30-year period. 

  
 iii. An Employment/Construction Training Scheme secured in accordance with the 

Council's Planning Obligations SPD. 
  
 iv. An End-User Employment Scheme secured in accordance with the Council's 

Planning Obligations SPD. 
  
 v. A Healthy Streets/Active Travel Zone contribution of £112,700. 
  
 vi. A Project Management and Monitoring Fee, equalling 5% of the total financial 

contributions to be paid under this agreement. 
  
 B) That in respect of the application for planning permission, the applicant meets 

the Council's reasonable costs in preparation of the Section 106 agreement and 
any abortive work as a result of the agreement not being completed. 

  
 C) That officers be authorised to negotiate and agree the detailed terms of the 

proposed agreement and conditions of approval. 
  
 D) That, if the Legal Agreement has not been finalised within six months (or 

such other time frame as may be agreed by the Director of Planning and 
Sustainable Growth), delegated authority be given to the Director of Planning 
and Sustainable Growth to refuse planning permission for the following 
reason: 

  
 'The applicant has failed to mitigate the impacts posed by the proposed 

development (in respect of Air Quality, Carbon Emissions, Employment, and 
Highways works). The scheme therefore conflicts with Paragraphs 56-58 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework (2024), Policy DF1 of The London 

Page 64



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 

Plan (2021), Policy DMCI 7 of the Hillingdon Local Plan: Part 2 (2020), and 
the Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document (2014).’ 

  
 E) That if the application is approved, that the permission is subject to the 

Conditions as set out in Appendix 1. 
  
1 Executive Summary 
  
1.1 The 0.8 hectare application site is located 170 metres north of Heathrow Airport, 

at the junction of Bath Road and High Street Harlington. It contains a 1960’s four-
storey circular hotel building and associated car park. The existing hotel has 186 
guest rooms. 

  
1.2 The application proposes to intensify the existing hotel use (Use Class C1). The 

proposed development comprises a two-storey upward extension and alterations 
to the existing Ariel Hotel to create an additional 113 rooms, increasing the total 
from 186 to 299 guest rooms. To accommodate the increase in guests, the ground 
floor area adjacent to the courtyard (currently occupied by a games room, 
reception, and plant room) would be extended and reconfigured to provide 
additional seating space for the hotel's ancillary restaurant. 459 sq. m. of outdoor 
amenity space would be located centrally on the restaurant’s roof at first-floor 
level. The hotel’s gross external floor area would increase from 7,540 sq. m. to 
11,070 sq. m. – an increase of 3,530 sq. m. The application also proposes the 
construction of a four-storey building along the north of the Site to contain 99 
apart-hotel units (Use Class C1), following the demolition of single-storey garages 
and the removal of hotel car parking. This building would have a gross external 
floor area of 4,730 sq. m. The car park would be reduced by 63 spaces – from 
118 to 55 – to facilitate the development. Additional soft landscaping 
(approximately 540 sq. m.) would be introduced around the proposed apart-hotel 
and site’s perimeter, as well as green roofs (approximately 1,720 sq. m.) on the 
extended hotel and apart-hotel. 

  
1.3 Given the application site’s planning history and existing hotel use, and following 

a review of the submitted Sequential Assessment, the principle of intensifying the 
hotel use (Use Class C1) and constructing an apart-hotel (Use Class C1) on this 
site is acceptable. The buildings’ height, scale, and mass would be comparable to 
the surrounding context, and it would not unduly impact residential amenity. The 
proposal represents a contextually appropriate development that aligns with Local 
Plan and London Plan policy objectives to optimise land near significant transport 
nodes and support tourism infrastructure. There are no objections from the 
Council’s Urban Design Officer, Landscape Officer, Policy Officer, or Highways 
Officer. While located on potentially contaminated land, the Council’s Land 
Contamination Officer has no concerns subject to a recommended condition. 
Noting the Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) and Air Quality Focus Areas, 
which the site is within, the Council’s Air Quality Officer has no objections subject 
to an air quality mitigation contribution of £88,533 (contained within the Section 
106 Heads of Terms) and planning conditions, which have been recommended. 
Whilst the site is within an Archaeological Priority Zone (Heathrow), Historic 

Page 65



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 

England’s Greater London Archaeological Advisory Service (GLAAS) has no 
objection subject to conditions. 

  
1.4 The Council received one objection from the Harlington Conservation Area 

Advisory Panel and one individual objection from a resident, which raised 
concerns regarding the proposed scale and design, impact on neighbouring 
residential amenity, car parking, and disruption to residents during construction 
works. These concerns are discussed within this assessment, and it is considered 
that the matters would not warrant a recommendation for refusal. 

  
1.5 The proposal is acceptable and would be consistent with the National Planning 

Policy Framework, The London Plan, and Hillingdon Local Plan. 
  
1.6 The planning application is therefore recommended for approval subject to the 

condition as set out in the appendix and Section 106 Heads of Terms detailed in 
the ‘Summary of Recommendation’ section of this report. 

  
2 The Site and Locality 
  
2.1 The 0.8 hectare application site is located 170m north of Heathrow Airport, at the 

junction of Bath Road and High Street Harlington. It contains a 1960’s four-storey 
circular hotel building and associated car park. The existing hotel has 186 rooms. 
There are several single-storey garages on-site along the northern boundary. 

  
2.2 The site is within Potentially Contaminated Land, an Air Quality Management Area 

(AQMA), an Air Quality Focus Areas (A4 Corridor Focus Area and Harlington 
Focus Area), and an Archaeological Priority Zone (Heathrow). It is within Flood 
Zone 1 – the lowest probability of flooding. It is not within a Critical Drainage Area, 
though it is subject to a small area (approximately 115 sq. m.) of Surface Water 
Flooding towards the centre of the site. The application site does not contain any 
Listed Buildings and it is not located within a Conservation Area or Area of Special 
Local Character. 

  
2.3 The site has two existing vehicular accesses. One vehicular access is off the A437 

High Street Harlington (to the northwest of the Site) and the second is to the south 
off Bath Road. The site has good access to public transport, with a Public 
Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) of 4, on a scale of 0 to 6b, where 6b is the 
highest. There are 118 surface car parking spaces on the site surrounding the 
hotel. 

  
2.4 There is a six-storey hotel to the east of the site. To the south of the site, on the 

opposite side of Bath Road, are three-storey commercial properties and Heathrow 
Airport. Three and four-storey residential blocks neighbour the site on the opposite 
side of Marlborough Crescent to the north. To the west, on the opposite side of 
High Street Harlington, is a four-storey office building. 

Page 66



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 

  
 Figure 1: Location Plan (application site edged red) 
 

  
 Figure 2: Aerial View of the Application Site  
 

 

Page 67



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 

  
 Figure 3: Aerial View of the Application Site 
 

 
  
 Figure 4: Street View Image of the Application site facing north 
 

 
  
 Figure 5: Street View Image of the Application site facing northwest 
 

 

Page 68



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 

  
 Figure 6: Street View Image of the Application site facing northeast 
 

 
  
 Figure 7: View From the Site (Facing East), Including On-Site Garages (to be 

Demolished) and Neighbouting Hotel 
 

 
  
  
3 Proposal  
  
3.1 The Applicant proposes to reconfigure, alter, and extend the existing hotel and 

construct a new apart-hotel building along the north of the site. 
  
3.2 The proposal comprises an additional 113 hotel rooms within a two-storey upward 

extension to the existing hotel. This extension would increase the hotel’s capacity 
from 186 guest rooms to 299. The hotel’s facades would be updated and entirely 
reclad with new aluminium cladding and composite windows to match the 
proposed apart hotel to the north. The hotel would increase in height from four 
storeys (approximately 14 metres) to six storeys (approximately 20 metres), 
retaining its distinct circular, centric ring layout. To accommodate more guests, 

Page 69



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 

the ground floor area adjacent to the internal courtyard (currently occupied by a 
games room, reception, and plant room) would be extended and reconfigured to 
provide additional seating space for the hotel's ancillary restaurant. 459 sq. m. of 
outdoor amenity space would be located centrally on the restaurant’s roof at first-
floor level. The hotel’s gross external floor area would increase from 7,540 sq. m. 
to 11,070 sq. m, an increase of 3,530 sq. m. The extended hotel would have a 
764 sq. m. green roof with photovoltaic panels. 

  
3.3 The proposal also includes the construction of 99 apart-hotel units across a 

standalone four-storey building that would be located to the north of the existing 
hotel. The apart-hotel would be constructed following the demolition of the existing 
single-storey garages and the removal of surface-level hotel car parking spaces. 
The apart hotel would measure approximately 70 metres wide and 17.5 metres 
deep and have a height of approximately 13 metres (four storeys). It would have 
a gross external floor area of 4,730 sq. m. The apart hotel would have a 956 sq. 
m. green roof with photovoltaic panels. 

  
3.4 The site's two existing vehicular accesses would be retained. The High Street 

access would facilitate two-way movements into and out of the site, while the Bath 
Road access would facilitate inbound movements only. The car park would be 
reduced by 63 spaces – from 118 to 55 – to facilitate the proposed development, 
and additional soft landscaping would be introduced. 

  
 Figure 8: Proposed Plan and Landscape Plan (please note – larger version of plan can 

be found in the Committee Plan Pack) 
  
 

 

Page 70



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 

  
 Figure 9: Proposed Hotel South Elevation Facing Bath Road 
 

 
  
 Figure 10: Proposed Apart-Hotel North Elevation Facing Marlborough Crescent 
  
 

 
  
 Figure 11: Proposed Apart-Hotel West Elevation Facing High Street Harlington 
  
 

 
 
  
4 Relevant Planning History 
  
4.1 A list of the relevant planning history related to the property can be found in 

Appendix 2. 
  

Page 71



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 

  
5 Planning Policy  
  
5.1 A list of planning policies relevant to the consideration of the application can be 

found in Appendix 3. 
  
  
6 Consultations and Representations 
  
6.1 The Council sent consultation letters to 114 neighbouring properties and the 

Harlington Village Residents Association on 30-01-2024. The Council also 
advertised the application with a site notice and press notice on 15-02-2024. The 
consultation expired on 07-03-2024. Following the submission of revised 
drawingsa re-consultation was undertaken on 15-12-2025 and expired 31-12-
2025.  

  
6.2 The Council received one objection from the Harlington Conservation Area 

Advisory Panel and one individual objection from a resident in response to the 
public consultation. The consultee responses are summarised in Table 2 (below). 
Full copies of the responses have also separately been made available to 
Members. 

  
 Table 1: Summary of Representations Received  

 
Representations Summary of Issues 

Raised 
 

Planning Officer 
Response 

The Council 
received one 
objection from the 
Harlington 
Conservation 
Area Advisory 
Panel and one 
individual 
objection from a 
resident. 

i) The proposed scale and 
design 

Discussed at paragraphs 
7.11 to 7.15 of this report. 

ii) impact on neighbouring 
residential amenity 

Discussed at paragraphs 
7.16 to 7.29 of this report. 

iii) car parking Discussed at paragraphs 
7.30 to 7.35 of this report. 

iv) disruption to residents 
during construction 

Discussed at paragraph 
7.45 of this report. 

 

  
 Table 2: Summary of Consultee Responses 

 
Consultee and Summary of Comments 
 

Planning Officer 
Response 

External Consultee Comments 

Greater London Archaeological Advisory 
Service (GLAAS): 
 
No objection subject to condition and informative 
regarding a Written Scheme of Investigation. 

 
A condition and 
informative have been 
recommended in line 

Page 72



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 

 with GLAAS’ 
recommendations. 
 

Transport for London (TfL): 
 
No objection. 

 
Noted 

Metropolitan Police Design Out Crime:  
 
No comments received. 
 

A condition has been 
recommended 
regarding ‘Secured by 
Design’ accreditation. 

National Air Traffic Services: 
 
No objection. 

 
Noted 

Heathrow Airport: 
 
No objection subject to conditions regarding Bird 
Hazard Management Plan and PV panel glare 
assessment. Informative recommended regarding 
the Bird Hazard Management Plan, cranes, 
landscaping, and lighting. 

Conditions and 
informatives have been 
recommended in line 
with Heathrow Airport’s 
recommendation. 
 

Thames Water Utilities: 
 
No objection subject to recommended informative 
regarding wastewater assets. 
 

An informative has 
been recommended in 
line with the Thames 
Water Utilities’ 
recommendations. 

London Fire Brigade: 
 
No comments. 

 
Noted. 

Internal Consultee Comments 

Urban Design and Landscape Officer 
 
No objection subject to a condition regarding 
external materials. 

 
A condition has been 
recommended in line 
with the Urban Design 
Officer’s request. 

Economic Development 
 
No objection subject to a Construction Employment 
Training Scheme and an End-User Employment 
Scheme being secured in accordance with the 
Council's Planning Obligations SPD. 

 
These requests are 
recommended Heads 
of Terms to be secured 
in the S106 
Agreement.  

Access Officer 
 
Recommendations received regarding disabled 
person car parking provision and room accessibility. 
 

 
Conditions have been 
recommended in line 
with the Accessibility 
Officer’s 
recommendations. 

Refuse and Recycling Officer  

Page 73



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 

 
No objection. 

Noted. 
 

Planning Policy Officer 
 
No objection. 

 
Noted. 
 

Highways Officer 
 
No objection subject to conditions regarding a Car 
Parking Design and Management Plan and a 
Construction Logistics Plan as well as a Section 106 
Agreement contribution of £112,700 towards 
Healthy Streets/Active Travel Zone improvements. 
 

Condition have been 
recommended in line 
with the Highways 
Officer’s 
recommendations and 
a Section 106 clause is 
included in the 
recommended Heads 
of Terms. 

Air Quality Officer 
 
No objection subject to an Air Quality Mitigation 
contribution of £88,533 secured by a Section 106 
Agreement and conditions regarding a low emission 
strategy (LES) and reducing emissions from 
demolition and construction. 

A S106 financial 
contribution is included 
in the recommended 
Heads of Terms and 
conditions have been 
recommended in line 
with the Air Quality 
Officer’s 
recommendations, 
except for LES, as the 
travel plan and electric 
vehicle charging 
spaces are covered by 
separate conditions. 

Noise Pollution Officer 
 
No objection. 

 
Noted. 
 

Environmental Health Officer (Land 
Contamination) 
 
No objection subject to a condition regarding land 
contamination. 

A condition has been 
recommended in line 
with the Land 
Contamination Officer’s 
recommendations. 

Environmental Specialist (Energy and 
Biodiversity) 
 
No objection subject to conditions requiring a 
revised Energy Strategy and ‘be seen’ energy 
monitoring, and a carbon offset contribution based 
on the updated Energy Strategy secured by a S106 
Agreement. 
 

A S106 carbon offset 
contribution clause is 
included in the 
recommended Heads 
of Terms. Condition 
have been 
recommended in line 
with the Environmental 
Specialist (Energy and 
Biodiversity). 

Flood Risk and Drainage Consultant 
 

Conditions have been 
recommended to 

Page 74



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 

Additional Surface Water Runoff details requested, 
and a Detailed Drainage Design condition 
recommended.  
 

ensure the detailed 
design aligns with the 
Drainage Consultant’s 
recommendations. 

 

  
  
7 Planning Assessment 
  
 Principle of Development  
  
7.1 The principle of a hotel use on this site has been established by the long-standing 

use of the site as a hotel since the 1960s. 
  
7.2 This application seeks to create a further 113 hotel guest rooms (Use Class C1) 

– increasing capacity from 186 to 299 guest rooms – by constructing a two-storey 
upward extension to the Ariel Hotel. The application also proposes the 
construction of a four-storey building to contain 99 apart-hotel units (Use Class 
C1) along the north of the site to replace car parking and single-storey garages. 

  
7.3 The Applicant submitted a Sequential Assessment to demonstrate why it is an 

appropriate hotel location, despite not being in a Town Centre or Hotel Growth 
Location. 

  
7.4 The application states that the additional hotel rooms and apart-hotel units would 

be managed by the existing hotel provider.  
  
7.5 The submitted Sequential Assessment concludes that ‘An extensive search was 

taken within the relevant catchment area for potential sites that could host the 
proposed development. It has been identified that no sites located within a town 
centre or edge of centre location would be suitable, available, and viable for the 
proposed hotel scheme, despite allowing for flexibility with the type and size of 
scheme.’ 

  
7.6 Although the proposal is not within a Town Centre location, the proposed 

additional hotel rooms and apart-hotel units (Use Class C1) would be within an 
existing hotel site and would be adjacent to a neighbouring hotel and to Heathrow 
Airport. 

  
7.7 The Council's Planning Policy Team has been consulted and has reviewed the 

submission documents. They do not raise any objection to this proposed hotel 
development, advising that the Sequential Test provides evidence of the limited 
availability of land for hotels in relevant Town Centres. When the demonstrated 
limited availability of land for hotels in relevant Town Centres is considered in 
relation to the strategic need for serviced visitor accommodation, as outlined in 
The London Plan (2021) and its associated evidence base, it is apparent that the 
need for serviced visitor accommodation cannot be met solely on Town Centre 
and Edge-of-Centre sites. A refusal of the application on this basis is therefore not 
justified or recommended. 

  

Page 75



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 

7.8 The proposal would help to meet the demand for visitor accommodation linked to 
Heathrow Airport, intensifying the use of an established hotel with good public 
transport links. The principle of development is acceptable in this instance. 

  
7.9 Given that there are no specific internal living standards set within the 

development plan for visitor accommodation, a condition restricting occupation to 
no more than 90 days within a calendar year is to be attached to the decision 
notice. This is essential for an apart-hotel and / or hotel development to ensure 
the accommodation operates as genuinely short-term, visitor accommodation 
rather than functioning as de facto permanent residential units. Such a control 
helps maintain compliance with planning policies that distinguish commercial 
hospitality uses from residential use. Additionally, the restriction supports proper 
management of guest turnover, reinforces the business model’s alignment with 
tourism objectives, and provides the local authority with a clear, enforceable 
mechanism to prevent misuse of the premises. 

  
7.10 The proposal complies with the aims of Policy E10 of The London Plan, Policy E2 

of the Hillingdon Local Plan Part 1, and Policy DME 5 of the Hillingdon Local Plan 
Part 2. 

  
 Design/Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Area 
  
7.11 The proposed design has evolved through the pre-application and application 

process and responds positively to officer’s inputs. With regards to the existing 
hotel extension, it is clear from the site photos that the existing building is of some 
architectural merit but needs refurbishment works both internally and externally in 
order to enhance its visitor accommodation offering. The proposal comprises the 
extension of the existing hotel in the form of a two storey upward extension and 
the refurbishment of the existing external façade with a more modern cladding in 
terms of specification, but the appearance would be more akin to the design of 
original building which dates to the 1960’s. The proposal also brings forward 
enhancements to the existing courtyard which is located within the centre of the 
circular shaped building. In terms of scale, bulk, massing, the upward extension 
is modest and would not appear over dominant. The proposed façade treatments 
are a vast improvement in both sustainability and appearance. The soft 
landscaping enhancements to the central courtyard are also welcomed. 

  
7.12 Turning to the new apart-hotel building, this would be located to the northern end 

of the car park. Further north there are a cluster of residential blocks of apartments 
ranging from 3 to 4 stories in height. To the east lies the rear elevation of the 
Courtyard by Marriot Hotel which extends up to 6 stories in height. The proposed 
new building would be set away from the northern boundary and would extend up 
to 4 stories in height. The height of the new building is comparable with the 
residential blocks to the north and although the building would extend almost the 
entire width of the site articulation has been proposed to the most prominent 
elevations (the front and rear) in the form of a modest 3 storey projection around 
the eastern and western elevations and the centre of both the front and rear 
façade. This in combination with the use of an alternative façade treatment helps 
to break up the extent of the façade reducing the visual bulk and massing. The 

Page 76



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 

introduction of a new ground floor entrance from the proposed apart hotel onto 
High Street, Harlington would contribute to the activation and visual animation of 
the public realm, particularly along a pedestrian route frequently used by those 
accessing bus stops on Bath Road. The entrance is a welcome addition. As stated 
above the height and scale of the proposed apart hotel building and extended 
hotel building would have due regard to the local context and surrounding 
developments, including the apartments to the north, hotels to the east, and 
offices to the west. 

  
7.13 Furthermore, by utilising the same materials on both buildings would create a 

cohesive architectural appearance. The development’s design and appearance 
would be in keeping with the area's character, and the proposed building would 
sit comfortably within the streetscene. 

  
7.14 The Council’s Urban Design Officer has been consulted and has no objections 

regarding the proposed design, subject to a condition regarding materials, which 
has been recommended. 

  
7.15 The proposal complies with Paragraph 131 of the NPPF, Policies D3 of The 

London Plan, Policy BE1 of the Local Plan Part 1, and Policies DMHB 11 and 
DMHB 12 of the Local Plan Part 2. 

  
 Residential Amenity  
  
7.16 There are homes within a four-storey residential block situated 18.3 metres to the 

north of the proposed apart-hotel on the opposite side of Marlborough Crescent. 
There are no concerns regarding direct overlooking or outlook impacts, given the 
intervening street, the separation distance, building heights, design, and the 
existing and proposed soft landscaping and boundary treatment. Whilst the 
separation distance does fall modestly short of the 21 metre separation distance 
set out within DMHB 11 of the Local Plan, there is generally a more flexible 
approach taken to this separation distance where the existing and proposed 
windows are separated by a street.  

  
7.17 A daylight and sunlight assessment has been submitted in support of the 

application. The study has been undertaken in accordance with the Building 
Research Establishment (BRE) guidance Site layout planning for daylight and 
sunlight – A guide to good practice (Third Edition, 2022). The assessment 
considers the potential impact of the proposed development at the Ariel Hotel, 118 
Bath Road, Harlington, on the daylight and sunlight received by neighbouring 
properties. 

  
7.18 The submitted Daylight and Sunlight Assessment identifies that out of 108 

windows assessed, only six—all at ground-floor level at 1–10 Marlborough 
Crescent—fall marginally below the BRE guidelines for Vertical Sky Component 
(VSC) and the 0.8 retained daylight ratio threshold. These windows experience 
VSC values of 23–25% and daylight ratios of 0.77–0.79 times existing. The GLA’s 
independent review (Representation Hearing Report D&P/3067/03) confirms that 
in an urban environment, VSC values above 20% are “reasonably good,” and 

Page 77



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 

values in the mid-teens are generally acceptable. All six affected windows retain 
VSC levels well above 20%, ranging from 23% to 25%. 

  
7.19 The BRE Guidance (2022) explicitly states that its numerical criteria are “not 

mandatory” and should be interpreted flexibly, particularly where site context or 
urban form necessitates greater massing. The London Plan and Housing SPG 
reiterate the need for sensitive, non-rigid application of BRE targets in higher-
density areas. The assessment notes that the site lies within a highly urbanised 
location adjacent to Heathrow Airport, where more constrained daylight outcomes 
are normal and expected.  

  
7.20 Of 108 windows tested, only six show any shortfall. BRE Appendix H classifies 

impacts affecting only a small number of windows, and where shortfalls are “only 
just outside the guidelines,” as minor adverse—not significant. This is precisely 
the scenario identified in the assessment. 

  
7.21 The NPPF requires Local Planning Authorities to take a flexible approach to 

daylight/sunlight where strict application would inhibit making efficient use of a 
site, particularly where housing or accommodation needs must be met. Whilst this 
application does not propose residential accommodation, there is a demand for 
visitor accommodation across London which cannot currently be met within Town 
Centre locations. As such this development would go some way to addressing this 
demand and the principle of taking a more flexible approach advocated within the 
NPPF is accepted here. The assessment concludes that, in this planning context, 
these small shortfalls represent an acceptable consequence of optimising the site 
to meet a recognised need, which aligns with national policy direction. 

  
7.22 Although the reductions are noticeable, the resulting daylight levels (23–25% VSC 

and 0.77–0.79 retained daylight) remain within the range considered good for 
urban residential conditions. They do not fall into thresholds associated with poor 
amenity or unacceptable harm (e.g., VSC below 10%). 

  
7.23 The daylight shortfalls identified at six windows represent very minor deviations 

from BRE guidance, occurring only in a small number of locations and retaining 
daylight levels that remain good for an urban context. National and London-wide 
policy explicitly supports flexibility in applying daylight standards where needed to 
make efficient use of land. Taking these factors together, the assessment robustly 
demonstrates that these shortfalls constitute a minor and acceptable impact in 
planning terms. 

  
7.24 BRE Guidelines are advisory rather than mandatory. Flexibility regarding sunlight 

reduction is appropriate and expected in urban areas, such as the location of the 
proposed development. Section 3.2.10 of the BRE Guidelines states, 'if the 
existing building stands unusually close to the common boundary with the new 
development or has a large balcony or overhang above the window, then a greater 
reduction in sunlight access may be unavoidable. The guidelines are purely 
advisory. Planning authorities may wish to use different criteria based on the 
requirements for sunlight in particular types of developments in particular areas. 

Page 78



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 

Sometimes a larger reduction in sunlight may be necessary if new development 
is to match the height and proportion of existing buildings nearby.' 

  
7.25 All assessed windows would fully meet the recommendations contained within the 

BRE Guidance in relation to Annual Probable Sunlight Hours (APSH). As such, 
the impact to these windows regarding access to sunlight is acceptable. 

  
7.26 Out of the 108 windows evaluated, six windows at 1-10 Marlborough Crescent 

would not fully meet the recommendations outlined in the BRE Report. These six 
windows would experience a slight decrease in daylight, falling below 27 per cent 
Vertical Sky Component (VSC) and less than 0.8 times the existing level. The 
proposed level of daylight would exceed 23 per cent VSC at all windows. 
Furthermore, the proposed level of daylight would be between 0.77 and 0.79 times 
the existing level of daylight. While this reduction may be noticeable, these 
deviations from BRE Guidance are minimal and fall within the tolerances specified 
in the GLA's Hearing Report guidelines for London and urban areas. As such, this 
slight impact is, on balance, acceptable within the site's context and would not 
warrant a recommendation for refusal. 

  
7.27 The submitted analysis demonstrates that on the 21st of March, whilst there would 

be a slight reduction in the amount of outdoor amenity space that receives direct 
sunlight, over at least half of the area would continue to receive direct sunlight. 
Therefore, the impact on this amenity space would not be significant and is 
acceptable in the urban context. 

  
7.28 Please see relevant sections below regarding noise. 
  
7.29 The proposed scheme is supported and would not be overdevelopment or cause 

undue impacts on residential amenity. It complies with the aims of Policy D3 of 
The London Plan and Policy DMHB 11 of the Local Plan Part 2. 

  
 Highways and Parking 
  
7.30 The Applicant submitted a Transport Assessment, a Vehicular Trip Generation 

Note, a Travel Plan, Interim Construction Management Plan and an Interim 
Construction Logistics Plan. 

  
7.31 The site is located on the A4 Bath Road, Harlington, immediately adjacent to the 

junction with the A437 High Street Harlington. It is located approximately 2.7km, 
5.1km, and 5.4km northeast of Heathrow Terminal 2 and 3, Heathrow Terminal 4, 
and Heathrow Terminal 5, respectively. The A437 High Street Harlington borders 
the site to the west, the A4 Bath Road to the south, Marlborough Crescent to the 
north, and the Courtyard by Marriott London Heathrow Airport Hotel to the east. 
The site is situated in a location with a Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) 
of 4, where a score of 0 indicates very poor access to public transport and 6 
indicates excellent access. 

  
7.32 The Council’s Highways Team has been consulted and raised no objection to the 

proposed development, subject to conditions regarding a Car Parking Design and 

Page 79



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 

Management Plan and a Construction Logistics Plan, as well as a Section 106 
Agreement contribution of £112,700 towards Healthy Streets/Active Travel Zone 
improvements. Appropriate highways conditions are recommended in this 
planning assessment and recommendation, and a Section 106 clause is included 
in the recommended Heads of Terms. 

  
7.33 The site's two existing vehicular accesses would be retained. The High Street 

access would facilitate two-way movements into and out of the site, while the Bath 
Road access would facilitate inbound movements only. The proposed 
development would have 55 on-site car parking spaces, a reduction of 63 spaces 
from the current 118 on-site car parking spaces. Twelve spaces would be fitted 
with active electric vehicle charge points (EVCPs). Six per cent of all parking 
provision (three spaces) would be designated as disabled person parking, whilst 
a further four per cent would be enlarged bays (two spaces). The Applicant 
proposes twenty secure and covered long-stay cycle spaces for staff and eight 
short-stay cycle spaces for guests. 

  
7.34 Policy T6.4 of The London Plan (2021) is non-prescriptive for hotel car parking. It 

states that hotel car parking 'should be assessed on a case-by-case basis'. 
Similarly, the Hillingdon Local Plan: Part 2 - Development Management Policies 
(2020) is also non-prescriptive, stating that car parking numbers should be 
determined on an 'individual basis'. The proposed reduction in car parking is 
supported in this PTAL 4 area, which has good public transport connections. The 
provision of twelve active EVCPs and twenty-eight cycle parking spaces exceeds 
the London Plan policy requirements and is therefore acceptable. The proposed 
blue badge car parking bay and enlarged bay provision comply with The London 
Plan. Conditions are recommended to ensure their delivery and ongoing 
availability. 

  
7.35 Subject to the recommended conditions and obligations to be secured under the 

section 106 legal agreement, the proposal complies with Paragraph 116 of the 
NPPF, Policies T2, T4, T5, T6, and T7 of The London Plan, and Policies DMT 1, 
DMT 2, DMT 5, and DMT 6 of the Local Plan Part 2. 

  
 Air Quality  
  
7.36 The Site is within an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) and Air Quality Focus 

Areas (A4 Corridor Focus Area and Harlington Focus Area). 
  
7.37 The Applicant has submitted an Air Quality Assessment with their application. 
  
7.38 The proposed development would be air quality neutral, however, it would not be 

air quality positive. Therefore, further appropriate mitigation is required. 
  
7.39 Mitigation measures to reduce emissions can be applied on-site or off-site. Where 

this is not practical or desirable, pollutant offsetting will be applied. The level of 
mitigation required associated with the operational phase of the proposed 
development is calculated using Defra's Damage Cost Toolkit in this instance. Any 
proposed mitigation measures are evaluated in terms of their likely impact on local 

Page 80



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 

air quality. Wherever quantifiable, these are calculated and subtracted from the 
overall value due. When quantification is not possible, a flat-rate discount is 
applied. The mitigation required to offset the proposed development's traffic 
emissions in this instance is £88,533. 

  
7.40 The Council’s Air Quality Officer has been consulted and raised no objection 

subject to an air quality mitigation contribution of £88,533 secured by a section 
106 legal agreement and a condition regarding reducing emissions from 
demolition and construction. This S106 financial contribution is included in the 
recommended Heads of Terms, and a condition has been recommended in line 
with the Air Quality Officer’s recommendations. 

  
7.41 Subject to legal agreement and the recommended conditions, the proposal 

complies with Policies SI 1 and GG3 of The London Plan, Policy EM8 of the Local 
Plan Part 1, and Policy DMEI 14 of the Local Plan Part 2. 

  
 Noise 
  
7.42 The Applicant submitted an Environmental Noise Impact Assessment Report for 

Planning assessing daytime and night-time levels likely to be experienced by the 
proposed development. To mitigate internal noise levels, the Applicant proposed 
a robust glazing specification. The report concludes that ‘adverse effects are 
unlikely to occur at the proposed development if appropriate mitigation measures 
are implemented, for which the specified external building fabric has been 
provided.’ 

  
7.43 The closest neighbouring development is a hotel to the east, while a residential 

block is located on the opposite side of Marlborough Crescent to the north. The 
proposed apart-hotel and upward hotel extension would not contain a large 
internal floor area allocated for conference or banqueting purposes. Given the 
separation distance and nature of the proposed development, it is considered that 
the proposals would not cause undue noise disturbance to nearby residents or 
hotel. 

  
7.44 The Council's Noise Pollution Officer has reviewed the submission and raised no 

objection or concerns about noise and vibration given the transient nature of the 
hotel and apart-hotel use and context of the proposed development on an existing 
hotel site adjacent to an airport. 

  
7.45 A Construction Management Plan condition is recommended to mitigate and 

manage potential noise disturbances. 
  
7.46 The proposal complies with Policies D13 and D14 of The London Plan. 
  
 Accessibility  
  
7.47 The supporting Planning Statement states that the proposals include two 

additional accessible hotel rooms. Lifts and stair cores servicing the existing hotel 

Page 81



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 

floors are to be extended to serve the two proposed additional storeys. The 
proposed apart-hotel would also contain lifts and stair cores. 

  
7.48 Six per cent of all car parking provision (three spaces) would be designated as 

disabled person parking, whilst a further four per cent would be enlarged bays 
(two spaces). This level of disabled person car parking is supported and 
recommended to be secured by condition. 

  
7.49 To comply with The London Plan, nine per cent (ten hotel rooms) of the 113 

additional proposed Ariel Hotel bedrooms and nine per cent (nine apart-hotel 
units) of the 99 proposed apart-hotel units must be fully accessible to wheelchair 
user guests, with these rooms designed in accordance with BS 8300-1:2018. A 
further one per cent (one hotel room and one apart-hotel unit) must be fitted with 
a tracked hoist system and have an adjoining door to a standard bedroom. A 
planning condition is recommended to ensure policy compliance is achieved. 

  
7.50 The Council’s Accessibility Officer has reviewed the proposal and made 

recommendations regarding disabled person car parking, enlarged car parking 
bays, and hotel and apart-hotel room accessibility. Appropriate conditions to 
secure these requirements are recommended should the application be 
determined for approval. 

  
7.51 Subject to the recommended conditions, the proposed development complies with 

Policies D5 and D12 of The London Plan. 
  
 Urban Greening, Landscaping, and Public Realm 
  
7.52 The existing site lacks significant levels of soft landscaping and consists of mostly 

of hardstanding and buildings. 
  
7.53 The Applicant submitted an Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Method 

Statement, a Tree Protection Plan and a landscape strategy which detailed trees 
on and close to the Site, the tree species, and their quality and spread, as well as 
proposed planting and landscaping.  

  
7.54 There are five category B trees, ten category C trees, and one category U tree 

assessed and identified on and immediately around the Site. None of the trees 
are protected by a Tree Preservation Order or by Conservation Area designations. 
The submitted Assessment states that no trees would be removed to enable the 
proposed development and there would be no construction within the Root 
Protection Areas of retained trees. The proposed landscape strategy proposes 
the introduction of mixed, diverse planting to include wildflower areas, raingarden-
style low-level planting, specimen planting, flowering perennials, and ornamental 
grasses, as well as new block paving, grasscrete to most of the retained car 
parking spaces, and new hedges and trees around the proposed apart-hotel and 
Site's perimeter. The proposed landscape enhancements are supported, and a 
condition is recommended to ensure the improvements are delivered on-site. 

  

Page 82



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 

7.55 Policy DMEI 1 of the Local Plan Part 2 requires all major development to 
incorporate living roofs and/or walls. The proposal includes a 764 sq. m. green 
roof on the apart-hotel and 956 sq. m. of green roof introduced to the roof of the 
extended hotel. 

  
7.56 Subject to conditions, the proposal would comply with Policy G5 of The London 

Plan and Policy DMHB 14 of the Local Plan Part 2. 
  
 Biodiversity  
  
7.57 The Applicant submitted a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and Preliminary Roost 

Assessment and landscape strategy, which finds that there are no notable 
habitats on the site and ‘negligible’ bat roosting suitability as no potential bat roost 
features were recorded. 

  
7.58 As the application was submitted in January 2024, it is not subject to recent 

Biodiversity Net Gain requirements. Nonetheless, the proposal would see a 
notable uplift in biodiversity on the site as it is currently predominantly extensive 
hardstanding and buildings, and the proposed layout would contain soft 
landscaping and planting features at ground level. The Preliminary Ecological 
Appraisal proposed enhancements, including additional native planting, pollinator 
friendly plant species, the installation of two bat boxes, and installation of one bird 
box. Furthermore, there would be 764 sq. m. of green roof included on the apart-
hotel and 956 sq. m. of green roof introduced to the roof of the extended hotel that 
would contribute to the site’s improved biodiversity.  

  
7.58 The Council’s Environmental Specialist (Energy and Biodiversity) reviewed the 

submitted biodiversity details and raised no objection regarding the proposed 
development. 

  
7.59 The proposed development complies with the aims of Policy 15 of the NPPF, 

Policy G6 and Paragraph 8.6.6 of The London Plan, and Policy DMEI 7 and 
Paragraph 6.28 of the Local Plan Part 2. 

  
 Flooding and Drainage 
  
7.60 The Site is in Flood Zone 1 (lowest flood risk). It is not within a Critical Drainage 

Area, though it is subject to a small area (approximately 115 sq. m.) of surface 
water flooding towards the centre of the site. The existing site comprises mostly 
of hardstanding and buildings. As such, there are minimal natural forms of 
attenuation within the site boundary. 

  
7.61 The Applicant submitted a Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy. The 

application states that ‘there is insufficient space to incorporate infiltration-based 
drainage. Therefore, in accordance with the drainage hierarchy, an attenuation-
based surface water drainage strategy, with disposal to the existing surface water 
sewer is proposed.’ Post-development surface water discharge is proposed to be 
restricted to a rate of 3.5 litres per second. This would provide more than 
betterment over the existing brownfield situation. On-site attenuation would be 

Page 83



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 

provided within a cellular attenuation tank measuring eight metres by 17 metres 
by 0.8 metres deep (108.8m3 storage). Furthermore, the development would 
introduce approximately 540 sq. m. of new soft landscaping around the proposed 
building, ensuring a reduction in runoff from the site compared to the existing 
scenario. 

  
7.62 The Council’s Flood Risk and Drainage Consultant has reviewed the submission 

and recommended further details to be submitted to ensure acceptable flood and 
surface water runoff and drainage mitigation. Appropriate conditions are 
recommended as part of this planning recommendation. 

  
7.63 Subject to the recommended conditions, the proposed development is acceptable 

regarding Flooding and Drainage and complies with Policies SI12 and SI13 of The 
London Plan, Policy EM6 of the Local Plan Part 1, and Policies DMEI 9 and DMEI 
10 of the Local Plan Part 2. 

  
 Water Efficiency 
  
7.64 To ensure the development would minimise the use of mains water, a compliance 

planning condition is recommended for it to achieve at least the BREEAM 
excellent standard for the ‘Wat 01’ water category or equivalent (commercial 
development), and incorporate measures such as smart metering, water saving, 
and recycling measures, including retrofitting. 

  
7.65 Subject to the recommended condition, the proposal complies with Policy SI 5 of 

The London Plan. 
  
 Energy and Sustainability 
  
7.66 The Applicant has submitted a Sustainability, Energy and Overheating Statement 

and a Whole Life Carbon Assessment. They have also submitted a Circular 
Economy Statement. 

  
7.67 Rooftop photovoltaic (PV) panels are proposed to generate renewable electricity 

on-site. The proposal would also incorporate Air Source Heat Pumps (ASHP) to 
serve the space heating and cooling demands, and water heating demands of the 
proposed apart-hotel and the proposed extension to the existing Ariel Hotel.  

  
7.68 The application provides a positive approach to carbon reduction and concludes 

that there would be a cumulative onsite saving of 89.8 per cent from a baseline 
position. The development consists of modifications to an existing hotel structure 
and a new apart-hotel building. The submitted assessment is not broken down 
into parts (existing and new), making it difficult to determine if policy-compliant 
carbon savings would be achieved. The new build is required to fully meet the 
requirements of Policy SI2 of The London Plan (i.e. achieving zero carbon with a 
minimum 15 per cent saving from energy efficiency and a minimum 35 per cent 
saving on site), whilst flexibility is allowed for in the modifications to the existing 
building providing a net zero carbon solution is delivered (i.e. the total carbon 
emissions resulting from the upward extension are offset either through the whole 

Page 84



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 

of the modification, within the fabric of the current building, a combination of these, 
or with any shortfall to be secured through a Section 106 contribution to the 
Council’s Carbon Offset Fund. A carbon offset payment, priced at £95 per tonne 
of CO2 per year (over 30 years) is to be secured via the Section 106 legal 
agreement following review of a revised Energy Strategy, which is recommended 
to be secured by condition. 

  
7.69 The Council’s Environmental Specialist (Energy and Biodiversity) reviewed the 

submitted details and raised no objection subject to conditions requiring a revised 
Energy Strategy and ‘be seen’ energy monitoring, and a carbon offset contribution 
based on the updated Energy Strategy secured by a S106 Agreement.  

  
7.70 Subject to the recommended S106 obligation and conditions, the proposal would 

comply with Policies SI2 and SI3 of The London Plan, Policy EM1 of the Local 
Plan Part 1, and Policies DMEI 2 and DMEI 3 of the Local Plan Part 2. 

  
 Waste Management 
  
7.71 The Applicant submitted a Waste Strategy within the Transport Assessment and 

a Design and Access Statement. 
  
7.72 Refuse collections would be accommodated via a loading bay adjacent to the 

proposed bulk waste storage container located on the north-eastern corner of the 
site. This would be managed privately and serviced from within the site. 

  
7.73 The Council’s Waste Services Team has reviewed the submitted documents and 

raised no objection to the proposed development. 
  
7.74 The proposal is therefore deemed to comply with Policy SI 7 of The London Plan 

and DMHB 11 of the Local Plan Part 2. 
  
 Land Contamination 
  
7.75 The Site is within a Potentially Contaminated Land area. 
  
7.76 The Applicant submitted a Phase 1 Site Investigation and Preliminary Risk 

Assessment. The Assessment has identified on-site and off-site potential sources 
of contamination that would require further investigation and recommends that a 
ground investigation is undertaken to enable preliminary foundation design. 

  
7.77 The Council’s Land Contamination Officer has been consulted and advised that 

they have no objection to the proposed development. The Officer recommended 
a land contamination condition which has been attached to this recommendation. 

  
7.78 Subject to condition, the proposal is considered to comply with Policies DMEI 11 

and DMEI 12 of the Local Plan Part 2. 
  
 Fire Safety 
  

Page 85



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 

7.9 The Applicant submitted a Fire Statement, detailing the key fire safety features of 
the building. The existing first, second, and third floors of the hotel would remain 
largely unchanged except for a new evacuation lift and refuge space in each of 
the stair cores to accord with current building and fire regulations. The apart-hotel 
would be provided with evacuation lift and refuge space in the stair cores. The 
London Fire Brigade has been consulted and stated that they ‘have no 
observations to make’ regarding the proposed development. 

  
7.80 The technical aspects of the materials to be used in any development, in relation 

to fire safety, are considered under the Building Act (1984) and specifically the 
Building Regulations, Approved Document B amended version (2022). These 
require minimum standards for any development, although the standards would 
vary between residential and commercial uses and in relation to new build and 
change of use/conversions. The Regulations cover a range of areas including 
structure and fire safety. Any person or organisation carrying out development can 
appoint either the Council’s Building Control Service or a Private Approved 
Inspector to act as the Building Control Body (BCB), to ensure the requirements 
of the Building Regulations are met. The BCB carry out an examination of 
drawings for the proposed works and make site inspections during construction 
work to ensure the works are carried out correctly. On completion of work the BCB 
would issue a Completion Certificate to confirm that the works comply with the 
requirement of the Building Regulations.  

  
7.81 The fire strategy will be subject of further review during the detailed design stages 

to ensure compliance with relevant building design requirement including the 
relevant Building Regulations and other recommendations set out in n 
BS9991:2015, Fire safety in the design, management and use of residential 
buildings – Code of practice and BS 9999: 2017, Fire safety in the design, 
management and use of buildings - Code of practice. 

  
7.82 The proposal is considered to comply with the Policy D12 of The London Plan. 
  
 Archaeological Impact 
  
7.83 The site is within an Archaeological Priority Zone.  
  
7.84 Accordingly, the Applicant submitted an Archaeological Heritage Assessment, 

which concluded that ‘significant ground disturbance has occurred within the 
immediate footprint of the existing building, and potentially to a lesser extent within 
the car park. It is possible that further archaeological work will be required, this 
should be confirmed in conjunction with Greater London Archaeological Advisory 
Service (GLAAS), consideration can be given to conditioning this work on an 
approved application’. 

  
7.85 The Local Planning Authority consulted Historic England’s GLAAS, who reviewed 

the submission and stated that ‘the development could cause harm to 
archaeological remains and field evaluation is needed to determine appropriate 
mitigation. However, although the NPPF envisages evaluation being undertaken 
prior to determination, in this case consideration of the nature of the development, 

Page 86



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 

the archaeological interest and/or practical constraints are such that I consider a 
two-stage archaeological condition could provide an acceptable safeguard.’ 
GLAAS concluded they had no objection to the proposed development, subject to 
condition and informative regarding a Written Scheme of Investigation. 

  
7.86 The requested condition and informative are therefore recommended to be 

attached should the application b determined for approval. 
  
7.87 Subject to condition, the proposal is deemed to comply with the NPPF, Policy HC1 

of The London Plan, and Policy DMHB 7 of the Local Plan Part 2. 
  
 Odour 
  
7.88 The two additional floors proposed to the hotel would not include ancillary kitchen 

facilities. The apart-hotel unit would include cooking facilities. A planning condition 
is recommended regarding extraction and odour control to protect amenity. 

  
7.89 Subject to condition, the proposal complies with Policy D13 of the London Plan 

and Policies DMHB 11 of the Local Plan Part 2. 
  
 Planning Obligations 
  
7.90 Policy DMCI 7 of the Local Plan Part 2 states to ensure development is 

sustainable, planning permission will only be granted for development that clearly 
demonstrates there will be sufficient infrastructure of all types to support it. 
Infrastructure requirements will be predominantly addressed through the Council's 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). Planning obligations will be sought on a 
scheme-by-scheme basis to secure the provision of affordable housing in relation 
to residential development schemes, where development has infrastructure needs 
that are not addressed through CIL, and to ensure that development proposals 
provide or fund improvements to mitigate site-specific impacts made necessary 
by the proposal. Applications that fail to secure an appropriate Planning Obligation 
to make the proposal acceptable will be refused. 

  
7.91 The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulation 2010 (Regulations issued 

Pursuant to the 2008 Act) and the NPPF have put three tests on the use of 
planning obligations into law. It is unlawful (since 6 April 2010) to request planning 
obligations that do not meet the following tests: 

  
 i. necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms 
 ii. directly related to the development, and 
 iii. fairly and reasonable related in scale and kind to the development 
  
7.92 The effect of the Regulations is that the Council must apply the tests much more 

strictly and can only request planning obligations that are genuinely necessary 
and directly related to the development. Should the Council request planning 
obligations that do not meet the policy tests, the Council would have acted 
unlawfully and could be subject to a High Court challenge. 

  

Page 87



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 

7.93 The proposed Section 106 Heads of Terms are as follows: 
  
 i. Air Quality Mitigation contribution of £88,533. 
  
 ii. A Carbon Offset sum based on an Updated Energy Strategy (to be submitted 

to discharge the Updated Energy Strategy condition), with the offset calculation 
based on £95 per tonne of CO2 over a 30-year period. 

  
 iii. A Construction Employment Training Scheme secured in accordance with the 

Council's Planning Obligations SPD. 
  
 iv. An End-User Employment Scheme secured in accordance with the Council's 

Planning Obligations SPD. 
  
 v. A Healthy Streets/Active Travel Zone contribution of £112,700 within the 

London Borough of Hillingdon. 
  
 vi. A Project Management and Monitoring Fee, equalling 5% of the total financial 

contributions to be paid under this agreement. 
  
  
8 Other Matters 
  
 Human Rights 
  
8.1 The development has been assessed against the provisions of the Human Rights 

Act, and in particular Article 1 of the First Protocol and Article 8 of the Act itself. 
This Act gives further effect to the rights included in the European Convention on 
Human Rights. In arriving at this recommendation, due regard has been given to 
the applicant's reasonable development rights and expectations which have been 
balanced and weighed against the wider community interests, as expressed 
through third party interests / the Development Plan and Central Government 
Guidance. 

  
 Equality 
  
8.2 Due consideration has been given to Section 149 of the Equality Act with regard 

to the Public Sector Equality Duty in the assessment of this planning application. 
No adverse equality impacts are considered to arise from the proposal. 

  
 Local Finance Considerations and CIL 
  
8.3 As of 1 April 2012, all planning approvals for schemes with a net additional internal 

floor area of 100 sq. m. or more were liable for the Mayoral Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL), as legislated by the CIL Regulations 2010 and The CIL 
(Amendment) Regulations 2011. From April 2019, the liability payable is £60 per 
sq. m. The MCIL2 charging schedule rate, including indexation for calendar year 
2025, is £71.09 per sq. m. 

  

Page 88



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 

8.4 The London Borough of Hillingdon Council is a collecting authority for the Mayor 
of London, and this liability shall be paid to the London Borough of Hillingdon 
Council in the first instance. 

  
8.5 In addition to MCIL2, the development represents Chargeable Development 

under the Hillingdon CIL, which came into effect on 1 August 2014. The liability 
payable is as follows: 

  
 Hotels – £40 per sq. m. 
  
8.6 This CIL liability is in addition to the Section 106 planning obligations. 
  
8.7 The proposed development consists of the following floor areas:  
  
8.8 Hotel (Use Class C1) – 3,530 sq. m. 

Apart-Hotel (Use Class C1) – 4,730 sq. m. 
Total – 8,260 sq. m. (Use Class C1) 

  
8.9 
 

The construction of these floor areas results in the following CIL charges: 
 
Local CIL – £545,090.30 
Mayoral CIL – £587,210.91 

  
8.10 Please note this has been calculated based on the information available to the 

officer. The final amount will be reviewed post-determination by the Council's 
Planning Obligations Team and set out to the liable party in line with the CIL 
Regulations. 

  
  
9 Conclusion / Planning Balance 
  
9.1 The principle of redeveloping the Site for a Hotel (Use Class C1) and Apart-Hotel 

(Use Class C1) is supported in this instance. The Local Planning Authority has 
worked with the Applicant to refine the development’s design during the 
application process, securing additional planting, a reduction in hardstanding, and 
refinement and details regarding the buildings’ external materials. The buildings’ 
height, scale, and mass are compatible with the height and scale of surrounding 
development, while the additional soft landscaping (approximately 540 sq. m.) and 
recladding of the existing hotel would enhance the site’s appearance and 
contribution to the public realm.  

  
9.2 The additional tree, hedge, shrub, and flower planting and 1,720 sq. m. of green 

roofs would enhance the site’s biodiversity. The scheme would not unduly impact 
neighbouring amenity. There are no objections from the Council’s Urban Design 
Officer, Landscape Officer, Policy Officer, or Highways Officer. While located on 
Potentially Contaminated Land, the Council’s Land Contamination Officer has no 
concerns subject to the recommended condition. Similarly, whilst within an 
Archaeological Priority Zone, Historic England’s Greater London Archaeological 
Advisory Service (GLAAS) has no objection subject to the attached conditions. 

Page 89



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 

Noting the Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) and Air Quality Focus Areas, 
which the Site is within, the Council’s Air Quality Officer has no objections subject 
to an air quality mitigation contribution of £88,533 (contained within the Section 
106 Heads of Terms) and planning conditions, which have been recommended. 

  
9.3 The proposal is acceptable and would be consistent with the National Planning 

Policy Framework, The London Plan, and Hillingdon Local Plan. 
  
9.4 The planning application is therefore recommended for approval subject to the 

conditions set out in Appendix 1 and Section 106 Heads of Terms detailed on the 
previous page. 

  
  
10 Background Papers 
  
10.1 Relevant published policies and documents taken into account in respect of this 

application are set out in the report. Documents associated with the application 
(except exempt or confidential information) are available on the Council's website 
here, by entering the planning application number at the top of this report and 
using the search facility. Planning applications are also available to inspect 
electronically at the Civic Centre, High Street, Uxbridge, UB8 1UW upon 
appointment, by contacting Planning Services at planning@hillingdon.gov.uk. 

  
  

 

Page 90



AAPPENDICES
 

Planning Application
 

1126/APP/2023/3671

Hillingdon Planning Committee -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 1 of 26Page 91



AAppendix 1: Recommended Conditions and Informatives
 
Conditions

1. COM3 TTime Limit

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from
the date of this permission.

REASON
To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

2. COM4 AAccordance with Approved Plans

The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in complete accordance
with the details shown on the submitted plans:

1041-130-Rev-P2
1041-131-Rev-P2
1041-99-Rev-P4
AFA-379-P-001-Rev-SK3
1041-100-Rev-P2
1041-107-Rev-P5
1041-110-Rev-P3
1041-120-Rev-P3
1041-121-Rev-P3
1041-122-Rev-P3
1041-123-Rev-P4
1041-124-Rev-P4
1041-125-Rev-P4
1041-108-Rev-P3 WIP
1041-109-Rev-P4 WIP
1041-101-Rev-P2
1041-102-Rev-P2
1041-103-Rev-P2
1041-104-Rev-P2
1041-105-Rev-P2
1041-106-Rev-P2;

and shall thereafter be retained/maintained for as long as the development remains in
existence.

REASON
To ensure the development complies with the provisions of The London Plan (2021) and the
Local Plan Parts 1 (2012) and 2 (2020).

Hillingdon Planning Committee -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 2 of 26Page 92



33. COM5 GGeneral compliance with supporting documentation

The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in complete accordance
with the details shown on the submitted documents, references:

- Transport Assessment-Issue 5, prepared by Cole Easdon, dated October 2024
- Vehicular Trip Generation Note, Technical Note 928501-Issue 2, prepared by Cole Easdon,
dated October 2024
- Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy, Issue 3, prepared by Cole Easdon, dated
August 2024
- Planning Statement, prepared by hybrid planning and development, dated May 2024
- Air Quality Assessment-Rev-1, Ref: 23-11004, prepared by Syntegra Consulting, dated
18.09.2023
- Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Method Statement, ref: 23-1584-Report, prepared
by Canopy Consultancy, dated September 2023
- Archaeological Heritage Assessment, ref: ABRS Report No 2023-BRHL_v2, prepared by
Archaeological Building Recording Services, dated November 2023
- Circular Economy Statement, prepared Iceni Projects, dated December 2023
- Environmental Noise Impact Assessment Report for Planning, Reference 20432.ENIA-
RPT.01, prepared by ES Acoustics Ltd, dated 15.09.2023
- Fire Statement-V3, ref: BB-LPFS-16057-BC-03, prepared by BB7, dated 04.12.2023
- Phase 1 Site Investigation & Preliminary Risk Assessment, Report No: 1144.01.02,
prepared by Remada Geo Consultants, dated September 2023
- Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and Preliminary Roost Assessment-Issue-2, prepared by
arbtech, dated 16.08.2023
- Letter, Pre-Planning Enquiry: Confirmation of Sufficient Capacity, prepared by Thames
Water, dated 22.09.2023
- Tree Protection Plan, Ref 23-1584-TPP, prepared by Canopy Consultancy, dated
15.09.2023
- Whole Life Carbon Assessment, prepared by Iceni Projects, dated December 2023
- Daylight, Sunlight, and Overshadowing Assessment-Version 6, Reference H4260-DS-V6,
prepared by Hawkins Environmental, dated 18.09.2024
- 1041-999

Thereafter the development shall be retained/maintained in accordance with these details for
as long as the development remains in existence.

REASON
To ensure that the development complies with the objectives of The London Plan (2021) and
the Local Plan Parts 1 (2012) and 2 (2020).

4. NONSC MMax number of bedrooms

The development hereby approved is for an extended hotel with a total of 299 bedrooms and
apart-hotel with 99 apart-hotel units. This is the maximum number of bedrooms permitted by
this consent and any subdivision or creation of new bedrooms above this number would

Hillingdon Planning Committee -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 3 of 26Page 93



require separate planning consent.

REASON
To ensure the hotel is used as proposed in accordance with Policies E10 and D6 of The
London Plan (2021) and Policies DME 5 and DMHB 16 of the Local Plan Part 2 (2020).

55. COM7 MMaterials (Submission)

Prior to the installation of any aluminium cladding, detailed facade drawings at an
appropriate scale (typically 1:10 or 1:20) shall be submitted to and approved in by the Local
Planning Authority. These shall include panel sizes, joint widths, alignment with fenestration
or structural gridlines, and fixing methods to ensure a high-quality external appearance
consistent with the approved elevations. The development shall be carried out in accordance
with the approved details prior to the first use of the additional two hotel floors or any part of
the apart-hotel.

REASON
To ensure that the development presents a cohesive and satisfactory appearance in
accordance with Policy D3 of The London Plan (2021) and Policy DMHB 11 of the Local
Plan Part 2 (2020).

6. NONSC CConstruction Management Plan

Prior to the commencement of development (including demolition, site clearance, and initial
ground investigation works), a Construction Management Plan shall be submitted to, and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with Transport for
London. The plan shall detail:

(i) The phasing of development works.
(ii) The hours during which development works will occur.
(iii) A programme to demonstrate that the most valuable or potentially contaminating
materials and fittings can be removed safely and intact for later re-use or processing.
(iv) Measures to prevent mud and dirt tracking onto footways and adjoining roads (including
wheel washing facilities).
(v) Traffic management and access arrangements (vehicular and pedestrian) and parking
provisions for contractors during the development process (including measures to reduce
the numbers of construction vehicles accessing the site during peak hours).
(vi) Measures to reduce the impact of the development on local air quality and dust through
minimising emissions throughout the demolition and construction process.
(vii) The storage of demolition/construction materials on site.
(ix) Measures to demonstrate compliance with the GLA's Control of Dust and Emissions
from Construction and Demolition SPG.
(x) All Non-Road Mobile Machinery (NRMM) of net power of 37kW and up to and including
560kW used during the demolition, site preparation and construction phases shall comply
with the emission standards set out in https://www.london.gov.uk/programmes-and-
strategies/environment-and-climate-change/pollution-and-air-quality/nrmm. Unless it

Hillingdon Planning Committee -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 4 of 26Page 94



complies with these standards, no NRMM shall be on site, at any time, whether in use or
not, without the prior written consent of the local planning authority. The developer shall
keep an up-to-date list of all NRMM used during the demolition, site preparation and
construction phases of the development on the online register at https://nrmm.london/.
(xi) Details of cranes and other tall construction equipment (including the details of obstacle
lighting) in consultation with the Ministry of Defence (MoD).

The approved details shall be implemented and maintained throughout the demolition and
construction process.

REASON
To reduce the impact on air quality during construction, protect amenity, and ensure
highways safety and to ensure that construction work and construction equipment on the site
and adjoining land does not obstruct air traffic movements or otherwise impede the effective
operation of air traffic navigation transmitter/receiver systems in compliance with Policies T7,
GG3, and SI 1 of The London Plan (2021), The GLA's Control of Dust and Emissions during
Construction and Demolition SPG, and Policy DMAV 1 of the Local Plan Part 2 (2020).

77. NONSC CConstruction Logistics Plan (CLP)

Prior to the commencement of development (including demolition, site clearance, and initial
ground investigation works) a Detailed Construction Logistics Plan (CLP) shall be submitted
to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The approved CLP shall be implemented
and monitored throughout the demolition and construction programme.

REASON
To protect amenity and ensure highways safety in compliance with Policy T7 of The London
Plan (2021).

8. NONSC CCycle Parking

Prior to the first use of the development hereby approved, at least 20 long-stay and eight
short-stay cycle parking spaces shall be installed in accordance with the approved plans and
shall be made available for use. The 28 cycle parking spaces shall thereafter be
permanently retained on site, maintained, and be kept available for use.

REASON
To ensure appropriate cycle parking provision in accordance with Policy T5 of The London
Plan (2021) and Policies DMT 2 and DMT 5 of the Local Plan Part 2 (2020).

9. NONSC DDisabled Person Car Parking

Prior to the first use of the development hereby approved, three disabled person car parking
spaces, designed to meet the requirements of BS8300-1: 2018, and two enlarged spaces
shall be provided in accordance with the approved plans and made available for use. The
three disabled person parking spaces and two enlarged spaces shall be available for use

Hillingdon Planning Committee -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 5 of 26Page 95



upon first occupation/use and thereafter be permanently retained on site and be kept
available for use.

REASON
To ensure an appropriate level of onsite disabled person parking is provided in accordance
with Policy T6.1 of The London Plan (2021).

110. NONSC EElectric Vehicle Charging Points

Prior to the first occupation/use of the development hereby approved, active electric vehicle
charging facilities shall be installed and made available for use at 12 car parking spaces.
The active electric vehicle charging infrastructure shall thereafter be permanently retained
on site, maintained, and be kept available for use.

REASON
To ensure an appropriate level of onsite electric vehicle charging facilities are provided in
accordance with Policy T6.1 of The London Plan (2021).

11. NONSC CCar Park Design and Management

Prior to the first occupation/use of the development hereby approved, a Car Parking Design
and Management Plan shall be submitted to, and approved by the Local Planning Authority.
The approved Plan shall be adhered to throughout the lifetime of the development.

REASON
To ensure the site is appropriately designed and managed in accordance with Policies T6 of
The London Plan (2021).

12. NONSC TTravel Plan

Prior to the first use of the hotel, a full Hotel Travel Plan shall be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved Plan shall thereafter be adhered to
in perpetuity.

REASON
To encourage a sustainable transport modal shift in accordance with Policy T4 of The
London Plan (2021).

13. NONSC PPlanting

(i) Prior to the commencement of landscaping works, details of soil depth volume shall be
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The approved details shall be
delivered during the implementation of landscaping works and thereafter shall be retained in
perpetuity.

(ii) All planting, seeding, and turfing in the approved landscaping scheme shall be
implemented in the nearest planting season (1 October to 28 February inclusive) following

Hillingdon Planning Committee -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 6 of 26Page 96



first occupation/use of the approved development. The new planting and landscape
operations shall comply with the requirements specified in BS3998:2010 - 'British Standard
Recommendations for Tree Work'. Thereafter, areas of amenity space shall be permanently
retained and any trees or other planting which die within a period of five years from the
completion of development, are removed, or become seriously damaged or diseased shall
be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species in accordance
with the details approved by the Local Planning Authority.

(iii) The Green Roofs shall be fully implemented in accordance with drawing number
references AFA-379-P-001-Rev-SK3, 1041-110-Rev-P3, and 1041-106-Rev-P2 within the
first planting season following the first use of the development hereby approved and
thereafter maintained and retained in perpetuity. Evidence of green roof installation shall be
submitted to approved by the Local Planning Authority within six months of green roof
installation.

REASON
To ensure that the proposed development makes a satisfactory contribution to the
enhancement of the visual amenities of the locality in accordance with Policies G5 and G7 of
The London Plan (2021) and Policies DMHB 11, DMHB 12, and DMHB 14 of the Local Plan
Part 2 (2020).

114. COM9 LLandscaping

No development shall take place until a landscape scheme has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include:

1. Details of Soft Landscaping
1.a Planting plans (at not less than a scale of 1:100),
1.b Written specification of planting and cultivation works to be undertaken,
1.c Schedule of plants giving species, plant sizes, and proposed numbers/densities where
appropriate

2. Details of Hard Landscaping
2.a Means of enclosure/boundary treatments
2.c Hard Surfacing Materials
2.d External Lighting
2.e Provision of CCTV and secure entrance arrangements

3. Details of Landscape Maintenance
3.a Landscape Maintenance Schedule for a minimum period of five years.
3.b Proposals for the replacement of any tree, shrub, or area of turfing/seeding within the
landscaping scheme which dies or in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority becomes
seriously damaged or diseased within five years of development commencing.

4. Schedule for Implementation

Hillingdon Planning Committee -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 7 of 26Page 97



5. Other
5.a Existing and proposed functional services above and below ground.
5.b Proposed finishing levels or contours.

Thereafter the development shall be carried out and maintained in full accordance with the
approved details.

REASON
To ensure that the proposed development will enhance the area's visual amenities
landscaping and urban greening measures are appropriately maintained in accordance with
Policy G5 of The London Plan (2021) and Policies DMHB 11, DMHB 12, and DMHB 14 of
the Local Plan Part 2 (2020).

115. NONSC SSurface Water Runoff

Prior to commencement of groundworks (excluding site investigations and demolition), a
detailed surface water drainage strategy shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The submitted strategy shall demonstrate that the half-drain time
of the attenuation tank is less than 24 hours through increasing the storage or increasing the
runoff rate up to a maximum of 1.1 litres per second (greenfield runoff rate for the 1 in 100
year event).

The development shall be carried out and maintained in full accordance with the approved
details for the lifetime of the development.

REASON
To ensure that surface water runoff is managed in a sustainable and efficient manner to
minimise the risk of surface water flooding and provide acceptable drainage performance in
accordance with Policies SI 12 and SI 13 of The London Plan (2021), Policy EM6 of the
Hillingdon Local Plan Part 1 (2012), and Policies DMEI 9 and DMEI 10 of the Hillingdon
Local Plan Part 2 (2020).

16. NONSC DDetailed Drainage Design

Prior to commencement of groundworks (excluding site investigations and demolition), the
applicant shall submit a final detailed drainage design, including:

(i) water butts
(ii) the greenfield, existing, and proposed runoff volumes
(iii) details of how the soft landscaping surrounding the apart-hotel is to be drained (if
draining into the proposed drainage system, then this shall be included the calculations)
(iv) an exceedance flow route drawing, maintenance tasks and frequencies for the proposed
green roofs
(v) the contact details of the individual/company responsible for drainage maintenance

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and thereafter

Hillingdon Planning Committee -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 8 of 26Page 98



maintained and retained as such for the life of the development.

REASON
To ensure the development does not increase flood risk, in compliance with the National
Planning Policy Framework (2024), Planning Practice Guidance (Flood Risk and Coastal
Change (2014), Policies SI 12 and SI 13 of The London Plan (2021), Policy EM6 of the
Hillingdon Local Plan Part 1 (2012), and Policies DMEI 9 and DMEI 10 of the Hillingdon
Local Plan Part 2 (2020).

117. NONSC LLand Contamination

(i) The development hereby permitted (excluding demolition, site clearance and initial ground
investigation works) shall not commence until a scheme to deal with unacceptable
contamination (including asbestos materials detected within the soil) has been submitted to
and approved by the Local Planning Authority (LPA). All works which form part of any
required remediation scheme shall be completed before any part of the development is
occupied or brought into use unless the Local Planning Authority dispenses with any such
requirement specifically and in writing. The scheme shall include the following measures
unless the LPA dispenses with any such requirement specifically and in writing:

(a) A site investigation, including where relevant soil, soil gas, surface water, and
groundwater sampling, together with the results of analysis and risk assessment, shall be
carried out by a suitably qualified and accredited consultant/contractor. The report should
also clearly identify all risks, limitations and recommendations for remedial measures to
make the site suitable for the proposed use; and
(b) A written method statement providing details of the remediation scheme and how the
completion of the remedial works will be verified shall be agreed in writing with the LPA prior
to commencement of development, along with the details of a watching brief to address
undiscovered contamination. No deviation shall be made from this scheme without the
express agreement of the LPA prior to its implementation.

(ii) If during remedial or development works, contamination not addressed in the submitted
remediation scheme is identified, an addendum to the remediation scheme shall be agreed
with the LPA prior to implementation; and

(iii) Upon completion of the approved remedial works, this condition will not be discharged
until a comprehensive verification report has been submitted to and approved by the LPA.
The report shall include the details of the final remediation works and their verification to
show that the works have been carried out in full and in accordance with the approved
methodology.

(iv) No contaminated soils or other materials shall be imported to the site. All imported soils
for landscaping and/or engineering purposes shall be clean and free of contamination.
Before any part of the development is occupied, all imported soils shall be independently
tested for chemical contamination, and the factual results and interpretive reports of this
testing shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA.

Hillingdon Planning Committee -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 9 of 26Page 99



REASON
To ensure that risks from land contamination are minimised and that the development can
be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours, and other offsite
receptors in accordance with Policies DMEI 11 and DMEI 12 of the Local Plan Part 2 (2020).

118. NONSC WWritten Scheme of Investigation (archaeology)

No demolition or development shall take place until a stage 1 Written Scheme of
Investigation (WSI) has been submitted to and approved by the local planning authority in
writing.  For land that is included within the WSI, no demolition or development shall take
place other than in accordance with the agreed WSI, and the programme and methodology
of site evaluation and the nomination of a competent person(s) or organisation to undertake
the agreed works.

If heritage assets of archaeological interest are identified by stage 1, then for those parts of
the site which have archaeological interest, a stage 2 WSI shall be submitted to and
approved by the local planning authority in writing.  For land that is included within the stage
2 WSI, no demolition/development shall take place other than in accordance with the agreed
stage 2 WSI, which shall consist of:

A. The statement of significance and research objectives, the programme and methodology
of site investigation and recording and the nomination of a competent person(s) or
organisation to undertake the agreed works
B. Where appropriate, details of a programme for delivering related positive public benefits
C. The programme for post-investigation assessment and subsequent analysis, publication
& dissemination and deposition of resulting material. This part of the condition shall not be
discharged until these elements have been fulfilled in accordance with the programme set
out in the stage 2 WSI.

REASON
To protect heritage assets of archaeological interest in accordance with Policy HC1 of The
London Plan (2021) and Policy DMHB 7 of the Local Plan Part 2 (2020).

19. NONSC RRevised Energy Assessment

Prior to the commencement of development (excluding ground works and site clearance), a
revised Energy Strategy shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.
The revised Strategy shall demonstrate that the development will maximise savings in CO2
emissions, achieving zero carbon, in accordance with Policy SI2 of The London Plan (2021)
and the most recent GLA guidance.

Where there is a failure to achieve the carbon savings as set out in the Energy Strategy, the
quantum (tCO2) shall be treated as part of the shortfall and shall result in a cash-in-lieu
planning contribution in accordance with the formula detailed in the Section 106 legal
agreement.

Hillingdon Planning Committee -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 10 of 26Page 100



Thereafter, the development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved Energy
Strategy, and all approved Energy Strategy measures shall be retained and maintained in
perpetuity.

REASON
To ensure the development would achieve zero carbon in accordance with Policy Sl2 of The
London Plan (2021).

220. NONSC BBe Seen Energy Monitoring

Prior to the first use/occupation of the development hereby approved, a 'Be Seen' Plan for
the recording and and reporting of the energy performance of the development shall be
developed in accordance with the GLA energy monitoring guidance and be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority (LPA). The 'Be Seen' Plan shall:

- Demonstrate that accurate and verified estimates of the 'Be Seen' energy performance
indicators have been submitted to the GLA's monitoring portal.
- Detail the methods for recording the actual carbon performance of the approved scheme in
line with the approved energy assessment.
- Ensure that for five years post-occupation, annual verified operational energy performance
data shall be submitted to the GLA's monitoring portal and details provided to the LPA.

If in-use data shows underperformance for two consecutive years, the legal owner must
investigate causes, propose mitigation measures, and submit an action plan to the LPA
within three months. Approved measures must be implemented within six months.

The development shall be operated in accordance with the approved 'Be Seen' Plan.

REASON
To ensure the development continues to achieve the approved carbon reduction targets in
accordance with Policy SI2 of the London Plan (2021).

21. NONSC WWater Efficiency

The development hereby approved shall achieve at least the BREEAM excellent standard
for the 'Wat 01' water category or equivalent (commercial development), and incorporate
measures such as smart metering, water saving, and recycling measures, including
retrofitting.

REASON
To help to achieve lower water consumption rates and to maximise futureproofing in
accordance with Policy SI 5 of The London Plan (2021).

22. NONSC SSecured by Design Accreditation

Hillingdon Planning Committee -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 11 of 26Page 101



The development hereby approved shall achieve 'Secured by Design' accreditation awarded
by the Hillingdon Metropolitan Police Crime Prevention Design Adviser (CPDA) on behalf of
the Association of Chief Police Officers (ACPO). No part of the development hereby
approved shall be occupied/used until accreditation has been achieved. Thereafter, the
development shall be implemented and maintained in accordance with the details submitted
to achieve 'Secured by Design' accreditation.

REASON
To ensure the development provides a safe and secure environment in accordance with
Policies D3 and D11 of The London Plan (2021) and Policy DMHB 15 of the Local Plan Part
2 (2020).

223. NONSC HHotel Use

The development hereby approved shall not be occupied by any visiting person(s) for a
period longer than 90 days in a 365-day period. Prior to first occupation of the development,
a Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.
The plan shall demonstrate:

(i) A system for keeping a register of all visiting people who stay in the development, their
length of stay and previous length of stays within a 365-day period.
(ii) A means by which the Local Planning Authority can check the register to ensure that the
maximum permitted stays are being enforced.

The hotel and apart-hotel shall be operated in accordance with the approved Management
Plan in perpetuity.

REASON
To safeguard the occupation conditions of future occupiers and prevent the creation of
unplanned demands on infrastructure provision in accordance with Policies D2, D6, and H4
of The London Plan (2021) and Policies DMH 7 and DMHB 16 of the Local Plan Part 2
(2020).

24. NONSC AAccessibility

Upon first use of the development hereby approved, nine per cent (ten hotel rooms) of the
113 additional hotel bedrooms and nine per cent (nine apart-hotel units) of the 99 apart-hotel
units shall be fully accessible to wheelchair user guests, with these rooms designed in
accordance with BS 8300-1:2018. A further one per cent (one hotel room and one apart-
hotel unit) shall be fitted with a tracked hoist system and have an adjoining door to a
standard bedroom. The fully accessible wheelchair user rooms and the additional tracked
hoist system rooms shall be retained as such for the lifetime of the development.

REASON
To ensure appropriate wheelchair accessibility in accordance with Policies D5 and E10 of
The London Plan (2021) and Policy DME 6 of the Local Plan Part 2, and Accessible

Hillingdon Planning Committee -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 12 of 26Page 102



Hillingdon SPD.

225. NONSC FFire Evacuation Lift

The development hereby approved shall include a minimum of one fire evacuation lift in the
apart-hotel, designed to meet the technical standards detailed in BS EN 81-76, BS 9991
and/or BS 9999, which shall be operational upon first use of the apart-hotel and maintained
and retained for the life of the development.

REASON
To ensure the development can accommodate robust emergency evacuation procedures,
including measures for those requiring step-free egress in accordance with Policies D5 and
D12 of The London Plan (2021).

26. NONSC DDigital Connectivity Infrastructure

Prior to first the use of the development hereby approved, sufficient ducting space for full
fibre connectivity infrastructure shall be provided to all end users within the development,
unless an affordable alternative 1GB/s-capable connection is made available to all end
users. Thereafter, the Digital Connectivity Infrastructure shall be retained in perpetuity.

REASON
To ensure appropriate Digital Connectivity Infrastructure would be installed in accordance
with Policy SI 6 of The London Plan (2021).

27. NONSC AAnti-Vibration Mounts

Prior to first use of the development hereby approved, anti-vibration measures shall be
installed to ensure that machinery, plant/equipment, extract/ventilation systems and ducting
are mounted with proprietary anti-vibration isolators and fan motors are vibration isolated
from the casing and adequately silenced. The anti-vibration measures shall permanently be
retained thereafter.

REASON
To protect the residential amenity in accordance with Policies D3, D13, and D14 of The
London Plan (2021), Policy EM8 of the Local Plan Part 1 (2012), and Policy DMHB 11 of the
Local Plan Part 2 (2020).

28. COM20 AAir extraction system noise and odour

Prior to first use of the apart-hotel hereby approved, details of the installation, operation, and
maintenance of the odour abatement equipment and extract system, including the extract
duct and vertical discharge outlet without cowl shall be submitted to, and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. The approved details shall be implemented prior to the first
use of apart-hotel cooking facilities and thereafter shall permanently be retained.

REASON

Hillingdon Planning Committee -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 13 of 26Page 103



To protect the amenity of the occupants of surrounding properties in accordance with Policy
D13 of The London Plan (2021) and Policies DMHB 11 and DMTC 4 of the Local Plan Part 2
(2020).

229. NONSC BBird Hazard Management Plan

Prior to the commencement of development, a Bird Hazard Management Plan (BHMP) shall
be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The Plan shall include details
of management of any flat/shallow pitched/green roofs on buildings within the Site which
may be attractive to nesting, roosting, and 'loafing' birds. The Bird Hazard Management Plan
shall be implemented as approved and shall remain in force for the life of the buildings. No
subsequent alterations to the Plan are to take place unless first submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

REASON
To limit the site's potential to attract and support populations of bird species that may cause
detriment to aviation safety and the operation of Heathrow Airport in accordance with the
requirements of Policy DMAV 1 of the Local Plan Part 2 (2020).

30. NONSC PPV Panel Glare

No solar panels shall be installed until a glint and glare assessment has been submitted to
and approved by the Local Planning Authority. No subsequent alterations to the approved
scheme are to take place unless submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.

REASON
To ensure the development does not endanger the safe movement of aircraft or the
operation of Heathrow Airport in accordance with the requirements of Policies DMAV 1 and
DMAV 2 of the Local Plan Part 2 (2020).

Informatives

1. I52 CCompulsory Informative (1)

The decision to GRANT planning permission has been taken having regard to all relevant
planning legislation, regulations, guidance, circulars and Council policies, including The
Human Rights Act (1998) (HRA 1998) which makes it unlawful for the Council to act
incompatibly with Convention rights, specifically Article 6 (right to a fair hearing); Article 8
(right to respect for private and family life); Article 1 of the First Protocol (protection of
property) and Article 14 (prohibition of discrimination).

2.

In dealing with the application the Council has implemented the requirement in the National

Hillingdon Planning Committee -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 14 of 26Page 104



Planning Policy Framework to work with the applicant in a positive and proactive way. We
have made available detailed advice in the form of our statutory policies from Local Plan Part
1, Local Plan Part 2, Supplementary Planning Documents, Planning Briefs and other informal
written guidance, as well as offering a full pre-application advice service, in order to ensure
that the applicant has been given every opportunity to submit an application which is likely to
be considered favourably.

33.

Written schemes of investigation will need to be prepared and implemented by a suitably
professionally accredited archaeological practice in accordance with Historic England's
Guidelines for Archaeological Projects in Greater London. This condition is exempt from
deemed discharge under schedule 6 of The Town and Country Planning (Development
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015.

4.

Due to the site being within the crane circle for Heathrow Airport the crane operator is
required to submit all crane details such as maximum height, operating radius, name, and
phone number of site manager along with installation and dismantling dates to the CAA
Airspace Coordination and Obstacle Management Service (ACOMS) system. For
notification, please follow the link via CAA website:
caa.co.uk

Once crane notification has been received from the CAA, Heathrow Works Approval Team
will assess and issue the necessary crane permit. No cranes should operate on site until a
crane permit has been issued. Specific CAA guidance for crane lighting/marking is given in
CAP1096: Guidance to crane users on the crane notification process and obstacle lighting
and marking (caa.co.uk).

5.

The Bird Hazard Management Plan must ensure that flat/shallow pitched roofs be
constructed to allow access to all areas by foot using permanent fixed access stairs ladders
or similar. The owner/occupier must not allow gulls, to nest, roost or loaf on the building.
Checks must be made weekly or sooner if bird activity dictates, during the breeding season.
Outside of the breeding season gull activity must be monitored and the roof checked
regularly to ensure that gulls do not utilise the roof. Any gulls found nesting, roosting or
loafing must be dispersed by the owner/occupier when detected or when requested by
Heathrow Airside Operations staff. In some instances, it may be necessary to contact
Heathrow Airside Operations staff before bird dispersal takes place. The owner/occupier
must remove any nests or eggs found on the roof. The breeding season for gulls typically
runs from March to June. The owner/occupier must obtain the appropriate licences where
applicable from Natural England before the removal of nests and eggs.

6.

Hillingdon Planning Committee -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 15 of 26Page 105



The development is close to the airport and the landscaping which it includes may attract
birds which in turn may create an unacceptable increase in birdstrike hazard. Any such
landscaping should, therefore, be carefully designed to minimise its attractiveness to
hazardous species of birds. Your attention is drawn to Advice Note 3, 'Potential Bird
Hazards: Amenity Landscaping and Building Design' (available at
http://www.aoa.org.uk/policy-campaigns/operations-safety).

77.

The development is close to the aerodrome and the approach to the runway. We draw
attention to the need to carefully design lighting proposals. This is further explained in Advice
Note 2, 'Lighting' (available at http://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-
Note-2-Lighting 2016.pdf). Please note that the Air Navigation Order 2005, Article 135 grants
the Civil Aviation Authority power to serve notice to extinguish or screen lighting which may
endanger aircraft.

8.

The proposed development is located within 15 metres of Thames Waters underground
assets and as such, the development could cause the assets to fail if appropriate measures
are not taken. Please read our guide 'working near our assets' to ensure your workings are in
line with the necessary processes you need to follow if you're considering working above or
near our pipes or other structures.

Should you require further information please contact Thames Water. Email:
developer.services@thameswater.co.uk Phone: 0800 009 3921 (Monday to Friday, 8am to
5pm) Write to: Thames Water Developer Services, Clearwater Court, Vastern Road,
Reading, Berkshire RG1 8DB.

I53 CCompulsory Informative (2)

On this decision notice policies from the Councils Local Plan: Part 1 - Strategic Policies
appear first, then relevant Local Plan Part 2 (2020), then London Plan Policies (2021).
Hillingdon's Full Council adopted the Hillingdon Local Plan: Part 1 - Strategic Policies on 8
November 2012 and the Hillingdon Local Plan Part 2 on 16 January 2020.
DMAV 1 Safe Operation of Airports
DMAV 2 Heathrow Airport
DMCI 5 Childrens Play Area
DME 5 Hotels and Visitor Accommodation
DME 6 Accessible Hotels and Visitor Accommodation
DMEI 10 Water Management, Efficiency and Quality
DMEI 11 Protection of Ground Water Resources
DMEI 12 Development of Land Affected by Contamination

Hillingdon Planning Committee -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 16 of 26Page 106



DMEI 13 Importation of Material
DMEI 14 Air Quality
DMEI 2 Reducing Carbon Emissions
DMEI 3 Decentralised Energy
DMEI 7 Biodiversity Protection and Enhancement
DMEI 9 Management of Flood Risk
DMHB 11 Design of New Development
DMHB 12 Streets and Public Realm
DMHB 13A Advertisements and Shop Signage
DMHB 14 Trees and Landscaping
DMHB 15 Planning for Safer Places
DMHB 7 Archaeological Priority Areas and archaeological Priority Zones
DMHD 3 Basement Development
DMIN 4 Re-use and Recycling of Aggregates
DMT 1 Managing Transport Impacts
DMT 2 Highways Impacts
DMT 4 Public Transport
DMT 5 Pedestrians and Cyclists
DMT 6 Vehicle Parking
LPP D1 (2021) London's form, character and capacity for growth
LPP D10 (2021) Basement development
LPP D11 (2021) Safety, security and resilience to emergency
LPP D12 (2021) Fire safety
LPP D13 (2021) Agent of change
LPP D14 (2021) Noise
LPP D2 (2021) Infrastructure requirements for sustainable densities
LPP D3 (2021) Optimising site capacity through the design-led approach
LPP D4 (2021) Delivering good design
LPP D5 (2021) Inclusive design
LPP D8 (2021) Public realm
LPP DF1 (2021) Delivery of the Plan and Planning Obligations
LPP E10 (2021) Visitor infrastructure
LPP E11 (2021) Skills and opportunities for all
LPP G1 (2021) Green infrastructure
LPP G4 (2021) Open space
LPP G5 (2021) Urban greening

HHillingdon Planning Committee -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 17 of 26Page 107



LPP G6 (2021) Biodiversity and access to nature
LPP G7 (2021) Trees and woodlands
LPP GG1 (2021) Building strong and inclusive communities
LPP GG2 (2021) Making the best use of land
LPP GG3 (2021) Creating a healthy city
LPP GG5 (2021) Growing a good economy
LPP GG6 (2021) Increasing efficiency and resilience
LPP HC1 (2021) Heritage conservation and growth
LPP SD7 (2021) Town centres: development principles and Development Plan

Documents
LPP SI1 (2021) Improving air quality
LPP SI12 (2021) Flood risk management
LPP SI13 (2021) Sustainable drainage
LPP SI2 (2021) Minimising greenhouse gas emissions
LPP SI3 (2021) Energy infrastructure
LPP SI4 (2021) Managing heat risk
LPP SI5 (2021) Water infrastructure
LPP SI7 (2021) Reducing waste and supporting the circular economy
LPP T1 (2021) Strategic approach to transport
LPP T2 (2021) Healthy Streets
LPP T3 (2021) Transport capacity, connectivity and safeguarding
LPP T4 (2021) Assessing and mitigating transport impacts
LPP T5 (2021) Cycling
LPP T6 (2021) Car parking
LPP T6.4 (2021) Hotel and leisure use parking
LPP T6.5 (2021) Non-residential disabled persons parking
LPP T7 (2021) Deliveries, servicing and construction
LPP T9 (2021) Funding transport infrastructure through planning
NPPF11 -24 NPPF11 2024 - Making effective use of land
NPPF12 -24 NPPF12 2024 - Achieving well-designed places
NPPF14 -24 NPPF14 2024 - Meeting the challenge of climate change, flood and coastal

change
NPPF15 -24 NPPF15 2024 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
NPPF9 -24 NPPF9 2024 - Promoting sustainable transport

HHillingdon Planning Committee -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 18 of 26Page 108



AAppendix 2: Relevant Planning History

1126/AD/79/0755 Forte Posthouse Hotel Bath Road Harlington
Erection of office block (Outline application).

Decision: 18-06-1979 Withdrawn

1126/ADV/1999/3132 Posthouse Heathrow Bath Road Harlington
INSTALLATION OF VARIOUS INTERNALLY/ EXTERNALLY ILLUMINATED WALL
MOUNTED, POST MOUNTED AND FASCIA PANEL SIGNS AND FLOODLIT
FREESTANDING MONOLITH SIGN

Decision: 21-01-2000 Approved

1126/ADV/2001/65 Posthouse Heathrow Bath Road Harlington
DISPLAY OF INTERNALLY ILLUMINATED SIGNS

Decision: 27-07-2001 Approved

1126/ADV/2009/69 Holiday Inn - Heathrow Ariel 118 Bath Road Harlington Middlesex
Installation of 2 internally illuminated post signs, 2 internally illuminated logo signs and 1
internally illuminated canopy sign with associated external lighting

Decision: 30-11-2009 Approved

1126/AE/80/1221 Forte Posthouse Hotel Bath Road Harlington
Erection of 150,000 sq. ft. of offices (Outline application).

Decision: 15-04-1982 Withdrawn

1126/AH/83/9142 Forte Posthouse Hotel Bath Road Harlington
Installation of internally illuminated signs.

Decision: 21-05-1984 Approved

1126/AJ/86/3012 Forte Posthouse Hotel Bath Road Harlington
Installation of candles on roof of hotel & decoration of building as a birthday cake for 2
months only.

Decision: 25-02-1986 Approved

1126/AK/88/0685 Forte Posthouse Hotel Bath Road Harlington

Hillingdon Planning Committee -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 19 of 26Page 109



Single-storey extension in internal garden for use as restaurant
DDecision: 17-05-1988 Approved

1126/AN/88/2618 Forte Posthouse Hotel Bath Road Harlington
Alterations to elevations & entrance fronts to existing hotel

Decision: 16-01-1989 Approved

1126/AP/88/2322 Forte Posthouse Hotel Bath Road Harlington
Erection of 2 temporary portakabins in car park for a period of 6 months

Decision: 13-01-1989 Approve Limited
Time

1126/APP/2000/398 Posthouse Hotel Bath Road Harlington
USE OF OFFICE/INFORMATION DESK WITHIN THE POSTHOUSE, DRIVERS' REST
ROOM/ GARAGE AND PARKING SPACES WITHIN HOTEL CAR PARK IN CONNECTION
WITH A CHAUFFEUR DRIVEN AND SELF DRIVE CAR HIRE BUSINESS  (APPLICATION
FOR A CERTIFICATE OF LAWFULNESS FOR AN EXISTING USE OR OPERATION OR
ACTIVITY)

Decision: 12-07-2000 Approved

1126/APP/2006/1063 Holiday Inn - Heathrow Ariel 118 Bath Road Harlington Middlesex
INSTALLATION OF AIR CONDITIONING CONDENSER UNITS AT GROUND FLOOR
LEVEL.

Decision: 31-05-2006 Approved

1126/APP/2007/2469 Holiday Inn Heathrow Bath Road Harlington
INSTALLATION OF GLAZED ACCESS DOOR ON THE SOUTH ELEVATION LEADING
TO TERRACE AREA.

Decision: 04-10-2007 Approved

1126/APP/2008/1326 Holiday Inn Heathrow Bath Road Harlington
Details in compliance with condition 3 (tree protection) and 4 (boundary treatment) of
planning permission ref.1126/APP/2007/2469 dated 04/10/2007: Installation of glazed
access door within glazed façade on the south elevation.

Decision: 30-07-2008 Approved

1126/APP/2024/2406 Ariel Hotel 118 Bath Road Heathrow
Creation of 12x Electric Vehicle Parking Spaces including associated infrastructure (charger

Hillingdon Planning Committee -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 20 of 26Page 110



pillars, one feeder pillar, two power banks, one substation, lamp posts and bollards).
DDecision: 12-11-2024 Withdrawn

1126/APP/2025/1181 Ariel Hotel 118 Bath Road Heathrow
Provision of 12no. electric vehicle charging parking spaces and associated infrastructure
comprising of 7no. charger pillars, 1no. feeder pillar, 2no. power banks, 1no. substation,
lamp posts and bollards.

Decision: 10-10-2025 Approved

1126/AS/89/2462 Ariel Hotel Bath Road Harlington
Installation of three satellite dishes on roof of hotel

Decision: 09-05-1990 Withdrawn

1126/AW/91/0738 Ariel Hotel Bath Road Harlington
Installation of automatic car park barriers with ticket machines onto the A4 Bath Road and
Harlington High Street access points

Decision: 15-11-1991 Refused

1126/AX/92/3512 Forte Posthouse Hotel Bath Road Harlington
Installation of internally illuminated signs and lettering (retrospective application)

Decision: 13-05-1992 Refused AAppeal: 08-09-1992 Dismissed

1126/AY/92/3549 Forte Posthouse Hotel Bath Road Harlington
Installation of internally illuminated individual letters/logo

Decision: 17-07-1992 Approved

1126/AZ/92/3595 Forte Posthouse Hotel Bath Road Harlington
Two double sided illuminated signs each mounted in a free-standing brick wall at the hotel
entrances

Decision: 09-12-1992 Approved

1126/BC/98/1385 Forte Posthouse Hotel Bath Road Harlington
Alterations to the appearance of the main entrance, erection of a roof over external
courtyard to form an extension to the restaurant

Decision: 23-09-1998 Approved

1126/PRE/2002/121 Ariel Hotel Bath Road Harlington

Hillingdon Planning Committee -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 21 of 26Page 111



TP PRE CORRES NOTICE OF INSTALLATION OF TELECOMMUNICATION
APPARATUS

HHillingdon Planning Committee -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 22 of 26Page 112



AAppendix 3: List of Relevant Planning Policies

The following Local Plan Policies are considered relevant to the application:-

Part 1 Policies:

PT1.BE1 (2012) Built Environment

PT1.E7 (2012) Raising Skills

PT1.EM1 (2012) Climate Change Adaptation and Mitigation

PT1.EM6 (2012) Flood Risk Management

PT1.EM7 (2012) Biodiversity and Geological Conservation

PT1.EM8 (2012) Land, Water, Air and Noise

PT1.EM11 (2012) Sustainable Waste Management

Part 2 Policies:

NPPF9 -24 NPPF9 2024 - Promoting sustainable transport

NPPF11 -24 NPPF11 2024 - Making effective use of land

NPPF12 -24 NPPF12 2024 - Achieving well-designed places

NPPF14 -24 NPPF14 2024 - Meeting the challenge of climate change, flood and coastal
change

NPPF15 -24 NPPF15 2024 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

DME 5 Hotels and Visitor Accommodation

DME 6 Accessible Hotels and Visitor Accommodation

DMT 1 Managing Transport Impacts

DMT 2 Highways Impacts

DMT 4 Public Transport

DMT 5 Pedestrians and Cyclists

DMT 6 Vehicle Parking

Hillingdon Planning Committee -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 23 of 26Page 113



DMAV 1 Safe Operation of Airports

DMAV 2 Heathrow Airport

DMCI 5 Childrens Play Area

DMEI 2 Reducing Carbon Emissions

DMEI 3 Decentralised Energy

DMEI 7 Biodiversity Protection and Enhancement

DMEI 9 Management of Flood Risk

DMEI 10 Water Management, Efficiency and Quality

DMEI 11 Protection of Ground Water Resources

DMEI 12 Development of Land Affected by Contamination

DMEI 13 Importation of Material

DMEI 14 Air Quality

DMIN 4 Re-use and Recycling of Aggregates

DMHB 7 Archaeological Priority Areas and archaeological Priority Zones

DMHB 11 Design of New Development

DMHB 12 Streets and Public Realm

DMHB 13A Advertisements and Shop Signage

DMHB 14 Trees and Landscaping

DMHB 15 Planning for Safer Places

DMHD 3 Basement Development

LPP D1 (2021) London's form, character and capacity for growth

LPP D2 (2021) Infrastructure requirements for sustainable densities

LPP D3 (2021) Optimising site capacity through the design-led approach

LPP D4 (2021) Delivering good design

LPP D5 (2021) Inclusive design

HHillingdon Planning Committee -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 24 of 26Page 114



LPP D8 (2021) Public realm

LPP D10 (2021) Basement development

LPP D11 (2021) Safety, security and resilience to emergency

LPP D12 (2021) Fire safety

LPP D13 (2021) Agent of change

LPP D14 (2021) Noise

LPP E10 (2021) Visitor infrastructure

LPP E11 (2021) Skills and opportunities for all

LPP G1 (2021) Green infrastructure

LPP G4 (2021) Open space

LPP G5 (2021) Urban greening

LPP G6 (2021) Biodiversity and access to nature

LPP G7 (2021) Trees and woodlands

LPP GG1 (2021) Building strong and inclusive communities

LPP GG2 (2021) Making the best use of land

LPP GG5 (2021) Growing a good economy

LPP GG6 (2021) Increasing efficiency and resilience

LPP SD7 (2021) Town centres: development principles and Development Plan
Documents

LPP GG3 (2021) Creating a healthy city

LPP SI1 (2021) Improving air quality

LPP SI2 (2021) Minimising greenhouse gas emissions

LPP SI3 (2021) Energy infrastructure

LPP SI4 (2021) Managing heat risk

LPP SI5 (2021) Water infrastructure

LPP SI7 (2021) Reducing waste and supporting the circular economy

HHillingdon Planning Committee -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 25 of 26Page 115



LPP SI12 (2021) Flood risk management

LPP SI13 (2021) Sustainable drainage

LPP T1 (2021) Strategic approach to transport

LPP T2 (2021) Healthy Streets

LPP T3 (2021) Transport capacity, connectivity and safeguarding

LPP T4 (2021) Assessing and mitigating transport impacts

LPP T5 (2021) Cycling

LPP T6 (2021) Car parking

LPP T6.4 (2021) Hotel and leisure use parking

LPP T6.5 (2021) Non-residential disabled persons parking

LPP T7 (2021) Deliveries, servicing and construction

LPP T9 (2021) Funding transport infrastructure through planning

LPP DF1 (2021) Delivery of the Plan and Planning Obligations

LPP HC1 (2021) Heritage conservation and growth

HHillingdon Planning Committee -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 26 of 26Page 116



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026  

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

 
Report of the Head of Development Management and Building Control  

Committee Report 

 
 

    
Case Officer:  Emilie Bateman  78935/APP/2025/2287 

 
Date Application 
Valid: 

28-08-25  Statutory / Agreed 
Determination 
Deadline: 

16.01.26 

Application 
Type:  

Full Ward: Ruislip 

 
 
Applicant: Bika Construction 

 
Site Address: 82-84 High Street, Ruislip 

 
Proposal: Creation of 5no. self-contained flats with 

associated cycle and bin storage, following the 
change of use of first floor from office (Class E) 
to residential (Class C3), the erection of a two 
storey rear extension at first floor level, an infill 
first floor extension, and the retention and 
reconfiguration of the Class E unit at ground 
floor level with alterations to fenestration. 
 

Summary of 
Recommendation: 
 

GRANT planning permission subject to 
conditions 

Reason Reported 
to Committee: 

Required under Part 2 of the Planning Scheme of 
Delegation (Member call-in request) 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 117

Agenda Item 8



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026  

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

 
 

 Summary of Recommendation: 
  
 GRANT planning permission subject to the conditions set out in 

Appendix 1. 
  
1 Executive Summary 
  
1.1 Planning permission is sought for the creation of five self-contained flats through 

the change of use of the first floor from Class E to Class C3, the erection of a two-
storey rear extension at first and second floor level, alterations to rear building at 
first floor level and the retention and reconfiguration of the ground-floor 
commercial unit. Associated cycle and refuse storage is also proposed. 

  
1.2 The application is required to be determined at Planning Committee following a 

Member call-in raising concerns regarding overdevelopment, amenity impacts and 
the adequacy of external space. 

  
1.3 The committee report seeks to provide a comprehensive assessment of the full 

planning application and supporting documentation. All material planning 
considerations have been considered.  

  
1.4 The site comprises a Locally Listed building within the Ruislip Village Conservation 

Area. The proposal would preserve the character and appearance of the 
conservation area, consistent with the conclusions reached by the Planning 
Inspector on the earlier appeal. The scheme retains the existing High Street 
frontage, introduces modest rear extensions, and delivers a design response 
considered appropriate to the established built form. 

  
1.5 The development would deliver five homes (net increase of four residential units) 

in a highly accessible town centre location. All units exceed London Plan internal 
space standards, and the revised design addresses previous concerns regarding 
outlook and enclosure. While a shortfall in private amenity space remains for four 
of the units, the scheme includes an enlarged communal terrace and benefits from 
access to a wide range of nearby public open spaces. This matter is considered 
further in the planning balance. 

  
1.6 The proposal has been assessed in terms of its effect on neighbouring residential 

amenity. Amendments to the layout of Flat 3 and the increased set-back of the 
northern boundary fence have significantly improved the relationship with 
adjoining properties, including No. 80A. The development would not result in 
unacceptable harm in respect of privacy, outlook, daylight/sunlight or noise. 

  
1.7 Highways, servicing and access matters are acceptable. The Highway Authority 

raises no objection, noting the car-free arrangement is appropriate in this PTAL 4 
town centre location, with cycle storage and refuse arrangements satisfactorily 

Page 118



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026  

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

provided. 
  
1.8 Air quality matters have been reviewed by the Council’s Air Quality Officer, who 

confirms that the residual impact is minimal and can be appropriately managed by 
onsite mitigation. 

  
1.9 It is recommended that planning permission is granted subject to conditions 

(Appendix 1), as the development would not cause harm to neighbouring amenity 
or highway safety, and would preserve the character and appearance of the 
Ruislip Village Conservation Area. 

  
  
2 The Site and Locality 
  
2.1 The application site comprises 82–84 High Street, a three-storey mixed-use corner 

building located on the southern side of Ruislip High Street within the Primary 
Shopping Area. The ground floor accommodates a Class E commercial unit, with 
former office accommodation at first floor and an existing residential flat at second 
floor level. To the rear of the application site is a two-storey rear block which fronts 
onto a pedestrian alleyway. 

  
2.2 The wider area is characterised by a traditional 1920s High Street frontage of 

consistent scale, plot widths and architectural detailing, with a typical mix of retail, 
commercial and residential uses. 

  
2.3 To the west, adjacent to the alleyway, the site adjoins the Thomas Moore building, 

a six and five-storey residential block with balconies orientated towards the 
alleyway and the rear of the application property, sited next to a large car park. To 
the north, the site adjoins No. 80, 80A and 80B High Street, which contains 
commercial floorspace at ground floor and residential accommodation above. To 
the south, the site adjoins No. 2 and 2A Ickenham Road, which also contains 
commercial floorspace at ground floor and residential accommodation above.  

  
2.4 The site falls within the Ruislip Village Conservation Area, and the property is 

Locally Listed and contributes positively to the historic streetscape. The site lies 
within Flood Zone 1, the Ruislip Town Centre Air Quality Focus Area, the Ruislip 
Motte & Bailey Archaeological Priority Area, and an area of potentially 
contaminated land (due to former land use). 

  
2.5 The location benefits from a moderate accessibility, with a PTAL rating of 4, and 

good access to local bus and rail services. The site is within walking distance of a 
range of amenities, services and open spaces, contributing to its highly 
sustainable town centre setting. 

  
  
  
  
  
  

Page 119



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026  

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

  
 Figure 1: Location Plan (application site edged red) 
  
 

  
 Figure 2: Street View Images of the Application Site 
  
 

 
  
  
3 Proposal  
  
3.1 Planning permission is sought for the creation of 5no. self-contained residential 

flats (net increase of 4) across the first and second floors of the building, following 
the change of use of the existing first-floor office (Class E) to residential (Class 
C3). The proposal includes a two-storey rear extension at first and second floor 

Page 120



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026  

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

level, alterations to the rear building and fenestration, and the retention and 
internal reconfiguration of the ground floor Class E unit, including integrated cycle 
and refuse storage. 

  
3.2 Following a previous refusal of planning permission (and dismissed appeal), this 

revised scheme introduces an enlarged communal terrace for the units which 
would serve 4 of the flats. To address the standard of accommodation, Flat 3 has 
been reconfigured providing a dual-aspect kitchen/living/dining space with direct 
access to private outdoor amenity. The relocation of fenestration openings also 
seeks to address the privacy issues associated with the potential overlooking of 
the first-floor balcony serving the nearby Thomas Moore Building which had been 
highlighted within the appeal decision (refer to section 4 of this report for further 
details regarding the appeal).  

  
3.3 Revisions were sought during the current application process which include a 

further set-back of the boundary fence adjacent to No. 80A to reduce sense of 
enclosure to this nearby residential property. Additional CGI views and supporting 
information have also been submitted to demonstrate improved internal living 
conditions.  

  
 Figure 3: Proposed Floor Plans and Roof Plan (please note – larger version of 

plan can be found in the Committee Plan Pack) 
  
 

 
  
  
  
  

Page 121



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026  

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

 Figure 4: Proposed Elevations (please note – larger version of plan can be found 
in the Committee Plan Pack) 

  
 

 
  
  
4 Relevant Planning History 
  
4.1 A list of the relevant planning history related to the property can be found in 

Appendix 2. 
  
4.2 The most relevant planning history relates to application 78935/APP/2024/1992, 

which sought extensions and alterations to the building and the conversion of the 
existing first-floor office (Class E) to residential use to provide five flats. This 
application was refused in October 2024 on grounds including loss of class E 
space, poor amenity, impact on neighbouring amenity and lack of air quality 
mitigation. 

  
4.3 The subsequent appeal (APP/R5510/W/24/3356952) was dismissed in July 2025. 

In dismissing the appeal, the Inspector upheld the Council’s concerns relating to 
poor outlook to both bedrooms of Flat 3, the lack of private outdoor amenity 
provision for four of the proposed units, and the tunnelling effect created by the 
boundary fence in relation to the first-floor rear bedroom window of No. 80A. The 
Inspector also concluded that the proposal failed to demonstrate any active 
contribution towards improving air quality within the Ruislip Town Centre Air 
Quality Focus Area. The Inspector did not support the Council’s concerns 
regarding design, character and appearance, heritage impact, daylight and 
sunlight, or the marketability of the commercial unit, and confirmed that the 

Page 122



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026  

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

development would preserve the character and appearance of the Ruislip Village 
Conservation Area. 

  
5 Planning Policy  
  
5.1 A list of planning policies relevant to the consideration of the application can be 

found in Appendix 3. 
  
6 Consultations and Representations 
  
6.1 A total of 36 no. letters were sent to neighbouring properties on 18th of September 

2025. A site and press notice were also displayed. 
  
6.2 The consultation period expired on 29th of October 2025. 
  
6.3 The application was also the subject of a Member call-in. The Ward Councillor 

expressed concern that the proposal represents overdevelopment with 
inadequate amenity space for future occupiers and unacceptable impacts on 
existing residential amenity, including potential loss of light to nearby properties. 
The Councillor stated that the development was considered contrary to relevant 
planning policies and requested that the application be reported to Planning 
Committee should officers be minded to recommend approval. These points are 
addressed in the table below. 

  
6.4 Representations received in response to public consultation are summarised in 

Table 1 (below). Consultee responses received are summarised in Table 2 
(below). Full copies of the responses have also separately been made available 
to Members. 

  
 Table 1: Summary of Representations Received  

 
Representations Summary of Issues 

Raised 
 

Planning Officer 
Response 

3 letters of 
objection have 
been received 
from 2 
households.  

I. Loss of privacy and 
overlooking  

Discussed at paragraph 
7.23-7.29 of this report. 
 

II. Noise and disturbance 
of terrace 

Discussed at paragraphs 
7.30 – 7.33 of this report. 
 
 

III. Loss of light, 
overbearing and 
enclosure  

Discussed at paragraphs 
7.20 7.25 of this report. 
 

IV. Highway and Parking 
concerns 

Discussed at paragraphs 
7.46 – 7.52 of this report. 

Page 123



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026  

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

V. Disturbance from 
construction activity, 
including noise, dust 
and traffic disruption 

Disturbance arising from 
construction works, such 
as noise, dust, and traffic, 
is not a material planning 
consideration in itself as it 
is temporary in nature. 
However, to minimise 
impacts, a Construction 
Management Plan would 
be secured by condition 
requiring details of working 
hours, vehicle access, site 
set-up and mitigation 
measures. An informative 
would also be added to 
remind the applicant of 
their obligations under 
environmental health 
legislation regarding 
construction noise and site 
practices. 
 

Member Call-In I. Inadequate Amenity 
Provision 

 Discussed at paragraphs 
7.42– 7.45 of this report. 

 II. Overdevelopment Discussed at paragraphs 
7.7 – 7.15 of this report. 
 

 III. Harm to 
neighbouring 
amenity 

Discussed at paragraphs 
7.19 – 7.29 of this report. 

 

  
 Table 2: Summary of Consultee Responses 

 
Consultee and Summary of Comments 
 

Planning Officer 
Response 

Conservation and Design Officer 
 
The Conservation Officer raises no objection in 
principle to the conversion of the upper floors to 
residential use. However, concerns are expressed 
regarding the extent of the proposed rear extension 
to the Locally Listed building. The rear elevation is 
considered an important component of the building’s 
historic and architectural interest, and the Officer 
advises that extending it to accommodate two units 
per floor would erode its character and would be 
difficult to replicate in matching materials. 

 
The Conservation 
Officer’s comments 
are noted. However, 
the previous Appeal 
Inspector raised no 
objection to the 
principle or scale of a 
rear extension and 
confirmed that such 
works would preserve 
the character and 

Page 124



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026  

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

Further concerns relate to the internal arrangement 
of Flat 2, which is considered to have an awkward 
layout with poor daylight, limited outlook towards a 
blank wall, and potential privacy issues due to its 
proximity to the communal terrace. The Officer 
therefore recommends that the rear extension is 
omitted and that only one flat should be provided per 
floor above ground level. 
 
The replacement door from a double to single door is 
accepted provided it is the same design and made of 
timber. 
 

appearance of the 
Conservation Area. 
The current proposal 
is refined compared 
with the appealed 
scheme, and the rear 
elevation being non-
prominent and not 
visible from the High 
Street makes only a 
limited contribution to 
the significance of the 
Locally Listed 
building. 
 
The revised internal 
layouts address the 
Inspector’s earlier 
concerns regarding 
outlook and daylight, 
and all units now 
meet London Plan 
standards. On this 
basis, the heritage 
comments are not 
considered to justify 
refusal. 
 

Access Officer:  
 
The proposal has been reviewed against London 
Plan (2021) Policy D7. As the development relates to 
the creation of five self-contained flats within an 
existing building, the full step-free and M4(2) 
accessibility requirements of D7 are not applicable. 
No objections are raised from an accessibility 
perspective. 
 

 
The comments have 
been noted. 

Waste Services:  
 
No comments/ objections. 
 

 
Noted.  

Highways Authority:  
 
No objections are raised. The development is 
acceptable on a car-free basis given the site’s high 
PTAL, surrounding parking controls and limited 
scope for increased trip generation. Cycle parking, 
refuse collection and servicing arrangements are 

 
The comments have 
been noted, and the 
relevant conditions 
have been added. 
Please refer to 
Condition 5 which 

Page 125



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026  

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

suitable. A Construction Management Plan (CMP) 
will be required by condition. 
 

secures submission 
and compliance with 
an approved CMP.  

Air Quality Officer: 
 
No objection. The submitted assessment required 
clarification on trip generation and air quality neutral 
calculations, and revised information confirmed a 
small residual transport-related impact. Given the 
modest scale of impact and the inclusion of on-site 
mitigation measures, the development is considered 
acceptable in air quality terms. 
 

 
Noted. 

 

  
  
7 Planning Assessment 
  
 Principle of Development  
  
7.1 The proposal seeks the creation of five self-contained residential flats within the 

first and second floors of an existing mixed-use building located within the Ruislip 
Primary Shopping Area. The ground floor Class E unit would be reconfigured and 
retained. Policy H1 of the London Plan encourages the optimisation of housing 
delivery on appropriate sites, particularly in accessible town centre locations. The 
site has a PTAL of 4 and is within walking distance of a full range of services, 
employment opportunities and public transport. Residential accommodation on 
upper floors in town centres is well-established and supported in principle, 
reflecting the efficient use of existing buildings and sustainable locations. 

  
 Loss of Commercial Floor Space 
  
7.2 In the recent Planning Appeal Decision (APP/R5510/W/24/3356952), the 

Inspector accepted the principle of introducing residential use to the upper floors 
and confirmed that the proposal would preserve the character and appearance of 
the Ruislip Village Conservation Area. No concern was raised regarding the 
retention or marketability of the commercial unit, which maintains an active 
frontage and contributes to town centre vitality. 

  
7.3 The Inspector concluded that, whilst works to the rear of the site to provide 

ancillary facilities to serve proposed residences would result in the loss of retail 
floorspace, overall it would not cause harm to the marketability of the ground floor 
retail unit or to the wider function and vitality of the town centre. It is considered 
that the current proposal is similar, in that the primary retail unit would remain 
unaffected, retaining an active frontage and continuing to contribute to the vitality 
of Ruislip Town Centre. The rear section proposed for residential use has no direct 
customer access and provides limited commercial value, meaning its loss is 
unlikely to compromise the attractiveness or viability of the ground floor retail use, 
which would retain an active frontage, or the wider shopping parade. 

  

Page 126



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026  

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

7.4 In this context, the mixed-use arrangement aligns with London Plan Policies SD6 
and SD7, and Policies DMTC1 and DMTC2 of the Hillingdon Local Plan: Part Two. 
While the proposal reduces the overall Class E space on the ground floor, it does 
not lead to the total loss of protected employment floorspace and does not conflict 
with London Plan employment policies. Retention of the Class E unit at ground 
floor level ensures continued commercial activity, while the conversion of the first 
floor to residential use is supported by Policy DMH2, which allows such changes 
where high-quality accommodation can be achieved, and the functioning of the 
commercial unit is not compromised. Accordingly, the land-use aspects of the 
proposal are acceptable in principle.  

  
 Housing Mix and Need 
  
7.5 Paragraph 124 of the NPPF promotes the efficient use of land to meet housing 

needs and London Plan Policy GG4 seeks to ensure that more homes are 
delivered, whilst Policy H1 of the Hillingdon Local Plan Part 1 provides that the 
Council will seek to meet and exceed its housing growth targets, with Policy T1 
steering development to the most appropriate locations in order to reduce their 
impact on the transport network and encourage access by sustainable modes 
including cycling and walking. There is no objection in principle to introducing 
additional residential development to the upper floor and rear of the site. It is noted 
that the Council currently has a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites, 
therefore, the “tilted balance” under paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF does not apply. 
Nevertheless, the modest, net contribution of 4 residential units weighs in favour 
of the proposal. 

  
7.6 The development would provide 4 x 1-bedroom 1 person and 1 x 1-bedroom, 2-

person units. The Council's current information on housing need indicates a 
borough-wide requirement for larger affordable and private market units, 
particularly three-bedroom properties. While the proposed housing mix does not 
include a 3-bedroom family home, given the town centre location, it is on-balance 
acceptable. Therefore, it is considered that the proposal would consist of an 
appropriate housing mix in accordance with Policy DMH 2 of the Hillingdon Local 
Plan: Part 2 - Development Management Policies (2020) and Policy H10 of the 
London Plan (2021). 

  
 Design / Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Area 
  
7.7 Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

requires that special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character or appearance of conservation areas. Paragraphs 138 
and 140 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2024) confirm that great 
weight should be given to the conservation of designated heritage assets, with 
harm requiring clear and convincing justification. 

  
7.8 The application site lies within the Ruislip Village Conservation Area and forms 

part of a traditional 1920s High Street frontage characterised by red brick facades, 
vertically proportioned windows, parapet detailing and a consistent commercial 
ground floor rhythm. The host property is a Locally Listed building and makes a 

Page 127



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026  

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

positive contribution to the significance of the conservation area. Upper-floor 
residential uses are a well-established feature of the High Street, and the form, 
scale and frontage articulation of the building are typical of the parade. 

  
7.9 While it is noted that Hillingdon’s Conservation Officer has objected to the 

proposed two storey rear extension, the Planning Inspector for the previous appeal 
confirmed that the proposed extensions and alterations would preserve the 
character and appearance of the conservation area. The Inspector noted that the 
additions are located to the rear, are visually recessive in the townscape and 
would not disrupt the established rhythm or architectural qualities of the principal 
elevation. This forms an important material consideration and establishes that, 
subject to detailing, the broad scale and massing of works at the rear are 
acceptable in heritage terms. 

  
7.10 The Inspector’s heritage assessment also placed greater emphasis on the front of 

the building. The changes to the front were considered modest and preserved the 
architectural interest of the building. The Inspector also noted that the rear 
extension would be small in scale and would not cause a sense of 
overdevelopment given the overall size in the context of the existing building. The 
back building was also considered to partially screen the changes to the locally 
listed building from the car park and the alleyway. This ensured that it would not 
appear overly prominent. The Inspector also highlighted fenestration as 
sympathetic to the regular pattern of windows along the parade.  

  
7.11 Whilst the comments from the Conservation Officer have been recognised, given 

the development proposed under the current scheme would be very similar to the 
appeal scheme (which the Inspector found acceptable), it would not be justifiable 
in refusing the scheme on design grounds. In considering the scale of the rear 
extension, it is also relevant that the application site and a number of neighbouring 
properties along this part of the High Street already benefit from multi-storey rear 
projections. These additions form an established part of the built pattern to the 
rear, which is largely concealed from public viewpoints. The proposed two-storey 
rear extension would not project beyond the depth of comparable extensions on 
adjoining plots.  

  
7.12 In addition, the architectural detailing at the rear draws on the materials and 

typologies present in the host building, with matching brickwork and sympathetic 
window proportions ensuring continuity between the existing building and the 
extended elements.  

  
7.13 The current proposal retains the full commercial frontage, preserving its 

established proportions and architectural detailing. No changes are proposed to 
the principal elevation, other than the replacement of the front door, details of 
which are conditioned (Condition 11), ensuring that the contribution the building 
makes to the character of the conservation area is maintained.  

  
7.14 The proposed alterations to the building at the rear include the demolition of the 

corner to make way for a private terrace, which would open up the corner. Other 
alterations include changes to the fenestration, introduction of green roof 

Page 128



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026  

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

elements, and the refined arrangement of the upper terrace structure. All of these 
other elements remain visually contained and would not be perceptible from key 
public viewpoints along the High Street. 

  
 Figure 5: CGI showing proposed rear elevations from the west of the site 
  
 

 
  
7.15 Taking account of the site’s location within a designated conservation area, the 

Locally Listed status of the building, and the previous Inspector’s findings, the 
design approach, scale, siting and material treatment of the proposal are 
considered to preserve the character and appearance of the area. No harm has 
been identified, and the development is acceptable on design grounds. The 
proposal accords with Policies HE1 and BE1 of the Hillingdon Local Plan: Part 1 
(2012); Policies DMHB 1, DMHB 4 and DMHB 11 of the Local Plan: Part 2 (2020); 
Policy D3 of the London Plan (2021); and the provisions of the NPPF (2024). 

  
 Heritage  
  
7.16 The site is located within the Ruislip Village Conservation Area, which is a 

designated heritage asset. The building is also Locally Listed and forms part of a 
consistent and well-preserved 1920s High Street frontage that contributes 
positively to the character and appearance of the conservation area. 

  
7.17 The previous appeal decision is a significant material consideration. The Inspector 

concluded that the proposed extensions and external alterations would preserve 
the character and appearance of the conservation area and raised no heritage 
objections to the principle or scale of development at the rear of the building. The 
current proposal is modestly reduced in extent and continues to retain the entire 
High Street elevation without alteration (other than the replacement of the front 
door). 

  

Page 129



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026  

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

 Figure 6: CGI showing the northern flank elevation and communal terrace 
and rear flat  

  
 

 
  
  
 Figure 7:CGI showing longer views from the west of the proposed rear 

elevation from car park 
  
 

 
  
  
7.18 The proposal maintains the established proportions, detailing and active 

commercial frontage of the host building. The rear additions remain visually 
recessive and would not be perceptible from the primary public realm. The use of 
matching brickwork and sympathetic fenestration ensures integration with the 
existing building fabric. On this basis, the development is considered to preserve 

Page 130



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026  

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

the significance of both the Locally Listed building and the wider conservation 
area. 

  
 Residential Amenity  
  
7.19 Paragraph 135 of the NPPF (2024) requires that development creates places that 

are safe, inclusive and accessible, promotes health and well-being, and secures 
a high standard of amenity for existing and future occupiers. Policy DMHB 11 of 
the Hillingdon Local Plan: Part Two (2020) confirms that development must not 
adversely affect the amenity, daylight or sunlight of adjoining occupiers. 
Paragraphs 5.38–5.41 of the Local Plan Part Two set expectations regarding 
privacy, separation distances, outlook and the avoidance of undue enclosure, with 
a minimum 21-metre separation generally required between facing habitable-room 
windows unless strong justification exists. These policies collectively require that 
new development avoids unacceptable overlooking, overshadowing, noise or 
overbearing impacts. 

  
 Daylight/Sunlight 
  
7.20 A daylight and sunlight assessment has been submitted and reviewed. The 

assessment considers the impact on neighbouring property nos. 2 Ickenham 
Road, 8 Ickenham Road and 78-80 High Street, scoping in a total of 17 windows 
into the assessment. Please refer to pages 9 and 11 of the report for the results.  
The assessment was undertaken in accordance with the BRE guidance (Site 
Layout Planning for Daylight and Sunlight) and focused on the most sensitive and 
potentially affected windows, including those serving principal living rooms and 
bedrooms of adjoining properties. The assessment used the Vertical Sky 
Component (VSC) to evaluate daylight and Annual Probable Sunlight Hours 
(APSH) to assess sunlight availability. 

  
7.21 The results demonstrate that all 17 windows assessed pass the criteria set out in 

the 2022 BRE guidelines. All windows would retain in excess of 80% of their 
existing VSC values, meaning that no material loss of daylight would occur to any 
neighbouring window. Similarly, all windows facing within 90 degrees of due south 
would continue to receive sunlight levels exceeding the BRE targets for both 
annual and winter periods. 

  
7.22 Whilst it is noted that the report considers the previous scheme, both the previous 

and current schemes are considered materially the same with regards to potential 
daylight and sunlight impacts, noting that the only changes are to the internal 
configurations and private terrace to Flat 3. It concludes that all neighbouring 
windows continue to meet the BRE guidance for daylight and sunlight after the 
proposed development. 

  
 Privacy and Outlook  
  
7.23 The appeal Inspector previously identified concerns centred on the relationship 

with the first-floor rear bedroom window of No. 80A, noting that the proposed 

Page 131



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026  

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

boundary treatment created a tunnelling effect resulting in a sense of enclosure 
and restricted outlook.  

  
 Figure 8: Site photo showing relationship between the application site and 

the residential bedroom window at No.80a 
  
 

 
  
7.24 In response, the present application increases the setback of the boundary fence 

by a further metre, reducing its prominence and widening the visual corridor 
adjacent to the affected window. There is an existing brick wall which would be 
retained. The revised fence alignment provides a more open aspect and materially 
improves the relationship previously identified as harmful. There would no longer 
be a tunnelling effect to this adjoining neighbour. 

  
 Figure 9: CGI image showing the additional set in of the fence from the 

nearest window at 80a High Street 
  
 

 

Page 132



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026  

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

  
7.25 The proposed extension at the rear remains broadly in line with existing two-storey 

forms already present on the neighbouring plot and do not project further than 
established structures. Given the additional spacing provided to the mutual 
boundary and the modest height of the boundary fence (1.8m), the development 
is not considered to give rise to unacceptable enclosure or loss of outlook for 
adjoining properties. The appeal Inspector did not find harm arising from the 
overall scale or positioning of the rear extensions, and the current amendments 
further reduce the potential for adverse effects. 

  
7.26 Concerns have been raised regarding potential overlooking and loitering 

associated with the new external staircase leading to the communal terrace. It is 
acknowledged that there is a change in levels between the application site and 
neighbouring properties, including the conservatory at No. 2A Ickenham Road. In 
the previous scheme considered at appeal, access to the rear building was 
provided via an enclosed walkway, which prevented any possibility of overlooking.  

  
 Figure 10: Site photo showing relationship between the application site and 

the residential conservatory at No.2a Ickenham Road 
  
 

 
  
7.27 In the current proposal, the external staircase could, at its uppermost landing, 

allow some degree of views towards the neighbouring conservatory. To address 
this, Condition 8 is proposed and requires the installation of a 1.8-metre privacy 
screen at the top of the staircase to prevent direct overlooking. At the lower 
sections of the staircase, existing boundary treatments provide adequate 

Page 133



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026  

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

screening, and no undue loss of privacy is anticipated. Subject to the privacy-
screen condition, and with the terrace restricted to quiet enjoyment (Condition 13), 
the proposal would not result in harmful overlooking or loitering impacts on 
neighbouring occupiers. 

  
7.28 Fenestration alterations have been designed to avoid direct window-to-window 

alignment. Where new windows face the Thomas Moore building, they do so 
obliquely and are screened by the terrace balustrades and privacy measures. The 
separation distance across the alleyway remains consistent with the existing town 
centre pattern, where tighter grain relationships are common. The proposal does 
not introduce new, elevated or unduly prominent windows capable of giving rise 
to unacceptable overlooking of habitable rooms or private amenity spaces. 
Sightlines from the terrace areas have been managed through privacy screening, 
and the depth and position of the terrace structures prevent harmful direct 
overlooking into nearby balconies or windows. 

  
7.29 With the amendments to the fenestration and the screening of the Flat 3 terrace, 

the revised scheme addresses the concerns regarding privacy to nearby residents 
particularly those within the Thomas Moore building. The first-floor balcony serving 
these residents would no longer be overlooked and conditions have been attached 
to ensure that the screening is installed prior to first occupation of the new 
residential units.  

  
 Noise, Activity and Disturbance 
  
7.30 London Plan Policy D14 seeks to avoid significant adverse noise impacts on 

health and quality of life. The site is located within a busy town centre environment 
where a degree of activity, servicing and pedestrian movement is established and 
characteristic. The introduction of five upper-floor residential units is not 
anticipated to give rise to movements materially different from those typically 
associated with small-scale town centre residential conversions. 

  
7.31 The communal terrace is located at first-floor level and would be enclosed by 

privacy screening to prevent overlooking. While its use will introduce some level 
of outdoor activity, the terrace serves only four of the five units and the scale of 
residential occupation is modest. Its position within the rear courtyard, where 
ambient noise is already influenced by both commercial and residential uses, 
further limits the potential for disturbance. The previous Inspector also confirmed 
that general residential activity at this site was acceptable in principle and they did 
not consider the terrace a concern from a noise perspective. To provide additional 
assurance and address neighbour concerns, Condition 13 is proposed preventing 
amplified music from the terrace. Subject to this control, the terrace is not 
considered to give rise to noise or activity that would materially undermine the 
amenity of surrounding occupiers. 

  
7.32 Construction-phase effects cannot be considered grounds for refusal, but can be 

controlled through a Construction Management Plan secured by Condition 5 to 
minimise noise, dust and disruption to neighbours. Such a condition is standard 

Page 134



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026  

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

practice for constrained town centre sites and would be effective in managing 
temporary impacts. 

  
7.33 In light of the Inspector’s previous conclusions, the amendments made to the 

relationship with No. 80A, the managed sightlines from terraces, the BRE-
compliant daylight/sunlight findings and the urban context of the site, the proposed 
development would not cause unacceptable harm to the living conditions of 
surrounding occupiers. The proposal therefore accords with Policy DMHB 11 of 
the Local Plan Part Two (2020), Policy D6 of the London Plan (2021) and 
Paragraph 135 of the NPPF (2024). 

  
 Quality of Residential Accommodation (Internal and External)  
  
 Internal  
  
7.34 Policy D6 of the London Plan (2021) sets out minimum standards for internal 

floorspace, bedroom sizes, functional layouts, daylight and ventilation. Policy 
DMHB 16 of the Local Plan Part 2 (2020) similarly requires that new residential 
units provide a high standard of internal living accommodation, including adequate 
outlook, daylight and internal arrangement. 

  
7.35 All five proposed units meet or exceed the minimum Gross Internal Area (GIA) 

standards set out in Table 3.1 of the London Plan, and all bedrooms meet the 
required minimum sizes and widths for single and double rooms. The internal 
layouts provide functional circulation space and appropriately sized habitable 
rooms. Ceiling heights exceed 2.5 metres for Flats 1 to 4, with Flat 5 achieving 
approximately 2.46 metres due to structural constraints. The London Plan 
recognises that lower heights may be acceptable within conversions and 
extensions where overall amenity remains satisfactory, and in this case the 
modest shortfall is not considered to result in poor living conditions. 

  
7.36 A daylight and sunlight assessment has been submitted. While it is based on the 

previous unit configuration, it demonstrates that principal habitable rooms achieve 
appropriate levels of daylight. Policy DMHB 11 and paragraph 5.41 of the Local 
Plan Part 2 require natural light to be assessed in accordance with BRE guidance, 
and the analysis indicates compliance with recommended Average Daylight 
Factor (ADF) and Vertical Sky Component (VSC) thresholds. No evidence 
suggests that the updated layout would materially worsen daylight performance. 

  
7.37 The appeal Inspector’s findings are an important material consideration. The 

Inspector confirmed that Flats 1 and 4, although single-aspect, would provide 
acceptable living conditions subject to mitigation for overheating and ventilation, 
noting the tall floor-to-ceiling heights and the potential to secure glazing 
specifications and mechanical ventilation by condition. The Inspector was satisfied 
that all proposed flats met London Plan space standards and that the layouts of 
Flats 2 and 5 were adequate in terms of width and overall usability. The Inspector’s 
concerns were specifically limited to: (i) the poor outlook from the bedrooms in Flat 
3, and (ii) the absence of private outdoor space for four of the five units. 

  

Page 135



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026  

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

7.38 In this revised scheme, Flat 3 has been reconfigured to address Officers previous 
concerns regarding outlook. The unit now comprises a dual-aspect 
kitchen/living/dining room with a primary north-facing window across the terrace 
and a secondary side-facing window providing additional light. CGI imagery 
submitted by the applicant demonstrates that the main habitable space now 
benefits from an outward view, materially improving upon the outlook criticised in 
the dismissed appeal. The small study room within Flat 3 is served by a rooflight; 
as it is not a habitable room, its daylight provision is acceptable. The improved 
outlook is demonstrated through figures 11 and 12 below.  

   
 Figure 11: Internal CGI of Flat 3 showing views from the habitable living 

space 
  
 

 
  
7.39 Whilst it is recognised that one of the windows serving Flat 3 would face the 

Thomas Moore flank wall. A level of outlook would still be visible from this room 
along this elevation. The additional window facing northwards, creates a second 
fenestration opening to living space which ensures a suitable overall standard of 
accommodation for future occupants. Similarly for the bedroom, the floor to ceiling 
access door ensures that there would be a sufficient level of visible skyline past 
the terrace screening. 

  
 Figure 12: Internal CGI of bedroom within Flat 3 showing large doors serving 

bedroom 
  
 

 

Page 136



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026  

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

  
7.40 Internal relationships between units have been arranged to avoid harmful 

overlooking. The communal terrace is situated at a lower level relative to the main 
building, meaning it would not result in overlooking into Flat 2, whose habitable 
windows sit above the terrace level. Flat 3 has no windows on its eastern elevation, 
preventing any direct intervisibility with the terrace or neighbouring properties.  

  
7.41 As such, it is considered that future occupiers would have a good standard of living 

accommodation complying with Policy D6 of the London Plan (2021) and Policy 
DMHB 16 of the Hillingdon Local Plan, Part 2 (2020). 

  
 External  
  
7.42 Policy D6 of the London Plan and Policy DMHB 18 of the Local Plan Part Two 

require all new residential units to be provided with appropriate private or 
communal amenity space. In the previous appeal, the Inspector identified the 
absence of private amenity space for four of the five flats as a shortcoming, 
contributing to their overall conclusion that the living conditions for future occupiers 
were unsatisfactory. 

  
7.43 In response, the revised scheme now provides Flat 3 with a materially improved 

private terrace. While the previous proposal included a small and enclosed area 
of limited usability, the current design increases its size, opens up the space, and 
integrates it directly with the main living area, resulting in a significantly better-
quality private outdoor area.  

  
7.44 In addition, the communal terrace serving the remaining units has been enlarged, 

landscaped and redesigned to improve functionality and usability. Although four 
units still rely on communal provision, the increased terrace size, enhanced green 
roof coverage and refined layouts deliver an improved standard of shared amenity.  

  
 Figure 13: CGI birds eye view of proposed communal space and green roofs. 
  
 

 
  

Page 137



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026  

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 Figure 14: CGI showing proposed view of private terrace for Flat 3. 
  
 

 
  
7.45 Whilst this shortfall is acknowledged, the site benefits from close proximity to a 

wide range of publicly accessible open spaces. Taking into account the highly 
accessible town centre location, the physical constraints of the existing building, 
and the enhancements made to both the private terrace for Flat 3 and the enlarged 
communal terrace, the overall level of amenity provision is considered acceptable 
in this context. The scheme therefore provides a balanced and proportionate 
response to the Inspector’s findings and is judged to offer an appropriate standard 
of living conditions for future occupiers, according with London Plan Policy D6, 
Policies DMHB 11 and DMHB 18 of the Local Plan Part Two (2020), and the 
relevant provisions of the NPPF (2024). 

  
 Highways and Parking  
  
7.46 The site is located within Ruislip Town Centre, where a Controlled Parking Zone 

(CPZ) operates throughout the day and the majority of surrounding kerbside space 
is designated as pay-and-display. The site benefits from a Public Transport 
Accessibility Level (PTAL) of 4, reflecting good access to bus services and Ruislip 
Underground Station. In such locations, reliance on private vehicles is typically 
lower and car-free development is supported by London Plan policies. 

  
7.47 No on-site parking is proposed. Although the maximum London Plan standard for 

the five units would allow between two and four parking spaces, Policy T6.1 
confirms that car-free schemes are appropriate in accessible town centre settings. 
The Highway Authority has confirmed that any potential shortfall is marginal and 

Page 138



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026  

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

would be unlikely to result in unacceptable parking stress, given the absence of 
residential parking permits within the surrounding CPZ, the controlled nature of 
nearby parking bays, and the Inspector’s previous appeal findings that the earlier, 
similar scheme raised no highways concerns. 

  
7.48 Cycle parking is proposed within an enclosed store at ground-floor level to the 

rear of the building, providing eight long-stay spaces, which meets the 
requirements of London Plan Policy T5. This location is accessible from the rear 
service alley and is considered acceptable. Short-stay cycle parking for visitors 
can be accommodated within the public realm. 

  
7.49 Refuse storage is also positioned at ground-floor level to the rear, with collection 

taking place from the established servicing route between No. 6 High Street and 
the Thomas Moore building. This arrangement mirrors the servicing pattern for the 
existing commercial unit and is considered acceptable for a development of this 
scale. The Highway Authority raises no objection to the proposed refuse and 
servicing strategy. 

  
7.50 The development is expected to generate very limited additional vehicle 

movements due to its car-free nature. Trip generation associated with servicing, 
deliveries and trade access would remain comparable to existing levels and can 
be accommodated safely within the local network. Accordingly, the proposal would 
not give rise to adverse impacts on congestion or highway safety. 

  
7.51 Given the constrained town centre environment and the proximity to residential 

properties, a Construction Management Plan will be required by Condition 5 to 
ensure construction traffic, deliveries and contractor activity are managed to 
prevent disruption to the adjacent highway and footway network. 

  
7.52 The Highway Authority has reviewed the application and raises no objection, 

subject to conditions relating to cycle parking and construction management. The 
proposal is therefore acceptable in highways and parking terms and complies with 
Policies DMT 1, DMT 2 and DMT 6 of the Hillingdon Local Plan: Part Two (2020) 
and Policies T4, T5 and T6 of the London Plan (2021). 

  
 Noise  
  
7.53 Policy D14 of the London Plan (2021) requires development to minimise noise 

impacts and protect the health and quality of life of occupants. The NPPF (2024) 
also requires that developments provide a high standard of amenity for existing 
and future users. 

  
7.54 The site lies within a busy town centre context where a degree of activity, 

pedestrian movement, and servicing is already established. The proposed use of 
the upper floors as five residential units would not result in levels of operational 
noise that would be out of keeping with the High Street environment. The scheme 
would not introduce external plant or equipment likely to result in harmful noise 
emissions, and any internal ventilation or extraction equipment can be adequately 
controlled by Condition 7. However, in order to protect the amenity of future and 

Page 139



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026  

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

neighbouring occupants, the ground floor Class E unit hours of use are proposed 
to be limited by Condition 15. 

  
7.55 Concerns relating to construction noise are acknowledged, particularly given 

nearby residential accommodation. Construction-related impacts are temporary 
and can be controlled through a Construction Management Plan, secured by 
Condition 5, to ensure that noise, dust, vehicle movements and working hours are 
appropriately managed. Subject to this safeguard, the proposal is considered 
acceptable in noise terms. 

  
 Air Quality  
  
7.56 The site is located within the Hillingdon Air Quality Focus Area and the Ruislip 

Town Centre NO₂ Focus Area, where elevated pollutant levels and high levels of 
human exposure require careful assessment. Policy D14 of the London Plan 
(2021) and Policy DMEI 14 of the Local Plan Part Two (2020) require development 
to minimise air quality impacts and avoid worsening local exposure. 

  
7.57 An Air Quality Neutral Statement has been submitted. Initial review identified that 

vehicle trip generation associated with the scheme resulted in a modest 
exceedance of the transport emissions benchmark. Further modelling confirmed 
that the residual impact was very small in scale, reflecting the development’s car-
free nature, the limited number of units and the surrounding parking controls which 
restrict car ownership. The proposed all-electric heating strategy and increased 
green roof coverage provide additional on-site mitigation. 

  
7.58 The Council’s Air Quality Officer raised no objection, confirming that any residual 

impacts would be negligible and capable of mitigation through planning controls. 
Subject to the delivery of air quality mitigation measures, as secured under 
Conditions 2, 3 and 6, the proposal is considered acceptable in air quality terms. 

  
 Accessibility  
  
7.59 Policy D7 of the London Plan (2021) sets requirements for accessible and 

adaptable dwellings. The proposal relates to the conversion of the upper floors of 
an existing building, where full step-free and M4(2) compliance cannot reasonably 
be achieved without extensive structural alteration. The Access Officer has 
confirmed that, in such circumstances, strict application of D7 is not required. No 
objections are raised from an accessibility perspective. 

  
 Trees and Landscaping  
  
7.60 The site consists of a built-up High Street plot with no on-site trees or landscape 

features of significance. The rear courtyard is hard-surfaced and enclosed by 
existing built form. The proposed development includes the introduction of a green 
roof across the first-floor terrace areas, which would contribute positively to visual 
amenity and biodiversity within the constrained rear environment. 

  

Page 140



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026  

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

7.61 The increased extent of green roof planting represents an enhancement relative 
to the existing condition. Subject to Condition 6 which secures the planting 
specification and maintenance regime for the green roof, the development is 
considered to accord with Policy DMHB 14 of the Hillingdon Local Plan: Part Two 
(2020). 

  
 Biodiversity Net gain  
  
7.62 The Environment Act 2021 requires new development to achieve a minimum 10% 

biodiversity net gain (BNG), measured using the statutory biodiversity metric. 
  
7.63 The site comprises existing built form and hardstanding, with no landscaping of 

ecological value. The proposal includes the introduction of green roof areas, which 
provide habitat creation and an overall uplift compared with the existing baseline. 
Given the very small footprint and urban context, the proposal is not required to 
provide statutory 10% BNG but nevertheless delivers ecological enhancement 
through the green roof provision. 

  
 Ecology 
  
7.64 Policy DMHB 14 of the Local Plan Part Two (2020) and Policy G6 of the London 

Plan (2021) require development to protect biodiversity and, where possible, 
secure enhancements. The existing site comprises a heavily built-up rear service 
yard and brick structures with no vegetation capable of supporting protected 
species. The proposed development meets the de-minimis exemption for 
mandatory BNG, i.e. it affects less than 25 square meters of on-site habitat and 
less than 5 meters of linear habitat (such as hedgerow).   

  
7.65 Nonetheless, it is considered that the proposed soft landscaping scheme and 

green roof, whilst limited in scale, would provide biodiversity enhancements, to 
accord with paragraph 187 if the NPPF and Policy EM7 of the Local Plan. The 
green roof proposals offer new planting and ecological features suited to an urban 
setting. The development is therefore acceptable in ecological terms subject to 
Condition 6 which secures submission and compliance with a detailed green roof 
specification. 

  
7.66 A Preliminary Roost Assessment (June 2024) identified several low-medium 

potential roost features, although the building was assessed overall as having low 
potential due to its urban context, light levels and lack of habitat connectivity. A 
Bat Emergence Survey (July 2024) recorded no bats emerging, entering or active 
around the structure, confirming likely absence. An updated survey undertaken in 
August 2025 by Ethos Environmental Planning accessed all parts of the building, 
including the loft void, and confirmed negligible bat roost potential, no evidence of 
bats and a high level of confidence that bats are not roosting in the building. The 
ecologist confirms that no further surveys or mitigation are required, and that an 
updated survey would only be necessary if more than two years lapse beyond 
August 2025. As Condition 3 requires the development to accord with the 
approved ecological documents, this requirement is secured, and no separate bat 
condition is necessary. 

Page 141



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026  

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

  
7.67 On this basis, the proposal complies with wildlife legislation and Policy DMEI 7 of 

the Hillingdon Local Plan: Part Two (2020). 
  
 Flooding and Drainage 
  
7.68 The site is in Flood Zone 1. The proposal involves the conversion of the upper 

floors of an existing building to residential, and a rear extension to the first and 
second floor which does not increase site coverage. Therefore, there are no 
additional drainage or flooding concerns, beyond that which can be dealt with 
through the Building Regulations process. Therefore, the proposed development 
is not expected to increase flood risk on-site or elsewhere, in accordance with 
Policies DMEI 9 and DMEI 10 of the Hillingdon Local Plan: Part 2 - Development 
Management Policies (2020) and Policies SI 12 and SI 13 of the London Plan 
(2021). 

  
 Sustainability  
  
7.69 Given the nature of the proposal, there are inherent limitations in applying the full 

energy hierarchy requirements typically associated with new-build development. 
However, the re-use of the existing structure represents a sustainable approach 
that reduces embodied carbon compared with demolition and rebuild. In this 
context, the most appropriate and proportionate sustainability requirement relates 
to water efficiency. 

  
7.70 The London Plan (Policy SI 5) and Policy DMEI 2 of the Local Plan Part 2 (2020) 

require new dwellings to minimise water consumption and to be designed to meet 
the optional Building Regulations target. Condition 12 is proposed and requires 
each unit to achieve a maximum indoor water consumption of 105 litres per person 
per day, which is considered both achievable and proportionate for a conversion 
of this scale 

  
7.71 Beyond this, general energy efficiency measures and carbon performance 

improvements will be secured through the Building Regulations process, which is 
the appropriate mechanism for smaller conversion schemes where large-scale 
building fabric interventions are not feasible. 

  
7.72 Subject to Condition 12, the proposal is considered compliant with Policies SI 5 

and SI 2 of the London Plan (2021) and Policy DMEI 2 of the Local Plan Part 2 
(2020). 

  
 Fire Safety 
  
7.73 Policy D12 of the London Plan (2021) requires all major and non-major residential 

developments involving the creation of one or more dwellings to demonstrate that 
fire safety has been considered from the earliest stages of design. A Fire 
Statement, prepared by a suitably competent assessor, is required to show 
compliance with the criteria in Policy D12(B), including means of escape, 

Page 142



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026  

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

evacuation strategy, access for firefighting, and suitable fire safety measures for 
both new and existing building elements. 

  
7.74 No Fire Statement has been submitted with this application. Given the proposed 

creation of five self-contained flats, the introduction of a communal terrace, and 
the mixed-use nature of the building (commercial at ground floor with residential 
above), a Fire Statement is required to ensure safe means of escape and 
appropriate fire-fighting access. 

  
7.75 These matters can be satisfactorily addressed by condition. Condition 10 requires 

submission and approval of a Fire Statement prior to commencement of 
development. Subject to this condition, the proposal is considered capable of 
meeting the requirements of London Plan Policy D12 (2021). 

  
 Archaeology  
  
7.76 The site is located within the Ruislip Motte & Bailey Archaeological Priority Area, 

however, having regard to the nature of the proposed development, it is not 
considered that the proposal would adversely impact upon archaeological 
remains. 

  
 Land Contamination  
  
7.77 The site is identified as being within an area of potential land contamination. The 

proposed development is limited to internal works at ground floor level, together 
with the works above first-floor level.  

  
7.78 On the basis of the submitted information, the proposal would not give rise to land 

contamination risks and is considered acceptable in this regard. Confirmation is 
currently being sought from the Council’s Land Contamination Officer, and any 
updates will be reported to Members by way of an addendum, if necessary. 

  
  
8 Other Matters 
  
 Human Rights 
  
8.1 The development has been assessed against the provisions of the Human Rights 

Act, and in particular Article 1 of the First Protocol and Article 8 of the Act itself. 
This Act gives further effect to the rights included in the European Convention on 
Human Rights. In arriving at this recommendation, due regard has been given to 
the applicant's reasonable development rights and expectations which have been 
balanced and weighed against the wider community interests, as expressed 
through third party interests / the Development Plan and Central Government 
Guidance. 

  
  
  
  

Page 143



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026  

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

  
 Equality 
  
8.2 Due consideration has been given to Section 149 of the Equality Act with regard 

to the Public Sector Equality Duty in the assessment of this planning application. 
No adverse equality impacts are considered to arise from the proposal. 

  
 Local Finance Considerations and CIL 
  
 Planning Obligations 
  
8.3 Policy DMCI 7 of the Hillingdon Local Plan: Part 2 (2020) states that whilst 

infrastructure requirements will be predominantly addressed through the Council's 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL), planning obligations will be sought on a 
scheme-by-scheme basis. Applications that fail to secure an appropriate Planning 
Obligation to make the proposal acceptable will be refused. 

  
8.4 The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulation 2010 (Regulations issued 

Pursuant to the 2008 Act) and the NPPF have put three tests on the use of 
planning obligations into law.  It is unlawful (since 6th April 2010) to request 
planning obligations that do not meet the following tests:  
i. necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
ii. directly related to the development; and 
iii. fairly and reasonable related in scale and kind to the development. 

  
8.5 The effect of the Regulations is that the Council must apply the tests much more 

strictly and is only to ask for planning obligations that are genuinely necessary and 
directly related to a development. Should planning obligations be requested that 
do not meet the policy tests the Council would have acted unlawfully and could be 
subject to a High Court challenge. 

  
8.6 On the basis of the NPPF and the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulation 

2010, it is not considered reasonable to request that any obligations be secured 
under a Section 106 legal agreement.  

  
 Community Infrastructure Levy 
  
8.7 The Council adopted its own Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) on 1st August 

2014. The Hillingdon CIL charge for residential developments is £95 per square 
metre of additional floor space. This is in addition to the Mayoral CIL charge of 
£60 per square metre. CIL rates are index linked. The proposal involves the 
erection of new dwellings and is therefore CIL liable if planning permission is 
granted. 

  
  
9 Planning Balance 
  
9.1 The development would deliver five residential units (net contribution of 4 new 

units) in a highly accessible town centre location, making efficient use of an 

Page 144



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026  

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

existing building and contributing to the borough’s housing stock in accordance 
with Policy H1 of the London Plan (2021). The retention of the ground-floor 
commercial unit supports the vitality and viability of Ruislip High Street and 
maintains an active frontage. 

  
9.2 In the previous appeal decision, the Inspector confirmed that the development 

would preserve the character and appearance of the Ruislip Village Conservation 
Area, raised no objections to the design approach, and found no harm in respect 
of highways, servicing, noise, ventilation, or the commercial unit. The Inspector 
identified two key issues: (1) the constrained outlook to the bedroom of Flat 3, and 
(2) the tunnelling/enclosure effect to No. 80A. The current proposal has introduced 
substantive modifications in response, including the reconfiguration of Flat 3 to 
improve its outlook and dual aspect, and an increased set-back of the northern 
boundary fence to materially improve the relationship with No. 80A. 

  
9.3 While the proposal still falls short of providing private amenity space for four of the 

five units, a deficiency acknowledged by the Inspector, the scheme now includes 
an enlarged communal roof terrace, exceeds internal space standards for all units, 
and is located within close walking distance of substantial publicly accessible open 
space. In this town centre setting where many comparable upper-floor residential 
units have no private external amenity space, the shortfall carries more limited 
weight. The revised layout also ensures that all other Inspector-led concerns have 
been addressed, allowing any remaining conflict with Policy DMHB 18 to be 
considered through the overall planning balance. 

  
9.4 The development provides acceptable standards of internal and external amenity, 

meets daylight and sunlight expectations, protects the living conditions of 
neighbouring occupiers, and avoids unacceptable impacts related to highways, air 
quality, servicing or drainage. The scheme represents a notable improvement over 
the dismissed appeal proposal. When read as a whole, the development plan 
supports the delivery of needed residential accommodation in accessible 
locations, subject to appropriate living conditions being achieved, which is the 
case here. 

  
9.5 On balance, the benefits of bringing an underused building back into active use, 

delivering additional housing in a sustainable town centre location, and responding 
positively to the Inspector’s direction outweigh the limited residual conflict relating 
to private amenity space. The proposal is therefore acceptable when assessed 
against the development plan taken as a whole. 

  
  
10 Conclusion  
  
10.1 The proposal has been carefully assessed against the development plan, the 

NPPF (2024), and the Inspector’s previous decision. The revised scheme 
addresses the key concerns previously identified and provides an appropriate 
standard of living accommodation for future residents while safeguarding the 
amenity of neighbouring occupiers. The works preserve the character and 
appearance of the Ruislip Village Conservation Area, maintain the active 

Page 145



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026  

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

commercial frontage, and make efficient use of a highly accessible town centre 
site. Consequently, the application is recommended for approval subject to the 
conditions set out in Appendix 1. 

  
  
11 Background Papers 
  
11.1 Relevant published policies and documents taken into account in respect of this 

application are set out in the report. Documents associated with the application 
(except exempt or confidential information) are available on the Council's website 
here, by entering the planning application number at the top of this report and 
using the search facility. Planning applications are also available to inspect 
electronically at the Civic Centre, High Street, Uxbridge, UB8 1UW upon 
appointment, by contacting Planning Services at planning@hillingdon.gov.uk. 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  

 
 

Page 146



AAPPENDICES
 

Planning Application
 

78935/APP/2025/2287

Hillingdon Planning Committee - 14th January 2026
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 1 of 16Page 147



AAppendix 1: Recommended Conditions and Informatives
 
Conditions

1. RES3 TTime Limit

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from
the date of this permission.

REASON
To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

2. RES4 AAccordance with Approved Plans

The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in complete accordance
with the details shown on the submitted drawings

3616 / L / 01
3616 / P / 131 Rev A
3616 / P / 132 Rev A

and shall thereafter be retained/maintained for as long as the development remains in
existence.

REASON
To ensure the development complies with the provisions of the Hillingdon Local Plan Part 1
(2012), Part 2 (2020) and the London Plan (2021).

3. HO3 GGeneral compliance with supporting documentation

The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the following has been
completed in accordance with the specified supporting plans and/or documents:

Air Quality Neutral Statement, 82-84 High Street, Ruislip, prepared by Eight Versa Ltd, dated
28 August 2025
Preliminary Roost Assessment, 82-84 High Street, prepared by Grove Ecology Ltd, dated
June 2024
Bat Emergence Survey Report, 82-84 High Street, prepared by Grove Ecology Ltd, dated
July 2024
Bat Survey Technical Note, 82-84 High Street, prepared by Ethos Environmental Planning,
dated 28 August 2025
Daylight and Sunlight Assessment, 82-84 High Street, prepared by T16 Design, dated June
2024
Transport Statement, 82-84 High Street, Ruislip, prepared by Pulsar Transport Planning,
dated August 2025

Hillingdon Planning Committee - 14th January 2026
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 2 of 16Page 148



Thereafter the development shall be retained/maintained in accordance with these details for
as long as the development remains in existence.

REASON
To ensure the development complies with the provisions of the Hillingdon Local Plan Part 1
(2012), Part 2 (2020) and the London Plan (2021).

44. COM7 MMaterials (Submission)

No development shall take place until details of all materials and external surfaces, including
details of balconies have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. Thereafter the development shall be constructed in accordance with the approved
details and be retained as such.

Details should include information relating to make, product/type, colour and
photographs/images.

REASON
To ensure that the development presents a satisfactory appearance in accordance with
Policy DMHB 11 of the Hillingdon Local Plan Part 2 (2020).

5. OM19 CConstruction Management Plan

Prior to development commencing, a demolition and Construction Management Plan shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The plan shall
detail:

(i) The phasing of development works.
(ii) The hours during which development works will occur (please refer to informative I15 for
maximum permitted working hours).
(iii) Measures to prevent mud and dirt tracking onto footways and adjoining roads (including
wheel washing facilities).
(iv) Traffic management and access arrangements (vehicular and pedestrian) and parking
provisions for contractors during the development process (including measures to reduce
the numbers of construction vehicles accessing the site during peak hours).
(v) Measures to reduce the impact of the development on local air quality and dust through
minimising emissions throughout the demolition and construction process.
(vi) The storage of demolition/construction materials on site.

The approved details shall be implemented and maintained throughout the duration of the
demolition and construction process.

REASON
To safeguard the amenity of surrounding areas in accordance with Policy DMHB 11 of the
Hillingdon Local Plan Part 2 (2020).

Hillingdon Planning Committee - 14th January 2026
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 3 of 16Page 149



66. RES9 LLandscaping

Notwithstanding the approved details and prior to the commencement of any works above
damp proof course level, a landscape scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include: -

1.    Details of Soft Landscaping (including defensible spaces to the front of the rear
bedroom window serving Flat 2)
1.a  Planting plans (at not less than a scale of 1:100)
1.b  Written specification of planting and cultivation works to be undertaken
1.c  Schedule of plants giving species, plant sizes, and proposed numbers/densities where
appropriate

2. Details of Hard Landscaping
2.a Means of enclosure/boundary treatments
2.b Hard Surfacing Materials
2.c External Lighting

3. Details of Landscape Maintenance
3.a Landscape Maintenance Schedule for a minimum period of 5 years
3.b Proposals for the replacement of any tree, shrub, or area of turfing/seeding within the
landscaping scheme which dies or in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority becomes
seriously damaged or diseased

4. Living Roofs
4.a Details of the inclusion of green roofs including: waterproof membrane (root resistant),
protection layer, drainage and filter layers, growing medium/substrate depth (minimum 80-
150mm unless otherwise justified) and species mix

5. Schedule for Implementation

Thereafter the development shall be constructed in full accordance with the approved details
prior to occupation and be retained/maintained as such.

REASON
To ensure that the proposed development will preserve and enhance the visual amenities of
the locality and provide adequate facilities in compliance with policies DMHB 11, DMHB 12,
DMHB 14, DMEI 1 and DMT 2 of the Hillingdon Local Plan Part 2 (2020) and Policy G5 of
the London Plan (2021).

7. NONSC OOverheating and Ventilation Mitigation Strategy

Prior to the first occupation of Flats 1 and 4, an Overheating and Ventilation Mitigation
Strategy shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
Strategy shall demonstrate compliance with Part C of Policy D6 of the London Plan (2021)
and shall include:

Hillingdon Planning Committee - 14th January 2026
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 4 of 16Page 150



a) Details of glazing specifications designed to limit solar gain;
b) Confirmation of openable window arrangements to enable passive ventilation;
c) Mechanical ventilation to kitchens and bathrooms, with extract rates meeting current
Building Regulations;
d) Any additional design or fabric measures necessary to prevent overheating and ensure
acceptable internal temperatures under the CIBSE TM59 methodology (or updated
equivalent).

The approved mitigation measures shall be implemented prior to first occupation of the
relevant units and retained for the lifetime of the development.

REASON
To ensure the single-aspect units achieve satisfactory internal living conditions with respect
to ventilation and overheating, in accordance with Policy D6 of the London Plan (2021) and
Policy DMHB 16 of the Hillingdon Local Plan Part 2 (2020).

88. NONSC PPrivacy Screen Details (External Staircase)

Prior to the first occupation of the development, a 1.8-metre-high privacy screen shall be
installed at the upper landing of the external staircase providing access to the communal
terrace, in accordance with details to be first submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.

The screen shall be constructed of a solid or semi-solid material to prevent direct
overlooking of neighbouring properties. The approved screen shall be retained and
maintained for the lifetime of the development.

REASON
To safeguard the privacy of neighbouring occupiers, in accordance with Policy DMHB 11 of
the Hillingdon Local Plan Part 2 (2020).

9. NONSC PPrivacy Screen Details (Flat 3 Terrace)

Prior to the occupation of Flat 3, details of the privacy screening to be installed to the edges
of the private terrace shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The screening shall be a minimum of 1.8 metres in height, constructed of a solid
or semi-solid material to prevent overlooking, and shall be installed in full prior to first
occupation of the flat. The approved screening shall be retained and maintained for the
lifetime of the development.

REASON
To safeguard the privacy of neighbouring occupiers and future occupiers of the
development, in accordance with Policy DMHB 11 of the Local Plan Part 2 (2020).

10. NONSC FFire Statement

Hillingdon Planning Committee - 14th January 2026
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 5 of 16Page 151



Prior to the commencement of above-ground works, a Fire Statement, produced by a
suitably qualified third-party assessor, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The Statement shall demonstrate compliance with Policy D12(B) of
the London Plan (2021) and shall include:
a) means of escape and evacuation strategy;
b) fire detection and alarm systems;
c) external fire spread and materials;
d) access for firefighting and equipment; and
e) how the design accounts for the mixed-use nature of the building and the communal
terrace.

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved Fire Statement and
retained thereafter.

REASON
To ensure the development achieves the highest standards of fire safety in accordance with
Policy D12 of the London Plan (2021).

111. NONSC RReplacement Door Details

Prior to installation of the replacement front entrance door, details of the proposed door shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The submitted
details shall demonstrate that the door will be constructed of timber and shall replicate the
design, proportions and detailing of the existing double door. The door shall be installed in
accordance with the approved details and retained thereafter.

REASON
To safeguard the character and appearance of the Locally Listed building and the Ruislip
Village Conservation Area, in accordance with Policies DMHB 1, DMHB 3, DMHB 4 and
DMHB 11 of the Local Plan Part 2 (2020).

12. RES15 WWater Consumption

All dwellings shall be designed and constructed to achieve a maximum water consumption
of 105 litres per person per day, in accordance with the optional technical standard set out in
the Building Regulations (Part G).

Evidence of compliance shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority prior to occupation.

REASON
To ensure water efficiency in accordance with Policy SI 5 of the London Plan (2021) and
Policy DMEI 2 of the Local Plan Part 2 (2020).

13. NONSC CCommunal Terrace Restriction

Hillingdon Planning Committee - 14th January 2026
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 6 of 16Page 152



The communal terrace hereby approved shall be used solely for the quiet enjoyment of
residents and shall not be used for amplified music, organised gatherings, parties, events, or
any other activity that would give rise to noise disturbance.

REASON
To safeguard the amenities of neighbouring occupiers in accordance with Policy DMHB 11
of the Local Plan Part 2 (2020) and Policy D14 of the London Plan (2021).

114. NONSC CClass C3 Use

The residential units hereby approved shall be used only as dwellings within Use Class C3
of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended), and for no
other purpose within the Schedule to that Order or any provision equivalent to that Class in
any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order.

REASON
To ensure the development is used for residential purposes only and to allow the Local
Planning Authority to retain control over any future change of use in the interests of
residential amenity, in accordance with Policy DMHB 11 of the Local Plan Part 2 (2020).

15. NONSC CClass E - Hours of Use

The Class E unit at ground floor level shall only operate between:

08:00 and 20:00, Monday to Saturday, and
09:00 to 18:00, Sundays and Bank Holidays.

No customers shall be permitted on the premises outside these times.

REASON
To protect the amenities of nearby residential occupiers in accordance with Policy DMHB 11
of the Local Plan Part 2 (2020) and Policy D14 of the London Plan (2021).

16. RES22 CCycle and Refuse Storage

The cycle parking and bin storage shall be constructed and laid out in accordance with the
approved plans and completed prior to occupation of the development hereby approved and
shall thereafter be retained and maintained.

REASON
To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and to promote sustainable
development in accordance with Policies DMT1, DMT2, DMT4, DMT5, London Plan and
NPPF paragraph 116.

17. RES12 NNo additional windows or doors

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted

Hillingdon Planning Committee - 14th January 2026
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 7 of 16Page 153



Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with
or without modification), no additional windows, doors or other openings shall be constructed
in the walls or roof slopes of the development hereby approved.

REASON
To prevent overlooking to adjoining properties in accordance with Policy DMHB 11 of the
Hillingdon Local Plan Part 2 (2020).

IInformatives

1. I70 LLBH worked applicant in a positive & proactive (Granting)

In dealing with the application the Council has implemented the requirement in the National
Planning Policy Framework to work with the applicant in a positive and proactive way. We
have made available detailed advice in the form of our statutory policies from Local Plan Part
1, Local Plan Part 2, Supplementary Planning Documents, Planning Briefs and other informal
written guidance, as well as offering a full pre-application advice service, in order to ensure
that the applicant has been given every opportunity to submit an application which is likely to
be considered favourably.

2. I73 CCommunity Infrastructure Levy (CIL) (Granting Consent)

Under the terms of the Planning Act 2008 (as amended) and Community Infrastructure Levy
Regulations 2010 (as amended), this development is liable to pay the London Borough of
Hillingdon Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and the Mayor of London's Community
Infrastructure Levy (CIL). This will be calculated in accordance with the London Borough of
Hillingdon CIL Charging Schedule 2014 and the Mayor of London's CIL Charging Schedule
2012. Before commencement of works the development parties must notify the London
Borough of Hillingdon of the commencement date for the construction works (by submitting a
Commencement Notice) and assume liability to pay CIL (by submitting an Assumption of
Liability Notice) to the Council at planning@hillingdon.gov.uk. The Council will then issue a
Demand Notice setting out the date and the amount of CIL that is payable. Failure to submit
a valid Assumption of Liability Notice and Commencement Notice prior to commencement of
the development may result in surcharges being imposed.

The above forms can be found on the planning portal at:
www.planningportal.gov.uk/planning/applications/howtoapply/whattosubmit/cil

Pre-Commencement Conditions: These conditions are important from a CIL liability
perspective as a scheme will not become CIL liable until all of the pre-commencement
conditions have been discharged/complied with.

3. I52 CCompulsory Informative (1)

The decision to GRANT planning permission has been taken having regard to all relevant

Hillingdon Planning Committee - 14th January 2026
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 8 of 16Page 154



planning legislation, regulations, guidance, circulars and Council policies, including The
Human Rights Act (1998) (HRA 1998) which makes it unlawful for the Council to act
incompatibly with Convention rights, specifically Article 6 (right to a fair hearing); Article 8
(right to respect for private and family life); Article 1 of the First Protocol (protection of
property) and Article 14 (prohibition of discrimination).

44. I15 CControl of Environmental Nuisance from Construction Work

Nuisance from demolition and construction works is subject to control under The Control of
Pollution Act 1974, the Clean Air Acts and other related legislation. In particular, you should
ensure that the following are complied with:-

A. Demolition and construction works which are audible at the site boundary shall only be
carried out between the hours of 08.00 and 18.00 hours Monday to Friday and between the
hours of 08.00 hours and 13.00 hours on Saturday. No works shall be carried out on
Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays.

B. All noise generated during such works shall be controlled in compliance with British
Standard Code of Practice BS 5228:2009.

C. Dust emissions shall be controlled in compliance with the Mayor of London's Best
Practice Guidance' The Control of dust and emissions from construction and demolition.

D. No bonfires that create dark smoke or nuisance to local residents.

You are advised to consult the Council's Environmental Protection Unit
(www.hillingdon.gov.uk/noise Tel. 01895 250155) or to seek prior approval under Section 61
of the Control of Pollution Act if you anticipate any difficulty in carrying out construction other
than within the normal working hours set out in (A) above, and by means that would minimise
disturbance to adjoining premises.

5. I2 EEncroachment

You are advised that if any part of the development hereby permitted encroaches by either
its roof, walls, eaves, gutters, or foundations, then a new planning application may have to
be submitted. The validity of this planning permission may be challengeable by third parties if
the development results in any form of encroachment onto land outside the applicant's
control for which the appropriate Notice under Article 13 of the Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 has not been served.

6. I47 DDamage to Verge - For Council Roads:

The Council will recover from the applicant the cost of highway and footway repairs,
including damage to grass verges.

Care should be taken during the building works hereby approved to ensure no damage

Hillingdon Planning Committee - 14th January 2026
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 9 of 16Page 155



occurs to the verge or footpaths during construction. Vehicles delivering materials to this
development shall not override or cause damage to the public footway. Any damage will
require to be made good to the satisfaction of the Council and at the applicant's expense.

For further information and advice contact - Highways Maintenance Operations, Central
Depot - Block K, Harlington Road Depot, 128 Harlington Road, Hillingdon, Middlesex, UB3
3EU (Tel: 01895 277524).

For Private Roads: Care should be taken during the building works hereby approved to
ensure no damage occurs to the verge of footpaths on private roads during construction.
Vehicles delivering materials to this development shall not override or cause damage to a
private road and where possible alternative routes should be taken to avoid private roads.
The applicant may be required to make good any damage caused.

77. I6 PProperty Rights/Rights of Light

Your attention is drawn to the fact that the planning permission does not override property
rights and any ancient rights of light that may exist. This permission does not empower you
to enter onto land not in your ownership without the specific consent of the owner. If you
require further information or advice, you should consult a solicitor.

8. IT05 WWildlife and Countryside Act 1981

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981:  Note that it is an offence under this act to disturb roosting
bats, nesting birds or any other protected species.  Therefore, if applicable, it is advisable to
consult your tree surgeon / consultant to agree an acceptable time for carrying out the
approved works.

I53 CCompulsory Informative (2)

The decision to GRANT planning permission has been taken having regard to the policies
and proposals in the Hillingdon Local Plan Part 1 (2012) and Part 2 (2020) set out below,
including Supplementary Planning Guidance, and to all relevant material considerations,
including The London Plan (2021) and national guidance.
DMCI 7 Planning Obligations and Community Infrastructure Levy
DMEI 10 Water Management, Efficiency and Quality
DMEI 2 Reducing Carbon Emissions
DMEI 7 Biodiversity Protection and Enhancement
DMEI 9 Management of Flood Risk
DMH 1 Safeguarding Existing Housing
DMH 2 Housing Mix
DMHB 1 Heritage Assets
DMHB 11 Design of New Development

Hillingdon Planning Committee - 14th January 2026
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 10 of 16Page 156



DMHB 12 Streets and Public Realm
DMHB 14 Trees and Landscaping
DMHB 16 Housing Standards
DMHB 18 Private Outdoor Amenity Space
DMHB 3 Locally Listed Buildings
DMHB 4 Conservation Areas
DMT 1 Managing Transport Impacts
DMT 2 Highways Impacts
DMT 5 Pedestrians and Cyclists
DMT 6 Vehicle Parking
LPP D12 (2021) Fire safety
LPP D3 (2021) Optimising site capacity through the design-led approach
LPP D4 (2021) Delivering good design
LPP D5 (2021) Inclusive design
LPP D6 (2021) Housing quality and standards
LPP D7 (2021) Accessible housing
LPP DF1 (2021) Delivery of the Plan and Planning Obligations
LPP G7 (2021) Trees and woodlands
LPP GG2 (2021) Making the best use of land
LPP GG4 (2021) Delivering the homes Londoners needs
LPP H1 (2021) Increasing housing supply
LPP H10 (2021) Housing size mix
LPP HC1 (2021) Heritage conservation and growth
LPP SD6 (2021) Town centres and high streets
LPP SI12 (2021) Flood risk management
LPP SI13 (2021) Sustainable drainage
LPP SI2 (2021) Minimising greenhouse gas emissions
LPP T5 (2021) Cycling
LPP T6 (2021) Car parking
LPP T6.1 (2021) Residential parking
NPPF11 -24 NPPF11 2024 - Making effective use of land
NPPF12 -24 NPPF12 2024 - Achieving well-designed places
NPPF14 -24 NPPF14 2024 - Meeting the challenge of climate change, flood and coastal

change
NPPF2 -24 NPPF2 2024 - Achieving sustainable development
NPPF5 -24 NPPF5 2024 - Delivering a sufficient supply of homes

HHillingdon Planning Committee - 14th January 2026
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 11 of 16Page 157



NPPF9 -24 NPPF9 2024 - Promoting sustainable transport

HHillingdon Planning Committee - 14th January 2026
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 12 of 16Page 158



AAppendix 2: Relevant Planning History

78935/APP/2024/1992 82-84 High Street Ruislip
Extensions and alterations to ground, first and second floors with change of use of first floor
from office (Class E) to residential (Class C3) to provide 4 x 1-bed flats and 1 x 2-bed flat
with associated cycle and bin storage. Retention and reconfiguration of Class E unit at
ground floor and alterations to fenestration.

Decision: 11-10-2024 Refused AAppeal: 25-07-2025 Dismissed

Hillingdon Planning Committee - 14th January 2026
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 13 of 16Page 159



AAppendix 3: List of Relevant Planning Policies

The following Local Plan Policies are considered relevant to the application:-

Part 1 Policies:

PT1.BE1 (2012) Built Environment

PT1.HE1 (2012) Heritage

Part 2 Policies:

DMCI 7 Planning Obligations and Community Infrastructure Levy

DMEI 10 Water Management, Efficiency and Quality

DMEI 2 Reducing Carbon Emissions

DMEI 7 Biodiversity Protection and Enhancement

DMEI 9 Management of Flood Risk

DMHB 3 Locally Listed Buildings

DMH 1 Safeguarding Existing Housing

NPPF11 -24 NPPF11 2024 - Making effective use of land

NPPF12 -24 NPPF12 2024 - Achieving well-designed places

NPPF14 -24 NPPF14 2024 - Meeting the challenge of climate change, flood and coastal
change

NPPF2 -24 NPPF2 2024 - Achieving sustainable development

NPPF5 -24 NPPF5 2024 - Delivering a sufficient supply of homes

NPPF9 -24 NPPF9 2024 - Promoting sustainable transport

DMH 2 Housing Mix

DMHB 1 Heritage Assets

DMHB 4 Conservation Areas

DMHB 11 Design of New Development

Hillingdon Planning Committee - 14th January 2026
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 14 of 16Page 160



DMHB 12 Streets and Public Realm

DMHB 14 Trees and Landscaping

DMHB 16 Housing Standards

DMHB 18 Private Outdoor Amenity Space

DMT 1 Managing Transport Impacts

DMT 2 Highways Impacts

DMT 5 Pedestrians and Cyclists

DMT 6 Vehicle Parking

LPP D3 (2021) Optimising site capacity through the design-led approach

LPP D4 (2021) Delivering good design

LPP D5 (2021) Inclusive design

LPP D6 (2021) Housing quality and standards

LPP D7 (2021) Accessible housing

LPP GG2 (2021) Making the best use of land

LPP GG4 (2021) Delivering the homes Londoners needs

LPP DF1 (2021) Delivery of the Plan and Planning Obligations

LPP D12 (2021) Fire safety

LPP G7 (2021) Trees and woodlands

LPP H1 (2021) Increasing housing supply

LPP H10 (2021) Housing size mix

LPP HC1 (2021) Heritage conservation and growth

LPP SI12 (2021) Flood risk management

LPP SI13 (2021) Sustainable drainage

LPP SD6 (2021) Town centres and high streets

LPP SI2 (2021) Minimising greenhouse gas emissions

HHillingdon Planning Committee - 14th January 2026
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 15 of 16Page 161



LPP T5 (2021) Cycling

LPP T6 (2021) Car parking

LPP T6.1 (2021) Residential parking

HHillingdon Planning Committee - 14th January 2026
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 16 of 16Page 162



 
 

 
 

Report of the Head of Development Management and Building Control  
Committee Report  

 
 

    
Case Officer:  Samuel Patten 36969/APP/2025/2303 

 
Date Application 
Valid: 

03.09.2025 Statutory / Agreed 
Determination 
Deadline: 

30.01.2026 

Application 
Type:  

Full Ward: Ruislip  

 
 
Applicant: Waitrose Ltd.  

 
Site Address: 9 Kingsend, Ruislip 

 
Proposal: Facade alteration for the installation of On 

Demand Grocery Hatch (ODG) at ground floor 
level, with associated parking space for delivery 
vehicles. 
 

Summary of 
Recommendation: 
 

GRANT planning permission subject to 
conditions 

Reason Reported 
to Committee: 

Required under Part 6 of the Planning Scheme of 
Delegation (the Council has a financial liability) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 163

Agenda Item 9



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

 Summary of Recommendation: 
  
 GRANT planning permission subject to the conditions set out in 

Appendix 1. 
  
  
1 Executive Summary 
  
1.1 Planning permission is sought for the installation of an On-Demand Grocery hatch 

to the exterior of a supermarket building, currently occupied by Waitrose Ltd. The 
proposal would also include the allocation of a dedicated parking space for 
delivery vehicles in the supermarket’s customer car park, accessed off Wood 
Lane, Ruislip.     

  
1.2  The purpose of the On-Demand Grocery hatch is to allow online orders to be 

collected by delivery drivers without needing to enter into the store, with the 
dedicated parking space offering a place for riders to safely park their bikes and 
reducing the risk of fly/illegal parking.  

  
1.3 The Freehold of the customer car park is owned by the London Borough of 

Hillingdon.  Therefore, whilst the Council is not the applicant, for transparency and 
in accordance with the Council’s Scheme of Delegation, the application is referred 
to the Planning Committee for determination.  

  
1.4  In terms of design, the proposed On-Demand Grocery hatch and dedicated 

parking space are considered to be minor additions to the site, with both being 
located on the southern side of the site. The southern elevation of the supermarket 
building is facing away from the nearby Ruislip Village Conservation Area and is 
located close to the London Underground railway line. Therefore, Officers 
consider that the proposal would not have a detrimental impact upon the character 
and appearance of the building nor the surrounding local area.  

  
1.5  In terms of impacts upon neighbouring amenity, the collection of online orders 

currently occurs at the site. The closest residential properties would be located 
along Kingsend, with a separation distance of circa 40m. Therefore, there is likely 
to be minimal disruption to amenities of adjacent neighbouring properties. A 
condition restricting operating hours has been recommended. A further condition 
requiring an Operational Management Plan providing further detail on the 
management of the delivery service has been recommended prior to the delivery 
hatch becoming operational. This would provide further controls on how the 
delivery drivers would access the site, thereby mitigating against wider impact on 
the pedestrian pathways and nearby residents.   

  
1.6  Hillingdon Council’s Highways Team raised concerns regarding potential fly/illegal 

parking of bike riders. Following these comments, the applicant provided amended 
details which included the allocation of a dedicated parking space within 
acceptable distance from the delivery hatch. The Highways Officer has reviewed 
these additional details and is satisfied that the proposal would not lead to 

Page 164



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

significant harm to highway safety both for pedestrians and vehicles. A condition 
requiring the installation of signage and anchor points for the parking space prior 
to use of the On-Demand Delivery hatch has also been recommended, to ensure 
the drivers are aware of the dedicated parking area. Subject to the parking and 
adverts being installed prior to the use of the hatch, it is considered that the 
proposal would not lead to any wider highway concerns.      

  
1.7  It is concluded that the proposal complies with the Development Plan, and no 

material considerations indicate that a contrary decision should be taken. 
Therefore, this planning application is recommended for approval subject to the 
conditions set out in Appendix 1. 

  
  
2 The Site and Locality 
  
2.1  The application site comprises a part single, part two storey supermarket building, 

with an associated customer car park located to the west, which is accessed via 
Wood Lane, and a staff/store delivery entrance to the north, which is accessed via 
Kingsend. 

  
2.2  To the south of the site runs the London Underground and to the east is Ruislip 

Underground station and a block of residential flats, separated from the site by 
West End Road. In relation to West End Road, the supermarket site is located at 
lower level, due to the railway bridge over the underground line. There is a 
pedestrian access to the site from West End Road.  

  
2.3 The site is located on the fringes of the Ruislip Village Conservation Area, with the 

boundary of the conservation area being located on the northern side of the site 
along Kingsend. This site is also classified as being with Ruislip Town Centre, 
which is designated a primary shopping area. 

  
 Figure 1: Aerial View of Application Site  
  
 

 
   

Page 165



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

 Figure 2: Location Plan (Locations of proposal outlined in red, and entire 
site outlined in blue) 

  
 

  
 Figure 3: Image from customer car park facing towards supermarket 

building.  
  
 

 
  
  
3 Proposal  
  
3.1 Planning permission is sought for the installation of an On-Demand Grocery hatch 

with associated parking space for delivery vehicles.  
  

Page 166



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press

3.2 The purpose of the On-demand Grocery hatch is to allow online orders to be 
collected without the need for the delivery drivers to enter the store. These delivery 
collections will take place between the hours of 07:00 - 22:30 Monday to Sunday. 
This would mean that some collections would lie outside of regular store opening 
hours which are 08:00 - 21:00 Monday to Saturday, and 10:00 - 16:00 Sunday. It 
should be noted that the hatch will only be used for the collection of online orders 
from approved delivery apps by delivery riders/drivers and not directly by the 
customers. 

3.3 During the application process, amendments were made to the proposal following 
initial comments made by Hillingdon Council’s Highways Team regarding 
concerns around highway safety. This included the allocation of a dedicated 
parking space within the customer car park that would be used by delivery riders 
when collecting from the On-Demand Grocery hatch. The proposed parking space 
would be located in close proximity to the hatch, with a separation distance of 
around 18.00m.

Figure 4: Proposed Plan (please note – larger version of plan can be found in 
the Committee Plan Pack)

Page 167



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

  
4 Relevant Planning History 
  
4.1 A list of the relevant planning history related to the property can be found in 

Appendix 2. 
  
  
5 Planning Policy  
  
5.1 A list of planning policies relevant to the consideration of the application can be 

found in Appendix 3. 
  
  
6 Consultations and Representations 
  
6.1 10 Neighbouring Properties, Ruislip Residents Association, Hillingdon Council’s 

Highways Team, and Hillingdon Council’s Conservation and Urban Design team 
were initially consulted by letter for 21 days from 17-09-2025 until 08-10-2025.  

  
6.2 Re-consultation letters were sent to those neighbouring properties and Ruislip 

Residents Association, and additional neighbouring properties were included in 
the consultation following amendments made to scheme. These amendments 
included the allocation of a dedicated parking space for delivery drivers and the 
expansion of the blue line for the application site. 2no. site notices were also 
displayed around the application site. This re-consultation period lasted from 19-
11-2025 until 31-12-2025. All internal consultees were reconsulted during this 
process. A revised location plan which omitted properties Nos 7-11 Kingsend from 
the blue line (as not within the Ownership of the applicant) was received on 8th 
December 2025. It was not considered necessary to re-consult on this 
amendment, given it was not originally within the red line. 

  
6.3 Representations received in response to public consultation are summarised in 

Table 1 (below). Consultee responses received are summarised in Table 2 
(below). Full copies of the responses have also separately been made available 
to Members.  

  
 Table 1: Summary of Representations Received  

 
Representations Summary of Issues 

Raised 
 

Planning Officer 
Response 

1no. Individual 
letter has been 
received from a 
resident. 

1. Concerns around 
the use of a 
footpath by delivery 
drivers as a 
shortcut. This 
footpath is located 
towards the 

A condition has been 
attached requiring an 
Operational Management 
Plan to be submitted 
detailing how the Applicant 
will control delivery bikes 
from utilising this pathway. 
This provides an 

Page 168



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

northern side of the 
site adjacent to side 
and rear boundary 
of No.11 Kingsend 
and the northern 
flank of the 
Waitrose Building. 
This footpath 
provides a shortcut 
pedestrian access 
point which links  
Kingsend   with the 
Waitrose customer 
entrance and  car 
park. Concerns 
raised regarding the 
safety of 
pedestrians from its 
use by delivery 
cyclists.  
 

appropriate mitigation 
control going forward. The 
delivery hatch shall not be 
used until this Operational 
Management Plan detail 
has been approved.   

2. Request for barriers 
to be installed to 
prevent riders using 
this footpath.   

This matter is discussed at 
paragraphs 7.17-7.19 of 
this report. In summary, 
the request to install a 
barrier along a pedestrian 
footpath would be 
considered unreasonable/ 
unnecessary. Matters 
related to cycle traffic for 
the delivery service can be 
satisfactorily captured 
through the Operational 
Management Plan 
condition.  

Ruislip  
Residents 
Association 
Comments 

1. Clarification was 
sought on the blue 
line which initially 
included properties 
Nos 5, 7, 7a 
Kingsend.  

A revised Location Plan 
has been received which 
reflects the applicant’s 
current leasehold/freehold 
arrangement.  

2. Clarification was 
sought regarding 
ownership of the 
public footpath 

The footpath between 
Kingsend and the 
customer car park is under 
the ownership of the 

Page 169



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

which links 
Kingsend to the 
Waitrose customer 
car park. 

Freeholder of the 
supermarket site, which is 
currently Waitrose Ltd. 

3. Request for barriers 
to be installed to 
prevent riders using 
this footpath.   

This matter is discussed at 
paragraphs 7.17-7.19 of 
this report. In summary, 
the request to install a 
barrier along a pedestrian 
footpath would be 
considered unreasonable/ 
unnecessary. Matters 
related to cycle traffic for 
the delivery service can be 
satisfactorily captured 
through the Operational 
Management Plan 
condition. 

4. Clarification on why 
there are 2no. red 
boxes on the site 
location and block 
plans. 

The 2no. red boxes on the 
site location and block 
plans are the areas that 
relate to this application. 
The red box on the 
supermarket building is 
where the delivery 
collection hatch will be 
located and the red box 
within the car park is 
where the dedicated 
parking space will be 
located. 

5. Request for a 
dedicated bike 
safety route to be 
shown on the plans.  

Following consultation with 
Highways Officers, they 
are satisfied that the car 
park is safe for bike riders 
to use with a 10mph speed 
limit, advisory walkways 
and has compliant car park 
aisle widths. 

 

  
 Table 2: Summary of Consultee Responses 

 
Consultee and Summary of Comments 
 

Planning Officer 
Response 

Hillingdon Council’s Highways Team  
 
No objection to the proposal subject to a pre-
operation condition being added to the final decision 

 
 
Noted – Issues 
surrounding highway 

Page 170



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

notice related to the allocation of the dedicated 
parking space for delivery riders.   
 
This condition requires the details of signage and 
anchor points for the dedicated parking space to be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for 
approval prior to the hatch becoming operational.  
 
 

safety will be 
discussed further in 
the report below and 
the required condition 
has been drafted as 
shown in Appendix 1. 

Hillingdon Council’s Conservation and Urban 
Design Team.  
 
No objection from a design perspective. 
 

 
 
 
Noted – Design 
matters will be 
discussed further in 
Section 7.2 of this 
report.  
 

Hillingdon Council’s Property Services  
No objection to the proposal as it fits within the 
current user clause of the lease. 
 

 
Noted  

 

  
7 Planning Assessment 
  
 Principle of Development  
  
7.1 The proposal is for minor alterations to a supermarket building and to an 

associated customer car park. As such, the principle of development is supported 
by national, regional and local planning policies, subject to the considerations set 
out below. 

  
 Design / Character and Impact on the adjacent Conservation Area.  
  
7.2  The application site lies on the fringes of the Ruislip Village Conservation Area 

and any application should ensure the setting of the conservation area is 
preserved. The National Planning Policy Framework (Chapter 16), the London 
Plan (2021) Policy HC1 and the Hillingdon Local Plan Parts 1 and 2 (including 
policies HE1, and DMHB 1 and DMHB 4 respectively) seek to protect, conserve 
and enhance heritage assets. 

  
7.3 In addition to the above, Policy BE1 of the Hillingdon Local Plan Part 1 – Strategic 

Policies (2012), DMHB 11 and DMHB 12 of the Hillingdon Local Plan Part 2 – 
Development Management Policies (2020) are all directly relevant to the proposal. 
These policies can be read in full in the Committee Report Part 3 - Policy 
Appendix, and in summary, seek to secure a high quality of design that enhances 
and contributes to the area in terms of form, scale and materials, is appropriate to 
the identity and context of the townscape and would improve the quality of the 

Page 171



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

public realm and respect local character. These aims are also supported by 
Chapter 12 of the NPPF.  

  
7.4  In terms of design, the proposed On-Demand Grocery hatch and dedicated 

parking space are considered to be minor additions to the site. Both of these 
alterations would be located on the southern side of the site. The proposed on-
demand grocery delivery hatch would be formed by the replacement of an existing 
glazed shopfront panel and would be integrated within the established shopfront. 
The hatch measures approximately 1.4m wide by 0.9m high (including frame) and 
is modest in scale relative to the host building, ensuring that it reads as a 
subordinate alteration rather than a visually prominent or discordant feature. 

  
7.5 The proposed hatch would integrate within the existing fenestration to the existing 

supermarket building and be set in from the main customer car park located below 
a canopy. The elevation drawing demonstrates that the hatch would be set flush 
within the existing shopfront framework, maintaining the established proportions, 
alignment and fenestration pattern of the ground floor elevation. No projection 
beyond the existing building line is proposed, and the installation of a hatch would 
not result in any additional bulk, enclosure or visual clutter to the frontage. 

  
7.6 Materials and colour treatment have been carefully considered. The proposed 

shopfront finish would match the existing, ensuring visual consistency with the 
remainder of the store frontage. In the context of the existing frontage, the material 
would ensure a visually cohesive addition to the building and avoids the 
introduction of contrasting or incongruous materials that could otherwise detract 
from the streetscene. 

  
7.7 The southern elevation of the supermarket building is facing away from the nearby 

Ruislip Village Conservation Area and is located close to the London Underground 
railway line. Therefore, officers consider that the proposal would not have a 
detrimental impact upon the character and appearance of the building nor the 
surrounding local area or the setting of the adjoining Ruislip Village Conservation 
Area.  

  
7.8 The proposal includes the allocation of an existing car parking space in close 

proximity to the on-demand grocery delivery hatch to support its operation. The 
works associated with the demarcation of this space would be minimal in nature 
and limited to minor surface markings and discreet signage and anchor points to 
identify its specific use. Given the modest scale of the works and their functional 
necessity, these works associated with the use would not result in visual harm or 
adversely affect the character or appearance of the car park or wider site. The 
signage and anchor points can be appropriately controlled by condition, as 
requested by the Highway Authority, to ensure that it remains proportionate, 
unobtrusive and acceptable in visual terms. 

  
7.9 Overall, in terms of design and protection of the adjacent heritage asset of Ruislip 

Village Conservation Area, the proposal respects the architectural language of the 
existing Waitrose building and would not harm the character or appearance of the 
host property or the wider townscape. Officers consider that the development 

Page 172



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

would be in accordance with Policy BE1 and HE1 of the Hillingdon Local Plan: 
Part One- Strategic Policies (2012), Policies DMHB 1, DMHB 4, DMHB 11 and 
DMHB 12 of the Hillingdon Local Plan:  Part 2 - Development Management 
Policies (2020), Polices HC1 of the London Plan (2021) and the National Planning 
Policy Framework (2024). 

  
 Residential Amenity 
  
7.10 Policy DMHB 11 of the Hillingdon Local Plan: Part 2 - Development Management 

Policies (2020) seeks to ensure a satisfactory relationship with adjacent properties 
with no unacceptable loss of outlook, amenity, daylight and sunlight to 
neighbouring occupiers. 

  
7.11 Due to the scale and location of the proposed alterations to the supermarket 

building and car park, officers consider that there will be no significant harm to 
amenities of adjacent properties. The closest residential properties would be 
located on Kingsend, with No. 11 Kingsend being separated from the proposal by 
circa 40m. The proposed use of the hatch would be related to the existing use of 
the building, with online delivery collections already taking place on site during 
current opening hours 

  
7.12 In order to minimise disruption to local residents, a condition has been 

recommended restricting the hours of operation of the hatch to between 07:00 - 
22:30 Monday to Sunday, which is set out in Appendix 1.  A further condition in 
relation to the management of the delivery service has also been recommended. 
This would require an Operational Management Plan to be submitted prior to 
operation of the use. This would ensure that operational details on how the 
commercial operator would manage the delivery service and ensure that it would 
not cause any significant amenity concerns to the wider neighbouring properties 
would be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval.  

  
7.13 Having regard to the above and subject to conditions, it is considered that the 

proposal would not cause undue harm to the living conditions of neighbouring 
properties in accordance with Policies DMHB 11 of the Hillingdon Local Plan: Part 
Two - Development Management Policies (2020). 

  
 Highways and Parking 
  
7.14 Policies T4, T6, T6.3 of the London Plan (2021), and DMT 1, DMT 2, DMT 5 and 

DMT 6 of the Hillingdon Local Plan: Part 2 (2020) are relevant to the proposed 
development. These policies can be read in full in the Committee Report Part 3 -  
Policy Appendix, and in summary, seek to deliver development which is 
sustainable in transport terms and safeguards highway and pedestrian safety. 

  
7.15 The proposed On-Demand Grocery hatch will have a dedicated parking space in 

close proximity as shown in Figure 2 and on the proposed plans in Figure 3. This 
space will provide a safe place for riders to park their bikes, whilst also reducing 
the risk of fly/illegal parking along the pedestrian routes around the car park and 
store. The location of this space is within acceptable distance to ensure it would 

Page 173



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

be practical for use by riders. The works associated with the demarcation of this 
space would be minimal in nature and limited to minor surface markings and 
discreet signage and anchor points to identify its specific use.  

  
7.16 The Highways Officer has also recommended further details on secure anchor 

points to be submitted. These would be fixed or permanent features within the 
parking area that riders can secure their vehicles to while waiting or collecting 
orders. This would mitigate against any bikes or mopeds being left freely and 
potentially causing disruption to the footways or access routes thereby ensuring 
public and vehicular safety. Given the modest scale of the works and their 
functional necessity, the demarcation would not result in visual harm or adversely 
affect the character or appearance of the car park or wider site. Signage for its 
location would also be included, and it is sufficiently set in from the highway to not 
cause any impact on the surrounding highway network. 

  
7.17 Highways officers have reviewed the scheme and are satisfied that following the 

addition of a dedicated parking space that highway safety concerns have been 
addressed. The Highways Officer has requested that a pre-operational condition 
be added to ensure that signage and anchor points are provided for the parking 
space. Planning officers have drafted this condition which is set out in Appendix 
1.  

  
7.18 Comments received during the consultation raised concern regarding the potential 

use of the adjacent pedestrian footpath by delivery riders and suggested the 
installation of a physical barrier to prevent such use. The pedestrian footpath in 
question provides a right of way for pedestrians from Kingsend adjacent to No 11 
Kingsend. The pathway runs adjacent to the side boundary of No 11 Kingsend 
running to the rear of this neighbouring property. It provides a further pedestrian 
access point from Kingsend along the northern side of the Waitrose to the 
customer parking area associated with the building.In this instance given the 
modest nature of the application, it would not be reasonable or necessary to 
request a barrier to be installed. There is also a concern that such additional 
barrier could lead to accessibility issues were this element to be installed.  

  
7.19 Given the modest nature of the proposal, which comprises a small-scale delivery 

hatch within an existing shopfront, the installation of a physical barrier would be 
disproportionate and unrelated to the physical impacts of the development itself. 
Instead, Officers consider a condition on the operation management of the service 
could mitigate against any potential anti-social behavioural issues. 

  
7.20 To address these concerns, it is proposed that an Operational Management Plan 

be secured by condition prior to the use of the delivery hatch. This Plan would 
require the applicant to set out appropriate measures to control delivery activity, 
including clear instructions to drivers and cyclists prohibiting use of the pedestrian 
footpath and identifying appropriate access arrangements within the site. Officers 
are satisfied that this approach represents a reasonable and effective means of 
mitigating potential highway and pedestrian safety impacts. 

  

Page 174



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

7.21 Comments from the consultation also requested that a dedicated cycle safety 
route be shown on the submitted plans. This request has been reviewed by the 
Highway Authority, which has confirmed that such a measure is not necessary. 
The site already benefits from established access arrangements that allow cyclists 
to enter and manoeuvre within the car park safely. In addition, the car park 
operates with a low-speed environment, including a 10mph speed limit, and 
incorporates advisory pedestrian walkways, which collectively provide an 
appropriate level of safety for all users. 

  
7.22 In light of the above, officers are satisfied that the existing site measures are 

sufficient and that the modest scale and nature of the development does not justify 
the introduction of a formalised or segregated cycle route. As such, the absence 
of a dedicated cycle safety route is not considered to give rise to highway safety 
concerns, and the proposal is acceptable in transport and highway terms. 

  
7.23  Having regard to the above and subject to conditions, it is considered that the 

proposal would not lead to significant harm to the highway safety of the area and 
supermarket site. Therefore, the proposal complies with the objectives of Policies 
T4, T6, T6.3 of the London Plan (2021), and DMT 1, DMT 2, DMT 5 and DMT 6 
of the Hillingdon Local Plan: Part 2 (2020). 

  
 Advertisement  
  
7.24 Hillingdon Council’s Highways Team have asked for signage to erected adjacent 

to the dedicated parking space to ensure all users of the car park are made aware 
of this space’s allocation. These details would be secured via condition, and the 
nature of the adverts means they are considered to have deemed consent under 
the Advert Regulations (2007) Class 2: miscellaneous advertisements on any 
premises.  

  
  
8 Other Matters 
  
 Human Rights 
  
8.1 The development has been assessed against the provisions of the Human Rights 

Act, and in particular Article 1 of the First Protocol and Article 8 of the Act itself. 
This Act gives further effect to the rights included in the European Convention on 
Human Rights. In arriving at this recommendation, due regard has been given to 
the applicant's reasonable development rights and expectations which have been 
balanced and weighed against the wider community interests, as expressed 
through third party interests / the Development Plan and Central Government 
Guidance. 

  
 Equality 
  
8.2 Due consideration has been given to Section 149 of the Equality Act with regard 

to the Public Sector Equality Duty in the assessment of this planning application. 
No adverse equality impacts are considered to arise from the proposal. 

Page 175



Hillingdon Planning Committee – 14th January 2026 

PART 1 – Members, Public & Press 
 

  
 Local Finance Considerations and CIL 
  
8.3 Not applicable. The proposed development is not CIL liable. 
  
  
9 Conclusion / Planning Balance 
  
9.1 The proposal is considered to comply with the Development Plan, and no material 

considerations indicate that a contrary decision should be taken. Consequently, 
the application is recommended for approval subject to the conditions set out in 
Appendix 1. 

  
  
  
  
10 Background Papers 
  
10.1 Relevant published policies and documents taken into account in respect of this 

application are set out in the report. Documents associated with the application 
(except exempt or confidential information) are available on the Council's 
website here, by entering the planning application number at the top of this 
report and using the search facility. Planning applications are also available to 
inspect electronically at the Civic Centre, High Street, Uxbridge, UB8 1UW upon 
appointment, by contacting Planning Services at planning@hillingdon.gov.uk. 

  
 

 
 

Page 176



AAPPENDICES
 

Planning Application
 

36969/APP/2025/2303

Delegated -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 1 of 12Page 177



AAppendix 1: Recommended Conditions and Informatives
 
Conditions

1. HO1 TTime Limit

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from
the date of this permission.

REASON
To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

2. HO2 AAccordance with approved

The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in complete accordance
with the details shown on the submitted plans, numbers:-

11469-BAR-CR-ZZ-DR-T-01001_S2-P03 (Site Location Plan)
11469-BAR-CR-ZZ-DR-T-01010_S2-P03 (Block Plan)
11469-BAR-CR-XX-DR-T-03130_S2-P00 (Existing and Proposed Elevations)
11469-BAR-CR-00-DR-T-03110_S2-P00 (Proposed Ground Floor Plan)

REASON
To ensure the development complies with the provisions of the Hillingdon Local Plan Part 1
(2012) and Part 2 (2020), and the London Plan (2021).

3. HO4 MMaterials

The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the development
hereby permitted shall match those used in the existing building and shall thereafter be
retained as such.

REASON
To safeguard the visual amenities of the area and to ensure that the proposed development
does not have an adverse effect upon the appearance of the existing building in accordance
with Policy DMHB 11 of the Hillingdon Local Plan Part 2 (2020).

4. NONSC SSignage and Anchor Points for Parking Space

Prior to the approved delivery hatch becoming operational, details of the signage and anchor
points that will be provided for the parking space dedicated for use by delivery riders, as
shown on approved plan ref. 11469-BAR-CR-ZZ-DR-T-01010_S2-P03, shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The signage should convey the
message that the parking space is for the exclusive use by delivery riders. The approved
signage and anchor points shall be installed and made available for use prior to the first
operation of the delivery hatch and thereafter they shall be maintained and retained for the

Delegated -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 2 of 12Page 178



lifetime of the development.

REASON
In the interest of highway safety and traffic management, in accordance with the
requirements of policies DMT 1, DMT 2, DMT 5 and DMT 6 of the Hillingdon Local Plan Part
2 (2020).

55. NONSC OOperational Management Plan

Prior to the approved delivery hatch becoming operational, an Operational Management
Plan for the use and monitoring of the delivery hatch shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved Operational Management Plan shall
thereafter be implemented in full and retained for the lifetime of the development.

The Operational Management Plan shall include (but not be limited to) details of:

a) How the delivery collection hatch will be operated by the store, including operation hours.
b) The collection procedure that delivery collection riders must follow in order to utilise the
delivery hatch, which should include but not be limited to the parking of cycles within the
designated parking space and not loitering in and around the site for long periods of time
around collection of deliveries.
c) The enforcement procedure to be put in place by the store to deal with delivery riders who
do not follow the collection procedure requested under point b.
d) Measures to be put in place to prevent the improper use of pedestrian footpaths that run
through the site by delivery riders, including but not limited to riding bikes through these
spaces.
e) The methods of communication that will be utilised between the parties of interest,
including the relevant delivery apps and riders, in order to implement and maintain
compliance with procedures requested under points b.) and c.).
f) A review and monitoring procedure, including how complaints relating to behaviour of
delivery riders will be logged and addressed.

REASON
To ensure the safe and convenient use of the site by all users, and to prevent detrimental
harm to the amenities of the neighbouring properties to the site, in accordance with policies
DMHB 11, DMT 1, DMT 2, DMT 5 and DMT 6 of the Hillingdon Local Plan Part 2 (2020).

6. COM22 OOperating Hours

The delivery hatch shall not be used except between:-
07:00 - 22:30  Mondays - Sundays, Public or Bank Holidays.

REASON
To safeguard the residential amenity of the occupiers of adjoining and nearby properties in
accordance with policy DMHB 11 of the Hillingdon Local Plan Part 2 (2020).

Delegated -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 3 of 12Page 179



IInformatives

1. I15 CControl of Environmental Nuisance from Construction Work

Nuisance from demolition and construction works is subject to control under The Control of
Pollution Act 1974, the Clean Air Acts and other related legislation. In particular, you should
ensure that the following are complied with:-

A. Demolition and construction works which are audible at the site boundary shall only be
carried out between the hours of 08.00 and 18.00 hours Monday to Friday and between the
hours of 08.00 hours and 13.00 hours on Saturday. No works shall be carried out on
Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays.

B. All noise generated during such works shall be controlled in compliance with British
Standard Code of Practice BS 5228:2009.

C. Dust emissions shall be controlled in compliance with the Mayor of London's Best
Practice Guidance' The Control of dust and emissions from construction and demolition.

D. No bonfires that create dark smoke or nuisance to local residents.

You are advised to consult the Council's Environmental Protection Unit
(www.hillingdon.gov.uk/noise Tel. 01895 250155) or to seek prior approval under Section 61
of the Control of Pollution Act if you anticipate any difficulty in carrying out construction other
than within the normal working hours set out in (A) above, and by means that would minimise
disturbance to adjoining premises.

2. I52 CCompulsory Informative (1)

The decision to GRANT planning permission has been taken having regard to all relevant
planning legislation, regulations, guidance, circulars and Council policies, including The
Human Rights Act (1998) (HRA 1998) which makes it unlawful for the Council to act
incompatibly with Convention rights, specifically Article 6 (right to a fair hearing); Article 8
(right to respect for private and family life); Article 1 of the First Protocol (protection of
property) and Article 14 (prohibition of discrimination).

I53 CCompulsory Informative (2)

The decision to GRANT planning permission has been taken having regard to the policies
and proposals in the Hillingdon Local Plan Part 1 (2012) and Part 2 (2020) set out below,
including Supplementary Planning Guidance, and to all relevant material considerations,
including The London Plan (2021) and national guidance.
DMHB 1 Heritage Assets

Delegated -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 4 of 12Page 180



DMHB 11 Design of New Development
DMHB 12 Streets and Public Realm
DMHB 4 Conservation Areas
DMT 1 Managing Transport Impacts
DMT 2 Highways Impacts
DMT 5 Pedestrians and Cyclists
DMT 6 Vehicle Parking
LPP HC1 (2021) Heritage conservation and growth
LPP T4 (2021) Assessing and mitigating transport impacts
LPP T6 (2021) Car parking
LPP T6.3 (2021) Retail parking
NPPF12 -24 NPPF12 2024 - Achieving well-designed places
NPPF16 -24 NPPF16 2024 - Conserving and enhancing the historic environment
NPPF4 -24 NPPF4 2024 - Decision making

DDelegated -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 5 of 12Page 181



AAppendix 2: Relevant Planning History

36969/AC/94/1248 Waitrose Supermarket, 9 Kingsend Ruislip
Variation of condition 10 of planning permission ref. 36969C/88/982 dated 15/09/89;
condition 8 of planning permission ref. 36969G/89/2037 dated 30/11/93; condition 13 of
planning permission ref. 36969C/88/982 dated 15/09/89; and condition 9 of planning
permission ref. 36969G/89/2037 dated 30/11/93 to allow Sunday/Bank Holiday opening and
deliveries

Decision: 01-03-1995 Approved

36969/ADV/2001/102 Waitrose Supermarket, 9 Kingsend Ruislip
INSTALLATION OF SEASONAL DECORATIVE BANNERS ON EXISTING LAMP POSTS

Decision: 29-10-2001 Approved

36969/ADV/2003/89 Waitrose, 9 Kingsend Ruislip
INSTALLATION OF VARIOUS REPLACEMENT AND NEW SIGNAGE ON BUILDING

Decision: 28-01-2004 Approved

36969/ADV/2009/71 Boots The Chemist, Waitrose Supermarket 9 Kingsend Ruislip
Installation of 1 non-illuminated projecting sign and 1 non-illuminated logo sign.
Retrospective Application

Decision: 16-12-2009 Approved

36969/ADV/2025/39 9 Kingsend Ruislip
Replacement of existing signage with 2no. internally illuminated letter signs, 3no. externally
illuminated flag banners, 1no. non-illuminated totem sign, 1no. non-illuminated fence
mounted sign, 1no. non-illuminated car park entrance sign and  1no. non-illuminated free
standing sign (Description Amended).

Decision: 19-11-2025 Approved

36969/ADV/2025/39 9 Kingsend Ruislip
Replacement of existing signage with 2no. internally illuminated letter signs, 3no. externally
illuminated flag banners, 1no. non-illuminated totem sign, 1no. non-illuminated fence
mounted sign, 1no. non-illuminated car park entrance sign and  1no. non-illuminated free
standing sign (Description Amended).

Decision: 19-11-2025 Approved

Delegated -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 6 of 12Page 182



36969/AE/94/3127 Waitrose, 9 Kingsend Ruislip
Refurbishment and replacement of various internally illuminated signs

DDecision: 10-04-1995 Approved

36969/AF/94/1827 Bounded By Kingsend, West End Road And Wood Lane Ruislip
Amendments to erection of 13-unit shopping mall with staff/storage accommodation and
extension to Waitrose supermarket with additional new proposal to erect offices above,
incorporating additional car parking

Decision: 26-04-1995 Approved

36969/AH/96/0275 Waitrose, 9 Kingsend Ruislip
Installation of external security shutters

Decision: 21-05-1996 Approved

36969/AJ/96/0410 Bounded By Kingsend, West End Road And Wood Lane Ruislip
Amendments to planning permissions ref. 36969C/88/ 982 dated 15/09/89,
36969G/89/2037 dated 30/11/93 and 36969AC/94/1248 dated 01/03/95 to include Class A2
and Class A3 uses, enlarged first floors to Units 6,7,8 and 9, minor changes to elevations
and reduction in the number of parking spaces from that approved in planning permission
ref. 36969C/ 88/982 dated 15/09/89; Erection of 13 unit shopping mall and extension to
supermarket

Decision: 08-01-1997 Approved

36969/AK/97/1819 Bounded By Kingsend, West End Road And Wood Lane Ruislip
Relaxation of condition 18 of planning permission ref.36969AJ/96/410 dated 08/01/97 to
allow use of Units 6, 7, 8 and 9 as a public house

Decision: 21-01-1998 Approved

36969/AL/98/0343 Waitrose Supermarket, 9 Kingsend Ruislip
Installation of security shutters

Decision: 06-05-1998 Approved

36969/AM/98/3034 Moss Chemists, Waitrose Store, 9 Kingsend Ruislip
Installation of 2 non-illuminated pole mounted poster signs and one internally illuminated
projecting box sign

Decision: 06-05-1998 Approved

Delegated -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 7 of 12Page 183



36969/AN/99/0285 Bounded By Kingsend, West End Road And Wood Lane Ruislip
Removal of conditions 15 and 16 (to close gates to the shopping area and service yard at
specified times) of planning permission ref.36969AJ/96/410 dated 08/11/97; Erection of 13
unit shopping mall and extension to supermarket

DDecision: 05-05-1999 Approved

36969/AP/99/0287 Adj To Kingsend Court & Waitrose Store West End Road Ruislip
Erection of nine single domestic garages for Kingsend Court

Decision: 05-05-1999 Refused

36969/APP/2001/1664 Waitrose, 9 Kingsend Ruislip
INSTALLATION OF ADDITIONAL LIGHT TO CAR PARK EXTENSION, REPLACEMENT
OF CAR PARKING SIGNAGE, INSTALLATION OF CAR PARK CONTROL SYSTEM AND
TICKET MACHINE, REPLACEMENT OF LIGHTING HEADS TO EXISTING LOCAL
AUTHORITY LIGHT COLUMNS

Decision: 11-09-2001 Approved

36969/APP/2001/295 Waitrose, 9 Kingsend Ruislip
VARIATION OF CONDITION 9 (TO ALLOW DELIVERIES BETWEEN 0600 HOURS AND
2000 HOURS MONDAY TO SATURDAY) OF PLANNING PERMISSION
REF.36969/G/89/2037 DATED 30/11/93; RETAIL DEVELOPMENT

Decision: 25-07-2001 Approve Limited
Time

36969/APP/2001/296 Waitrose, 9 Kingsend Ruislip
VARIATION OF CONDITIONS 3 AND 4 (TO ALLOW DELIVERIES BETWEEN 0800 AND
1700 HOURS ON SUNDAYS AND BANK HOLIDAYS) OF PLANNING PERMISSION
REF.36969AC/94/1248 DATED 01/03/95; RETAIL DEVELOPMENT

Decision: 25-07-2001 Approve Limited
Time

36969/APP/2002/133 Waitrose Supermarket Kingsend Ruislip
REMOVAL OF CONDITION 13 OF PLANNING PERMISSION REF.36969C/88/982 AND
CONDITION 9 OF PLANNING PERMISSION REF. 36969G/89/2037 BOTH
SUBSEQUENTLY VARIED BY CONSENTS REF.36969AC/94/1248, 36969/APP/2001/295
AND 36969/APP/2001/1296 AND THEIR REPLACEMENT BY A CONDITION TO PERMIT
DELIVERIES BETWEEN 0600 HOURS AND 2000 HOURS MONDAYS TO SATURDAYS
AND 0800 HOURS AND 1700 HOURS SUNDAYS AND BANK HOLIDAYS, AND TO
ALLOW DELIVERIES BY FREEZER CONTAINER VEHICLES, ARTICULATED HGVS AND

Delegated -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 8 of 12Page 184



OTHER HGVS ON A PERMANENT BASIS
DDecision: 10-07-2002 Approved

36969/APP/2004/2834 Waitrose Supermarket, 9 Kingsend Ruislip
DETAILS OF SCHEME FOR MONITORING NOISE LEVELS IN COMPLIANCE WITH
CONDITION 2 OF PLANNING PERMISSION REF. 6969/APP/2004/803 DATED
21.07.2004: VARIATION OF CONDITION 2 (TO ALLOW SUNDAY/BANK HOLIDAY
OPENING BETWEEN 09.00 AND 16.00 HOURS INCLUSIVE) OF PLANNING
PERMISSION REF. 36969AC/94/1248 DATED 1 MARCH 1995 (TO ALLOW FOR
SUNDAY AND BANK HOLIDAY OPENING)

Decision: 04-01-2005 Approved

36969/APP/2004/803 Waitrose Supermarket, 9 Kingsend Ruislip
VARIATION TO CONDITION 2 (TO ALLOW SUNDAY/BANK HOLIDAY OPENING
BETWEEN 0900 AND 1600 HOURS INCLUSIVE) OF PLANNING PERMISSION
REF.36969/AC/94/1248 DATED 01/03/1995 (TO ALLOW FOR SUNDAY AND BANK
HOLIDAY OPENING)

Decision: 13-07-2004 Approve Limited
Time

36969/APP/2005/1565 Waitrose, 9 Kingsend Ruislip
REMOVAL OF CONDITION 2 OF PLANNING PERMISSION REF.36969/AC/94/1248
DATED 21/07/1994, TO ALLOW PERMANENT OPENING BETWEEN 08:30 AND 18:00
HOURS ON SUNDAYS AND BANK HOLIDAYS

Decision: 04-08-2005 Approved

36969/APP/2007/275 Waitrose, 9 Kingsend Ruislip
INSTALLATION OF 4 ADDITIONAL CHILLER SYSTEM PLANT UNITS.

Decision: 26-03-2007 Approved

36969/APP/2011/2450 Waitrose, 9 Kingsend Ruislip
Variation of condition 8 of planning permission ref. 36969/G/89/2037 dated 30/11/1993 to
extend Saturday opening hours (Erection of 13 unit shopping mall; extension to
supermarket; and provision of additional parking (involving demolition of Kingsend Court
and 5 & 7 Kingsend))

Decision: 02-12-2011 Approved

36969/APP/2013/918 Waitrose, 9 Kingsend Ruislip
Variation of condition 1 of planning permission ref: 36969/APP/2011/2450 dated 02/12/2011

Delegated -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 9 of 12Page 185



to extend opening hours (Variation of condition 8 of planning permission ref.
36969/G/89/2037 dated 30/11/1993 to extend Saturday opening hours (Erection of 13 unit
shopping mall; extension to supermarket; and provision of additional parking (involving
demolition of Kingsend Court and 5 & 7 Kingsend)))

DDecision: 07-08-2013 Approved

36969/APP/2015/2159 Waitrose, 9 Kingsend Ruislip
Variation of condition 9 (Delivery Times) of planning permission ref: 36969/APP/2013/918,
dated 16/03/2013, to extend the stores delivery hours (Variation of condition 1 of planning
permission ref: 36969/APP/2011/2450 dated 02/12/2011 to extend opening hours).

Decision: 28-10-2015 Approved

36969/APP/2015/2167 Waitrose, 9 Kingsend Ruislip
Variation of condition 1 (Delivery Times) of planning permission ref: 36969/APP/2002/133,
dated 10-07-02, to extend the stores delivery hours (Removal of condition 13 of planning
permission ref: 36969C/88/982 and condition 9 of planning permission ref:
36969G/89/2037, and replacement delivery hours condition)

Decision: 28-10-2015 Approved

36969/APP/2015/4251 Waitrose, 9 Kingsend Ruislip
Installation of new window to north east elevation

Decision: 19-01-2016 Approved

36969/APP/2022/816 9 Kingsend Ruislip
Variation of Condition 7 (opening hours) of planning permission ref. 36969/APP/2015/2159
(dated 03/11/2015) to extend store opening hours

Decision: 20-05-2022 Approved

36969/APP/2025/2390 9 Kingsend Ruislip
Proposed removal of existing plant units at roof level and installation of 2no. new DAC
Units, 6no. new LT & HT CUBO Condenser units and 2no. Air Source Heat Pumps, at
existing roof level.

Decision: 06-11-2025 Approved

36969/C/88/0982 Waitrose, 9 Kingsend Ruislip
Erection of a supermarket and retail unit with associated parking; and erection of Health
Centre with associated parking (by conversion/extension of "Pax")

Decision: 15-09-1989 Approved

Delegated -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 10 of 12Page 186



36969/F/89/2025 Bounded By West End Rd, Wood Lane & Kingsend Ruislip
Details of materials in compliance with condition 12 of Planning permission ref
36969c/88/982 dated 15th September 1989 Erection of a supermarket and retail unit with
associated parking, and erection of health centre with associated parking

DDecision: 29-11-1989 Approved

36969/G/89/2037 Kingsend Court 5-7 And Rear Of 13-25 Kingsend Ruislip
Erection of 13 unit shopping mall; extension to supermarket; and provision of additional
parking (involving demolition of Kingsend Court and 5 & 7 Kingsend)

Decision: 30-11-1993 Approved

36969/P/91/3582 Rear Of Kingsend Court West End Road Ruislip
Erection of advertisement hoarding

Decision: 11-10-1991 Approved

36969/R/91/1454 Waitrose Supermarket, 9 Kingsend Ruislip
Siting of 3 Durabank bottle banks

Decision: 02-06-1992 Approve
Deemed Hill.

36969/W/92/2069 Waitrose Car Park, Wood Lane Ruislip
Installation of one can bank, one paper bank and one textile bank

Decision: 25-03-1993 Approve Limited
Time

36969/Z/93/3130 Rear Of Kingsend Court West End Road Ruislip
Retention of two advertisement hoardings

Decision: 15-12-1993 Approved

Delegated -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 11 of 12Page 187



AAppendix 3: List of Relevant Planning Policies

The following Local Plan Policies are considered relevant to the application:-

Part 1 Policies:

Part 2 Policies:

DMHB 1 Heritage Assets

DMHB 4 Conservation Areas

DMHB 11 Design of New Development

DMHB 12 Streets and Public Realm

DMT 1 Managing Transport Impacts

DMT 2 Highways Impacts

DMT 5 Pedestrians and Cyclists

DMT 6 Vehicle Parking

LPP HC1 (2021) Heritage conservation and growth

LPP T4 (2021) Assessing and mitigating transport impacts

LPP T6 (2021) Car parking

LPP T6.3 (2021) Retail parking

NPPF4 -24 NPPF4 2024 - Decision making

NPPF12 -24 NPPF12 2024 - Achieving well-designed places

NPPF16 -24 NPPF16 2024 - Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

Delegated -
PART 1 - MEMBERS, PUBLIC & PRESS 12 of 12Page 188



   

 

   

 

Planning 

Committee Report 

Part 3: 

 

 Planning Policy Appendix - 

Frequently Cited Policies 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

Page 189

Agenda Annex



   

 

2 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

Frequently Cited Planning Policies  

 

Abbreviations  

LP – London Plan (2021) 

LP1 – Hillingdon Local Plan Part 1: Strategic Policies (2012) 

LP2 – Hillingdon Local Plan Part 2: Development Management Policies (2020) 

 

Topic 
 

Policy Page No. 

Householder 
Policies 

LP2 DMHD 1: Alterations and 
Extensions to Residential Dwellings 

4 

LP2 DMHD 2: Outbuildings 6 

LP2 DMHD 3: Basement Development  6 

Standard of 
Accommodation 

LP D6: Housing quality and standards 7 

LP2 DMHB 16: Housing Standards 8 

LP2 DMHB 18: Private Outdoor 
Amenity Space 

8 

Housing LP H2: Small sites 9 

LP H4: Delivering Affordable 
Housing? 

9 

LP H10: Housing size mix 10 

LP1 H1: Housing Growth 10 

LP2 DMH 1: Safeguarding Existing 
Housing 

11 

LP2 DMH 2: Housing Mix 11 

LP2 DMH 4: Residential Conversions 
and Redevelopment 

11 

LP2 DMH 5: Houses in Multiple 
Occupation 

11 

LP2 DMH 6: Garden and Backland 
Development 

12 

LP2 DMH 7: Provision of Affordable 
Housing 

12 

Design (Including 
Heritage, Trees / 
Landscaping and 
Accessibility) 

LP D3: Optimising site capacity 
through the design-led approach 

13 

LP D5: Inclusive design 15 

LP D7: Accessible housing 15 

LP D8: Public realm 15 

LP D12: Fire safety 17 

LP HC1: Heritage conservation and 
growth 

18 

LP G7: Trees and woodlands  19 

LP1 BE1: Built Environment  19 

LP2 DMHB 1: Heritage Assets 21 

Page 190



   

 

3 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

LP2 DMHB 2: Listed Buildings 22 

LP2 DMHB 3: Locally Listed Buildings 22 

LP2 DMHB 4: Conservation Areas 23 

LP2 DMHB 5: Areas of Special Local 
Character 

23 

LP2 DMHB 11: Design of New 
Development 

23 

LP2 DMHB 12: Streets and Public 
Realm 

24 

LP2 DMHB 14: Trees and 
Landscaping 

25 

LP2 DMHB 15: Planning for Safer 
Places 

25 

Environmental LP D13: Agent of change 25 

LP D14: Noise 26 

LP SI2: Minimising greenhouse gas 
emissions 

27 

LP SI12: Flood risk management 27 

LP SI13: Sustainable drainage 28 

LP1 EM6: Flood Risk Management 29 

LP1 EM8: Land, Water, Air and Noise 29 

LP2 DMEI 2: Reducing Carbon 
Emissions 

31 

LP2 DMEI 9: Management of Flood 
Risk 

31 

LP2 DMEI 10: Water Management, 
Efficiency and Quality 

31 

LP2 DMEI 12: Development of Land 
Affected by Contamination 

33 

LP2 DMEI 14: Air Quality 33 

Highways and 
Parking 

LP T4: Assessing and mitigating 
transport impacts  

33 

LP T5: Cycling 34 

LP T6: Car parking  35 

LP T6.1: Residential parking 36 

LP2 DMT 1: Managing Transport 
Impacts 

37 

LP2 DMT 2: Highways Impacts 38 

LP2 DMT 5: Pedestrians and Cyclists 38 

LP2 DMT 6: Vehicle Parking 39 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 191



   

 

4 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

LP2 DMHD 1: Alterations and Extensions to Residential Dwellings 

A) Planning applications relating to alterations and extensions of dwellings will be 
required to ensure that:  
i) there is no adverse cumulative impact of the proposal on the character, 
appearance or quality of the existing street or wider area;  
ii) a satisfactory relationship with adjacent dwellings is achieved;  
iii) new extensions appear subordinate to the main dwelling in their floor area, width, 
depth and height;  
iv) new extensions respect the design of the original house and be of matching 
materials;  
v) there is no unacceptable loss of outlook to neighbouring occupiers;  
vi) adequate garden space is retained;  
vii) adequate off-street parking is retained, as set out in Table 1: Parking Standards 
in Appendix C;  
viii) trees, hedges and other landscaping features are retained; and  
ix) all extensions in Conservation Areas and Areas of Special Local Character, and 
to Listed and Locally Listed Buildings, are designed in keeping with the original 
house, in terms of layout, scale, proportions, roof form, window pattern, detailed 
design and materials.  
 
B) Rear Extensions  
i) single storey rear extensions on terraced or semi-detached houses with a plot 
width of 5 metres or less should not exceed 3.3 metres in depth or 3.6 metres where 
the plot width is 5 metres or more;  
ii) single storey rear extensions to detached houses with a plot width of 5 metres or 
more should not exceed 4.0 metres in depth;  
iii) flat roofed single storey extensions should not exceed 3.0 metres in height and 
any pitched or sloping roofs should not exceed 3.4 metres in height, measured from 
ground level;  
iv) in Conservation Areas and Areas of Special Local Character, flat roofed single 
storey extensions will be expected to be finished with a parapet;  
v) balconies or access to flat roofs which result in loss of privacy to nearby dwellings 

or gardens will not be permitted;  

vi) two storey extensions should not extend into an area provided by a 45-degree 
line of sight drawn from the centre of the nearest ground or first floor habitable room 
window of an adjacent property and should not contain windows or other openings 
that overlook other houses at a distance of less than 21 metres;  
vii) flat roofed two storey extensions will not be acceptable unless the design is in 
keeping with the particular character of the existing house;  
viii) pitched roofs on extensions should be of a similar pitch and materials to that of 
the original roof and subordinate to it in design. Large crown roofs on detached 
houses will not be supported; and  
ix) full width two storey rear extensions are not considered acceptable in designated 
areas or as extensions to Listed Buildings or Locally Listed Buildings.  
 
C) Side Extensions  
i) side extensions should not exceed half the width of the original property;  
ii) extensions to corner plots should ensure that the openness of the area is 
maintained and the return building line is not exceeded;  

Page 192



   

 

5 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

iii) garages should reflect the size guidelines set out in Appendix C Parking 
standards;  
iv) two storey side extensions should be set in a minimum of 1 metre from the side 
boundary or in the case of properties in the Copse Wood and Gatehill Estates, at 
least 1.5 metres, but more if on a wider than average plot, in order to maintain 
adequate visual separation and views between houses;  
v) two storey side extensions to detached and semi-detached properties should be 
set back a minimum of 1 metre behind the main front elevation;  
vi) where hip to gable roof extensions exist, a two storey side extension will not be 
supported; and  
vii) in Conservation Areas, single storey side extensions may be required to be set 
back.  
 
D) Front Extensions  
i) alterations and extensions to the front of a house must be minor and not alter the 

overall appearance of the house or dominate the character of the street. Front 

extensions extending across the entire frontage will be refused;  

ii) porches should be subordinate in scale and individually designed to respect the 
character and features of the original building; pastiche features will not be 
supported; and  
iii) notwithstanding the above, at least 25% of the front garden must be retained.  
 
E) Roof Extensions  
i) roof extensions should be located on the rear elevation only, be subservient to the 
scale of the existing roof and should not exceed more than two thirds the average 
width of the original roof. They should be located below the ridge tiles of the existing 
roof and retain a substantial element of the original roof slope above the eaves line;  
ii) the Council will not support poorly designed or over-large roof extensions including 
proposals to convert an existing hipped roof to a gable;  
iii) raising of a main roof above the existing ridgeline of a house will generally not be 
supported;  
iv) all roof extensions should employ appropriate external materials and architectural 
details to match the existing dwelling; and  
v) in Conservation Areas, Areas of Special Local Character and on Listed and 
Locally Listed Buildings, roof extensions should take the form of traditional 'dormer' 
windows, on the rear elevation, to harmonise with the existing building. The highest 
point of the dormer should be kept well within the back roof slope, away from the 
ridge, eaves or valleys, whilst each window should match the proportions, size and 
glazing pattern of the first floor windows.  
 
F) Front Gardens and Parking  
i) new or replacement driveways should use permeable (porous) surfacing. Surfaces 
of more than five square metres will need planning permission for laying traditional, 
impermeable driveways; and  
ii) the design, materials and height of any front boundary must be in keeping with the 

character of the area to ensure harmonisation with the existing street scene.  

 
  

Page 193



   

 

6 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

LP2 DMHD 2: Outbuildings 
 
The Council will require residential outbuildings to meet the following criteria:  
i) the building must be constructed to a high standard of design without 
compromising the amenity of neighbouring occupiers;  
ii) the developed footprint of the proposed building must be proportionate to the 
footprint of the dwelling house and to the residential curtilage in which it stands and 
have regard to existing trees;  
iii) the use shall be for a purpose incidental to the enjoyment of the dwelling house 
and not capable for use as independent residential accommodation; and  
iv) primary living accommodation such as a bedroom, bathroom, or kitchen will not 

be permitted.  

 

LP2 DMHD 3: Basement Development  
  

A) When determining proposals for basement and other underground development, 

the Council require an assessment of the scheme’s impact on drainage, flooding, 

groundwater conditions and structural stability. The Council will only permit basement 

and other underground development that does not cause harm to the built and 

natural environment and local amenity and does not result in flooding or ground 

instability. Developers will be required to demonstrate by methodologies appropriate 

to the site that their proposals:  

i) avoid adversely affecting drainage and run-off or causing other damage to the 

water environment;  

ii) avoid cumulative impacts upon structural stability or the water environment in the 

local area;  

 

B) Schemes should ensure that they:  

i) do not harm the amenity of neighbours;  

ii) do not lead to the loss of trees of townscape or amenity value;  

iii) do provide satisfactory landscaping, including adequate soil depth;  

iv) do not harm the appearance or setting of the property or the established 

character of the surrounding area, for example through the introduction of front 

lightwells; and  

v) do protect important archaeological remains.  

 

C) The Council will not permit basement schemes which include habitable rooms 

and other sensitive uses in areas prone to flooding.  

 

D) The Council will not permit basement schemes in Listed Buildings and will not 

permit them in Conservation Area locations where their introduction would harm the 

special architectural or historic character of the area. 
  

  

Page 194



   

 

7 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

LP D6: Housing Quality and Standards 

  

A) Housing development should be of high quality design and provide adequately-

sized rooms (see Table 3.1) with comfortable and functional layouts which are fit for 

purpose and meet the needs of Londoners without differentiating between tenures. 

B) Qualitative aspects of a development are key to ensuring successful sustainable 

housing. Table 3.2 sets out key qualitative aspects which should be addressed in the 

design of housing developments. 

 

C) Housing development should maximise the provision of dual aspect dwellings and 

normally avoid the provision of single aspect dwellings. A single aspect dwelling 

should only be provided where it is considered a more appropriate design solution to 

meet the requirements of Part D in Policy D3 Optimising site capacity through the 

design-led approach than a dual aspect dwelling, and it can be demonstrated that it 

will have adequate passive ventilation, daylight and privacy, and avoid overheating. 

 

D) The design of development should provide sufficient daylight and sunlight to new 

and surrounding housing that is appropriate for its context, whilst avoiding 

overheating, minimising overshadowing and maximising the usability of outside 

amenity space. 

 

E) Housing should be designed with adequate and easily accessible storage space 

that supports the separate collection of dry recyclables (for at least card, paper, 

mixed plastics, metals, glass) and food waste as well as residual waste 

 

F) Housing developments are required to meet the minimum standards below which 

apply to all tenures and all residential accommodation that is self-contained. 
  

Private internal space 

1. Dwellings must provide at least the gross internal floor area and built-in storage 

area set out in Table 3.1. 

2. A dwelling with two or more bedspaces must have at least one double (or twin) 

bedroom that is at least 2.75m wide. Every other additional double (or twin) bedroom 

must be at least 2.55m wide. 

3. A one bedspace single bedroom must have a floor area of at least 7.5 sq.m. and 

be at least 2.15m wide. 

4. A two bedspace double (or twin) bedroom must have a floor area of at least 11.5 

sq.m. 

5. Any area with a headroom of less than 1.5m is not counted within the Gross 

Internal Area unless used solely for storage (If the area under the stairs is to be used 

for storage, assume a general floor area of 1 sq.m. within the Gross Internal Area). 

6. Any other area that is used solely for storage and has a headroom of 0.9-1.5m 

(such as under eaves) can only be counted up to 50 per cent of its floor area, and 

any area lower than 0.9m is not counted at all. 

7. A built-in wardrobe counts towards the Gross Internal Area and bedroom floor area 

requirements, but should not reduce the effective width of the room below the 

minimum widths set out above. Any built-in area in excess of 0.72 sq.m. in a double 

Page 195



   

 

8 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

bedroom and 0.36 sq.m. in a single bedroom counts towards the built-in storage 

requirement. 

8. The minimum floor to ceiling height must be 2.5m for at least 75 per cent of the 

Gross Internal Area of each dwelling. 
  

Private outside space 

9. Where there are no higher local standards in the borough Development Plan 

Documents, a minimum of 5 sq.m. of private outdoor space should be provided for 1-

2 person dwellings and an extra 1 sq.m. should be provided for each additional 

occupant, and it must achieve a minimum depth and width of 1.5m. This does not 

count towards the minimum Gross Internal Area space standards required in Table 

3.1 

 

G) The Mayor will produce guidance on the implementation of this policy for all 

housing tenures. 
  

LP2 DMHB 16: Housing Standards  
  

All housing development should have an adequate provision of internal space in 

order to provide an appropriate living environment. To achieve this all residential 

development or conversions should:  

i) meet or exceed the most up to date internal space standards, as set out in Table 

5.1; and  

ii) in the case of major developments, provide at least 10% of new housing to be 

accessible or easily adaptable for wheelchair users. 
  

LP2 DMHB 18: Private Outdoor Amenity Space 

  

A) All new residential development and conversions will be required to provide good 

quality and useable private outdoor amenity space. Amenity space should be 

provided in accordance with the standards set out in Table 5.3.  

 

B) Balconies should have a depth of not less than 1.5 metres and a width of not less 

than 2 metres.  

 

C) Any ground floor and/or basement floor unit that is non-street facing should have 

a defensible space of not less than 3 metres in depth in front of any window to a 

bedroom or habitable room. However, for new developments in Conservation Areas, 

Areas of Special Local Character or for developments, which include Listed 

Buildings, the provision of private open space will be required to enhance the 

streetscene and the character of the buildings on the site.  

 

D) The design, materials and height of any front boundary must be in keeping with 

the character of the area to ensure harmonisation with the existing street scene. 
  

  

Page 196



   

 

9 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

LP H2: Small sites 

  

A) Boroughs should pro-actively support well-designed new homes on small sites 

(below 0.25 hectares in size) through both planning decisions and plan-making in 

order to: 

1. significantly increase the contribution of small sites to meeting London’s housing 

needs 

2. diversify the sources, locations, type and mix of housing supply 

3. support small and medium-sized housebuilders 

4. support those wishing to bring forward custom, self-build and community-led 

housing 

5. achieve the minimum targets for small sites set out in Table 4.2 as a component of 

the overall housing targets set out in Table 4.1. 

 

B Boroughs should: 

1. recognise in their Development Plans that local character evolves over time and 

will need to change in appropriate locations to accommodate additional housing on 

small sites 

2. where appropriate, prepare site-specific briefs, masterplans and housing design 

codes for small sites 

3. identify and allocate appropriate small sites for residential development 

4. list these small sites on their brownfield registers 

5. grant permission in principle on specific sites or prepare local development orders. 

 

LP H4: Delivering Affordable Housing 

 

A) The strategic target is for 50 per cent of all new homes delivered across London 

to be genuinely affordable. Specific measures to achieve this aim include: 

1. requiring major developments which trigger affordable housing requirements to 

provide affordable housing through the threshold approach (Policy H5 Threshold 

approach to applications) 

2. using grant to increase affordable housing delivery beyond the level that would 

otherwise be provided 

3. all affordable housing providers with agreements with the Mayor delivering at least 

50 per cent affordable housing across their development programme, and 60 per 

cent in the case of strategic partners 

4. public sector land delivering at least 50 per cent affordable housing on each site 

and public sector landowners with agreements with the Mayor delivering at least 50 

per cent affordable housing across their portfolio 

5. industrial land appropriate for residential use in accordance with Policy E7 

Industrial intensification, co-location and substitution, delivering at least 50 per cent 

affordable housing where the scheme would result in a net loss of industrial capacity. 

 

B) Affordable housing should be provided on site. Affordable housing must only be 

provided off-site or as a cash in lieu contribution in exceptional circumstances. 
  

  

Page 197



   

 

10 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

LP H10: Housing size mix 

  

A) Schemes should generally consist of a range of unit sizes. To determine the 

appropriate mix of unit sizes in relation to the number of bedrooms for a scheme, 

applicants and decision-makers should have regard to: 

1. robust local evidence of need where available or, where this is not available, the 

range of housing need and demand identified by the 2017 London Strategic Housing 

Market Assessment 

2. the requirement to deliver mixed and inclusive neighbourhoods 

3. the need to deliver a range of unit types at different price points across London 

4. the mix of uses in the scheme 

5. the range of tenures in the scheme 

6. the nature and location of the site, with a higher proportion of one and two bed 

units generally more appropriate in locations which are closer to a town centre or 

station or with higher public transport access and connectivity 

7. the aim to optimise housing potential on sites 

8. the ability of new development to reduce pressure on conversion, sub-division and 

amalgamation of existing stock 

9. the need for additional family housing and the role of one and two bed units in 

freeing up existing family housing. 

 

B For low-cost rent, boroughs should provide guidance on the size of units required 

(by number of bedrooms) to ensure affordable housing meets identified needs. This 

guidance should take account of: 

1. evidence of local housing needs, including the local housing register and the 

numbers and types of overcrowded and under-occupying households 

2. other criteria set out in Part A, including the strategic and local requirement for 

affordable family accommodation 

3. the impact of welfare reform 

4. the cost of delivering larger units and the availability of grant. 
  

LP1 H1: Housing Growth 

  

The Council will meet and exceed its minimum strategic dwelling requirement, where 

this can be achieved, in accordance with other Local Plan policies. 

 

The borough’s current target is to provide an additional 4,250 dwellings, annualised 

as 425 dwellings per year, for the ten year period between 2011 and 2021. 

 

Rolled forward to 2026, this target equates to a minimum provision of 6,375 

dwellings over the period of the Hillingdon Local Plan: Part 1- Strategic Policies. 

Sites that will contribute to the achievement of this target will be identified in the 

Hillingdon Local Plan: Part 2- Site Specific Allocations Local Development Document 

(LDD). 
  

  

Page 198



   

 

11 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

LP2 DMH 1: Safeguarding Existing Housing 

  

A) The net loss of existing self-contained3 housing, including affordable housing, will 

be resisted unless the housing is replaced with at least equivalent residential 

floorspace.  

 

B) The Council will grant planning permission for the subdivision of dwellings only if: 

i) car parking standards can be met within the curtilage of the site without being 

detrimental to the street scene;  

ii) all units are self contained with exclusive use of sanitary and kitchen facilities and 

provided with individual entrances and internal staircases to serve units above 

ground floor level; iii) adequate amenity space is provided for the benefit of 

residents; and iv) adequate living space standards are met. 

 

LP2 DMH 2: Housing Mix 

 

The Council will require the provision of a mix of housing units of different sizes in 

schemes of residential development to reflect the Council’s latest information on 

housing need. 

 

LP2 DMH 4: Residential Conversions and Redevelopment 

 

Residential conversions and the redevelopment of dwellings into new blocks of flats 

will only be permitted where:  

i) it is on a residential street where the proposal will not result in more than 10% of 

properties being redeveloped into flats;  

ii) On residential streets longer than 1km the proposed redevelopment site should be 

taken as the midpoint of a 1km length of road for assessment purposes;  

iii) the internal floor area of the original building to be converted is at least 120 sqm; 

and  

iv) units are limited to one unit per floor for residential conversions. 

 

LP2 DMH 5: Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) and Student 

Accommodation 

 

A) In all parts of the Borough  

 

Proposals for the provision of large HMOs, residential hostels, student 

accommodation and secure accommodation will be required to demonstrate that:  

i) there is good accessibility to local amenities and public transport;  

ii) they accord with the Accessible Homes standards and provide satisfactory living 

conditions for the intended occupiers; and  

iii) there will be no adverse impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties or the 

character of the area.  

 

B) In wards covered by an Article 4 Direction for HMOs  

Page 199



   

 

12 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

 

Planning applications for the change of use from dwelling house (Use Class C3) to 

HMO (Use Class C4 and Sui Generis) will only be permitted:  

i) where it is in a neighbourhood area where less than 20% of properties are or 

would be exempt from paying council tax (or in the case of Conservation Areas 10%) 

because they are entirely occupied by full time students, recorded on the Council’s 

database as a licensed HMO, benefit from C4/Sui Generis HMO planning consent 

and are known to the Council to be HMOs;  

ii) in Conservation Areas where less than 10% of properties are exempt from paying 

council tax because they are entirely occupied by full time students, recorded on the 

Council’s database as a licensed HMO, benefit from C4/Sui Generis HMO planning 

consent and are known to the Council to be HMOs and the change of use does not 

form a consecutive HMO use in a street frontage;  

iii) where less than 15% of properties within 100 metres of a street length either side 

of an application property are exempt from paying council tax because they are 

entirely occupied by full time students, recorded on the Council’s database as a 

licensed HMO, benefit from C4/Sui Generis HMO planning consent and are known to 

the Council to be HMOs; and iv) where the accommodation complies with all other 

planning standards relating to car parking, waste storage, retention of amenity space 

and garages and will not have a detrimental impact upon the residential amenity of 

adjoining properties. 

 

LP2 DMH 6: Garden and Backland Development  

 

There is a presumption against the loss of gardens due to the need to maintain local 

character, amenity space and biodiversity. In exceptional cases a limited scale of 

backland development may be acceptable, subject to the following criteria:  

i) neighbouring residential amenity and privacy of existing homes and gardens must 

be maintained and unacceptable light spillage avoided;  

ii) vehicular access or car parking should not have an adverse impact on neighbours 

in terms of noise or light. Access roads between dwellings and unnecessarily long 

access roads will not normally be acceptable;  

iii) development on backland sites must be more intimate in mass and scale and 

lower than frontage properties; and iv) features such as trees, shrubs and wildlife 

habitat must be retained or re-provided. 

 

LP2 DMH 7: Provision of Affordable Housing  

 

A) In accordance with national policy:  

i) developments with a capacity to provide 10 or more units will be required to 

maximise the delivery of on-site affordable housing;  

ii) subject to viability and if appropriate in all circumstances, a minimum of 35% of all 

new homes on sites of 10 or more units should be delivered as affordable housing, 

with the tenure split 70% Social/Affordable Rent and 30% Intermediate as set out in 

Policy H2: Affordable Housing of the Local Plan Part 1.  

 

Page 200



   

 

13 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

B) Affordable housing should be built to the same standards and should share the 

same level of amenity as private housing.  

 

C) Proposals that do not provide sufficient affordable housing will be resisted.  

 

D) To ensure that Policy H2: Affordable Housing of the Local Plan Part 1 is applied 

consistently and fairly on all proposed housing developments, the requirement for 

affordable housing will apply to:  

i) sites that are artificially sub-divided or partially developed;  

ii) phased developments where a housing development is part of a much larger 

development of 10 or more units (gross), affordable housing will be required as part 

of the overall scheme; and iii) additional units created through or subsequently 

amended planning applications, whereby the amount of affordable housing required 

will be calculated based on the new total number of units on the site. Affordable 

housing will be required where a development under the 10 unit threshold is 

amended to have 10 or more housing units in total (gross).  

 

E) In exceptional circumstances, where on-site provision of affordable housing 

cannot be delivered and as a last resort, a financial contribution will be required to 

provide off-site affordable housing on other sites which may be more appropriate or 

beneficial in meeting the Borough's identified affordable housing needs. 

 

LP D3: Optimising site capacity through the design-led approach 

 

The design-led approach 

A) All development must make the best use of land by following a design-led 

approach that optimises the capacity of sites, including site allocations. Optimising 

site capacity means ensuring that development is of the most appropriate form and 

land use for the site. The design-led approach requires consideration of design 

options to determine the most appropriate form of development that responds to a 

site’s context and capacity for growth, and existing and planned supporting 

infrastructure capacity (as set out in Policy D2 Infrastructure requirements for 

sustainable densities), and that best delivers the requirements set out in Part D. 

 

B) Higher density developments should generally be promoted in locations that are 

well connected to jobs, services, infrastructure and amenities by public transport, 

walking and cycling, in accordance with Policy D2 Infrastructure requirements for 

sustainable densities. Where these locations have existing areas of high density 

buildings, expansion of the areas should be positively considered by Boroughs 

where appropriate. This could also include expanding Opportunity Area boundaries 

where appropriate. 

 

C) In other areas, incremental densification should be actively encouraged by 

Boroughs to achieve a change in densities in the most appropriate way. This should 

be interpreted in the context of Policy H2 Small sites. 

 

Page 201



   

 

14 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

D) Development proposals should: 

 

Form and layout 

1. enhance local context by delivering buildings and spaces that positively respond 

to local distinctiveness through their layout, orientation, scale, appearance and 

shape, with due regard to existing and emerging street hierarchy, building types, 

forms and proportions 

2. encourage and facilitate active travel with convenient and inclusive pedestrian and 

cycling routes, crossing points, cycle parking, and legible entrances to buildings, that 

are aligned with peoples’ movement patterns and desire lines in the area 

3. be street-based with clearly defined public and private environments 

4. facilitate efficient servicing and maintenance of buildings and the public realm, as 

well as deliveries, that minimise negative impacts on the environment, public realm 

and vulnerable road users 

 

Experience 

1. achieve safe, secure and inclusive environments 

2. provide active frontages and positive reciprocal relationships between what 

happens inside the buildings and outside in the public realm to generate liveliness 

and interest 

3. deliver appropriate outlook, privacy and amenity 

4. provide conveniently located green and open spaces for social interaction, play, 

relaxation and physical activity 

5. help prevent or mitigate the impacts of noise and poor air quality 

6. achieve indoor and outdoor environments that are comfortable and inviting for 

people to use 

 

Quality and character 

1. respond to the existing character of a place by identifying the special and valued 

features and characteristics that are unique to the locality and respect, enhance and 

utilise the heritage assets and architectural features that contribute towards the local 

character 

2. be of high quality, with architecture that pays attention to detail, and gives 

thorough consideration to the practicality of use, flexibility, safety and building 

lifespan through appropriate construction methods and the use of attractive, robust 

materials which weather and mature well 

3. aim for high sustainability standards (with reference to the policies within London 

Plan Chapters 8 and 9) and take into account the principles of the circular economy 

4. provide spaces and buildings that maximise opportunities for urban greening to 

create attractive resilient places that can also help the management of surface water. 

 

E) Where development parameters for allocated sites have been set out in a 

Development Plan, development proposals that do not accord with the site capacity 

in a site allocation can be refused for this reason. 

 

  

Page 202



   

 

15 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

LP D5: Inclusive Design 

 

A) Boroughs, in preparing their Development Plans, should support the creation of 

inclusive neighbourhoods by embedding inclusive design, and collaborating with 

local communities in the development of planning policies that affect them. 

 

B) Development proposal should achieve the highest standards of accessible and 

inclusive design. They should: 

1. be designed taking into account London’s diverse population 

2. provide high quality people focused spaces that are designed to facilitate social 

interaction and inclusion 

3. be convenient and welcoming with no disabling barriers, providing independent 

access without additional undue effort, separation or special treatment 

4. be able to be entered, used and exited safely, easily and with dignity for all 

5. be designed to incorporate safe and dignified emergency evacuation for all 

building users. In all developments where lifts are installed, as a minimum at least 

one lift per core (or more subject to capacity assessments) should be a suitably 

sized fire evacuation lift suitable to be used to evacuate people who require level 

access from the building. 

 

C) Design and Access Statements, submitted as part of development proposals, 

should include an inclusive design statement. 

 

LP D7: Accessible Housing 

 

A) To provide suitable housing and genuine choice for London’s diverse population, 

including disabled people, older people and families with young children, residential 

development must ensure that: 

1. at least 10 per cent of dwellings (which are created via works to which Part M 

volume 1 of the Building Regulations applies) meet Building Regulation requirement 

M4(3) ‘wheelchair user dwellings’ 

2. all other dwellings (which are created via works to which Part M volume 1 of the 

Building Regulations applies) meet Building Regulation requirement M4(2) 

‘accessible and adaptable dwellings’. 

 

LP D8: Public Realm 

 

Development Plans and development proposals should: 

A) encourage and explore opportunities to create new public realm where 

appropriate 

 

B) ensure the public realm is well-designed, safe, accessible, inclusive, attractive, 

well-connected, related to the local and historic context, and easy to understand, 

service and maintain. Landscape treatment, planting, street furniture and surface 

materials should be of good quality, fit-for-purpose, durable and sustainable. 

Lighting, including for advertisements, should be carefully considered and well-

Page 203



   

 

16 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

designed in order to minimise intrusive lighting infrastructure and reduce light 

pollution 

 

C) maximise the contribution that the public realm makes to encourage active travel 

and ensure its design discourages travel by car and excessive on-street parking, 

which can obstruct people’s safe enjoyment of the space. This includes design that 

reduces the impact of traffic noise and encourages appropriate vehicle speeds 

 

D) be based on an understanding of how the public realm in an area functions and 

creates a sense of place during different times of the day and night, days of the week 

and times of the year. In particular, they should demonstrate an understanding of 

how people use the public realm, and the types, location and relationship between 

public spaces in an area, identifying where there are deficits for certain activities, or 

barriers to movement that create severance for pedestrians and cyclists 

 

E) ensure both the movement function of the public realm and its function as a place 

are provided for and that the balance of space and time given to each reflects the 

individual characteristics of the area. The priority modes of travel for the area should 

be identified and catered for, as appropriate. Desire lines for people walking and 

cycling should be a particular focus, including the placement of street crossings, 

which should be regular, convenient and accessible 

 

F) ensure there is a mutually supportive relationship between the space, surrounding 

buildings and their uses, so that the public realm enhances the amenity and function 

of buildings and the design of buildings contributes to a vibrant public realm 

 

G) ensure buildings are of a design that activates and defines the public realm, and 

provides natural surveillance. Consideration should also be given to the local 

microclimate created by buildings, and the impact of service entrances and facades 

on the public realm 

 

H) ensure appropriate management and maintenance arrangements are in place for 

the public realm, which maximise public access and minimise rules governing the 

space to those required for its safe management in accordance with the Public 

London Charter 

 

I) incorporate green infrastructure such as street trees and other vegetation into the 

public realm to support rainwater management through sustainable drainage, reduce 

exposure to air pollution, moderate surface and air temperature and increase 

biodiversity 

 

J) ensure that appropriate shade, shelter, seating and, where possible, areas of 

direct sunlight are provided, with other microclimatic considerations, including 

temperature and wind, taken into account in order to encourage people to spend 

time in a place 

 

Page 204



   

 

17 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

K) ensure that street clutter, including street furniture that is poorly located, unsightly, 

in poor condition or without a clear function is removed, to ensure that pedestrian 

amenity is improved. Consideration should be given to the use, design and location 

of street furniture so that it complements the use and function of the space. 

Applications which seek to introduce unnecessary street furniture should be refused 

 

L) explore opportunities for innovative approaches to improving the public realm 

such as open street events and Play Streets 

 

M) create an engaging public realm for people of all ages, with opportunities for 

social activities, formal and informal play and social interaction during the daytime, 

evening and at night. This should include identifying opportunities for the meanwhile 

use of sites in early phases of development to create temporary public realm 

 

N) ensure that any on-street parking is designed so that it is not dominant or 

continuous, and that there is space for green infrastructure as well as cycle parking 

in the carriageway. Parking should not obstruct pedestrian lines 

 

O) ensure the provision and future management of free drinking water at appropriate 

locations in the new or redeveloped public realm. 

 

LP D12: Fire Safety 

 

A) In the interests of fire safety and to ensure the safety of all building users, all 

development proposals must achieve the highest standards of fire safety and ensure 

that they: 

1. identify suitably positioned unobstructed outside space: 

a - for fire appliances to be positioned on 

b - appropriate for use as an evacuation assembly point 

2. are designed to incorporate appropriate features which reduce the risk to life and 

the risk of serious injury in the event of a fire; including appropriate fire alarm 

systems and passive and active fire safety measures 

3. are constructed in an appropriate way to minimise the risk of fire spread 

4. provide suitable and convenient means of escape, and associated evacuation 

strategy for all building users 

5. develop a robust strategy for evacuation which can be periodically updated and 

published, and which all building users can have confidence in 

6. provide suitable access and equipment for firefighting which is appropriate for the 

size and use of the development. 

 

B) All major development proposals should be submitted with a Fire Statement, 

which is an independent fire strategy, produced by a third party, suitably qualified 

assessor. 

The statement should detail how the development proposal will function in terms of: 

1. the building’s construction: methods, products and materials used, including 

manufacturers’ details 

Page 205



   

 

18 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

2. the means of escape for all building users: suitably designed stair cores, escape 

for building users who are disabled or require level access, and associated 

evacuation strategy approach 

3. features which reduce the risk to life: fire alarm systems, passive and active fire 

safety measures and associated management and maintenance plans 

4. access for fire service personnel and equipment: how this will be achieved in an 

evacuation situation, water supplies, provision and positioning of equipment, 

firefighting lifts, stairs and lobbies, any fire suppression and smoke ventilation 

systems proposed, and the ongoing maintenance and monitoring of these 

5. how provision will be made within the curtilage of the site to enable fire appliances 

to gain access to the building 

6. ensuring that any potential future modifications to the building will take into 

account and not compromise the base build fire safety/protection measures. 

 

LP HC1: Heritage Conservation and Growth 

 

A) Boroughs should, in consultation with Historic England, local communities and 

other statutory and relevant organisations, develop evidence that demonstrates a 

clear understanding of London’s historic environment. This evidence should be used 

for identifying, understanding, conserving, and enhancing the historic environment 

and heritage assets, and improving access to, and interpretation of, the heritage 

assets, landscapes and archaeology within their area. 

 

B) Development Plans and strategies should demonstrate a clear understanding of 

the historic environment and the heritage values of sites or areas and their 

relationship with their surroundings. This knowledge should be used to inform the 

effective integration of London’s heritage in regenerative change by: 

1. setting out a clear vision that recognises and embeds the role of heritage in place-

making 

2. utilising the heritage significance of a site or area in the planning and design 

process 

3. integrating the conservation and enhancement of heritage assets and their 

settings with innovative and creative contextual architectural responses that 

contribute to their significance and sense of place 

4. delivering positive benefits that conserve and enhance the historic environment, 

as well as contributing to the economic viability, accessibility and environmental 

quality of a place, and to social wellbeing. 

 

C) Development proposals affecting heritage assets, and their settings, should 

conserve their significance, by being sympathetic to the assets’ significance and 

appreciation within their surroundings. The cumulative impacts of incremental 

change from development on heritage assets and their settings should also be 

actively managed. Development proposals should avoid harm and identify 

enhancement opportunities by integrating heritage considerations early on in the 

design process. 

 

Page 206



   

 

19 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

D) Development proposals should identify assets of archaeological significance and 

use this information to avoid harm or minimise it through design and appropriate 

mitigation. Where applicable, development should make provision for the protection 

of significant archaeological assets and landscapes. The protection of undesignated 

heritage assets of archaeological interest equivalent to a scheduled monument 

should be given equivalent weight to designated heritage assets. 

 

E) Where heritage assets have been identified as being At Risk, boroughs should 

identify specific opportunities for them to contribute to regeneration and place-

making, and they should set out strategies for their repair and re-use. 

 

LP G7: Trees and Woodlands 

 

A) London’s urban forest and woodlands should be protected and maintained, 

and new trees and woodlands should be planted in appropriate locations in 

order to increase the extent of London’s urban forest – the area of London 

under the canopy of trees. 

 

B) In their Development Plans, boroughs should: 

1. protect ‘veteran’ trees and ancient woodland where these are not already 

part of a protected site139 

2. identify opportunities for tree planting in strategic locations. 

 

C) Development proposals should ensure that, wherever possible, existing trees 

of value are retained.140 If planning permission is granted that necessitates 

the removal of trees there should be adequate replacement based on the 

existing value of the benefits of the trees removed, determined by, for 

example, i-tree or CAVAT or another appropriate valuation system. The 

planting of additional trees should generally be included in new developments 

– particularly large-canopied species which provide a wider range of benefits 

because of the larger surface area of their canopy. 

 

LP 1 BE1: Built Environment 

 

The Council will require all new development to improve and maintain the quality of 

the built environment in order to create successful and sustainable neighbourhoods, 

where people enjoy living and working and that serve the long-term needs of all 

residents. All new developments should: 

 

1. Achieve a high quality of design in all new buildings, alterations, extensions and 

the public realm which enhances the local distinctiveness of the area, contributes to 

community cohesion and a sense of place; 

 

2. Be designed to be appropriate to the identity and context of Hillingdon's buildings, 

townscapes, landscapes and views, and make a positive contribution to the local 

Page 207



   

 

20 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

area in terms of layout, form, scale and materials and seek to protect the amenity of 

surrounding land and buildings, particularly residential properties; 

 

3. Be designed to include “Lifetime Homes” principles so that they can be readily 

adapted to meet the needs of those with disabilities and the elderly, 10% of these 

should be wheelchair accessible or easily adaptable to wheelchair accessibility 

encouraging places of work and leisure, streets, neighbourhoods, parks and open 

spaces to be designed to meet the needs of the community at all stages of people’s 

lives; 

 

4. In the case of 10 dwellings or over, achieve a satisfactory assessment rating in 

terms of the latest Building for Life standards (as amended or replaced from time to 

time); 

 

5. Improve areas of poorer environmental quality, including within the areas of 

relative disadvantage of Hayes, Yiewsley and West Drayton. All regeneration 

schemes should ensure that they are appropriate to their historic context, make use 

of heritage assets and reinforce their significance; 

 

6. Incorporate a clear network of routes that are easy to understand, inclusive, safe, 

secure and connect positively with interchanges, public transport, community 

facilities and services; 

 

7. Improve the quality of the public realm and provide for public and private spaces 

that are attractive, safe, functional, diverse, sustainable, accessible to all, respect the 

local character and landscape, integrate with the development, enhance and protect 

biodiversity through the inclusion of living walls, roofs and areas for wildlife, 

encourage physical activity and where appropriate introduce public art; 

 

8. Create safe and secure environments that reduce crime and fear of crime, anti-

social behaviour and risks from fire and arson having regard to Secure by Design 

standards and address resilience to terrorism in major development proposals; 

 

9. Not result in the inappropriate development of gardens and green spaces that 

erode the character and biodiversity of suburban areas and increase the risk of 

flooding through the loss of permeable areas; 

 

10. Maximise the opportunities for all new homes to contribute to tackling and 

adapting to climate change and reducing emissions of local air quality pollutants. The 

Council will require all new development to achieve reductions in carbon dioxide 

emission in line with the London Plan targets through energy efficient design and 

effective use of low and zero carbon technologies. Where the required reduction 

from on-site renewable energy is not feasible within major developments, 

contributions off-site will be sought. The Council will seek to merge a suite of 

sustainable design goals, such as the use of SUDS, water efficiency, lifetime homes, 

and energy efficiency into a requirement measured against the Code for Sustainable 

Page 208



   

 

21 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

Homes and BREEAM. These will be set out within the Hillingdon Local Plan: Part 2- 

Development Management Policies Local Development Document (LDD). All 

developments should be designed to make the most efficient use of natural 

resources whilst safeguarding historic assets, their settings and local amenity and 

include sustainable design and construction techniques to increase the re-use and 

recycling of construction, demolition and excavation waste and reduce the amount 

disposed to landfill; 

 

11. In the case of tall buildings, not adversely affect their surroundings including the 

local character, cause harm to the significance of heritage assets or impact on 

important views. Appropriate locations for tall buildings will be defined on a Character 

Study and may include parts of Uxbridge and Hayes subject to considering the 

Obstacle Limitation Surfaces for Heathrow Airport. Outside of Uxbridge and Hayes 

town centres, tall buildings will not be supported. The height of all buildings should 

be based upon an understanding of the local character and be appropriate to the 

positive qualities of the surrounding townscape. Support will be given for proposals 

that are consistent with local strategies, guidelines, supplementary planning 

documents and Hillingdon Local Plan: Part 2- Development Management Policies. 

 

LP2 DMHB 1: Heritage Assets  

 

A) The Council will expect development proposals to avoid harm to the historic 

environment. Development that has an effect on heritage assets will only be 

supported where:  

i) it sustains and enhances the significance of the heritage asset and puts them into 

viable uses consistent with their conservation;  

ii) it will not lead to a loss of significance or harm to an asset, unless it can be 

demonstrated that it will provide public benefit that would outweigh the harm or loss, 

in accordance with the NPPF;  

iii) it makes a positive contribution to the local character and distinctiveness of the 

area;  

iv) any extensions or alterations are designed in sympathy, without detracting from or 

competing with the heritage asset;  

v) the proposal would relate appropriately in terms of siting, style, scale, massing, 

height, design and materials;  

vi) buildings and structures within the curtilage of a heritage asset, or in close 

proximity to it, do not compromise its setting; and  

vii) opportunities are taken to conserve or enhance the setting, so that the 

significance of the asset can be appreciated more readily.  

 

B) Development proposals affecting designated heritage assets need to take 

account of the effects of climate change and renewable energy without impacting 

negatively on the heritage asset. The Council may require an alternative solution 

which will protect the asset yet meet the sustainability objectives of the Local Plan.  

 

Page 209



   

 

22 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

C) The Council will seek to secure the repair and reuse of Listed Buildings and 

monuments and improvements to Conservation Areas on the Heritage at Risk 

Register, through negotiations with owners, the provision of advice and guidance, the 

use of appropriate legal action, and through bids for external funding for 

improvement works. 

 

LP2 DMHB 2: Listed Buildings  

 

A) Applications for Listed Building Consent and planning permission to alter, extend, 

or change the use of a statutorily Listed Building will only be permitted if they are 

considered to retain its significance and value and are appropriate in terms of the 

fabric, historic integrity, spatial quality and layout of the building. Any additions or 

alterations to a Listed Building should be sympathetic in terms of scale, proportion, 

detailed design, materials and workmanship.  

 

B) Applications should include a Heritage Statement that demonstrates a clear 

understanding of the importance of the building and the impact of the proposals on 

its significance.  

 

C) The substantial harm to or total loss of significance of a statutory Listed Building 

will only be permitted in exceptional circumstances when the nature of the heritage 

asset prevents all reasonable use of the building, no viable use can be found through 

marketing, grant-funding or charitable or public ownership and the loss is outweighed 

by bringing the site back into use. In such circumstances, full archaeological 

recording of the building will be required.  

 

D) Planning permission will not be granted for proposals which are considered 

detrimental to the setting of a Listed Building. 

 

LP2 DMHB 3: Locally Listed Buildings  

 

A) There is a general presumption in favour of the retention of buildings, structures 

and features included in the Local List. The Council will take into account the effect 

of a proposal on the building's significance and the scale of any harm of loss when 

considering planning applications, including those for major alterations and 

extensions. Proposals will be permitted where they retain the significance, 

appearance, character or setting of a Locally Listed Building.  

 

B) Applications should include a Heritage Statement that demonstrates a clear 

understanding of the importance of the structure and the impact of the proposals on 

the significance of the Locally Listed Building.  

 

C) Replacement will only be considered if it can be demonstrated that the community 

benefits of such a proposal significantly outweigh those of retaining the Locally 

Listed Building. 

 

Page 210



   

 

23 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

LP2 DMHB 4: Conservation Areas 

 

New development, including alterations and extensions to existing buildings, within a 

Conservation Area or on its fringes, will be expected to preserve or enhance the 

character or appearance of the area. It should sustain and enhance its significance 

and make a positive contribution to local character and distinctiveness. In order to 

achieve this, the Council will:  

 

A) Require proposals for new development, including any signage or advertisement, 

to be of a high quality contextual design. Proposals should exploit opportunities to 

restore any lost features and/or introduce new ones that would enhance the 

character and appearance of the Conservation Area.  

 

B) Resist the loss of buildings, historic street patterns, important views, landscape 

and open spaces or other features that make a positive contribution to the character 

or appearance of the Conservation Area; any such loss will need to be supported 

with a robust justification.  

 

C) Proposals will be required to support the implementation of improvement actions 

set out in relevant Conservation Area Appraisals and Management Plans. 

 

LP2 DMHB 5: Areas of Special Local Character  

 

A) Within Areas of Special Local Character, new development should reflect the 

character of the area and its original layout. Alterations should respect the 

established scale, building lines, height, design and materials of the area.  

 

B) Extensions to dwellings should be subservient to, and respect the architectural 

style of the original buildings and allow sufficient space for appropriate landscaping, 

particularly between, and in front of, buildings.  

 

C) The replacement of buildings which positively contribute to the character and local 

importance of Areas of Special Local Character will normally be resisted. 

 

LP2 DMHB 11: Design of New Development  

 

A) All development, including extensions, alterations and new buildings will be 

required to be designed to the highest standards and, incorporate principles of good 

design including:  

i) harmonising with the local context by taking into account the surrounding:  

- scale of development, considering the height, mass and bulk of adjacent structures; 

- building plot sizes and widths, plot coverage and established street patterns;  

- building lines and setbacks, rooflines, streetscape rhythm, for example, gaps 

between structures and other streetscape elements, such as degree of enclosure;  

- architectural composition and quality of detailing;  

- local topography, views both from and to the site; and  

Page 211



   

 

24 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

- impact on neighbouring open spaces and their environment.  

ii) ensuring the use of high quality building materials and finishes;  

iii) ensuring that the internal design and layout of development maximises 

sustainability and is adaptable to different activities;  

iv) protecting features of positive value within and adjacent to the site, including the 

safeguarding of heritage assets, designated and un-designated, and their settings; 

and  

v) landscaping and tree planting to protect and enhance amenity, biodiversity and 

green infrastructure.  

 

B) Development proposals should not adversely impact on the amenity, daylight and 

sunlight of adjacent properties and open space.  

 

C) Development will be required to ensure that the design safeguards the 

satisfactory re-development of any adjoining sites which have development potential. 

In the case of proposals for major development5 sites, the Council will expect 

developers to prepare master plans and design codes and to agree these with the 

Council before developing detailed designs.  

 

D) Development proposals should make sufficient provision for well designed 

internal and external storage space for general, recycling and organic waste, with 

suitable access for collection. External bins should be located and screened to avoid 

nuisance and adverse visual impacts to occupiers and neighbours. 

 

LP2 DMHB 12: Streets and Public Realm  

 

A) Development should be well integrated with the surrounding area and accessible. 

It should:  

i) improve legibility and promote routes and wayfinding between the development 

and local amenities;  

ii) ensure public realm design takes account of the established townscape character 

and quality of the surrounding area;  

iii) include landscaping treatment that is suitable for the location, serves a purpose, 

contributes to local green infrastructure, the appearance of the area and ease of 

movement through the space;  

iv) provide safe and direct pedestrian and cycle movement through the space;  

v) incorporate appropriate and robust hard landscaping, using good quality materials, 

undertaken to a high standard;  

vi) where appropriate, include the installation of public art; and  

vii) deliver proposals which incorporate the principles of inclusive design. Proposals 

for gated developments will be resisted.  

B) Public realm improvements will be sought from developments located close to 

transport interchanges and community facilities to ensure easy access between 

different transport modes and into local community facilities. 

 

  

Page 212



   

 

25 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

LP2 DMHB 14: Trees and Landscaping  

 

A) All developments will be expected to retain or enhance existing landscaping, 

trees, biodiversity or other natural features of merit.  

B) Development proposals will be required to provide a landscape scheme that 

includes hard and soft landscaping appropriate to the character of the area, which 

supports and enhances biodiversity and amenity particularly in areas deficient in 

green infrastructure.  

 

C) Where space for ground level planting is limited, such as high rise buildings, the 

inclusion of living walls and roofs will be expected where feasible.  

 

D) Planning applications for proposals that would affect existing trees will be required 

to provide an accurate tree survey showing the location, height, spread and species 

of trees. Where the tree survey identifies trees of merit, tree root protection areas 

and an arboricultural method statement will be required to show how the trees will be 

protected. Where trees are to be removed, proposals for replanting of new trees on-

site must be provided or include contributions to offsite provision. 

 

LP2 DMHB 15: Planning for Safer Places  

 

The Council will require all new development to ensure safe and attractive public and 

private spaces by referring to the Council's latest guidance on Secured by Design 

principles. Where relevant, these should be included in the Design and Access 

Statement. Development will be required to comprise good design and create 

inclusive environments whilst improving safety and security by incorporating the 

following specific measures:  

i) providing entrances in visible, safe and accessible locations;  

ii) maximising natural surveillance;  

iii) ensuring adequate defensible space is provided;  

iv) providing clear delineations between public and private spaces; and  

v) providing appropriate lighting and CCTV. 

 

LP D13: Agent of Change 

 

A) The Agent of Change principle places the responsibility for mitigating impacts 

from existing noise and other nuisance-generating activities or uses on the proposed 

new noise-sensitive development. Boroughs should ensure that Development Plans 

and planning decisions reflect the Agent of Change principle and take account of 

existing noise and other nuisance-generating uses in a sensitive manner when new 

development is proposed nearby. 

 

B) Development should be designed to ensure that established noise and other 

nuisance-generating uses remain viable and can continue or grow without 

unreasonable restrictions being placed on them. 

 

Page 213



   

 

26 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

C) New noise and other nuisance-generating development proposed close to 

residential and other noise-sensitive uses should put in place measures to mitigate 

and manage any noise impacts for neighbouring residents and businesses. 

 

D) Development proposals should manage noise and other potential nuisances by: 

1. ensuring good design mitigates and minimises existing and potential nuisances 

generated by existing uses and activities located in the area 

2. exploring mitigation measures early in the design stage, with necessary and 

appropriate provisions including ongoing and future management of mitigation 

measures secured through planning obligations 

3. separating new noise-sensitive development where possible from existing noise-

generating businesses and uses through distance, screening, internal layout, sound-

proofing, insulation and other acoustic design measures. 

 

E) Boroughs should not normally permit development proposals that have not clearly 

demonstrated how noise and other nuisances will be mitigated and managed. 

 

LP D14: Noise 

 

A) In order to reduce, manage and mitigate noise to improve health and quality of 

life, residential and other non-aviation development proposals should manage noise 

by: 

1. avoiding significant adverse noise impacts on health and quality of life 

2. reflecting the Agent of Change principle as set out in Policy D13 Agent of Change 

3. mitigating and minimising the existing and potential adverse impacts of noise on, 

from, within, as a result of, or in the vicinity of new development without placing 

unreasonable restrictions on existing noise-generating uses 

4. improving and enhancing the acoustic environment and promoting appropriate 

5. separating new noise-sensitive development from major noise sources (such as 

road, rail, air transport and some types of industrial use) through the use of distance, 

screening, layout, orientation, uses and materials – in preference to sole reliance on 

sound insulation 

6. where it is not possible to achieve separation of noise-sensitive development and 

noise sources without undue impact on other sustainable development objectives, 

then any potential adverse effects should be controlled and mitigated through 

applying good acoustic design principles 

7. promoting new technologies and improved practices to reduce noise at source, 

and on the transmission path from source to receiver. 

 

B) Boroughs, and others with relevant responsibilities, should identify and nominate 

new Quiet Areas and protect existing Quiet Areas in line with the procedure in 

Defra’s Noise Action Plan for Agglomerations. 

 

  

Page 214



   

 

27 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

LP SI 2: Minimising Greenhouse Gas Emissions 

 

A) Major development should be net zero-carbon.151 This means reducing 

greenhouse gas emissions in operation and minimising both annual and peak energy 

demand in accordance with the following energy hierarchy: 

1. be lean: use less energy and manage demand during operation 

2. be clean: exploit local energy resources (such as secondary heat) and supply 

energy efficiently and cleanly 

3. be green: maximise opportunities for renewable energy by producing, storing and 

using renewable energy on-site 

4. be seen: monitor, verify and report on energy performance. 

 

B) Major development proposals should include a detailed energy strategy to 

demonstrate how the zero-carbon target will be met within the framework of the 

energy hierarchy. 

 

C) A minimum on-site reduction of at least 35 per cent beyond Building 

Regulations152 is required for major development. Residential development should 

achieve 10 per cent, and non-residential development should achieve 15 per cent 

through energy efficiency measures. Where it is clearly demonstrated that the zero-

carbon target cannot be fully achieved on-site, any shortfall should be provided, in 

agreement with the borough, either: 

1. through a cash in lieu contribution to the borough’s carbon offset fund, or 

2. off-site provided that an alternative proposal is identified and delivery is certain. 

 

D) Boroughs must establish and administer a carbon offset fund. Offset fund 

payments must be ring-fenced to implement projects that deliver carbon reductions. 

The operation of offset funds should be monitored and reported on annually. 

 

E) Major development proposals should calculate and minimise carbon emissions 

from any other part of the development, including plant or equipment, that are not 

covered by Building Regulations, i.e. unregulated emissions. 

 

F) Development proposals referable to the Mayor should calculate whole life-cycle 

carbon emissions through a nationally recognised Whole Life-Cycle Carbon 

Assessment and demonstrate actions taken to reduce life-cycle carbon emissions. 

 

LP SI 12: Flood Risk Management 

 

A) Current and expected flood risk from all sources (as defined in paragraph 9.2.12) 

across London should be managed in a sustainable and cost-effective way in 

collaboration with the Environment Agency, the Lead Local Flood Authorities, 

developers and infrastructure providers. 

 

B) Development Plans should use the Mayor’s Regional Flood Risk Appraisal and 

their Strategic Flood Risk Assessment as well as Local Flood Risk Management 

Page 215



   

 

28 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

Strategies, where necessary, to identify areas where particular and cumulative flood 

risk issues exist and develop actions and policy approaches aimed at reducing these 

risks. Boroughs should cooperate and jointly address cross-boundary flood risk 

issues including with authorities outside London. 

 

C) Development proposals should ensure that flood risk is minimised and mitigated, 

and that residual risk is addressed. This should include, where possible, making 

space for water and aiming for development to be set back from the banks of 

watercourses. 

 

D) Developments Plans and development proposals should contribute to the delivery 

of the measures set out in Thames Estuary 2100 Plan. The Mayor will work with the 

Environment Agency and relevant local planning authorities, including authorities 

outside London, to safeguard an appropriate location for a new Thames Barrier. 

 

E) Development proposals for utility services should be designed to remain 

operational under flood conditions and buildings should be designed for quick 

recovery following a flood. 

 

F) Development proposals adjacent to flood defences will be required to protect the 

integrity of flood defences and allow access for future maintenance and upgrading. 

Unless exceptional circumstances are demonstrated for not doing so, development 

proposals should be set back from flood defences to allow for any foreseeable future 

maintenance and upgrades in a sustainable and cost-effective way. 

 

G) Natural flood management methods should be employed in development 

proposals due to their multiple benefits including increasing flood storage and 

creating recreational areas and habitat. 

 

LP SI 13: Sustainable Drainage 

 

A) Lead Local Flood Authorities should identify – through their Local Flood Risk 

Management Strategies and Surface Water Management Plans – areas where there 

are particular surface water management issues and aim to reduce these risks. 

Increases in surface water run-off outside these areas also need to be identified and 

addressed. 

 

B) Development proposals should aim to achieve greenfield run-off rates and ensure 

that surface water run-off is managed as close to its source as possible. There 

should also be a preference for green over grey features, in line with the following 

drainage hierarchy: 

1. rainwater use as a resource (for example rainwater harvesting, blue roofs for 

irrigation) 

2. rainwater infiltration to ground at or close to source 

3. rainwater attenuation in green infrastructure features for gradual release (for 

example green roofs, rain gardens) 

Page 216



   

 

29 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

4. rainwater discharge direct to a watercourse (unless not appropriate) 

5. controlled rainwater discharge to a surface water sewer or drain 

6. controlled rainwater discharge to a combined sewer. 

 

C) Development proposals for impermeable surfacing should normally be resisted 

unless they can be shown to be unavoidable, including on small surfaces such as 

front gardens and driveways. 

 

D) Drainage should be designed and implemented in ways that promote multiple 

benefits including increased water use efficiency, improved water quality, and 

enhanced biodiversity, urban greening, amenity and recreation. 

 

LP1 EM6: Flood Risk Management 

 

The Council will require new development to be directed away from Flood Zones 2 

and 3 in accordance with the principles of the National Planning Policy Framework 

(NPPF). 

 

The subsequent Hillingdon Local Plan: Part 2 -Site Specific Allocations LDD will be 

subjected to the Sequential Test in accordance with the NPPF. Sites will only be 

allocated within Flood Zones 2 or 3 where there are overriding issues that outweigh 

flood risk. In these instances, policy criteria will be set requiring future applicants of 

these sites to demonstrate that flood risk can be suitably mitigated. 

 

The Council will require all development across the borough to use sustainable 

urban drainage systems (SUDS) unless demonstrated that it is not viable. The 

Council will encourage SUDS to be linked to water efficiency methods. The Council 

may require developer contributions to guarantee the long term maintenance and 

performance of SUDS is to an appropriate standard. 

 

LP1 EM8: Land, Water, Air and Noise 

 

Water Quality 

The Council will seek to safeguard and improve all water quality, both ground and 

surface. Principal Aquifers, and Source Protection Zones will be given priority along 

with the: 

- River Colne 

- Grand Union Canal 

- River Pinn 

- Yeading Brook 

- Porter Land Brook 

- River Crane 

- Ruislip Lido 

 

 

  

Page 217



   

 

30 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

Air Quality 

All development should not cause deterioration in the local air quality levels and 

should ensure the protection of both existing and new sensitive receptors. 

 

All major development within the Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) should 

demonstrate air quality neutrality (no worsening of impacts) where appropriate; 

actively contribute to the promotion of sustainable transport measures such as 

vehicle charging points and the increased provision for vehicles with cleaner 

transport fuels; deliver increased planting through soft landscaping and living walls 

and roofs; and provide a management plan for ensuring air quality impacts can be 

kept to a minimum.  

 

The Council seeks to reduce the levels of pollutants referred to in the Government’s 

National Air Quality Strategy and will have regard to the Mayor’s Air Quality Strategy. 

London Boroughs should also take account of the findings of the Air Quality Review 

and Assessments and Actions plans, in particular where Air Quality Management 

Areas have been designated. 

 

The Council has a network of Air Quality Monitoring stations but recognises that this 

can be widened to improve understanding of air quality impacts. The Council may 

therefore require new major development in an AQMA to fund additional air quality 

monitoring stations to assist in managing air quality improvements. 

 

Noise 

The Council will investigate Hillingdon's target areas identified in the Defra Noise 

Action Plans, promote the maximum possible reduction in noise levels and will 

minimise the number of people potentially affected. 

 

The Council will seek to identify and protect Quiet Areas in accordance with 

Government Policy on sustainable development and other Local Plan policies. 

 

The Council will seek to ensure that noise sensitive development and noise 

generating development are only permitted if noise impacts can be adequately 

controlled and mitigated. 

 

Land Contamination 

The Council will expect proposals for development on contaminated land to provide 

mitigation strategies that reduce the impacts on surrounding land uses. Major 

development proposals will be expected to demonstrate a sustainable approach to 

remediation that includes techniques to reduce the need to landfill. 

 

Water Resources 

The Council will require that all new development demonstrates the incorporation of 

water efficiency measures within new development to reduce the rising demand on 

potable water. All new development must incorporate water recycling and collection 

facilities unless it can be demonstrated it is not appropriate. For residential 

Page 218



   

 

31 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

developments, the Council will require applicants to demonstrate that water 

consumption will not surpass 105 litres per person per day. 

 

LP2 DMEI 2: Reducing Carbon Emissions  

 

A) All developments are required to make the fullest contribution to minimising 

carbon dioxide emissions in accordance with London Plan targets.  

B) All major development proposals must be accompanied by an energy assessment 

showing how these reductions will be achieved.  

 

C) Proposals that fail to take reasonable steps to achieve the required savings will 

be resisted. However, where it is clearly demonstrated that the targets for carbon 

emissions cannot be met onsite, the Council may approve the application and seek 

an off-site contribution to make up for the shortfall. 

 

LP2 DMEI 9: Management of Flood Risk  

 

A) Development proposals in Flood Zones 2 and 3a will be required to demonstrate 

that there are no suitable sites available in areas of lower flood risk. Where no 

appropriate sites are available, development should be located on the areas of 

lowest flood risk within the site. Flood defences should provide protection for the 

lifetime of the development. Finished floor levels should reflect the Environment 

Agency's latest guidance on climate change.  

 

B) Development proposals in these areas will be required to submit an appropriate 

level Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) to demonstrate that the development is resilient 

to all sources of flooding.  

 

C) Development in Flood Zone 3b will be refused in principle unless identified as an 

appropriate development in Flood Risk Planning Policy Guidance. Development for 

appropriate uses in Flood Zone 3b will only be approved if accompanied by an 

appropriate FRA that demonstrates the development will be resistant and resilient to 

flooding and suitable warning and evacuation methods are in place.  

 

D) Developments may be required to make contributions (through legal agreements) 

to previously identified flood improvement works that will benefit the development 

site.  

 

E) Proposals that fail to make appropriate provision for flood risk mitigation, or which 

would increase the risk or consequences of flooding, will be refused. 

 

LP2 DMEI 10: Water Management, Efficiency, and Quality  

 

A) Applications for all new build developments (not conversions, change of use, or 

refurbishment) are required to include a drainage assessment demonstrating that 

Page 219



   

 

32 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

appropriate sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) have been incorporated in 

accordance with the London Plan Hierarchy (Policy 5.13: Sustainable drainage).  

 

B) All major new build developments, as well as minor developments in Critical 

Drainage Areas or an area identified at risk from surface water flooding must be 

designed to reduce surface water run-off rates to no higher than the pre-

development greenfield run-off rate in a 1:100 year storm scenario, plus an 

appropriate allowance for climate change for the worst storm duration. The 

assessment is required regardless of the changes in impermeable areas and the fact 

that a site has an existing high run-off rate will not constitute justification.  

 

C) Rain Gardens and non householder development should be designed to reduce 

surface water run-off rates to Greenfield run-off rates.  

 

D) Schemes for the use of SuDS must be accompanied by adequate arrangements 

for the management and maintenance of the measures used, with appropriate 

contributions made to the Council where necessary.  

 

E) Proposals that would fail to make adequate provision for the control and reduction 

of surface water run-off rates will be refused.  

 

F) Developments should be drained by a SuDs system and must include appropriate 

methods to avoid pollution of the water environment. Preference should be given to 

utilising the drainage options in the SuDS hierarchy which remove the key pollutants 

that hinder improving water quality in Hillingdon. Major development should adopt a 

'treatment train' approach where water flows through different SuDS to ensure 

resilience in the system. Water Efficiency  

 

G) All new development proposals (including refurbishments and conversions) will be 

required to include water efficiency measures, including the collection and reuse of 

rain water and grey water.  

 

H) All new residential development should demonstrate water usage rates of no 

more than 105 litres/person/day.  

 

I) It is expected that major development8 proposals will provide an integrated 

approach to surface water run-off attenuation, water collection, recycling and reuse. 

Water and Wastewater Infrastructure  

 

J) All new development proposals will be required to demonstrate that there is 

sufficient capacity in the water and wastewater infrastructure network to support the 

proposed development. Where there is a capacity constraint the local planning 

authority will require the developer to provide a detailed water and/or drainage 

strategy to inform what infrastructure is required, where, when and how it will be 

delivered. 

 

Page 220



   

 

33 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

LP2 DMEI 12: Development of Land Affected by Contamination  

 

A) Proposals for development on potentially contaminated sites will be expected to 

be accompanied by at least an initial study of the likely contaminants. The Council 

will support planning permission for any development of land which is affected by 

contamination where it can be demonstrated that contamination issues have been 

adequately assessed and the site can be safely remediated so that the development 

can be made suitable for the proposed use.  

 

B) Conditions will be imposed where planning permission is given for development 

on land affected by contamination to ensure all the necessary remedial works are 

implemented, prior to commencement of development.  

 

C) Where initial studies reveal potentially harmful levels of contamination, either to 

human health or controlled waters and other environmental features, full intrusive 

ground investigations and remediation proposals will be expected prior to any 

approvals.  

 

D) In some instances, where remedial works relate to an agreed set of measures 

such as the management of ongoing remedial systems, or remediation of adjoining 

or other affected land, a S106 planning obligation will be sought. 

 

LP2 DMEI 14: Air Quality  

 

A) Development proposals should demonstrate appropriate reductions in emissions 

to sustain compliance with and contribute towards meeting EU limit values and 

national air quality objectives for pollutants.  

 

B) Development proposals should, as a minimum:  

i) be at least “air quality neutral”;  

ii) include sufficient mitigation to ensure there is no unacceptable risk from air 

pollution to sensitive receptors, both existing and new; and  

iii) actively contribute towards the improvement of air quality, especially within the Air 

Quality Management Area. 

 

TP T4: Assessing and Mitigating Transport Impacts 

 

A) Development Plans and development proposals should reflect and be integrated 

with current and planned transport access, capacity and connectivity. 

 

B) When required in accordance with national or local guidance, transport 

assessments/statements should be submitted with development proposals to ensure 

that impacts on the capacity of the transport network (including impacts on 

pedestrians and the cycle network), at the local, network-wide and strategic level, 

are fully assessed. Transport assessments should focus on embedding the Healthy 

Streets Approach within, and in the vicinity of, new development. Travel Plans, 

Page 221



   

 

34 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

Parking Design and Management Plans, Construction Logistics Plans and Delivery 

and Servicing Plans will be required having regard to Transport for London guidance. 

 

C) Where appropriate, mitigation, either through direct provision of public transport, 

walking and cycling facilities and highways improvements or through financial 

contributions, will be required to address adverse transport impacts that are 

identified. 

 

D) Where the ability to absorb increased travel demand through active travel modes 

has been exhausted, existing public transport capacity is insufficient to allow for the 

travel generated by proposed developments, and no firm plans and funding exist for 

an increase in capacity to cater for the increased demand, planning permission will 

be contingent on the provision of necessary public transport and active travel 

infrastructure. 

 

E) The cumulative impacts of development on public transport and the road network 

capacity including walking and cycling, as well as associated effects on public health, 

should be taken into account and mitigated. 

 

F) Development proposals should not increase road danger. 

 

LP T5: Cycling 

 

A) Development Plans and development proposals should help remove barriers to 

cycling and create a healthy environment in which people choose to cycle. This will 

be achieved through: 

1. supporting the delivery of a London-wide network of cycle routes, with new routes 

and improved infrastructure 

2. securing the provision of appropriate levels of cycle parking which should be fit for 

purpose, secure and well-located. Developments should provide cycle parking at 

least in accordance with the minimum standards set out in Table 10.2 and Figure 

10.3, ensuring that a minimum of two short-stay and two long-stay cycle parking 

spaces are provided where the application of the minimum standards would result in 

a lower provision. 

 

B) Cycle parking should be designed and laid out in accordance with the guidance 

contained in the London Cycling Design Standards. Development proposals should 

demonstrate how cycle parking facilities will cater for larger cycles, including adapted 

cycles for disabled people. 

 

C) Development Plans requiring more generous provision of cycle parking based on 

local evidence will be supported. 

 

D) Where it is not possible to provide suitable short-stay cycle parking off the public 

highway, the borough should work with stakeholders to identify an appropriate on-

street location for the required provision. This may mean the reallocation of space 

Page 222



   

 

35 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

from other uses such as on-street car parking. Alternatively, in town centres, adding 

the required provision to general town centre cycle parking is also acceptable. In 

such cases, a commuted sum should be paid to the local authority to secure 

provision. 

 

E) Where it is not possible to provide adequate cycle parking within residential 

developments, boroughs must work with developers to propose alternative solutions 

which meet the objectives of the standards. These may include options such as 

providing spaces in secure, conveniently-located, on-street parking facilities such as 

bicycle hangers. 

 

F) Where the use class of a development is not fixed at the point of application, the 

highest potential applicable cycle parking standard should be applied. 

 

LP T6: Car Parking 

 

A) Car parking should be restricted in line with levels of existing and future public 

transport accessibility and connectivity. 

 

B) Car-free development should be the starting point for all development proposals 

in places that are (or are planned to be) well-connected by public transport, with 

developments elsewhere designed to provide the minimum necessary parking (‘car-

lite’). Car-free development has no general parking but should still provide disabled 

persons parking in line with Part E of this policy. 

 

C) An absence of local on-street parking controls should not be a barrier to new 

development, and boroughs should look to implement these controls wherever 

necessary to allow existing residents to maintain safe and efficient use of their 

streets. 

 

D) The maximum car parking standards set out in Policy T6 .1 Residential parking to 

Policy T6 .5 Non-residential disabled persons parking should be applied to 

development proposals and used to set local standards within Development Plans. 

 

E) Appropriate disabled persons parking for Blue Badge holders should be provided 

as set out in Policy T6 .1 Residential parking to Policy T6 .5 Non-residential disabled 

persons parking. 

 

F) Where provided, each motorcycle parking space should count towards the 

maximum for car parking spaces at all use classes. 

 

G) Where car parking is provided in new developments, provision should be made 

for infrastructure for electric or other Ultra-Low Emission vehicles in line with Policy 

T6 .1 Residential parking, Policy T6 .2 Office Parking, Policy T6 .3 Retail parking, 

and Policy T6 .4 Hotel and leisure uses parking. 

 

Page 223



   

 

36 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

All operational parking should make this provision, including offering rapid charging. 

New or re-provided petrol filling stations should provide rapid charging hubs and/or 

hydrogen refuelling facilities. 

 

H) Where electric vehicle charging points are provided on-street, physical 

infrastructure should not negatively affect pedestrian amenity and should ideally be 

located off the footway. Where charging points are located on the footway, it must 

remain accessible to all those using it including disabled people. 

 

I) Adequate provision should be made for efficient deliveries and servicing and 

emergency access. 

 

J) A Parking Design and Management Plan should be submitted alongside all 

applications which include car parking provision, indicating how the car parking will 

be designed and managed, with reference to Transport for London guidance on 

parking management and parking design. 

 

K) Boroughs that have adopted or wish to adopt more restrictive general or 

operational parking policies are supported, including borough-wide or other area-

based car-free policies. Outer London boroughs wishing to adopt minimum 

residential parking standards through a Development Plan Document (within the 

maximum standards set out in Policy T6 .1 Residential parking) must only do so for 

parts of London that are PTAL 0-1. Inner London boroughs should not adopt 

minimum standards. Minimum standards are not appropriate for non-residential use 

classes in any part of London. 

 

L) Where sites are redeveloped, parking provision should reflect the current 

approach and not be re-provided at previous levels where this exceeds the 

standards set out in this policy. Some flexibility may be applied where retail sites are 

redeveloped outside of town centres in areas which are not well served by public 

transport, particularly in outer London. 

 

LP T6.1: Residential Parking 

 

A) New residential development should not exceed the maximum parking standards 

set out in Table 10.3. These standards are a hierarchy with the more restrictive 

standard applying when a site falls into more than one category. 

 

B) Parking spaces within communal car parking facilities (including basements) 

should be leased rather than sold. 

 

C) All residential car parking spaces must provide infrastructure for electric or Ultra-

Low Emission vehicles. At least 20 per cent of spaces should have active charging 

facilities, with passive provision for all remaining spaces. 

 

Page 224



   

 

37 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

D) Outside of the CAZ, and to cater for infrequent trips, car club spaces may be 

considered appropriate in lieu of private parking. Any car club spaces should have 

active charging facilities. 

 

E) Large-scale purpose-built shared living, student accommodation and other sui 

generis residential uses should be car-free. 

 

F) The provision of car parking should not be a reason for reducing the level of 

affordable housing in a proposed development. 

 

G) Disabled persons parking should be provided for new residential developments. 

Residential development proposals delivering ten or more units must, as a minimum: 

1. ensure that for three per cent of dwellings, at least one designated disabled 

persons parking bay per dwelling is available from the outset 

2. demonstrate as part of the Parking Design and Management Plan, how an 

additional seven per cent of dwellings could be provided with one designated 

disabled persons parking space per dwelling in future upon request as soon as 

existing provision is insufficient. This should be secured at the planning stage. 

 

H) All disabled persons parking bays associated with residential development must: 

1. be for residents’ use only (whether M4(2) or M4(3) dwellings) 

2. not be allocated to specific dwellings, unless provided within the curtilage of the 

dwelling 

3. be funded by the payment of a commuted sum by the applicant, if provided on-

street (this includes a requirement to fund provision of electric vehicle charging 

infrastructure) 

4. count towards the maximum parking provision for the development 

5. be designed in accordance with the design guidance in BS8300vol.1 

6. be located to minimise the distance between disabled persons parking bays and 

the dwelling or the relevant block entrance or lift core, and the route should be 

preferably level or where this is not possible, should be gently sloping (1:60-1:20) on 

a suitable firm ground surface. 

 

LP2 DMT 1: Managing Transport Impacts 

 

A) Development proposals will be required to meet the transport needs of the 

development and address its transport impacts in a sustainable manner. In order for 

developments to be acceptable they are required to:  

i) be accessible by public transport, walking and cycling either from the catchment 

area that it is likely to draw its employees, customers or visitors from and/or the 

services and facilities necessary to support the development;  

ii) maximise safe, convenient and inclusive accessibility to, and from within 

developments for pedestrians, cyclists and public transport users;  

iii) provide equal access for all people, including inclusive access for disabled 

people;  

iv) adequately address delivery, servicing and drop-off requirements; and  

Page 225



   

 

38 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

v) have no significant adverse transport or associated air quality and noise impacts 

on the local and wider environment, particularly on the strategic road network.  

 

B) Development proposals will be required to undertake a satisfactory Transport 

Assessment and Travel Plan if they meet or exceed the appropriate thresholds. All 

major developments11 that fall below these thresholds will be required to produce a 

satisfactory Transport Statement and Local Level Travel Plan. All these plans should 

demonstrate how any potential impacts will be mitigated and how such measures will 

be implemented. 

 

LP2 DMT 2: Highways Impacts  

 

Development proposals must ensure that:  

i) safe and efficient vehicular access to the highway network is provided to the 

Council’s standards;  

ii) they do not contribute to the deterioration of air quality, noise or local amenity or 

safety of all road users and residents;  

iii) safe, secure and convenient access and facilities for cyclists and pedestrian are 

satisfactorily accommodated in the design of highway and traffic management 

schemes;  

iv) impacts on local amenity and congestion are minimised by routing through traffic 

by the most direct means to the strategic road network, avoiding local distributor and 

access roads; and  

v) there are suitable mitigation measures to address any traffic impacts in terms of 

capacity and functions of existing and committed roads, including along roads or 

through junctions which are at capacity. 

 

LP2 Policy DMT 5: Pedestrians and Cyclists  

 

A) Development proposals will be required to ensure that safe, direct and inclusive 

access for pedestrians and cyclists is provided on the site connecting it to the wider 

network, including:  

i) the retention and, where appropriate, enhancement of any existing pedestrian and 

cycle routes;  

ii) the provision of a high quality and safe public realm or interface with the public 

realm, which facilitates convenient and direct access to the site for pedestrian and 

cyclists;  

iii) the provision of well signposted, attractive pedestrian and cycle routes separated 

from vehicular traffic where possible; and  

iv) the provision of cycle parking and changing facilities in accordance with Appendix 

C, Table 1 or, in agreement with Council.  

 

B) Development proposals located next to or along the Blue Ribbon Network will be 

required to enhance and facilitate inclusive, safe and secure pedestrian and cycle 

access to the network. Development proposals, by virtue of their design, will be 

Page 226



   

 

39 
Planning Committee  
Part 1: Members, Public & Press 

required to complement and enhance local amenity and include passive surveillance 

to the network. 

 

LP2 DMT 6: Vehicle Parking  

 

A) Development proposals must comply with the parking standards outlined in 

Appendix C Table 1 in order to facilitate sustainable development and address 

issues relating to congestion and amenity. The Council may agree to vary these 

requirements when:  

i) the variance would not lead to a deleterious impact on street parking provision, 

congestion or local amenity; and/or  

ii) a transport appraisal and travel plan has been approved and parking provision is 

in accordance with its recommendations.  

 

B) All car parks provided for new development will be required to contain 

conveniently located reserved spaces for wheelchair users and those with restricted 

mobility in accordance with the Council’s Accessible Hillingdon SPD. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 227



This page is intentionally left blank



Wednesday 14th January 2026 

Page 229

Agenda Annex



47 SWEETCROFT LANE, HILLINGDON

Demolition of existing house and erection of a two storey, new build house 
consisting of 6no. bedrooms with a basement (Amended plans and 
description).

15756/APP/2024/3112

Page 230



�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�
�
�
	


�
�

�



�
�

�
� �
�

�



�
�

�
�
�

�
�

�
�



�

�
�

�



�
�

�
� �
�

�



�
�

�
�
�

�
�

�
�



�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�
�
 !
"
 "
!
##
$
�
�
 �
�
"
%
 &
'
##
(
)
*
*
+
"
 %
 �
�

,#-./.##0123-4##567

.
8

2
9
.
51
#:
;<
==
##>
#.
8

?<
@

?=
@

:<
@

:=
@

=@
<@

2
9
.
51
#:
;:
?<
=#
#>
#.
8

A?
B<
@

<=
@

8C
B<
@

?<
@

=@
:?
B<
@

:B ?B 8B DB <BE5
.4
43
4-
#4
F
G1
2;

GH
32
#0
I.
J
34
-
#32
#9
F
EK
I3
-
HG
#.
40
#L
M2
G#
4F
G#
N1
#I
1O
EI
F
0M
91
0#
34
#J
HF
51
#F
I#
34
#E
.I
G#
J
3G
HF
MG
#J
I3
GG
14
#E
1I
L
32
23
F
4#
F
P#
-
..
#0
12
3-
4B

GH
32
#0
I.
J
34
-
#I
1E
I1
21
4G
2#
01
23
-
4#
34
G1
4G
#.
40
#9
F
49
1E
G#
F
45
KQ
#H
14
91
#3G
#9
.4
#N
1#
29
.5
10
#P
F
I#
E5
.4
43
4-
#E
MI
EF
21
2#
F
45
KB

GH
32
#0
F
9M
L
14
G#
.4
0#
.5
5#
.2
2F
93
.G
10
#0
F
9M
L
14
G2
#.
I1
#E
I1
E.
I1
0#
PF
I#
2E
19
3P
39
#2
3G
1#
.4
0#
1R
14
GQ
#.
40
#34
9F
IE
F
I.
G1
#9
.5
9M
5.
G3
F
42
#.
40
#L
1.
2M
I1
L
14
G2
#.
R.
35
.N
51
#

PI
F
L
#G
H1
#9
53
14
G#
.G
#G
H1
#G
3L
1#
F
P#
0I
.P
G3
4-
B

GH
1#
I1
93
E3
14
G#
.-
I1
12
#G
F
#E
IF
G1
9G
#G
H1
#9
F
4G
14
G2
#P
IF
L
#0
32
GI
3N
MG
3F
4#
.4
0#
03
22
1L
34
.G
3F
4#
1S
91
EG
#.
2#
I1
T
M3
I1
0#
PF
I#
GH
1#
2E
19
3P
39
#1
R1
4G
#4
.L
10
Q#J
3G
HF
MG
#G
H1
#

J
I3
GG
14
#E
1I
L
32
23
F
4#
F
P#
GH
1#
01
23
-
41
IB

M2
1#
F
P#
GH
32
#0
12
3-
4#
32
#-
I.
4G
10
#G
F
#G
H1
#9
53
14
G#
PF
I#
GH
1#
2E
19
3P
39
#.
40
#4
.L
10
#1
R1
4G
#F
45
KB

9F
EK
I3
-
HG
#,
#?
=:
U

0
.
G
1

0
I
.
J
34
-
#G
3G
51

E
I
F
V1
9
G
#4
.
L
1

2
9
.
51

9
H
1
9
W

0
I
.
J
4
#

I
1
R
B#4
F
B

0
F
9
M
L
1
4
G
#4
F
B

.
E
E
I
F
R
1
0

I
1
R
31
J
1
0

L
F
0
1
5#
I
1
R
B

-
.
.
#E
I
F
V1
9
G
#4
F
B

2
M
3G
.
N
35
3G
K
#9
F
0
1
#O
#0
1
2
9
I
3E
G
3F
4

E
I
F
V1
9
G
#9
F
0
1

:DX=AX?=?<#:C;DD;?U

.
Y#
Z[
7Z
\]
6̂
7

9
=:

1
_Z
Y6
Z[̀
#5
a\
]6
Za
[#
][
7#
N
ba
\c
#E
b]
[

DC
#2
d̂
6̂\
ea
f6#
5]
[̂
#M
N
:=
#U
51

R
G

-
-

W
4

R
G

:A
X=
AX
?=
?<

?:
=A
=O
-
.
.
Og
g
O=
=O
0
I
OG
O=
8=
:

9
=?

?:
=A
=

.
?#
O#
.
h6
ia
eZĵ
7#
][
7#
]\
\̂
k6̂
7#
fa
e#
9
a[
\̂
k6

d
ae
c#
Y6
]̀
^

?:
=A
=

l#
m#l
no
p

qr
st
usv
w#
xs
uy
#z
{|
}u
s{
v#
~�
}v

l

#l
#m#
op
p

qr
st
usv
w#
xs
uy
#�
�{
|�
#~
�}
v

n

Page 231



Page 232



Page 233



�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�
�
�
	


�
�

�



�
�



�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
� �
�

�
�

�
�

�
�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�
�
 !
"
 "
!
##
$
�
�
 �
�
"
%
 &
'
##
(
)
*
*
+
"
 %
 �
�

,#-./.##0123-4##567

.
8

2
9
.
51
#:
;<
==
##>
#.
8

?<
@

?=
@

:<
@

:=
@

=@
<@

2
9
.
51
#:
;:
?<
=#
#>
#.
8

A?
B<
@

<=
@

8C
B<
@

?<
@

=@
:?
B<
@

:B ?B 8B DB <BE5
.4
43
4-
#4
F
G1
2;

GH
32
#0
I.
J
34
-
#32
#9
F
EK
I3
-
HG
#.
40
#L
M2
G#
4F
G#
N1
#I
1O
EI
F
0M
91
0#
34
#J
HF
51
#F
I#
34
#E
.I
G#
J
3G
HF
MG
#J
I3
GG
14
#E
1I
L
32
23
F
4#
F
P#
-
..
#0
12
3-
4B

GH
32
#0
I.
J
34
-
#I
1E
I1
21
4G
2#
01
23
-
4#
34
G1
4G
#.
40
#9
F
49
1E
G#
F
45
KQ
#H
14
91
#3G
#9
.4
#N
1#
29
.5
10
#P
F
I#
E5
.4
43
4-
#E
MI
EF
21
2#
F
45
KB

GH
32
#0
F
9M
L
14
G#
.4
0#
.5
5#
.2
2F
93
.G
10
#0
F
9M
L
14
G2
#.
I1
#E
I1
E.
I1
0#
PF
I#
2E
19
3P
39
#2
3G
1#
.4
0#
1R
14
GQ
#.
40
#34
9F
IE
F
I.
G1
#9
.5
9M
5.
G3
F
42
#.
40
#L
1.
2M
I1
L
14
G2
#.
R.
35
.N
51
#

PI
F
L
#G
H1
#9
53
14
G#
.G
#G
H1
#G
3L
1#
F
P#
0I
.P
G3
4-
B

GH
1#
I1
93
E3
14
G#
.-
I1
12
#G
F
#E
IF
G1
9G
#G
H1
#9
F
4G
14
G2
#P
IF
L
#0
32
GI
3N
MG
3F
4#
.4
0#
03
22
1L
34
.G
3F
4#
1S
91
EG
#.
2#
I1
T
M3
I1
0#
PF
I#
GH
1#
2E
19
3P
39
#1
R1
4G
#4
.L
10
Q#J
3G
HF
MG
#G
H1
#

J
I3
GG
14
#E
1I
L
32
23
F
4#
F
P#
GH
1#
01
23
-
41
IB

M2
1#
F
P#
GH
32
#0
12
3-
4#
32
#-
I.
4G
10
#G
F
#G
H1
#9
53
14
G#
PF
I#
GH
1#
2E
19
3P
39
#.
40
#4
.L
10
#1
R1
4G
#F
45
KB

9F
EK
I3
-
HG
#,
#?
=:
U

0
.
G
1

0
I
.
J
34
-
#G
3G
51

E
I
F
V1
9
G
#4
.
L
1

2
9
.
51

9
H
1
9
W

0
I
.
J
4
#

I
1
R
B#4
F
B

0
F
9
M
L
1
4
G
#4
F
B

.
E
E
I
F
R
1
0

I
1
R
31
J
1
0

L
F
0
1
5#
I
1
R
B

-
.
.
#E
I
F
V1
9
G
#4
F
B

2
M
3G
.
N
35
3G
K
#9
F
0
1
#O
#0
1
2
9
I
3E
G
3F
4

E
I
F
V1
9
G
#9
F
0
1

:DX=AX?=?<#:C;DD;:<

.
Y#
Z[
7Z
\]
6̂
7

9
=?

E
_̀
à
Ŷ
7#
5̀
\]
6Z̀
[#
][
7#
N
b̀
\c
#E
b]
[

DC
#2
d̂
6̂\
_̀
e6#
5]
[̂
#M
N
:=
#U
51

R
G

-
-

W
4

R
G

:A
X=
AX
?=
?<

?:
=A
=O
-
.
.
Of
f
O=
=O
0
I
OG
O=
:=
:

9
=?

?:
=A
=

.
?#
O#
.
g6
h̀
_Zî
7#
][
7#
]\
\̂
a6̂
7#
è
_#
9̀
[\̂
a6

d̀
_c
#Y
6]
ĵ

?:
=A
=

#k
#l#
mn
n

o
pq
rs
rt
uv
#w
xyu
#z
{r
|}
#p
{~
�

k#
l#k
om
n

k
pq
rs
rt
uv
#w
xyu
#�
r|
~y
xr
�#
p{
~�

Page 234



�
��
��
��
��
�	

�
�
�

�
��
��
	

�

��
�	
��
	�

�
�

��
���
�	
��
��
��
��
�

��
��
�	
��
��
��
��
���
��

��
��
��

��
��
��
��
�

�	
��
��
��
��
	�
���
��
��

	�
��
�

��
��

�
�

�	
��
��
��
��
��
	�

��

��

�
�	�
��
��

�
��
��
��

�

�
	�

�
��

�
�	
��

��
�
��
 !
"#

��
$%
&#
��
�'
#&
 #
"

$(
"�
)(
"*
��
+

$(
"�
)(
"*
��
+

$(
"�
)(
"*
��
+

$(
"�
)(
"*
��
+

,-
.

/0
�1
�
��
��
	�
���
2�

�
�3�
4�
	�
���
4�
��
	�

5
��
�

��
��
��
��
��
�

��
��
��
�

6
7
8
9:
;
9;
:
��
<
7
8
96
7
;
=
9>
?
��
@
A
B
B
C
;
9=
97
8

D�EF�F��G�1HEI��2��

F
0

1
J
F
2�
�K
LM
NN
��O
�F
0

KN



P

Q


/

N


M


1
J
F
2�
�K
LR
NN
��O
�F
0

MR



MN



KR



KN



N

R


KS MS 0S /S RS�2
FI
IH
IE
�I
5
T�
1L

TU
H1
�G
VF
W
HI
E
�H1
�J
5
�X
VH
E
UT
�F
IG
�Y
Z1
T�
I5
T�
��
�V
�3
�V
5
GZ
J�
G�
HI
�W
U5
2�
�5
V�
HI
��
FV
T�
W
HT
U5
ZT
�W
VH
TT
�I
��
�V
Y
H1
1H
5
I�
5
4�
E
FF
�G
�1
HE
IS

TU
H1
�G
VF
W
HI
E
�V
��
V�
1�
IT
1�
G�
1H
E
I�
HI
T�
IT
�F
IG
�J
5
IJ
��
T�
5
I2
X[
�U
�I
J�
�HT
�J
FI
��
��
1J
F2
�G
�4
5
V�
�2
FI
IH
IE
��
ZV
�5
1�
1�
5
I2
XS

TU
H1
�G
5
JZ
Y
�I
T�
FI
G�
F2
2�
F1
15
JH
FT
�G
�G
5
JZ
Y
�I
T1
�F
V�
��
V�
�F
V�
G�
45
V�
1�
�J
H4
HJ
�1
HT
��
FI
G�
�\
�I
T[
�F
IG
�HI
J5
V�
5
VF
T�
�J
F2
JZ
2F
TH
5
I1
�F
IG
�Y
�F
1Z
V�
Y
�I
T1
�F
\F
H2
F�
2�
�

4V
5
Y
�T
U�
�J
2H
�I
T�
FT
�T
U�
�T
HY
��
5
4�
GV
F4
TH
IE
S

TU
��
V�
JH
�H
�I
T�
FE
V�
�1
�T
5
��
V5
T�
JT
�T
U�
�J
5
IT
�I
T1
�4
V5
Y
�G
H1
TV
H�
ZT
H5
I�
FI
G�
GH
11
�Y
HI
FT
H5
I�
�]
J�
�T
�F
1�
V�̂
ZH
V�
G�
45
V�
TU
��
1�
�J
H4
HJ
��
\�
IT
�I
FY
�G
[�W
HT
U5
ZT
�T
U�
�

W
VH
TT
�I
��
�V
Y
H1
1H
5
I�
5
4�
TU
��
G�
1H
E
I�
VS

Z1
��
5
4�
TU
H1
�G
�1
HE
I�
H1
�E
VF
IT
�G
�T
5
�T
U�
�J
2H
�I
T�
45
V�
TU
��
1�
�J
H4
HJ
�F
IG
�I
FY
�G
��
\�
IT
�5
I2
XS

J5
�X
VH
E
UT
�D
�M
NK
_

G
F
T�

G
V
F
W
HI
E
�T
HT
2�

�
V
5̀
�
J
T�
I
F
Y
�

1
J
F
2�

J
U
�
J
a

G
V
F
W
I
�

V
�
\
S�I
5
S

G
5
J
Z
Y
�
I
T�
I
5
S

F
�
�
V
5
\
�
G

V
�
\
H�
W
�
G

Y
5
G
�
2�
V
�
\
S

E
F
F
��
V
5̀
�
J
T�
I
5
S

1
Z
HT
F
�
H2
HT
X
�J
5
G
�
�3�
G
�
1
J
V
H�
TH
5
I

�
V
5̀
�
J
T�
J
5
G
�

MQbKMbMNMR�KcL/QL/_

F
��
�

��
��
��
�

J
N/

1
���
��
��



/c
�1
�
��
��
	�
���
2�

�
�Z
�
KN
�_
2�

\
T

F
1

a
I

\
T

M/
bK
Mb
MN
MR

MK
NQ
N3
E
F
F
3d
d3
NN
3G
V
3T
3N
KN
M

J
NM

MK
NQ
N

F
M�
3�F
��
��
	�e
��
��

�
��
��
��
��
��
��
	�J
�

��
��

�
�	
f�
��
��
�

MK
NQ
N

�g
�h�
-i
i

j
)k
.l
.m
no
��
pqn
�)
rs
t�
uv
rr

�g
�h�
ji
i

g
)s
kqp
sr
��
pqn
�)
rs
t

�
!
 #
h�)
rn
sm
n�
mn
n�
qw
n�
&s
to
mx
sl
n�
�q
ks
qn
yz
�)
rs
t�
lk
.{
po
no
�|
pqw
�qw
n�
sl
lr
pxs
qp.
t�

u.
k�o
nq
sp
rn
o�
pt
u.
k}
sq
p.
t

Page 235



�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�
�

�
�

�
	

�
�



�
�


�
�
��

�
�


�
�
��

�
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
�

�
�
��
�
��
��
�
�

�


�
�
�
��

�
�
 
�!
��
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
�
�"
�
��
�
�
�

�
�
�
��
#
�
�
�!
�
�
�
�
�
�$
�
��
�
�
 
�%
 
�
&&
��
'
�
��
��
�
�
��
�

(
)*
�+
),
)-
.�
/�
0
11
234
56
37
8�
9
:;
<�=
=>
=?
@0
A
A
@?
B?
C@
C>
?B

�
�
�
��
#
�
�
�!
�
�
�
�
�
�

�
D
��
�
�E
��
�
�
&�
�
�
��
�
�
�F
�
$G

�
�
�
�
�
H�
�
�
H�
I
�
�
H�
�
�
I

�
��
�
�
�
�
�
�!
�
�
�
�
�
�

�
D
��
�
�E
��
�
�
&�
�
�
��
�
�
�F
�
$G
�

�
�
�
�
	
H�
�
�
H�
I
�
�
H�
�
�
�

�
D
��
�

�
�


�
�
�
��
�&
��
�

%
J
!
K"
�
K�
"
��
F
J
!
K%
J
�
L
K�
M
��
N
D
O
O
P
�
KL
KJ
!

Q�R0S0��TUVWRX��Y6Z

0
?

V
[
0
YU
�C
<\
BB
��]
�0
?

\B̂
_B̂

=B̂
?B̂

B̂
CB̂

V
[
0
YU
�C
<?
\B
��]
�0
?

?\̂
?B̂

C\̂
CB̂

B̂
\̂

C̀ ?̀ =̀ _̀ \̀AY
0X
XW
XR
�X
a
bU
V<

bc
WV
�T
90
d
WX
R
�WV
�[
a
Ae
9W
R
cb
�0
XT
�f
gV
b�
Xa
b�
hU
�9
U/
A9
a
Tg
[U
T�
WX
�d
ca
YU
�a
9�
WX
�A
09
b�
d
Wb
ca
gb
�d
9W
bb
UX
�A
U9
f
WV
VW
a
X�
a
i�
R
00
�T
UV
WR
X̀

bc
WV
�T
90
d
WX
R
�9
UA
9U
VU
Xb
V�
TU
VW
R
X�
WX
bU
Xb
�0
XT
�[
a
X[
UA
b�
a
XY
ej
�c
UX
[U
�Wb
�[
0 X
�h
U�
V[
0Y
UT
�i
a
9�
AY
0X
XW
XR
�A
g9
Aa
VU
V�
a
XY
è

bc
WV
�T
a
[g
f
UX
b�
0X
T�
0Y
Y�
0V
Va
[W
0b
UT
�T
a
[g
f
UX
bV
�0
9U
�A
9U
A0
9U
T�
ia
9�
VA
U[
Wi
W[
�V
Wb
U�
0X
T�
Uk
UX
bj
�0
XT
�WX
[a
9A
a
90
bU
�[
0Y
[g
Y0
bW
a
XV
�0
XT
�

f
U0
Vg
9U
f
UX
bV
�0
k0
WY
0h
YU
�i
9a
f
�b
cU
�[
YW
UX
b�
0b
�b
cU
�b
Wf
U�
a
i�
T9
0i
bW
XR̀

bc
U�
9U
[W
AW
UX
b�
0R
9U
UV
�b
a
�A
9a
bU
[b
�b
cU
�[
a
Xb
UX
bV
�i
9a
f
�T
WV
b9
Wh
gb
Wa
X�
0X
T�
TW
VV
Uf
WX
0b
Wa
X�
Ul
[U
Ab
�0
V�
9U
m
gW
9U
T�
ia
9�
bc
U�
VA
U[
Wi
W[
�U
kU
Xb
�X
0f
UT
j�

d
Wb
ca
gb
�b
cU
�d
9W
bb
UX
�A
U9
f
WV
VW
a
X�
a
i�
bc
U�
TU
VW
R
XU
9̀

gV
U�
a
i�
bc
WV
�T
UV
WR
X�
WV
�R
90
Xb
UT
�b
a
�b
cU
�[
YW
UX
b�
ia
9�
bc
U�
VA
U[
Wi
W[
�0
XT
�X
0f
UT
�U
kU
Xb
�a
XY
è

[a
Ae
9W
R
cb
�Q
�?
BC
>

V
g
Wb
0
h
WY
Wb
e
�[
a
T
U
�/
�T
U
V
[
9
WA
b
Wa
X

T
0
b
U

T
9
0
d
WX
R
�b
Wb
YU

A
9
a
nU
[
b
�X
0
f
U

V
[
0
YU

[
c
U
[
o

T
9
0
d
X
�

T
a
[̀
�9
U
k̀

T
a
[
g
f
U
X
b
�X
g
f
h
U
9

A
9
a
nU
[
b
�[
a
T
U

0
A
A
9
a
k
U
T

9
U
k
WU
d
U
T

f
a
T
U
Y�
9
U
k̀

R
0
0
�A
9
a
nU
[
b
�X
à

Cp@Bq@?B?\�C\<Cp<?\

0
r�
38
Z3
45
6:
Z

[
BC

A
s7
17
r:
Z�
V
36:
�h
27
4t
�A
25
8�
u
36v
�5
11
s7
w:
Z�
r4
v:̂
:�
87̀
\C

_x
�V
u
::
64
s7
;6�
Y5
8:
�g
h
CB
�>
YU

k
b

?C
Bq
B

R
R

o
X

k
b

0
?�
/�
0
y6
v7
s3z
:Z
�5
8Z
�5
44
:1
6:
Z�
;7
s�
[
78
4:
16

u
7s
t�
r6
5{
:

Cq
@B
q@
?B
?\

?C
Bq
B/
R
0
0
/|
|
/B
B/
T
9
/b
/B
CB
=

[
B?

?C
Bq
B

�}
�~�
��
�

}
��
��
��
��
��
���
��
��
��
��
��
��
�
���
��
��
��
��
��
��
��
�
��
�
��
�}

}�
~��
��

�
��
��
��
���
��
��
���
�

Page 236



�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
	
�

	
�
	
�



�
�
��
�
�
�

�
��
��
��
���
�

�
�
�	
��
�
��
�
	
�
��
�
�	
�

�
��



��
�
��
	
��

�
��
�
��
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�

�
�
�
�
	
��
�
�

�
�	
�
�
��
�
�
�

�
�

��
� 
!

"#
$%
&'
()
)

��
 
!

*%
+'
(,
++
 

-�
 
!

*.
/0
.�
1+
+ 2�
 
!

*&
(.
 
�1
++
 

3�
 
!

45
�1
++
 

��
 
!
6
7

89
� 
!

:)
.0
&�1
++
 

�-
� 
!

7#
,;
/)
.&
#+
0

3-
� 
!

<0
&(
,&.
#0
 
(0
&�4
,(
.

32
� 
!

=
> 

?:?:

2�
 
!

7#
,;
/)
.&
#+
0

?:?:

@
AB
CDE
F�
GH
�I
JG
IG
KF
L�
MG
AK
F�
NO
GP
F�

@
AB
DE
F�
GH
�F
QD
KB
DE
R�
MG
AK
F

S
T
U
VW
X
VX
W
��
Y
T
U
VS
T
X
Z
V[
\
��
]̂
_
_̀
X
VZ
VT
U

a�bcdc��efghbi��jBL

c
k

g
l
c
jf
�m
nm
oo
��p
�c
k

qr
sr

kr
tr

or
mr

mu tu ku su quvj
ci
ih
ib
�i
@
wf
gn

wx
hg
�e
yc
z
hi
b
�hg
�l
@
v{
yh
b
xw
�c
ie
�|
}g
w�
i@
w�
~f
�y
f�
vy
@
e}
lf
e�
hi
�z
x@
jf
�@
y�
hi
�v
cy
w�
z
hw
x@
}w
�z
yh
ww
fi
�v
fy
|
hg
gh
@
i�
@
��
b
cc
�e
fg
hb
iu

wx
hg
�e
yc
z
hi
b
�y
fv
yf
gf
iw
g�
ef
gh
b
i�
hi
wf
iw
�c
ie
�l
@
il
fv
w�
@
ij
{�
�x
fi
lf
�hw
�l
ci
�~
f�
gl
cj
fe
��
@
y�
vj
ci
ih
ib
�v
}y
v@
gf
g�
@
ij
{u

wx
hg
�e
@
l}
|
fi
w�
ci
e�
cj
j�
cg
g@
lh
cw
fe
�e
@
l}
|
fi
wg
�c
yf
�v
yf
vc
yf
e�
�@
y�
gv
fl
h�
hl
�g
hw
f�
ci
e�
f�
fi
w�
�c
ie
�hi
l@
yv
@
yc
wf
�l
cj
l}
jc
wh
@
ig
�c
ie
�|
fc
g}
yf
|
fi
wg
�c
�c
hj
c~
jf
�

�y
@
|
�w
xf
�l
jh
fi
w�
cw
�w
xf
�w
h|
f�
@
��
ey
c�
wh
ib
u

wx
f�
yf
lh
vh
fi
w�
cb
yf
fg
�w
@
�v
y@
wf
lw
�w
xf
�l
@
iw
fi
wg
��
y@
|
�e
hg
wy
h~
}w
h@
i�
ci
e�
eh
gg
f|
hi
cw
h@
i�
f�
lf
vw
�c
g�
yf
�
}h
yf
e�
�@
y�
wx
f�
gv
fl
h�
hl
�f
�f
iw
�i
c|
fe
��z
hw
x@
}w
�w
xf
�

z
yh
ww
fi
�v
fy
|
hg
gh
@
i�
@
��
wx
f�
ef
gh
b
if
yu

}g
f�
@
��
wx
hg
�e
fg
hb
i�
hg
�b
yc
iw
fe
�w
@
�w
xf
�l
jh
fi
w�
�@
y�
wx
f�
gv
fl
h�
hl
�c
ie
�i
c|
fe
�f
�f
iw
�@
ij
{u

l@
v{
yh
b
xw
�a
�t
om
�

e
c
w
f

e
y
c
z
hi
b
�w
hw
jf

v
y
@
�f
l
w
�i
c
|
f

g
l
c
jf

l
x
f
l
�

e
y
c
z
i
�

y
f
�
u�i
@
u

e
@
l
}
|
f
i
w
�i
@
u

c
v
v
y
@
�
f
e

y
f
�
hf
z
f
e

|
@
e
f
j�
y
f
�
u

b
c
c
�v
y
@
�f
l
w
�i
@
u

g
}
hw
c
~
hj
hw
{
�l
@
e
f
��
�e
f
g
l
y
hv
w
h@
i

v
y
@
�f
l
w
�l
@
e
f

oq�ok�totq�monqtnq�

�m
�n�
mo
o

l
ot

v
JG
IG
KF
L�
~
NK
Fr
FE
B�v
CN
E

s�
�g
�
FF
B�
JG
HB�
jN
EF
�}
~
mo
��
jf

�
w

c
g

g
z

�
w

oq
�o
k�
to
tq

tm
o�
o�
b
c
c
��
�
�~
m�
e
y
�w
�t
oo
m

tm
o�
o

c
t�
��
c
AB
MG
JD�
FL
�N
EL
�N
��
FI
BF
L�
HG
J�
l
GE
�F
IB

�
GJ
��
KB
NR
F

tm
o�
o

�8
���
8�
�

8
:,
+�
+�
(�
��
.�
( 
(0
&��
)+
+,

Page 237



�
��
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
	
�

	
�
	
�



�
�	
�
��
�
��
��
�
���
�
	
�

�
�
�
��
��
�
�
�

�
�
��
�

�
�

�
��
��
�
��
�
�
�

�
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
�

�
�
��
�
�
�	
��
�
��



�
�

	
�



���

�
��


�

 
!
��
"
�
�
���
��
�
�
�

#
���
���

$
�

%&
�'
(

)*
+�
,-
'
./0
�1
22
'

3�
'
(

45
./.
50

6&
�'
(

78
9-
:;
-<
5+
�=
.5>
?9
@

AB
�'
(

C8
-D
.@
E�
12
2'

F
G9
@

H
.>8
2D
-G
9

I
-/
:-
J/
9�
K
/-
<<
�1
22
;�

LJ
2G
9�
7-
<9
'
9@
5

M.
E?
5D
9/
/

N
OP
QR

%�
'
(
M.
;5

%S
�'
(

T5
UV
0

W�
'
(

X2
-5
<�
12
2'

%Y
�'
(

C.
@.
@E
�1
22
'

6%
�'
(

Z@
58-
@>
9�
[-
//

6�
'
(

M-
8V
98

6�
'
(

I
X

4\4\

%�
'
(

X2
88
.V
28

]̂
P_Ô
à�

N
R_̀
b

c
dP
Q̂
a�
Re
�a
fQ
gP
Q̂
h�
bR
dg
a

B3
WYSYY

Bi&A

AW
Y

iBY

iBY

BWBY

BWBY

BW
BY

BY3&

%YAW

iB
Y

BW
YY

BBYY

BBYY
BW
YY

BBYY

BBYY

j
25
9k
�L
//�
8-
'
l<
�D
.5?
�B
kB
W�
</
2l
9

j
25
9k
�L
//�
8-
'
l<
�D
.5?
�B
kB
W�
</
2l
9

BW
YS

BWYY

BWYY

BY
%A

BY
YY

BY
YY

m
n
o
pq
r
pr
q
��
s
n
o
pm
n
r
t
pu
v
��
w
x
y
y
z
r
pt
pn
o

{�|}~}���]��|����P�

}
�

�
�
}
�]
��
��
��
���
�}
�

��
��

��
��

��
��

�� �� �� �� ��N�
}�
��
�|
��
c
�]
��

��
��
��
�}
�
��
|
���
��
c
N�
��
|
��
�}
��
��
��
��
�c
��
�]
��
]�
N�
c
��
�]
��
��
��
�c
�]
�c
��
��
�N
}�
��
�
��
�c
��
��
��
��
]�
�N
]�
�
��
��
c
��
c
��
|
}}
��
]�
�|
��

��
��
��
�}
�
��
|
��
]N
�]
�]
��
��
�]
��
|
��
��
�]
��
�}
��
��
c
��
]N
��
c
��
��
��
]�
�]
���
��
}�
��
]�
��
}�
]�
��
c
��
N�
}�
��
�|
�N
��
Nc
�]
��
c
��
��

��
��
��
c
��
�
]�
��
}�
��
}�
��
}�
�c
��
}�
]�
��
c
��
�
]�
��
�}
�]
�N
�]
N}
�]
��
�c
��
�N
]�
��
��
��
��
]�
}�
��
]�
]�
��
�}
��
���
�c
�N
c
�}
�]
��
}�
��
�}
��
c
��
�}
��
��
]}
��
�]
�
]�
��
�}
�}
��
}�
�]
�

��
c
�
��
�]
��
��
]�
��
}�
��
�]
��
��
]�
c
��
��
}�
��
�|
�

��
]�
�]
��
N�
]�
��
}|
�]
]�
��
c
�N
�c
�]
��
��
�]
��
c
��
]�
��
��
�c
�
��
��
��
��
��
�c
��
}�
��
��
��
]�
��
}�
�c
��
]�
�]
N�
�}
��
�]
�
��
�]
��
�c
��
��
]�
�N
]�
��
��
�]
�]
��
��
}�
]�
���
��
�c
��
��
�]
�

�
��
��
]�
�N
]�
�
��
��
c
��
c
��
��
]�
�]
��
|
�]
��

��
]�
c
��
��
��
��
]�
�|
��
��
�|
�}
��
]�
��
c
��
�]
��
��
]�
��
�c
��
��
]�
�N
]�
��
��
�}
��
��
}�
]�
�]
�]
��
�c
��
��

�c
N�
��
|
��
�{
��
��
�

�
}
�]

�
�
}
�
��
|
��
��
�]

N
�
c
�]
�
��
�
}
�
]

�
�
}
�]

�
�
]
�
 

�
�
}
�
�
�

�
]
�
���
c
�

�
c
�
�
�
]
�
��
�
c
�

}
N
N
�
c
�
]
�

�
]
�
�]
�
]
�

�
c
�
]
��
�
]
�
�

|
}
}
�N
�
c
�]
�
��
�
c
�

�
�
��
}
�
��
��
�
��
c
�
]
���
�
]
�
�
�
�N
��
c
�

N
�
c
�]
�
��
�
c
�
]

��¡��¡�������������

��
���
��
�

�
��

N
_R
¢R
ga
��
|
_R
d̂
��
�£
RR
_�N
£Ô

�¤
��
¥
aa
P̀
_R
eP�
�Ô
a�
�
�
��
��
�]

�
�

}
�

�
�

�
�

��
¡�
�¡
��
��

��
�¦
��
|
}
}
�§
§�
��
��
�
��
��
��
�

��
�¦
�

}
��
��}
dP
bR
_Q̈
a�
�Ô
��
Ò
à¢
Pa
��
eR
_��
R̂
à¢
P

¥
R_
©�
gP
Oh
a

��
�¦
�

�B
�k�
BY
Y

B
\8
2l
2<
9V
�K
82
U@
V�
,/
22
8

Page 238



�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
	
�

	
�
	
�



�
�
��
��
�
�

�
	


��
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
	
��

�
	


��
�
�
��

�
	


��
�
�
��

�
	


��
�
�
��

�
�
��	
��

�
�
�
�
	
��
��
�
�

�
��
�	

�
��

� 
�!
"

#$
%&
''
!
�(

)�
!
"

*+
',
$&
�&'
'!

��
�!
"

#$
%&
''
!
� 

-�
!
"

*.
'&
$

/�
!
"

0
10

-2
�!
"

#$
%&
''
!
��

2�
!
"

#3
.+
&'
'!

)�
!
"

*+
',
$&
�&'
'!

  
�!
"

#$
%&
''
!
�-
�45
36
.$
&7

)�
!
"

*+
',
$&
�&'
'!

8989

:
;<
=�

>
??
@

A
B=
CD
E�
?@
�E
FC
G=
CD
H�
I?
BG
E

��
�!
"

J
3K
K$
&L

/�
!
"

0
10

()
M

-N( 

-M
�O

()
M

()
M

2-M

2-M

-MN/

2-M

2-M

2-
M

2-M

2-
M

2-M

2-
M

2-
M

P
Q
R
ST
U
SU
T
��
V
Q
R
SP
Q
U
W
SX
Y
��
Z
[
\
\
]
U
SW
SQ
R

�̂_̀à��bcde_f��g=h ì

d
j̀
gc
�k
lk
mm
��n
�̀
i

op
qp

ip
rp

mp
kp

ks rs is qs ostg̀
ff
ef
_
�f
A
uc
dl

uv
ed
�b
>̀
w
ef
_
�ed
�j
A
tx
>e
_
vu
�̀
fb
�y
zd
u�
fA
u�
{c
�>
c|
t>
A
bz
jc
b�
ef
�w
vA
gc
�A
>�
ef
�t̀
>u
�w
eu
vA
zu
�w
>e
uu
cf
�t
c>
y
ed
de
A
f�
A
:�
_̀
�̀b
cd
e_
fs

uv
ed
�b
>̀
w
ef
_
�>
ct
>c
dc
fu
d�
bc
de
_
f�
ef
uc
fu
�̀
fb
�j
A
fj
ct
u�
A
fg
x}
�v
cf
jc
�eu
�j̀
f�
{c
�d
j̀
gc
b�
:A
>�
tg̀
ff
ef
_
�t
z>
tA
dc
d�
A
fg
xs

uv
ed
�b
A
jz
y
cf
u�̀
fb
�̀
gg
�̀
dd
A
jè
uc
b�
bA
jz
y
cf
ud
�̀
>c
�t
>c
t̀
>c
b�
:A
>�
dt
cj
e:
ej
�d
eu
c�̀
fb
�c
~c
fu
}�̀
fb
�ef
jA
>t
A
>̀
uc
�j̀
gj
zg̀
ue
A
fd
�̀
fb
�y
c̀
dz
>c
y
cf
ud
�̀
~̀
eg̀
{g
c�

:>
A
y
�u
vc
�j
ge
cf
u�̀
u�
uv
c �
ue
y
c�
A
:�
b>̀
:u
ef
_
s

uv
c�
>c
je
te
cf
u�̀
_
>c
cd
�u
A
�t
>A
uc
ju
�u
vc
�j
A
fu
cf
ud
�:
>A
y
�b
ed
u>
e{
zu
eA
f�̀
fb
�b
ed
dc
y
ef̀
ue
A
f�
c�
jc
tu
�̀
d�
>c
�
ze
>c
b�
:A
>�
uv
c�
dt
cj
e:
ej
�c
~c
fu
�f̀
y
cb
}�w
eu
vA
zu
�u
vc
�

w
>e
uu
cf
�t
c>
y
ed
de
A
f�
A
:�
uv
c�
bc
de
_
fc
>s

zd
c�
A
:�
uv
ed
�b
cd
e_
f�
ed
�_
>̀
fu
cb
�u
A
�u
vc
�j
ge
cf
u�
:A
>�
uv
c�
dt
cj
e:
ej
�̀
fb
�f̀
y
cb
�c
~c
fu
�A
fg
xs

jA
tx
>e
_
vu
�̂
�r
mk
�

b̀
u
c

b
>̀
w
ef
_
�u
eu
gc

t
>
A
�c
j
u
�f̀
y
c

d
j̀
gc

j
v
c
j
�

b
>̀
w
f
�

>
c
~
s�f
A
s

b
A
j
z
y
c
f
u
�f
A
s

t̀
t
>
A
~
c
b

>
c
~
ec
w
c
b

y
A
b
c
g�
>
c
~
s

_̀
�̀t
>
A
�c
j
u
�f
A
s

d
z
eù
{
eg
eu
x
�j
A
b
c
�|
�b
c
d
j
>
et
u
eA
f

t
>
A
�c
j
u
�j
A
b
c

mo�mi�rmro�kmloilmm

�k
�l�
km
m

j
mr

t
�?
�?
GE
h�
:
C�G
=�:
;?
?�
�t
;<
D

q�
�d
�
EE
=�
�?
@=�
g<
DE
�z
{
km
��
gc

~
u

d̀

d
w

~
u

mo
�m
i�
rm
ro

rk
m�
m|
_̀
|̀�
�
|m
k|
b
>
|u
|r
mm
i

rk
m�
m

r̀�
|�̀
B=
I?
�C�
Eh
�<
Dh
�<
��
E�
=E
h�
@?
��
j
?D
�E
�=

�
?�
��
G=
<H
E

rk
m�
m

�-
���
-M
M

-
9&
'�
'6
$%
��
1&6
.��
K'
'&

Page 239



�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
	
�

	
�
	
�



�
	


��
�
�
��

�
	


��
�
�
��

�
�
��	
��

�
�
�
�
	
�

�
��
�	

�
��

��
��
�

��
� 
!!
�
�"

��
��
�

��
� 
!!
�
�# $�
�
�

%
&%

�#
��
�

'
()
)�
 *

+�
�
�

,-
! 
�

.
/0
12
3�
45
�3
61
70
12
8�
94
/7
3

:;�

:;�

:;�

:;
�

;�"$

#�
�
�

,<
!=
� 

>�
�
�

,<
!=
� 

:;
�

:;
�

�� ��

��
��

?
@
A
BC
D
BD
C
��
E
@
A
B?
@
D
F
BG
H
��
I
J
K
K
L
D
BF
B@
A

M�NOPO��QRSTNU��V0W

O
X

S
Y
O
VR
�Z
[Z
\\
��]
�O
X

_̂
_̀

X_
a_

\_
Z_

Zb ab Xb b̀ b̂cV
OU
UT
UN
�U
.
dR
S[

de
TS
�Q
fO
g
TU
N
�TS
�Y
.
ch
fT
N
ed
�O
UQ
�i
jS
d�
U.
d�
kR
�f
Rl
cf
.
Qj
YR
Q�
TU
�g
e.
VR
�.
f�
TU
�c
Of
d�
g
Td
e.
jd
�g
fT
dd
RU
�c
Rf
i
TS
ST
.
U�
.
m�
N
OO
�Q
RS
TN
Ub

de
TS
�Q
fO
g
TU
N
�f
Rc
fR
SR
Ud
S�
QR
ST
N
U�
TU
dR
Ud
�O
UQ
�Y
.
UY
Rc
d�
.
UV
hn
�e
RU
YR
�Td
�Y
OU
�k
R�
SY
OV
RQ
�m
.
f�
cV
OU
UT
UN
�c
jf
c.
SR
S�
.
UV
hb

de
TS
�Q
.
Yj
i
RU
d�
OU
Q�
OV
V�
OS
S.
YT
Od
RQ
�Q
.
Yj
i
RU
dS
�O
fR
�c
fR
cO
fR
Q�
m.
f�
Sc
RY
Tm
TY
�S
Td
R�
OU
Q�
Ro
RU
dn
�O
UQ
�TU
Y.
fc
.
fO
dR
�Y
OV
Yj
VO
dT
.
US
�O
UQ
�i
RO
Sj
fR
i
RU
dS
�O
oO
TV
Ok
VR
�

mf
.
i
�d
eR
�Y
VT
RU
d�
Od
�d
eR
�d
Ti
R�
.
m�
Qf
Om
dT
UN
b

de
R�
fR
YT
cT
RU
d�
ON
fR
RS
�d
.
�c
f.
dR
Yd
�d
eR
�Y
.
Ud
RU
dS
�m
f.
i
�Q
TS
df
Tk
jd
T.
U�
OU
Q�
QT
SS
Ri
TU
Od
T.
U�
Rp
YR
cd
�O
S�
fR
q
jT
fR
Q�
m.
f�
de
R�
Sc
RY
Tm
TY
�R
oR
Ud
�U
Oi
RQ
n�g
Td
e.
jd
�d
eR
�

g
fT
dd
RU
�c
Rf
i
TS
ST
.
U�
.
m�
de
R�
QR
ST
N
UR
fb

jS
R�
.
m�
de
TS
�Q
RS
TN
U�
TS
�N
fO
Ud
RQ
�d
.
�d
eR
�Y
VT
RU
d�
m.
f�
de
R�
Sc
RY
Tm
TY
�O
UQ
�U
Oi
RQ
�R
oR
Ud
�.
UV
hb

Y.
ch
fT
N
ed
�M
�a
\Z
r

Q
O
d
R

Q
f
O
g
TU
N
�d
Td
VR

c
f
.
sR
Y
d
�U
O
i
R

S
Y
O
VR

Y
e
R
Y
t

Q
f
O
g
U
�

f
R
o
b�U
.
b

Q
.
Y
j
i
R
U
d
�U
.
b

O
c
c
f
.
o
R
Q

f
R
o
TR
g
R
Q

i
.
Q
R
V�
f
R
o
b

N
O
O
�c
f
.
sR
Y
d
�U
.
b

S
j
Td
O
k
TV
Td
h
�Y
.
Q
R
�l
�Q
R
S
Y
f
Tc
d
T.
U

c
f
.
sR
Y
d
�Y
.
Q
R

\̂u\Xua\â�Z\[̂X[\Z

�Z
�[�
Z\
\

Y
\a

c
v4
w4
73
W�
S
3x
42
W�
m
y4
4v
�c
yz
2

{̀�
S
|
33
0x
v4
50�
Vz
23
�j
k
Z\
�r
VR

o
d

O
S

S
g

o
d

\̂
u\
Xu
a\
â

aZ
\}
\l
N
O
O
l~
~
l\
al
Q
f
ld
la
\\̀

aZ
\}
\

O
a�
l�
O
/0
94
v1�
3W
�z
2W
�z
xx
3w
03
W�
54
v�
Y
42
x3
w0

|
4v
��
70
z8
3

aZ
\}
\

�;
���
;�
�

;
� 
!�
!�
��
�,
��
!�
��
�)
!!
 

Page 240



�
��
��
��
��
	�



�
�

��
	�
��
�	
��



��
��
��
�

	

��
���
��
�

�
��
��
��
��
��
��
���
� 
!

"
#
$
%&
'
%'
&
��
(
#
$
%"
#
'
)
%*
+
��
,
-
.
.
/
'
%)
%#
$

0�1232��45�617��8
9

2
:

�
;
2
85
�<
=<
>>
��?
�2
:

@A
BA

:A
CA

>A
<A

<D CD :D BD @D�8
27
76
71
�7
�
E5
�=

EF
6�
�4
G2
H
67
1
�6�
�;
�
�I
G6
1
FE
�2
74
�J
K�
E�
7�
E�
L5
�G
5M
�G
�
4K
;5
4�
67
�H
F�
85
��
G�
67
��
2G
E�
H
6E
F�
KE
�H
G6
EE
57
��
5G
J
6�
�6
�
7�
�
N�
1
22
�4
5�
61
7D

EF
6�
�4
G2
H
67
1
�G
5�
G5
�5
7E
��
45
�6
1
7�
67
E5
7E
�2
74
�;
�
7;
5�
E�
�
78
IO
�F
57
;5
�6E
�;
27
�L
5�
�;
28
54
�N
�
G�
�8
27
76
71
��
KG
��
�5
��
�
78
ID

EF
6�
�4
�
;K
J
57
E�
27
4�
28
8�
2�
��
;6
2E
54
�4
�
;K
J
57
E�
�2
G5
��
G5
�2
G5
4�
N�
G�
��
5;
6N
6;
��
6E
5�
27
4�
5P
57
EO
�2
74
�67
;�
G�
�
G2
E5
�;
28
;K
82
E6
�
7�
�2
74
�J
52
�K
G5
J
57
E�
�2
P2
68
2L
85
�

NG
�
J
�E
F5
�;
86
57
E�
2E
�E
F5
�E
6J
5�
�
N�
4G
2N
E6
71
D

EF
5�
G5
;6
�6
57
E�
21
G5
5�
�E
�
��
G�
E5
;E
�E
F5
�;
�
7E
57
E�
�N
G�
J
�4
6�
EG
6L
KE
6�
7�
27
4�
46
��
5J
67
2E
6�
7�
5Q
;5
�E
�2
��
G5
R
K6
G5
4�
N�
G�
EF
5�
��
5;
6N
6;
�5
P5
7E
�7
2J
54
O�H
6E
F�
KE
�E
F5
�

H
G6
EE
57
��
5G
J
6�
�6
�
7�
�
N�
EF
5�
45
�6
1
75
GD

K�
5�
�
N�
EF
6�
�4
5�
61
7�
6�
�1
G2
7E
54
�E
�
�E
F5
�;
86
57
E�
N�
G�
EF
5�
��
5;
6N
6;
�2
74
�7
2J
54
�5
P5
7E
��
78
ID

;�
�I
G6
1
FE
�0
�C
><
S

4
2
E5

4
G
2
H
67
1
�E
6E
85

�
G
�
T5
;
E�
7
2
J
5

�
;
2
85

;
F
5
;
U

4
G
2
H
7
�

G
5
P
D�7
�
D

4
�
;
K
J
5
7
E�
7
�
D

2
�
�
G
�
P
5
4

G
5
P
65
H
5
4

J
�
4
5
8�
G
5
P
D

1
2
2
��
G
�
T5
;
E�
7
�
D

�
K
6E
2
L
68
6E
I
�;
�
4
5
�M�
4
5
�
;
G
6�
E6
�
7

�
G
�
T5
;
E�
;
�
4
5

>@V>:VC>C@�<>=@:=>C

�<
�=�
<>
>

;
>C

G
��
���
��
�

BW
��
X
		

Y
��
�
�
8�
�	
�K
L
<>
�S
85

P
E

2
�

�
H

P
E

>@
V>
:V
C>
C@

C<
>Z
>M
1
2
2
M[
[M
G
NM
4
G
ME
MC
>>
@

C<
>Z
>

2
C�
M�2
�

��
��\
	9
��
�9
��
YY
	]

	
9�
��
��;
��
Y	
]


X
��̂
�


�
�	

C<
>Z
>

Page 241



�
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
	
�

�
��
�


�
�
�
�
�	
��
�

�������������������

�
�

�
�
�
��
��
��
  
��!
��
�

"#
$#

�#
%#

 #
�#

�& %& �& $& "&'�
��
��
��
��
(
)�
��

)*
��
��
+�
,
��
�
���
��
(
'-
+�
�
*)
��
��
�.
/�
)�
�(
)�
0�
�+
�1
'+
(
�/
��
��
��
�,
*(
��
�(
+�
��
�'
�+
)�
,
�)
*(
/)
�,
+�
))
��
�'
�+
.
��
��
(
��
(
2�
�
��
��
��
��
�&

)*
��
��
+�
,
��
�
�+
�'
+�
��
�)
��
��
��
�
��
��
)�
�)
��
��
��
(
��
�'
)�
(
��
-3
�*
��
��
��)
��
��
�0
��
��
��
��
�2
(
+�
'�
��
��
��
�'
/+
'(
��
��
(
��
-&

)*
��
��
(
�/
.
��
)�
��
��
��
��
��
�(
��
�)
��
��
(
�/
.
��
)�
��
+�
�'
+�
'�
+�
��
2(
+�
�'
��
�2
��
��
�)
��
��
��
�4
��
)3
��
��
���
�(
+'
(
+�
)�
��
��
�/
��
)�
(
��
��
��
�.
��
�/
+�
.
��
)�
��
4�
��
�0
��
�

2+
(
.
�)
*�
��
��
��
)�
�)
�)
*�
�)
�.
��
(
2�
�+
�2
)�
��
&

)*
��
+�
��
'�
��
)�
��
+�
��
�)
(
�'
+(
)�
�)
�)
*�
��
(
�)
��
)�
�2
+(
.
��
��
)+
�0
/)
�(
��
��
��
��
��
�.
��
�)
�(
��
�5
��
')
��
��
+�
6
/�
+�
��
2(
+�
)*
��
�'
��
�2
��
��
4�
�)
��
�.
��
3�,
�)
*(
/)
�)
*�
�

,
+�
))
��
�'
�+
.
��
��
(
��
(
2�
)*
��
��
��
�
��
+&

/�
��
(
2�
)*
��
��
��
��
��
��
��
+�
�)
��
�)
(
�)
*�
��
��
��
)�
2(
+�
)*
��
�'
��
�2
��
��
��
��
�.
��
��
4�
�)
�(
��
-&

�(
'-
+�
�
*)
��
�%
 �
7

�
�
)
�

�
+
�
,
��
�
�)
�)
��

'
+
(
8�
�
)
��
�
.
�

�
�
�
��

�
*
�
�
9

�
+
�
,
�
�

+
�
4
&��
(
&

�
(
�
/
.
�
�
)
��
(
&

�
'
'
+
(
4
�
�

+
�
4
��
,
�
�

.
(
�
�
��
+
�
4
&

�
�
�
�'
+
(
8�
�
)
��
(
&

�
/
�)
�
0
��
�)
-
��
(
�
�
�1
��
�
�
�
+
�'
)
�(
�

'
+
(
8�
�
)
��
(
�
�

 :; �;% %"����$"� �

��
���
� 
 

�
 %

2
<=
>�
�?
>�
�+
@?
<�
�
A@
B?
�C=
>

$D
��
E
@@
�F
<=
G��
�?
>@
�/
0
� 
�7
��

4
)

�
�

�
,

4
)

 "
; 
�;
% 
%"

%�
 :
 1
�
�
�
1H
H
15
5
1�
+
1)
1%
� 
�

%�
 :
 

�
%�
1�
�
I�
J=
<CK
@�
�?
>�
�?
FF
@L
�@
��
G=
<�
�
=>
F@
L�

E
=<
M�
N�
?O
@

%�
 :
 

�P
�Q�
PR
R

P
S
TU
VW
�X
YZ
[\
V]T̂

�P
�Q�
PR
R

_
T̀a
VW
�X
YZ
[\
V]T̂

Page 242



�
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
	
�

�
��
�


�
�
�
�
�	
��
�

�������������������

�
�

�
�
�
��
��
��
  
��!
��
�

"#
$#

�#
%#

 #
�#

�& %& �& $& "&'�
��
��
��
��
(
)�
��

)*
��
��
+�
,
��
�
���
��
(
'-
+�
�
*)
��
��
�.
/�
)�
�(
)�
0�
�+
�1
'+
(
�/
��
��
��
�,
*(
��
�(
+�
��
�'
�+
)�
,
�)
*(
/)
�,
+�
))
��
�'
�+
.
��
��
(
��
(
2�
�
��
��
��
��
�&

)*
��
��
+�
,
��
�
�+
�'
+�
��
�)
��
��
��
�
��
��
)�
�)
��
��
��
(
��
�'
)�
(
��
-3
�*
��
��
��)
��
��
�0
��
��
��
��
�2
(
+�
'�
��
��
��
�'
/+
'(
��
��
(
��
-&

)*
��
��
(
�/
.
��
)�
��
��
��
��
��
�(
��
�)
��
��
(
�/
.
��
)�
��
+�
�'
+�
'�
+�
��
2(
+�
�'
��
�2
��
��
�)
��
��
��
�4
��
)3
��
��
���
�(
+'
(
+�
)�
��
��
�/
��
)�
(
��
��
��
�.
��
�/
+�
.
��
)�
��
4�
��
�0
��
�

2+
(
.
�)
*�
��
��
��
)�
�)
�)
*�
�)
�.
��
(
2�
�+
�2
)�
��
&

)*
��
+�
��
'�
��
)�
��
+�
��
�)
(
�'
+(
)�
�)
�)
*�
��
(
�)
��
)�
�2
+(
.
��
��
)+
�0
/)
�(
��
��
��
��
��
�.
��
�)
�(
��
�5
��
')
��
��
+�
6
/�
+�
��
2(
+�
)*
��
�'
��
�2
��
��
4�
�)
��
�.
��
3�,
�)
*(
/)
�)
*�
�

,
+�
))
��
�'
�+
.
��
��
(
��
(
2�
)*
��
��
��
�
��
+&

/�
��
(
2�
)*
��
��
��
��
��
��
��
+�
�)
��
�)
(
�)
*�
��
��
��
)�
2(
+�
)*
��
�'
��
�2
��
��
��
��
�.
��
��
4�
�)
�(
��
-&

�(
'-
+�
�
*)
��
�%
 �
7

�
�
)
�

�
+
�
,
��
�
�)
�)
��

'
+
(
8�
�
)
��
�
.
�

�
�
�
��

�
*
�
�
9

�
+
�
,
�
�

+
�
4
&��
(
&

�
(
�
/
.
�
�
)
��
(
&

�
'
'
+
(
4
�
�

+
�
4
��
,
�
�

.
(
�
�
��
+
�
4
&

�
�
�
�'
+
(
8�
�
)
��
(
&

�
/
�)
�
0
��
�)
-
��
(
�
�
�1
��
�
�
�
+
�'
)
�(
�

'
+
(
8�
�
)
��
(
�
�

 :; �;% %"� ��"7�� 

��
���
� 
 

�
 %

�
<�
=�
�
>=
?@
�<A
BC

$:
��
D
==
�E
FA
G��
�@
B=
�/
0
� 
�7
��

4
)

�
�

�
,

4
)

 "
; 
�;
% 
%"

%�
 H
 1
�
�
�
1I
I
15
5
1�
+
1)
1%
� 
%

%�
 H
 

�
%�
1�
�
J�
KA
F<L
=�
�@
B�
�@
EE
=M
�=
��
GA
F�
�
AB
E=
M�

D
AF
N�
C�
@O
=

%�
 H
 

�P
�Q�
PR
R

P
ST
UV
�S
WX
YT
VZ[
\

�P
�Q�
PR
R

]
X̂U
V�S
WX
YT
VZ[
\

Page 243



�
��
��
�

�
��
	�



��

�
�
�

�
�

��
��

��
��

�
��
��

	
��
��
��
��
��
��
��
��
��
��

�

�	
���
�	
��
��
���
��
��
��
��
���

��
��
� 
�
!
"
 #

#
$ 
��
�

��
��

��
�%
&

'(
)*
+,
-.
(/
0

1�
�%
&

20
.3
).-
(0
%
30
.�4
)3
-

��
�%
&

5(
0(
06
�7
//
%

8�
�%
&

20
.)-
0*
3�
9-
,,

���

�:
�%
&

;
-,
,3
)<

88
�%
&

=3
>)
//
%
��
�?@
-A
.3
)B

�
��
��

	
��
!
��
C	
�D
��
	�
�
E�
F�
��

�
��
��

	
��
!
��
C	
�D
��
	�
�

��
	�
��
�	
�

��
��
��
��
��
��
��
���
��
��
� 
�
!
"
 #

#
$ 
��
�

E�
��
��

!
��
C	
�D
��
	�
��
�	
G�

�
��
C�
��
	�
���
C�
��
�

��	

E�
$$
��

�
��
��

	
��
!
��
C	
�D
��
	�
��
���
��
	�
	�
�

��
	�
��
��
��
��
C�

��
��
��
��
��
��
��
���
��
��
� 
H
�
�
 #

#
I 
#$
��

�

��
E�
�

J
K�
���
	�
��
�

��
	�
	�
�

�

KL
�
���
	�
���
���
��
��
��
C�

�	
�	
�	
��
	�
��
��
��
��
 H
�
�
 #

#
I 
#$
��

:�M

�N�M

O
P
Q
RS
T
RT
S
��
U
P
Q
RO
P
T
V
RW
X
��
Y
Z
[
[
\
T
RV
RP
Q

]�̂H_H��̀a�b̂c��D��

H
I

�
"
H
Da
��
d�



��e
�H
I

��
$�

I�
#�


�
��

�
"
H
Da
��
d�

�
�e
�H
I

#�
��

#�
��
��

��

�


�
��

�� #� I� $� ���D
Hc
cb
ĉ
�c
J
fa
�d

fg
b�
�̀
!H
h
bĉ
�b�
�"
J
�i
!b̂
gf
�H
c̀
�j
��
f�
cJ
f�
ka
�!
a�
�!
J̀
�"
à
�bc
�h
gJ
Da
�J
!�
bc
��
H!
f�
h
bf
gJ
�f
�h
!b
ff
ac
��
a!
j
b�
�b
J
c�
J
l�̂
HH
�̀
a�
b̂
c�

fg
b�
�̀
!H
h
bĉ
�!
a�
!a
�a
cf
��̀
a�
b̂
c�
bc
fa
cf
�H
c̀
�"
J
c"
a�
f�
J
cD
im
�g
ac
"a
�bf
�"
Hc
�k
a�
�"
HD
à
�l
J
!�
�D
Hc
cb
ĉ
��
�!
�J
�a
��
J
cD
i�

fg
b�
�̀
J
"�
j
ac
f�
Hc̀
�H
DD
�H
��
J
"b
Hf
à
�̀
J
"�
j
ac
f�
�H
!a
��
!a
�H
!à
�l
J
!�
��
a"
bl
b"
��
bf
a�
Hc̀
�a
na
cf
m�H
c̀
�bc
"J
!�
J
!H
fa
�"
HD
"�
DH
fb
J
c�
�H
c̀
�j
aH
��
!a
j
ac
f�
�H
nH
bD
Hk
Da
�

l!
J
j
�f
ga
�"
Db
ac
f�
Hf
�f
ga
�f
bj
a�
J
l�̀
!H
lf
bĉ
�

fg
a�
!a
"b
�b
ac
f�
Ĥ
!a
a�
�f
J
��
!J
fa
"f
�f
ga
�"
J
cf
ac
f�
�l
!J
j
�̀
b�
f!
bk
�f
bJ
c�
Hc̀
�̀
b�
�a
j
bc
Hf
bJ
c�
ao
"a
�f
�H
��
!a
p
�b
!à
�l
J
!�
fg
a�
��
a"
bl
b"
�a
na
cf
�c
Hj
à
m�h
bf
gJ
�f
�f
ga
�

h
!b
ff
ac
��
a!
j
b�
�b
J
c�
J
l�
fg
a�̀
a�
b̂
ca
!�

��
a�
J
l�
fg
b�
�̀
a�
b̂
c�
b�
�̂
!H
cf
à
�f
J
�f
ga
�"
Db
ac
f�
lJ
!�
fg
a�
��
a"
bl
b"
�H
c̀
�c
Hj
à
�a
na
cf
�J
cD
i�

"J
�i
!b̂
gf
�]
�#

�
F

H̀
fa

!̀
H
h
bĉ
�f
bf
Da

�
!
J
qa
"
f�
c
H
j
a

�
"
H
Da

"
g
a
"
r

!̀
H
h
c
�

!
a
n
��c
J
�

J̀
"
�
j
a
c
f�
c
J
�

H
�
�
!
J
n
à

!
a
n
ba
h
à

j
J̀
a
D�
!
a
n
�

Ĥ
H
��
!
J
qa
"
f�
c
J
�

�
�
bf
H
k
bD
bf
i
�"
J̀
a
���̀
a
�
"
!
b�
fb
J
c

�
!
J
qa
"
f�
"
J̀
a


� 
I #
#���
d�Id�$

H

�
��
��
��
�	
�

"

#

�
	�
���
��
H
�H

$�
��
�
		
��
��
���
D�
�	
��
k
�

�F
Da

n
f

H
�

�
h

n
f


�
 

I 
#

#�

#�

�

�̂
H
H
�s
s�
o
o
�̀
!
�f
�#
#

�

#�

�



H
#�
��H
K�
��
��t
	�
��
��
��
��
	�
�	
��
��
��"
��
�	
��

�
��
u�

�
�C
	

#�

�



��
�v�
:�

�
w3
*.
(/
0�
44
�x�
')
/y
0�
7/
/z
�=
,/
y
+{

��
�v�
��
�

�
w3
*.
(/
0�
44

Page 244



��

��

��

���	


��	


������


��	

�����������

�����������

�
��
���
��
��
�

�
��
���
��
��
�

�����������

�����������

�
��
���
��
��
�

�
��
���
��
��
�

��������� �!"�##$%"&#�#�' �() �*��("+

! � "�)�)���#��, ��("+

,-.��/-0�1�2$345�"67�78.9.:6;�*��)+��"�+%)�(<�*�.-�=>>-.?7@�A3:3B=-

1CD�#4-=?39AE6� *�>7-7993=B�-67F-=AA

GHD�".AA39=947�*�A4-.9F�8-77>39F�-7@�07A8/7

IHD�$=F97-� *�857J39FA�07A8/7

��������� �,)����#�' �() 

�"  #

K(�����L #, �� # !�"�'�8: +%"< �L, 

G��.M� �=->39/A�N74/B/A� IH*1C8: O.P57=@Q�RCC�$S��P�RIC�'�8:

TO.P57=@��-77U IRC8:�8B7=-�A47:�1CC*1HCB4��!

H��.M� �B7P��7BB37�#47?79A RG*RV8:F ,B7=857@�+-=:7�RHC�P�RHC8:

RWC8:��B7=-�A47:� �!

1��.M O74/B=�=BN.A3979A3A�X+=A839=43.9XRI*RG8: #4@ 1HC*GCC �!

R��.M� ,-/9/A�)/A34=938=��9F/A430.B3=� RG*RV8:F +/BB�#4@�1CC*1HC8: �!

�B7=-�A47:�.0�RMH:

#, ��< ��#'"(O

#, �� # +%"< ' �!'��8: �L, #�Y 

�:7B=98537-�B=:=-8E33 #5-/N�Z�</B43*A47: RHC*R[H �! \CB4

%A:=945/A�N/-EJ..@33 #5-/N�Z�</B43*A47: RHC*R[H �! R[CB4

'7>4=8.@3/:�:38.93.3@7A #5-/N�Z�</B43*A47: RIH*RHC �! HCB4

,5.4393=�P�0-=A7-3�X"7@�".N39X #5-/N�Z�</B43*A47: RHC*R[H �! \CB4

�3N/-9/:�439/A�X ?7�,-387X #5-/N�Z�</B43*A47: RHC*R[H �! \CB4

' �! #

#��!) �#, �� #�' �! �,)�����!

#4=FF7-7@�-.JAM�1�>B=94A�>7-�B397=-�:74-7�0.-�8.94=397-�F-.J9�A4.8E�A/N]784�4.�A3̂7M

#, �� # ' �!'��8: #�Y �L, #,����!

�B7P��-79=4= IC*1C IB4 �! 2#4=FF7-7@�-.J�*�1�>7-�:;

,-/9/A�B=/-.87-=A/A�X".4/9@30.B3=X GC*VC 1B4 �! 2#4=FF7-7@�-.J;

)=?=9@/B=�=9F/A430.B3=�X'3@8.47X IC*1C IB4 �! 2#4=FF7-7@�-.J�*�1�>7-�:;

#'"(O#�S�' "O�� %(#�, " ����)#

%-9=:794=B�>B=9439F�.0�A5-/N�A4-/84/-7�J345�57-N=87./A�>7-7993=B�:3P�4.�398B/@7�A>7837A�.0

?=B/7�4.�J3B@B307�=9@�>.BB39=4.-AM

#, �� # ' �!'��8: #�Y ��L, #,����!

�87-�>=B:=4/:�XOB..@F..@X WC*RIC HB4 �! WCC

�87-�>=B:=4/:�X#=9F.*E=E/X WC*RIC HB4 �! WCC

�F=>=945/A�X'7=@N./-97�56N-3@AX IC*1C IB4 �! WCC

�97:.97�_�56N-3@=�X'.9.-397�̀.N7-4� IC*1C IB4 �! GCC

�]/F=�-7>4=9A�X�4-.>/->/-7=X RH*IC RB4 �! GCC

�a/3B7F3=�?/BF=-3A�?=-M�A47BB=4=�X"/N6�,.-4X IC*1C IB4 �! WCC

�/8/N=�]=>.938=�X�-.4.930.B3=X 1C*GC 1B4 �! WCC

O7-F793=�8.-@30.B3=�X#3BN7-B3854X RH*IC IB4 �! GCC

�5.3A6=�47-9=4= 1C*GC 1B4 �! WCC

�.-9/A�A=9F/397=�X<3@J3947-�+3-7X VC*WC RCB4 �! WCC

�-.8.A:3=�_�8-.8.A:330B.-=�X :3B6�<8E79̂37X1C*GC IB4 �! WCC

 -6A3:/:�N38.B.-�XO.JB7AXA�<=/?7X IC*1C IB4 �! GCC

 >3:7@3/:�_�-/N-/: IC*1C IB4 �! GCC

 />5.-N3=�=:6F@=B.3@7A RH*1C IB4 �! WCC

!7-=93/:�56N-3@�̀.59A.9A�OB/7� IC*1C IB4 �! GCC

!7-=93/:�.-3.9 IC*1C IB4 �! VCC

'7N7�"7@� @F7 IC*1C IB4 �! GCC

'7N7�X<-A�$39@7-X IC*1C IB4 �! WCC

'7/857-=�X)3:7�<=-:=B=@7X�2,O"; IC*1C IB4 �! VCC

'7/857-=�X,B/:�,/@@39FX� RH*IC IB4 �! GCC

'6@-=9F7=�>=938/B=4=�X)3:7B3F54X�2,O"; GC*VC HB4 �! WCC

)=?=9@/B=�=9F/A430.B3=�X'3@8.47X� IC*1C IB4 �! GCC

)3N7-43=�F-=9@30B.-=� 1C*GC 1B4 �! WCC

)3-3.>7�:/A8=-3 RH*IC IB4 �! GCC

,=856A=9@-=�47-:39=B3A�X!-779��=->74X� RH*IC IB4 �! GCC

,7-A38=-3=�=00393A��=-]77B39F�"7@� IC*1C IB4 �! GCC

,5.-:3/:�̀7A47- VC*WC HB4 �! WCC

,39/A�:/F.�X</F5/AX 1C*GC RCB4 �! WCC

,344.A>.-/:�479/30.B3/:��.:��5/:N 1C*GC 1B4 �! WCC

,344.A>.-/:�479/30.B3/:�X!.B0�O=BBX�2,O"; GC*VC HB4 �! WCC

,.47943BB=�0-/438.A=�X�NN.4AJ..@X GC*VC IB4 �! WCC

,.47943BB=�0-/438.A=�X�=9F7-397X GC*VC IB4 �! WCC

".A=�&794 1C*GC 1B4 �! WCC

"/@N78E3=�0/BF3@=�?=-M�A/BB3?=9433�X!.B@A4/-:X� 1C*GC 1B4 �! WCC

#=-8.8.88=�5..E7-3=9=�J3947-�F7: 1C*GC 1B4 �! WCC

#7@/:��/4/:9�̀.6� IC*1C IB4 �! GCC

#E3::3=�_�8.90/A=�X&7J�!-779X�� 1C*GC HB4 �! WCC

#E3::3=�]=>.938=�X"/N7BB=X� IC*1C IB4 �! GCC

�3=-7BB=�X#>-39F�#6:>5.96X� IC*1C IB4 �! GCC

�7-N79=�N.9=-379A3A�X).BB3>.>X� 1C*GC IB4 �! VCC

�7-N79=�.003839=B3A�?=-M�F-=9@30B.-=�XO=:>4.9X�RH*IC IB4 �! WCC

�3N/-9/:�439/A� GC*VC 1B4 �! WCC

�3N/-9/:�439/A�X ?7�,-387X 1C*GC HB4 �! WCC

�398=�:39.-�0M�=BN=�X!7-4-/@7�̀7E6BBX�� RC*RH IB4 �! GCC

�398=�:=].-�X�=-37F=4=X� IC*1C IB4 �! GCC

!"�## #

#, �� # ' �!'� #�Y ��L, #,����!

�=-7P� ?7-FB.J RH*IC IB4 �! GCC

�97:=9457B7�B7AA.93=9= 1C*GC 1B4 �! VCC

'=E.9785B.=�:=8-=� IC*IH 1B4 �! GCC

'=E.9785B.=�:=8-=�X�BN.=/-7=X IC*IH 1B4 �! GCC

)/̂/B=�#9.J0B=E7 IC*1C IB4 �! VCC

<.B393=�8=7-/B7=�X,./B�,747-A79X GC*VC IB4 �! VCC

#43>=�479/3AA3:= IC*1C IB4 �! GCC

+ "�#

#, �� # ' �!'� #�Y ��L, #,����!

�A>B793/:�A8.B.>79@-3/: IC*1C IB4 �! VCC

�-6.>47-3A�7-645-.A.-=�XO-3BB3=987X IC*1C IB4 �! VCC

�-6.>47-3A�03B3P*:=A 1C*GC HB4 �! WCC

,.B6>.@3/:�?/BF=-7 RC*IC IB4 �! GCC

b�

b�

b�
b�

b�

b�

cdefgdhi

jkfhl

mneodi�kp�iqoreods�lknri

,-.>.A7@�7?7-F-779�57@F7

8B3>>7@�S�:=394=397@�=4�t�1MC:

,-.>.A7@�-7>B=87:794�N./9@=-6�07987�A6A47:�.0�RMW:�4-7=47@�43:N7-�8B.A7N.=-@

,-.>.A7@�-7>B=87:794�N./9@=-6�07987�A6A47:�.0�RMW:�4-7=47@�43:N7-�8B.A7N.=-@

<3P7@�A5-/N�>B=9439F�J345�A>783:79�4-77A�=9@�A5-/NA�.007-39F

>/984/=43.9�45-./F5�N7@�J345�-7]/?79=47@�>.9@�7@F7�>B=9439F

,-.>.A7@�F-./>�.0�O.P57=@�Z�A43B47@�57@F7�8B3>>7@�4-77A�=A�07=4/-7�0-.:�:=39�-7=-

47--=87�=4�F=-@79�4-=9A343.9

,-.>.A7@��=->39/A�N74/B/A�t�IH*1C8:O.P57=@Q�RCC�$S��P�RIC�'�8:�TO.P57=@��-77U

IRC8:�8B7=-�A47:�1CC*1HCB4��!

,-.>.A7@�7?7-F-779�57@F7�8B3>>7@�S�:=394=397@�=4�t�CMV:

,-.>.A7@��B7P��-79=4=�8B3>>7@�57@F7

,-.>.A7@�)=-F7�,B=947-A�T>=3-U�=4�-7=-�794-=987�J345�=-8534784/-=B�Z�8B3>>7@�>B=9439F

<3P7@�A5-/N�>B=9439F�J345�A>783:79�4-77A�=9@

A5-/NA�.007-39F�>/984/=43.9�45-./F5�N7@

,-.>.A7@�7?7-F-779�57@F7�8B3>>7@�S�:=394=397@�=4�t�CMV:

,-.>.A7@��B7P��-79=4=�8B3>>7@�57@F7

<3P7@�A5-/N�>B=9439F�J345�=-8534784/-=B�Z�8B3>>7@�A>783:79A

 P3A439F�Z�"74=397@�Z�"7]/?79=47@�F=-@79�B=J9�J345�7P3A439F

F=-@79�07=4/-7A�=9@�>=45J=6A�-74=397@

 P3A439F�Z�"74=397@�Z�"7]/?79=47@�.-85=-@�4-77�>B=9439F�4.�N7

>-/97@�4.�A5=>7�0.-�0/4/-7�57=B45�.0�:=4/-7�.-85=-@�A4.8E

 P3A439F�Z�"74=397@�N./9@=-6�:=4/-7�A5-/N�Z�57@F7�>B=9439F

 P3A439F�Z�"74=397@�N./9@=-6�:=4/-7�A5-/N�Z�57@F7�>B=9439F

,-.>.A7@��=4/-=B�#4.97�,=?39F

,-.>.A7@�)=-F7�,B=947-�.9�-7=-�47--=87�J345�=-8534784/-=B�A>783:79

:/B43*A47:�A5-/N

,-.>.A7@�7?7-F-779�57@F7�8B3>>7@�S

:=394=397@�=4�t�1MC:

,-.>.A7@�,-/9/A�B=/-.87-=A/A�X".4/9@30.B3=X

,-.>.A7@�-7>B=87:794�N./9@=-6�07987�A6A47:�.0

RMW:�4-7=47@�43:N7-�8B.A7N.=-@

 P3A439F�Z�"74=397@�N./9@=-6�:=4/-7�A5-/N�Z�57@F7�>B=9439F

 P3A439F�-74=397@�>-3?=47�@-3?7J=6�A/-0=87�4-7=4:794

 P3A439F�-74=397@�>-3?=47�@-3?7J=6�A/-0=87�4-7=4:794

 P3A439F�-74=397@�:=4/-7�B=/-7B�57@F7�=4�N./9@=-6

.0�@-3?7J=6

,-.>.A7@�F-./>�.0�A>783:79�.-9=:794=B�4-77A�=A�07=4/-7�Z�0.8=B

B=9@A8=>7�>.394�J345�/9@7-A4.-6�>B=9439FM

,-.>.A7@�O74/B=�=BN.A3979A3A�X+=A839=43.9X�t�RI*RG8:�#4@1HC*GCC��!

,-.>.A7@�7?7-F-779�57@F7�8B3>>7@�S�:=394=397@�=4�t�CMV:

,-.>.A7@��B7P��-79=4=�8B3>>7@�57@F7

,-.>.A7@�7?7-F-779�57@F7�8B3>>7@�S�:=394=397@�=4�t�RMV:

,-.>.A7@�,-/9/A�B=/-.87-=A/A�X".4/9@30.B3=X�57@F7

,-.>.A7@�A7a/7987�.0�,B7=857@�4-77A�7@F39F�@-3?7J=6�.007-39F�A8-77939F�=9@

A4-/84/-7�0-.:�973F5N.-39F�J39@.JAM

,-.>.A7@�H��.M��B7P��7BB37�#47?79A�*�T,) ��' �U�t�RWC8:�8B7=-�A47:�573F54M

+-=:7�RHC�P�RHC8:�RG*RV8:F

,-.>.A7@�OB.8E�,=?39F�>-3?=47

@-3?7J=6�39�0-.94�.0�5./A7

,-.>.A7@��=4/-=B�#4.97�,=?39F

,-.>.A7@�)=-F7�,B=947-A�T>=3-U�=4�794-=987�J345�=-8534784/-=B�Z�8B3>>7@�>B=9439F

<3P7@�A5-/N�>B=9439F�J345�=-8534784/-=B�Z�8B3>>7@�A>783:79A

,-.>.A7@�-7>B=87:794�N./9@=-6�07987�A6A47:�.0�RMW:�4-7=47@�43:N7-�8B.A7N.=-@

,-.>.A7@�7?7-F-779�57@F7�8B3>>7@�S�:=394=397@�=4�t�CMV:

,-.>.A7@��B7P��-79=4=�8B3>>7@�57@F7

,-.>.A7@�A7a/7987�.0�A>783:79�4-77A�7@F39F�@-3?7J=6�.007-39F�A8-77939F�=9@�A4-/84/-7

67=-�-./9@M

,-.>.A7@�1��.M�)3F/A4-/:�]=>.938/:�t�1HC*GCC�RI*RG�#4@�*��B7=-�A47:�IMR*IM1:

,-.>.A7@�7?7-F-779�A>783:79�+/BB�#4@�B=-F7�A5-/N�.007-7@�4.�398-7=A7

A8-77939F�.9�N./9@=-6

,-.>.A7@�,-/9/A�)/A34=938=��9F/A430.B3=�t�+/BB�#4@�1CC*1HC8:

RG*RV8:F��!��B7=-�A47:�.0�RMH:

uvw
��xy��z�	��z{�

�z�	��z�	��z{�

|�}�	z�~�y��zy���y

,"%,%# ���"  �,)�����!

<393:/:�\CC::�@7>45�.0�A>783038�>/->.A7�0-77

@-=3939F�4.>A.3B�4.�O#�1WWIQICRH�0.-�4-77�>B=9439FM

TA77���������� �,)�����!�#�' �() U

,)�����!�O �#

<393:/:�GCC::�@7>45�.0�A>783038�>/->.A7�0-77

@-=3939F�4.>A.3B�4.�O#�1WWIQICRH�0.-�A5-/N�S�:3P7@

57-N=87./A�>7-7993=B�>B=9439FM�,B=94�A>7837A�4.�>-.?3@7

>.BB79��9784=-�=9@�0-/34M

TA77���������� �,)�����!�#�' �() U

' �! �,)�����!�*�%"��< ���)�#'"(O�' �! 

#4=FF7-7@�@./NB7�-.JAM�1�>B=94A�>7-�B397=-�:74-7�0.-

8.94=397-�F-.J9�A4.8EM�<393:/:�GCC::�@7>45�.0

A>783038�>/->.A7�0-77�@-=3939F�4.>A.3B�4.�O#�1WWIQICRH

0.-�57@F7�>B=9439F

TA77���������� �,)�����!�#�' �() U

!"�##$%"&#�*�,"%,%# ��)���#��, ��("+

�-7=A�.0�>-.>.A7@�=:79346�F-=AA�4/-0�39A4=BB7@�/>.9�=

:393:/:�.0�RHC::�@7>45�.0�A>783038�>/->.A7�0-77

@-=3939F�4.>A.3B�4.�O#�1WWIQICRHM�#.3B�B7?7B7@�=9@

>-7>=-7@�4.�=�0397�43B45�>-3.-�4.�4/-0�B=639FM

TA77���������� �,)�����!�#�' �() U

�����
�53A�@-=J39F�39@38=47A�@7A3F9�=--=9F7:794�.9B6M��BB�J.-EA�4.�N7�/9@7-4=E79�39

=88.-@=987�J345�N7A4�>-=84387�=9@�=BB�8/--794�O#�S�O/3B@39F�"7F/B=43.9AM��.�9.4�A8=B7
0-.:�@-=J39FM�(A7�03F/-7@�@3:79A3.9A�.9B6�=047-�8578E39FM

 ��#���!��"  #�S�� ! ����%���%�O �" <%� �

�=9.>6�N./9@=-6�.0�7P3A439F�4-77A�S�?7F74=43.9�4.�N7

-7:.?7@�=A�>.A343.97@�0.BB.J39F�4.>.F-=>538=B�A/-?76

.0�457�7P3A439F�A347�S��-N.-38/B4/-=B��:>=84��AA7AA:794

S�<745.@�#4=47:794�T�,,U�N6�,̀���.9A/B4=986�)4@M

,̀�ZV[RRZIGZ��"7?�CR��=47@�RR45��.?M�IG

�BB�J.-EA�4.�8.90.-:�4.

O#�HW1[QICRI��-77A�39�-7B=43.9�4.�@7A3F9��@7:.B343.9�=9@�8.9A4-/843.9M�,B/A�8.90.-:39F

4.�=-N.-38/B4/-=B�:745.@�A4=47:794AM

O#�GGIWQR\W\��.@7�.0�>-=84387�0.-�F797-=B�B=9@A8=>7�.>7-=43.9A�27P8B/@39F�5=-@
A/-0=87A;

O#�WHGHQICRG��-77AQ�0-.:�9/-A7-6�4.�39@7>79@7987�39�457�B=9@A8=>7M
"78.::79@=43.9A

�#�<��HIVW�*�R1

#4=9@=-@�#>783038=43.9�0.-��.>A.3B�(A7@�0.-�)=9@A8=>39F�,/->.A7A

'�"��)���#��, �*�,"%,%# ��O)%�&�,����!

,-.>.A7@�:3P7@�A3̂7�NB.8E�>=?39F�/934A�B=3@�-=9@.:B6M

����������������������������������������������

�������������

'�"��)���#��, �*�,"%,%# �����("�)�#�%� 

,����!

)=3@Q�#4=FF7-7@

����������������������������������������������

���������������������������������������������������

 ��#���!�" ���� ���"  #

"74=397@�4-77A�=9@�8=9.>6�N./9@=-6�.0�7P3A439F�4-77A

=A�>.A343.97@�0.BB.J39F�4.>.F-=>538=B�A/-?76�.0�457

7P3A439F�A347�S��-N.-38/B4/-=B��:>=84��AA7AA:794�S

<745.@�#4=47:794�T�,,U�N6�,̀���.9A/B4=986�)4@M�"70M

,̀�ZV[RRZIGZ��"7?�CR��=47@�RR45��.?M�IG

,"%,%# ��#, ��< ��<()��*#� <�#'"(O�,)���#

<393:/:�VCC::�@7>45�.0�A>783038�>/->.A7�0-77

@-=3939F�4.>A.3B�4.�O#�1WWIQICRH�0.-�B=-F7�A>783:79

A5-/N�>B=9439FM

TA77���������� �,)�����!�#�' �() U

RMW:�4-7=47@�43:N7-��B.A7N.=-@�07987�A6A47:�J345�43:N7-�>.A4�S

F-=?7B�N.=-@

,"%,%# ��,) ��' ���"  #

,B7=857@�4-77�>B=9439F�>-.>.A7@M�<393:/:�GCC::

@7>45�.0�A>783038�>/->.A7�0-77�@-=3939F�4.>A.3B�4.�O#

1WWIQICRH�0.-�4-77�>B=9439F

TA77���������� �,)�����!�#�' �() U

,"%,%# ��#, ��< ���"  #

#>783:79�4-77�S�B=-F7�A5-/N�>B=9439F�>-.>.A7@M

<393:/:�GCC::�@7>45�.0�A>783038�>/->.A7�0-77

@-=3939F�4.>A.3B�4.�O#�1WWIQICRH�0.-�4-77�>B=9439F

TA77���������� �,)�����!�#�' �() U

 
¡¢������������£

".8EA�L=-@���384.-3=�".=@�

'7-A4:.987/P��'=3BA5=:�� =A4�#/AA7P�

O�I[�G�KM

4Q�CR1I1�W1IRIC

7Q�8.94=84t>]88.9A/B4=986M8.:

JQ�JJJM>]88.9A/B4=986M8.:

����������"%<���&(<�"

¡���������¤��

G[

#$  ��"%+��)�� 

(�O"��! 

(ORC�\) 

¥��¦�����������,-.>.A7@�)=9@A8=>7�,B=9

¥��¦��������,̀�MRI1HMCCR��������� §�����

������� RQICC�����I� ¥���Q�I[MCVMICI1

¥��¦��̈£�����" ¥��������̈£�����"

#8=B7�2:;

� <39.-�=:79@:794A�4.�>-.>.A7@�B=9@A8=>7�=--=9F7:794��R\MRRMIG

O �:79@:794A�4.�398B/@7�7?7-F-779�A8-77939F�� �������CGMC1MIH

Page 245



Site Boundary

© Crown copyright and database
 rights 2024 Ordnance Survey

AC0000810857

1:1,250

  KEY :

  DISCLAIIMER :

 ADDRESS :

 PLANNING APPLICATION
REFERENCE :

LONDON BOROUGH OF HILLINGDON

RESIDENTS SERVICES
PLANNING SECTION

CIVIC CENTRE, UXBRIDGE, UB8 1UW SCALE :

1:1,250

 PLANNING COMMITTEE :  DATE :

December 2025

47 SWEETCROFT

15756/APP/2024/3112

18

39

13

45a

38.1m

61

45

56

SWEETCROFT

41

FB

12

35

51

52

21

47

49

LANE

23

33

AN GARDENS

53

69

65

57

43

29a

40.2m

33a

31

Drain

37

26

29

Page 246



Ariel Hotel, 118 BATH ROAD

Reconfiguration, alteration, and extension of existing hotel (providing 
additional hotel rooms) (Use Class C1), together with erection of a new 
apart-hotel building (Use Class C1) on car park land to the north

1126/APP/2023/3671

Page 247



�
�
�
�

�
�
��
	

�
��


��
�
�
��
��
�


�
�


��
�
��
�
�

�
�
��
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
��
�

�
�
�
��
 
!
"#
$
%
&#
�
"'
(
� 
#
)

�
*
�+
*
,�


-
.
�
�
�/
0
*
1
�,
2
3

��
0
.
4
3+
�
5

�
*
�+
*
,�
6


�
�.
+
7
�.
0
�
.


�3
+
�
3-
.
,
�
�

/*
0
��
3,
2
�
0
��
.
�6
.
,
3*
+
��
�
6
0
-
2
.


�



.
�
�
�*
0
�.
+
7
�*
,
2
�
0
�/
*
0
1
�*
/

�
��
.
�
� 7
�8
3+
�
3+
�
�-
*
+
,
0
.
-
,5

�
*
�+
*
,�
0
�
�
0
*
�
6
-
�
�.
+
7
��
.
0
,�
*
/

,
2
3

��
0
.
4
3+
�
�4
3,
2
*
6
,�
�
0
3*
0

4
0
3,
,
�
+
�-
*
+


�
+
,5
��
,
2
3

��
0
.
4
3+
�

0
�
1
.
3+


�,
2
�
�-
*
�
7
0
3�
2
,�
*
/

.
-
9
0
*
7
�
��
*
4
0
3�
��
,
�
5

:
�
;

<
�
=
>
�
?�
�

?@
@
A
�

BC
BD
E
F
G
>
H

�
I
��

D
H
JB
BJ
D
F
D
H

�
�I
K



-
�
�
L
M�
�



L
I
N�

OP
>
Q

RS
T
R�
U�
V
WX
Y
Z�
[
\
]Y
Z

�
0
*
�̂
-
,

_
\̀
a
]
X\
b
�c
Za
b

RS
T
RU
S
S
R

�
0
.
4
3+
�

�
0
.
4
3+
�
�+
*
5

0
�
�
3

3*
+

�d
�e
(
�
fg
"#
�
�>
"'
(
&�
�
h
 
#
�<
')
'f
(
%

-
�
3�
+
,

i
&�
j
j
'j
k

-
l
��
�


��


�I
m
�

c
R

0
�
n5

�
I
��

-
�
o
o
�


�

�
p

�
�
qp
pq
�
�
�
�

�
NI




r

m
�3
ss
l
�



r�
�
�t
�
l


�
I
�	

u
v
wx
y

z

v{|
v}{

u
z
~

�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�

�
�
��
�

v{x

�

v{z

�
�
�
��
�
�

u
v
wx
y

�
�

v{{

zz����z{

v{�

�
�
���
�
�
��
�
�

z

z
��
�
�z
�

�
�
�
��
��

�

u
v
wx
y

�
�
�
��
�
�

�
�

z
z
}

�

�
�
�
��
��

�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
	

�
�
�


�
�
�
�

�

� �
��
�
�
�

�
�
�

Page 248



����

����	
���
���������
��
�������
�����������������
����� !"#$%&#�"'(� #)

*�+ ,�-.�/�� /001�

234556.2

�7����78
 9��:;�� 
:7<� 9=���
��
�7>�

?&�@@'@ABC �,

DEFD�G�HIJKL�MNOKL

PQR�

�S�T(�UV"#��."'(&��W #�,')'U(%

XYJZOJ[\�]JOK�̂L_[DEFDGEDE

� Q̀abP�

9�b�Pc

� Q̀abP��Pde �̀�b
bdP

?S�B�-�

4fg22g454f

�d�Pdc�
9Q���h̀dR�cib
��̀ QabP�e

�d�Pdc�j
��QPk�Q̀ �Q
�bP�b9Qc���hd̀ ��bci�̀��Q�jQcbdP���j̀ 9iQ
�

Q���d̀ �QPk�dci�̀�hd̀ R�dh����Q��k�lbP�bP��9dPc̀Q9ce

�d�Pdc�̀��̀d�j9��QPk��Q̀c�dh�cib
��̀ QabP��abcidjc��̀bd̀
a b̀cc�P�9dP
�Pce��cib
��̀ QabP��̀�RQbP
�ci��9d�k̀b�ic�dh
Q9m̀dk���da b̀���c�e D̂

�̀ne �7�� 9�oo�
�

�p ��qppq���� �<7

r
>�bss=�

r���t�=
�7�	

uvwuxyz�{v|x}~

w�}w�zuz

{�

w�}w�zuz

{�

w�}w�zuz

{�

w�}w�zuz

�z��

w�}w�zuz

�z��

w�}w�zuz

�z��

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

ux��z���

�v�{��{

�

{v|z�z}u

yx~�u

ux��z���

ux��z���

w�}w�zuz

�v���uv}�x}~

w�}w�zuz

�v���uv}�x}~

uxyz�

{�

w�}w�zuz

�v���uv}�x}~

{yx}u�

ux��z���

y{

y{

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

y{

w�}w�zuz

{�

w�}w�zuz

{�

w�}w�zuz

{�

w�}w�zuz

{�

w�}w�zuz

{�

w�}w�zuz

�z��

w�}w�zuz

�z��
w�}w�zuz

�z��

{v|z�z}u

yx~�u

{v|z�z}u

yx~�u

{v|z�z}u

yx~�u

{v|z�z}u

yx~�u

�

�
�

�zuvy��~

w�}w�zuz

{�

w�}w�zuz

�z��

w�}w�zuz

�z��

w�}w�zuz

�z��

w�}w�zuz

�z��

�zuvy��~

�zuvy��~

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

w�}w�zuz

�v���uv}�x}~

��xw�

{v|x}~

uv��vw

wv��{v��

uv��vw

wv��{v��

y{

y{

�~

�~

�v��xz�

�v��xz�

�~

�zuvy��~

�zuvy��~

��xw�

{v|x}~

�~

�~

�~

|z

|z

|z

�~

y{

~�

~�

~�

~�

��xw�

{v|x}~

��xw�

{v|x}~

uv��vw

{vu�

uv��vw

{vu�

w���yz�

�z}�z���

�z}�z���

�z}�z���

��xw���

y{

�~

y{

ux��z���

ux��z���

ux��z���

ux��z���

ux��z���

ux��z���

ux��z���

ux��z���

ux��z���

ux��z���

ux��z���

ux��z���

ux��z���

ux��z���

ux��z���

ux��z���

w�}w�zuz
{��u���
�x�z��z��

w�}w�zuz
{��u���
�x�z��z��

y{

y{

y{

y{

y{

y{

w���yz�

uv��vw

wv��{v��

uv��vw

wv��{v��

uv��vw

wv��{v��

uv��vw

wv��{v��

uv��vw

wv��{v��

uv��vw

wv��{v��

~�v|zy

�

�

�

~�

~�

~�v|zy

~�v|zy

~�

~�

~�

~�

~�

~�

~�

~�v|zy

�{zz�

�z�u�xwu��

�v�{��{

ux��z���

��xw���
����zuvy
�~

y{

y{

��xw���
����zuvy
�~

uv��vw

{vu�

�~
�yvuz

w�x{{x}~�

~�

~�

~�

~�

~�

~�

uv��vw
{��yxw
�x~��v�

��xw�

{v|x}~

��xw�

{v|x}~

��xw�

{v|x}~

uv��vw

wv��{v��

uv��vw

wv��{v��

uv��vw

wv��{v��

uv��vw

wv��{v��

uv��vw

wv��{v��

��xw�

{v|x}~

�
�x�~
��
����
�u
��
�z
�z
�u
����
�v
��
�y
�x�}
�~
�u
��
�}

�
�x�~
��
����
�u
��
�z
�z
�u
����
�v
��
�y
�x�}
�~
�u
��
�}

��v�u���������v��

��v�u���������v��

��xw���
����zuvy
�~

��xw���
����zuvy
�~

��xw���
����zuvy
�~

��xw���

��xw���
����zuvy
�~

��xw���
����zuvy
�~

��xw���
����zuvy
�~

�~

���

���

�~

�yvuz

w�x{{x}~�

~�

y{

y{

y{

y{

y{

uv��vw

wv��{v��

uv��vw

wv��{v��

uv��vw

wv��{v��

w���yz�

w���yz�

w���yz�

w���yz�

uv��vw

wv��{v��

uv��vw

wv��{v��

uv��vw

wv��{v��

uv��vw

wv��{v��

��xw�

{v|x}~

y{

y{

|z

|z

|z

y{

w�}w�zuz

�v���uv}�x}~

w�}w�zuz

�v���uv}�x}~

w�}w�zuz

�v���uv}�x}~

~�

~�

~�

~�

~�

�yvuz

w�x{{x}~�

�yvuz

w�x{{x}~�

w�}w�zuz

�v���uv}�x}~

��xw���

�~

ux��z�

{yv}uz�

�xuz�{yv}
�z�z�z}wz�{�x}u

�vyz
��w

�z�vyz��w

�zzux}~����

�zzux}~����

w�}�z�z}wz����

���}��

�x�z����{

���

���

���}��

�x�z����{

���

���

��w

�z�vyz�vu�����

��

���}��

�x�z����{

���

���

���}��

�x�z����{

���

���

yx�u

�xuw�z}

���}��

�x�z����{

���}��

�x�z����{

���

�u��z

{yv}u����

w���x���

w���x���

���}��

�x�z����{

���

���

wv�

�u��z

w�z�xwvy��u��z

�u��z

��x�~z

��x�~z
yv�}�������

wv�

wv�

wyzv}z���u��z�uz{��{

���|z�

vw��}xu

vw��}xu

vw��}xu

vw��}xu

vw��}xu

vw��}xu

{yv}u

vw��}xu

vw��}xu

vw��}xu

vw��}xu

vw��}xu

w�}w�zuz

{�

~�v|zy

w�}w�zuz

{�

~�

vw��}xu

�z�uv��v}u

�uz{��{�

�uz{��{�

�uz{��{�

zyzwu�xw�

w�y��}

w�y��}

w�y��}

w�y��}

w�y��}

w�y��}

w�y��}

�x�v�yz���w

w�y��}

w�y��}

w�y��}

z}u�v}wz

y����

���xwz

�uz{��{�

�zwz{ux�}

zyzwu�xw�

���xwz

���xwz

���xwz

�u��z

�zzux}~����

���xwz

�uvx��zyy

~v�z������

�u��z

zyzwu�xw�

|x�z������

y�w�z������

�u��z

�v}v~z������xwz

v��x}�wz}u�z

�x�z�z�xu

���}��

�x�z����{

���

���

���

���

�zw�}�v��

~yv�x}~

�zw�}�v��

~yv�x}~

�zw�}�v��

~yv�x}~

�zw�}�v��

~yv�x}~

�zw�}�v��

~yv�x}~

�zw�}�v��

~yv�x}~

�zw�}�v��

~yv�x}~�zw�}�v��

~yv�x}~

�zw�}�v��

~yv�x}~

�zw�}�v��

~yv�x}~

�zw�}�v��

~yv�x}~

�zw�}�v��

~yv�x}~

�zw�}�v��

~yv�x}~

�zw�}�v��

~yv�x}~

�zw�}�v��

~yv�x}~

�zw�}�v��

~yv�x}~

�zw�}�v��

~yv�x}~

���xwz

w�}w�zuz

{�

���xwz

���xwz

�u��z

���xwz

vww��}u�����

vww��}u�����

��w

w�y��}

�u��z

�u��z

�u��z

���xwz
�u��z

���xwz

���xwz

�u��z
�z�����

�uxyxu������

�uv�������

�uv�������

wvuz�x}~��v}v~z������xwz

�u��z

���

�����

���xwz

�u��z

�u��z

yx�u

yx�u

w{�

���xwz

w{�

w{�

y����

�u��z

���}��

�x�z����{

���xwz

w{�

�u��z

�u��z

���
���

~

y�w�z�����x}~
�}��xuz�|x�xu�
v�vxux}~����|z��z�|x�xu

���

�

z����� ¡����¢�{£¤  �¥���

� ¦ p�o

p����

Page 249



����

����	
���
���������
��
�������
�����������������
����� !"#$%&#�"'(� #)

*�+ ,�-.�/�� /001�

232445.2

�6����67
 8��9:�� 
96;� 8<���
��
�6=�

>&�??'?@A� �,

BCDB�E�FGHIJ�KLMIJ

NOP�

�Q�R(�ST"#��."'(&��U #�,')'S(%

VWHXMHYZ�[\XI]IYM�̂JLLG�_J\YBCDBECBB

� ÒabN�

8�b�Nc

� ÒabN��Nde �̀�b
bdN

>Q�f�-�

ghi22ig4gh

�d�Ndc�
8O���j̀dP�ckb
��̀ OabN�e

�d�Ndc�l
��ONm�Ò �O
�bN�b8Oc���jd̀ ��bck�̀��O�lOcbdN���l̀ 8kO
�

O���d̀ �ONm�dck�̀�jd̀ P�dj����O��m�nbN�bN��8dNc̀O8ce

�d�Ndc�̀��̀d�l8��ONm��Òc�dj�ckb
��̀ OabN��abckdlc��̀bd̀
a b̀cc�N�8dN
�Nce��ckb
��̀ OabN��̀�PObN
�ck��8d�m̀b�kc�dj
O8òdm���da b̀���c�e _B

�̀pe �6�� 8�qq�
�

�r ��srrs���� �;6

t
=�buu<�

t���v�<
�6�	

�wtu�t
=�u��<9�<��

xyz{|{}~
�{�{�{}�{����}~

���}��

��z{�z���

���

���

y}��{
����� ���}��

��z{�z���

���

�y�

���}��

��z{�z���

���

���~

�y�

�{|y�{
��y}��}�
���|

|y�{
��y}��}�
���|

����{�~�����|

z~��{

z~��{

z~��{

����z���

��y}~����|

��y}~����|

��y}~

��y}~

z��~�����|

���~
|�~��
���|

�|

x���{����z{

���

z~{����

z~{����

z~{����

z~{����

z~{����

z~{����

z~{����

z~{����

���

���

z~��{

��||z

z~��{

���~

z{��{����|

���~�|�~�����|

��y}~����|

~y}�

z~��{

���}��

��z{�z���

z��

����{�z

����{�z

z��

����{�z

����{�z

�x

�y��{�

y��{zz

�y��{�

y��{zz

�y�{|{}~

����~

�y�{|{}~

����~

�y�{|{}~

����~

�y�{|{}~

����~

�y�{|{}~

����~

��

��

�y~��

z~{����

�

{��������x�� ¡ ����¢�� �£���

� ¤ r�q

r����

Page 250



����

����	
���
���������
��
�������
�����������������
����� !"#$%&#�"'(� #)

*�+ ,�-.�/�� /001�

232445.2

�6����67
 8��9:�� 
96;� 8<���
��
�6=�

>&�??'?@A� �,

BCDB�E�FGHIJ�KLMIJ

NOP�

�Q�R(�ST"#��."'(&��U #�,')'S(%

VWHXMHYZ�[GL\Y]�̂JLLG�_J̀YBCDBECBa

�bOcdN�

8�d�Ne

�bOcdN��Nfg b��d
dfN

>Q�h�-�

ijk22ki4ij

�f�Nfe�
8O���lbfP�emd
��bOcdN�g

�f�Nfe�n
��ONo�Ob�O
�dN�d8Oe���lfb��dem�b��O�nOedfN���nb8mO
�

O���fb�ONo�fem�b�lfbP�fl����O��o�pdN�dN��8fNebO8eg

�f�Nfe�b��bf�n8��ONo��Obe�fl�emd
��bOcdN��cdemfne��bdfb
cbdee�N�8fN
�Neg��emd
��bOcdN��b�POdN
�em��8f�obd�me�fl
O8qbfo���fcbd���e�g _B

b�rg �6�� 8�ss�
�

�t ��uttu���� �;6

v
=�dww<�

v���x�<
�6�	

�yvw�v
=�w��<9�<��

z{|z}~���{�}��

|��|��z�

��

|��|��z�

��

|��|��z�

��

|��|��z�

����

|��|��z�

����

|��|��z�

����

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

z}������

�{�

�{�����z

~}��z

z}������

z}������

|��|��z�

�{���z{��}��

|��|��z�

�{���z{��}��

z}~��

��

|��|��z�

�{���z{��}��

�~}�z�

z}������

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

~�

|��|��z�

��

|��|��z�

��

|��|��z�

��

|��|��z�

��

|��|��z�

��

|��|��z�

����

|��|��z�

����
|��|��z�

����

�{�����z

~}��z

�{�����z

~}��z

�{�����z

~}��z

�{�����z

~}��z

�
�

��z{~���

|��|��z�

��

|��|��z�

����

|��|��z�

����

|��|��z�

����

|��|��z�

����

��z{~���

��z{~���

|��|��z�

�{���z{��}��

��}|�

�{�}��

��

��z{~���

��z{~���

|���~��

z{��{|

|{���{��

�����

���z�}|z��

��}|�

�{�}��

��}|�

�{�}��

��}|�

�{�}��

z{��{|

|{���{��

z{��{|

|{���{��

���

��{|

���{��

z{��{|

|{���{��

z{��{|

|{���{��

��}|�

�{�}��

z}����

�~{�z��

�}z���~{�
�������|����}�z

�{~�
��|

���{~���|

���z}������

���z}������

|�������|�����

������

�}�������

���

���

������

�}�������

���

���

��|

���{~��{z�����

��

������

�}�������

���

���

������

�}�������

���

���

~}�z

�}z|���

������

�}�������

������

�}�������

���

�z���

�~{�z����

|���}���

|���}���

������

�}�������

���

���

|{�

�z���

|���}|{~��z���

�z���

��}���

��}���
~{���������

|{�

|{�

|~�{�����z����z�����

������

{|���}z

{|���}z

{|���}z

{|���}z

{|���}z

{|���}z

�~{�z

{|���}z

{|���}z

{|���}z

{|���}z

{|���}z

|��|��z�

��

��{��~

|��|��z�

��

��

{|���}z

���z{��{�z

�z������

�z������

�z������

�~�|z�}|�

|�~���

|�~���

|�~���

|�~���

|�~���

|�~���

|�~���

�}�{�~����|

|�~���

|�~���

|�~���

��z�{�|�

~����

���}|�

�z������

��|��z}��

�~�|z�}|�

���}|�

���}|�

���}|�

�z���

���z}������

���}|�

�z{}���~~

�{��������

�z���

�~�|z�}|�

�}��������

~�|��������

�z���

�{�{��������}|�

{��}��|��z��

�}�����}z

������

�}�������

���

���

���

���

��|���{��

�~{�}��

��|���{��

�~{�}��

��|���{��

�~{�}��

��|���{��

�~{�}��

��|���{��

�~{�}��

��|���{��

�~{�}��

��|���{��

�~{�}����|���{��

�~{�}��

��|���{��

�~{�}��

��|���{��

�~{�}��

��|���{��

�~{�}��

��|���{��

�~{�}��

��|���{��

�~{�}��

��|���{��

�~{�}��

��|���{��

�~{�}��

��|���{��

�~{�}��

��|���{��

�~{�}��

���}|�

|��|��z�

��

���}|�

���}|�

�z���

���}|�

{||���z�����

{||���z�����

��|

|�~���

�z���

�z���

�z���

���}|�
�z���

���}|�

���}|�

�z���
�������

�z}~}z������

�z{�������

�z{�������

|{z��}����{�{��������}|�

�z���

���

���}|�

�z���

�z���

~}�z

~}�z

|��

���}|�

|��

|��

~����

�z���

������

�}�������

���}|�

|��

�z���

�z���

���
���

�

~�|�������}��
����}z���}�}z�
{�{}z}�������������}�}z

���

 

�¡¢£¤¢¥¦��§̈©¥ª��«¬¥ �­���

� ® t�s

t����

Page 251



����

����	
���
���������
��
�������
�����������������
����� !"#$%&#�"'(� #)

*�+ ,�-.�/�� /001�

232445.2

�6����67
 8��9:�� 
96;� 8<���
��
�6=�

>&�??'?@A� �,

BCDB�E�FGHIJ�KLMIJ

NOP�

�Q�R(�ST"#��."'(&��U #�,')'S(%

VWHXMHYZ�[HGXM�[JLLG�\J]YBCDBECB̂

�_O`aN�

8�a�Nb

�_O`aN��Ncd _��a
acN

>Q�e�-�

fgh22hf4fg

�c�Ncb�
8O���i_cP�bja
��_Ò aN�d

�c�Ncb�k
��ONl�O_�O
�aN�a8Ob���ic_��abj�_��O�kObacN���k_8jO
�

O���c_�ONl�cbj�_�ic_P�ci����O��l�maN�aN��8cNb_O8bd

�c�Ncb�_��_c�k8��ONl��O_b�ci�bja
��_Ò aN��̀abjckb��_ac_
`_abb�N�8cN
�Nbd��bja
��_Ò aN��_�POaN
�bj��8c�l_a�jb�ci
O8n_cl���c̀ _a���b�d \B

_�od �6�� 8�pp�
�

�q ��rqqr���� �;6

s
=�att<�

s���u�<
�6�	

�vst�s
=�t��<9�<��

wxyz{�w|}}y
y~w~y~��~��}x�{

|}��~����yx��
}��zx{~��xzx{�
���x{x���z�y�~�y~��xzx{

|}��~����yx��
}��zx{~��xzx{�
���x{x���z�y�~�y~��xzx{

|}��~����yx��
}��zx{~��xzx{�
���x{x���z�y�~�y~��xzx{

|}��~����yx��
}��zx{~��xzx{�
���x{x���z�y�~�y~��xzx{

|}��~����yx��
}��zx{~��xzx{�
���x{x���z�y�~�y~��xzx{

|}��~����yx��
}��zx{~��xzx{�
���x{x���z�y�~�y~��xzx{

|}��~����yx��
}��zx{~��xzx{�
���x{x���z�y�~�y~��xzx{

|}��~����yx��
}��zx{~��xzx{�
���x{x���z�y�~�y~��xzx{

|}��~����yx��
}��zx{~��xzx{�
���x{x���z�y�~�y~��xzx{

|}��~����yx��
}��zx{~��xzx{�
���x{x���z�y�~�y~��xzx{

|}��~����yx��
}��zx{~��xzx{�
���x{x���z�y�~�y~��xzx{

|}��~����yx��
}��zx{~��xzx{�
���x{x���z�y�~�y~��xzx{

|}��~����yx��
}��zx{~��xzx{�
���x{x���z�y�~�y~��xzx{

�}yyx�}y

�}yyx�}y

|}���

z{�xy�~||

z{}y~

z{}y~

���

z{�xy�~||

�}yyx�}y

�}yyx�}y

�}yyx�}y

�}yyx�}y

���

���

���

���

���

����}�

yxz~yz���

z{�xy�~||

���

���

���

���

����}�

yxz~yz���

�

~��������w�����w���� �����

�   q�p

q����

Page 252



����

����	
���
���������
��
�������
�����������������
����� !"#$%&#�"'(� #)

*�+ ,�-.�/�� /001�

232445.2

�6����67
 8��9:�� 
96;� 8<���
��
�6=�

>&�??'?@A� �,

BCDB�E�FGHIJ�KLMIJ

NOP�

�Q�R(�ST"#��."'(&��U #�,')'S(%

VWHXMHYZ�[I\LY]�E�̂_HG]�̀JLLG�aJbYBCDBECBD

�cOdeN�

8�e�Nf

�cOdeN��Ngh c��e
egN

>Q�i�-�

jkl22lj4jk

�g�Ngf�
8O���mcgP�fne
��cOdeN�h

�g�Ngf�o
��ONp�Oc�O
�eN�e8Of���mgc��efn�c��O�oOfegN���oc8nO
�

O���gc�ONp�gfn�c�mgcP�gm����O��p�qeN�eN��8gNfcO8fh

�g�Ngf�c��cg�o8��ONp��Ocf�gm�fne
��cOdeN��defngof��cegc
dceff�N�8gN
�Nfh��fne
��cOdeN��c�POeN
�fn��8g�pce�nf�gm
O8rcgp���gdce���f�h aB

c�sh �6�� 8�tt�
�

�u ��vuuv���� �;6

w
=�exx<�

w���y�<
�6�	

�zwx�w
=�x��<9�<��

{|}~�����~~�
�|�|�|�}|��~���

�~}�|��������
~��{��|���{���
���������{���|��|���{��

�~}�|��������
~��{��|���{���
���������{���|��|���{��

�~}�|��������
~��{��|���{���
���������{���|��|���{��

�~}�|��������
~��{��|���{���
���������{���|��|���{��

�~}�|��������
~��{��|���{���
���������{���|��|���{��

�~}�|��������
~��{��|���{���
���������{���|��|���{��

�~}�|��������
~��{��|���{���
���������{���|��|���{��

�~}�|��������
~��{��|���{���
���������{���|��|���{��

�~}�|��������
~��{��|���{���
���������{���|��|���{��

�~}�|��������
~��{��|���{���
���������{���|��|���{��

�~}�|��������
~��{��|���{���
���������{���|��|���{��

�~}�|��������
~��{��|���{���
���������{���|��|���{��

�~}�|��������
~��{��|���{���
���������{���|��|���{��

}~����~�

}~����~�

�~���

{�����|��

{�~�|

{�~�|

}��

{�����|��

}~����~�

}~����~�

}~����~�

}~����~�

���

���

���

���

���

����~�

��{|�{���

{�����|��

���

���

���

���

���

���

����~�

��{|�{���

�

|������ �{¡¢£�¤����¥�¦¤��§££¦ �̈���

� © u�t

u����

Page 253



����

����	
���
���������
��
�������
�����������������
����� !"#$%&#�"'(� #)

*�+ ,�-.�/�� /001�

232445.2

�6����67
 8��9:�� 
96;� 8<���
��
�6=�

>&�??'?@A� �,

BCDB�E�FGHIJ�KLMIJ

NOP�

�Q�R(�ST"#��."'(&��U #�,')'S(%

VWHXMHYZ�[L\GM]�[JLLG�̂J_YBCDBECB̀

�aObcN�

8�c�Nd

�aObcN��Nef a��c
ceN

>Q�g�-�

hij22jh4hi

�e�Ned�
8O���kaeP�dlc
��aObcN�f

�e�Ned�m
��ONn�Oa�O
�cN�c8Od���kea��cdl�a��O�mOdceN���ma8lO
�

O���ea�ONn�edl�a�keaP�ek����O��n�ocN�cN��8eNdaO8df

�e�Ned�a��ae�m8��ONn��Oad�ek�dlc
��aObcN��bcdlemd��acea
bacdd�N�8eN
�Ndf��dlc
��aObcN��a�POcN
�dl��8e�nac�ld�ek
O8paen���ebac���d�f B̂

a�qf �6�� 8�rr�
�

�s ��tsst���� �;6

u
=�cvv<�

u���w�<
�6�	

�xuv�u
=�v��<9�<��

yz{|�}|
~���{�

��}��{y

��}��{y

��}��{y

yz{|�}|
~���{�

|���z

|���z����

��}��{y

yz{|y�}|

yz{|y�}|

����{�
���{yy

��}��{y

��}��{y

��}��{y

��}��{y

��}��{y

������

��y{�y�}|

���

���

��}��{y

���}��

|���z����

����{
�����

����{
�����

����{
�����

������

��y{�y�}|

���

���

|���z

|���z

��}��{y

yz{|y�}|

����{�
���{yy

��}��{y

��}��{y

��}��{y

��}��{y

yz{|�}|
~���{�

yz{|y�}|

yz{|y�}|

��}��{y

|���z

�{z�����

�����

���{yy

��z��

|�

|�

|�

|�

|�

|�

|�

|�

|�

|�

|�

|�

|�

|�

|�

��z�}�{����

��z�}�{����

��z�}�{����

��z�}�{����

��z�}�{����

��z�}�{����

��z�}�{����

��z�}�{����

��z�}�{����

����z{��z��{����{yyz���������{��
}����{�z��y}��{�{�z{�������{�

����z{��z��{����{yyz���������{��
}����{�z��y}��{�{�z{�������{�

����z{��z��{����{yyz���������{��
}����{�z��y}��{�{�z{�������{�

����z{��z��{����{yyz���������{��
}����{�z��y}��{�{�z{�������{�

����z{��z��{����{yyz���������{��
}����{�z��y}��{�{�z{�������{�

�

{���������� ¡�¢��£��¡ �¤���

� ¥ s�r

s����

Page 254



����

����	
���
���������
��
�������
�����������������
����� !"#$%&#�"'(� #)

*�+ ,�-.�/�� /001�

232445.2

�6����67
 8��9:�� 
96;� 8<���
��
�6=�

>&�??'?@A� �,

BCDB�E�FGHIJ�KLMIJ

NOP�

�Q�R(�ST"#��."'(&��U #�,')'S(%

VWHXMHYZ�[LL\�]ĴYBCDBECB_

� ÒabN�

8�b�Nc

� ÒabN��Nde �̀�b
bdN

>Q�f�-�

ghi22ig4gh

�d�Ndc�
8O���j̀dP�ckb
��̀ OabN�e

�d�Ndc�l
��ONm�Ò �O
�bN�b8Oc���jd̀ ��bck�̀��O�lOcbdN���l̀ 8kO
�

O���d̀ �ONm�dck�̀�jd̀ P�dj����O��m�nbN�bN��8dNc̀O8ce

�d�Ndc�̀��̀d�l8��ONm��Òc�dj�ckb
��̀ OabN��abckdlc��̀bd̀
a b̀cc�N�8dN
�Nce��ckb
��̀ OabN��̀�PObN
�ck��8d�m̀b�kc�dj
O8òdm���da b̀���c�e ]B

�̀pe �6�� 8�qq�
�

�r ��srrs���� �;6

t
=�buu<�

t���v�<
�6�	

�wtu�t
=�u��<9�<��

xyz

{|}|~���xy��

�||�

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

������
�xx���

�

������������������ �����

� � r�q

r����

Page 255



��
��
�
�
�
�

�
�
�	



�
��
��


�


�

�

�
�
�

�
�
	
�
�	
�

�
�
�
�	

�
�



	
�
��
�
��
�
	

�
��
�
�
��
�

 
!
"
#

$
%
�&
'�
	

�
�
�

	
	
�(
�)
*
�
�
*
�
�+
$
�,
�
-

.
�
/�
0
$
0
%
�1
1
0
�,
12
0

3
3
3
4�
5
6
78
9
:
�8
3
7�
;
45
8
<

=
#
>

?
!
@
�
"
A!
 

AB
B
C
#

�
D
�E
D
F�
�
�
G
)
+
�H
I
D
J
�F
K
L�
��
I
G
M
LE
-
N

�
D
�E
D
F�
O
�
+
�G
E
P
�G
I
+
G
�
�L
E
�
L�
G
F
+
�
�H
D
I
�+
LF
K
+
I
�&
G
)O
G
F
LD
E
(�
.
O
I
�
K
G
�
+

�
G
)
+
�D
I
�G
E
P
�D
F
K
+
I
�H
D
I
J
�D
H�
)
+-
G
)
)P
�Q
LE
�
LE
-
��
D
E
F
I
G
�
FN

�
D
�E
D
F�
I
+
.
I
D
�
O
�
+
�G
E
P
�.
G
I
F�
D
H�
F
K
L�
��
I
G
M
LE
-
�M
LF
K
D
O
F�
.
I
LD
I

M
I
LF
F
+
E
��
D
E
�
+
E
FN
��
F
K
L�
��
I
G
M
LE
-
�I
+
J
G
LE
�
�F
K
+
� �
D
.
P
I
L-
K
F�
D
H

G
�
R
I
D
P
�
�)
D
M
I
L+
�)
F
�
N

S
"

!
?

TU
V
T�
W�
X
YZ
[
\�
]̂
_[
\

E
G
J
+

�̀
�a
;
�
bc
78
3
��
7�
;
��
!
d
5
8
�?
�<
�b
;
:

e
f
Zg
_Z
h
i
�e
\[
j
k
_
Ẑ
h
g

TU
V
TW
l
U

�
I
G
M
LE
-

�
)
L+
E
F

�
I
G
M
LE
-
�E
D
N

I
+
&
L�
LD
E

m
T

�̀
!
n
#
@
"

I
	
oN

�
�
�	

�
*
p
p
	
�
�

.
q

$
%
rq
qr
$
0
$
%

.
��
�
�
s�
�
�L
tt
�
	

�
s�
	
�u
*
�
�
�
�

'

0 q/
q0
0

q
v
p

w
x
yz
{y
|
}
�~
�
�
{�
�w
��
�
�
{y
�
|

w
x
yz
{y
|
}
��
�
�{
�
�w
��
�
�
{y
�
|

Page 256



��
��
�
�
�
�

�
�
�	



�
��
��


�


�

�

�
�
�

�
�
	
�
�	
�

�
�
�
�	

�
�



	
�
��
�
��
�
	

�
��
�
�
��
�

 
!
"
#

$
%
�&
'�
	

�
�
�

	
	
�(
�)
*
�
�
*
�
�+
$
�,
�
-

.
�
/�
0
$
0
%
�1
1
0
�,
12
0

3
3
3
4�
5
6
78
9
:
�8
3
7�
;
45
8
<

=
#
>

?
!
@
�
"
A!
 

AB
B
C
#

�
D
�E
D
F�
�
�
G
)
+
�H
I
D
J
�F
K
L�
��
I
G
M
LE
-
N

�
D
�E
D
F�
O
�
+
�G
E
P
�G
I
+
G
�
�L
E
�
L�
G
F
+
�
�H
D
I
�+
LF
K
+
I
�&
G
)O
G
F
LD
E
(�
.
O
I
�
K
G
�
+

�
G
)
+
�D
I
�G
E
P
�D
F
K
+
I
�H
D
I
J
�D
H�
)
+-
G
)
)P
�Q
LE
�
LE
-
��
D
E
F
I
G
�
FN

�
D
�E
D
F�
I
+
.
I
D
�
O
�
+
�G
E
P
�.
G
I
F�
D
H�
F
K
L�
��
I
G
M
LE
-
�M
LF
K
D
O
F�
.
I
LD
I

M
I
LF
F
+
E
��
D
E
�
+
E
FN
��
F
K
L�
��
I
G
M
LE
-
�I
+
J
G
LE
�
�F
K
+
� �
D
.
P
I
L-
K
F�
D
H

G
�
R
I
D
P
�
�)
D
M
I
L+
�)
F
�
N

S
"

!
?

TU
V
T�
W�
X
YZ
[
\�
]̂
_[
\

E
G
J
+

�̀
�a
;
�
bc
78
3
��
7�
;
��
!
d
5
8
�?
�<
�b
;
:

e
f
Zg
_Z
h
i
�e
\[
j
k
_
Ẑ
h
g

TU
V
TW
l
T

�
I
G
M
LE
-

�
)
L+
E
F

�
I
G
M
LE
-
�E
D
N

I
+
&
L�
LD
E

m
T

�̀
!
n
#
@
"

I
	
oN

�
�
�	

�
*
p
p
	
�
�

.
q

$
%
rq
qr
$
0
$
%

.
��
�
�
s�
�
�L
tt
�
	

�
s�
	
�u
*
�
�
�
�

'

0 q/
q0
0

q
v
p

w
x
yz
{y
|
}
�~
�
z
{�
w
��
�
�
{y
�
|

w
x
yz
{y
|
}
�w
�
z
{�
w
��
�
�
{y
�
|

Page 257



��
��
�
�
�
�

�
�
�	



�
��
��


�


�

�

�
�
�

�
�
	
�
�	
�

�
�
�
�	

�
�



	
�
��
�
��
�
	

�
��
�
�
��
�

 
!
"
#

$
%
�&
'�
	

�
�
�

	
	
�(
�)
*
�
�
*
�
�+
$
�,
�
-

.
�
/�
0
$
0
%
�1
1
0
�,
12
0

3
3
3
4�
5
6
78
9
:
�8
3
7�
;
45
8
<

=
#
>

?
!
@
�
"
A!
 

AB
B
C
#

�
D
�E
D
F�
�
�
G
)
+
�H
I
D
J
�F
K
L�
��
I
G
M
LE
-
N

�
D
�E
D
F�
O
�
+
�G
E
P
�G
I
+
G
�
�L
E
�
L�
G
F
+
�
�H
D
I
�+
LF
K
+
I
�&
G
)O
G
F
LD
E
(�
.
O
I
�
K
G
�
+

�
G
)
+
�D
I
�G
E
P
�D
F
K
+
I
�H
D
I
J
�D
H�
)
+-
G
)
)P
�Q
LE
�
LE
-
��
D
E
F
I
G
�
FN

�
D
�E
D
F�
I
+
.
I
D
�
O
�
+
�G
E
P
�.
G
I
F�
D
H�
F
K
L�
��
I
G
M
LE
-
�M
LF
K
D
O
F�
.
I
LD
I

M
I
LF
F
+
E
��
D
E
�
+
E
FN
��
F
K
L�
��
I
G
M
LE
-
�I
+
J
G
LE
�
�F
K
+
� �
D
.
P
I
L-
K
F�
D
H

G
�
R
I
D
P
�
�)
D
M
I
L+
�)
F
�
N

S
"

!
?

TU
V
T�
W�
X
YZ
[
\�
]̂
_[
\

E
G
J
+

�̀
�a
;
�
bc
78
3
��
7�
;
��
!
d
5
8
�?
�<
�b
;
:

e
f
Zg
_Z
h
i
�j
h
_[
Yh
k
\�
e
\[
l
k
_
Ẑ
h
g

TU
V
TW
m
m

�
I
G
M
LE
-

�
)
L+
E
F

�
I
G
M
LE
-
�E
D
N

I
+
&
L�
LD
E

n
T

�̀
!
o
#
@
"

I
	
pN

�
�
�	

�
*
q
q
	
�
�

.
r

$
%
sr
rs
$
0
$
%

.
��
�
�
t�
�
�L
uu
�
	

�
t�
	
�v
*
�
�
�
�

'

0 r/
r0
0

r
w
q

x
y
z{
|z
}
~
��
}
|�
�}
�
��
�
�
�
|�
�x
��
�
�
|z
�
}

x
y
z{
|z
}
~
��
}
|�
�}
�
��
�
�
�|
�
�x
��
�
�
|z
�
}

Page 258



��
��
�
�
�
�

�
�
�	



�
��
��


�


�

�

�
�
�

�
�
	
�
�	
�

�
�
�
�	

�
�



	
�
��
�
��
�
	

�
��
�
�
��
�

 
!
"
#

$
%
�&
'�
	

�
�
�

	
	
�(
�)
*
�
�
*
�
�+
$
�,
�
-

.
�
/�
0
$
0
%
�1
1
0
�,
12
0

3
3
3
4�
5
6
78
9
:
�8
3
7�
;
45
8
<

=
#
>

?
!
@
�
"
A!
 

AB
B
C
#

�
D
�E
D
F�
�
�
G
)
+
�H
I
D
J
�F
K
L�
��
I
G
M
LE
-
N

�
D
�E
D
F�
O
�
+
�G
E
P
�G
I
+
G
�
�L
E
�
L�
G
F
+
�
�H
D
I
�+
LF
K
+
I
�&
G
)O
G
F
LD
E
(�
.
O
I
�
K
G
�
+

�
G
)
+
�D
I
�G
E
P
�D
F
K
+
I
�H
D
I
J
�D
H�
)
+-
G
)
)P
�Q
LE
�
LE
-
��
D
E
F
I
G
�
FN

�
D
�E
D
F�
I
+
.
I
D
�
O
�
+
�G
E
P
�.
G
I
F�
D
H�
F
K
L�
��
I
G
M
LE
-
�M
LF
K
D
O
F�
.
I
LD
I

M
I
LF
F
+
E
��
D
E
�
+
E
FN
��
F
K
L�
��
I
G
M
LE
-
�I
+
J
G
LE
�
�F
K
+
� �
D
.
P
I
L-
K
F�
D
H

G
�
R
I
D
P
�
�)
D
M
I
L+
�)
F
�
N

S
"

!
?

TU
V
T�
W�
X
YZ
[
\�
]̂
_[
\

E
G
J
+

�̀
�a
;
�
bc
78
3
��
7�
;
��
!
d
5
8
�?
�<
�b
;
:

e
f
Zg
_Z
h
i
�j
h
_[
Yh
k
\�
e
\[
l
k
_
Ẑ
h
g

TU
V
TW
m
n

�
I
G
M
LE
-

�
)
L+
E
F

�
I
G
M
LE
-
�E
D
N

I
+
&
L�
LD
E

o
T

�̀
!
p
#
@
"

I
	
qN

�
�
�	

�
*
r
r
	
�
�

.
s

$
%
ts
st
$
0
$
%

.
��
�
�
u�
�
�L
vv
�
	

�
u�
	
�w
*
�
�
�
�

'

0 s/
s0
0

s
x
r

y
z
{|
}{
~
�
��
~
}�
�~
�
��
�
�
|
}�
y
��
�
�
}{
�
~

y
z
{|
}{
~
�
��
~
}�
�~
�
��
y
�
|
}�
y
��
�
�
}{
�
~

Page 259



����

����	
���
���������
��
�������
�����������������
����� !"#$%&#�"'(� #)

*�+ ,�-.�/�� /001�

234556.2

�7����78
 9��:;�� 
:7<� 9=���
��
�7>�

?@ .A

BCDB�E�FGHIJ�KLMIJ

NOP�

�Q�R(�ST"#��."'(&��U #�,')'S(%

VGLWLXIY�ZHMI�VJ[\BCDBE]]

� Ô_ Ǹ�

9�̀�Na

� Ô_ Ǹ��Nbc �̂�̀
̀bN

dQ�?�-�

5ef22f454e

�b�Nba�
9O���ĝbP�ah̀
��̂ O_Ǹ�c

�b�Nba�i
��ONj�Ô �O
�̀N�̀9Oa���gb̂ ��̀ah�̂��O�iOàbN���î 9hO
�

O���b̂ �ONj�bah�̂�gb̂ P�bg����O��j�k̀N�̀N��9bNâO9ac

�b�Nba�̂��̂b�i9��ONj��Ôa�bg�ah̀
��̂ O_Ǹ��_àhbia��̂ b̀̂
_^̀aa�N�9bN
�Nac��ah̀
��̂ O_Ǹ��̂�PÒN
�ah��9b�ĵ �̀ha�bg
O9l̂bj���b_^̀���a�c VD

�̂mc �7�� 9�nn�
�

�o

��

��

�p

�oq��q����

opqo�q���p

��q�rq���r

�rqooq���r

�<7

s
>�it�7��

��78s
>�=t�7��

�sn�
us�
u�O����

�o ��qooq���� �<7

s
>�̀uu=�

s���v�=
�7�	

wxywz{|�}x~z��

y��y�|w|

}�

y��y�|w|

}�

y��y�|w|

}�

y��y�|w|

�|��

y��y�|w|

�|��

y��y�|w|

�|��

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�x�}��}

�

}x~|�|�w

{z��w

y��y�|w|

�x���wx��z��

wz��|���

{}

{}

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

{}

y��y�|w|

}�

y��y�|w|

}�

y��y�|w|

}�

y��y�|w|

}�

y��y�|w|

}�

y��y�|w|

�|��

y��y�|w|

�|��
y��y�|w|

�|��

}x~|�|�w

{z��w

}x~|�|�w

{z��w

�

�
�

�|wx{���

y��y�|w|

}�

y��y�|w|

�|��

y��y�|w|

�|��

y��y�|w|

�|��

y��y�|w|

�|��

�|wx{���

�|wx{���

�

�

y��y�|w|

�x���wx��z��

��zy�

}x~z��

wx��xy

yx��}x��

wx��xy

yx��}x��

{}

{}

��

��

�x��z|�

�x��z|�

��

�|wx{���

�|wx{���

��zy�

}x~z��

��

��

��

��

{}

��

��

��

��

��zy�

}x~z��

��zy�

}x~z��

wx��xy

}xw�

wx��xy

}xw�

y���{|�

�|��|���

�|��|���

�|��|���

��zy���

{}

{}

wz��|���

wz��|���

wz��|���

wz��|���

wz��|���

wz��|���

wz��|���

wz��|���

wz��|���

wz��|���

wz��|���

wz��|���

wz��|���

wz��|���

wz��|���

wz��|���

y��y�|w|
}��w���
�z�|��|��

{}

{}

{}

{}

{}

{}

y���{|�

wx��xy

yx��}x��

wx��xy

yx��}x��

wx��xy

yx��}x��

wx��xy

yx��}x��

wx��xy

yx��}x��

wx��xy

yx��}x��

��x~|{

�

�

�

��

��

��x~|{

��x~|{

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��x~|{

wz��|���

��zy���
����|wx{
��

{}

{}

��zy���
����|wx{
��

wx��xy

}xw�

��
�{xw|

y�z}}z���

��

��

��

��

��

��

wx��xy
}��{zy
�z���x�

��zy�

}x~z��

��zy�

}x~z��

��zy�

}x~z��

wx��xy

yx��}x��

wx��xy

yx��}x��

wx��xy

yx��}x��

��zy�

}x~z��

�
�z��
��
����
�w
��
�|
�|
�w
����
�x
��
�{
�z��
��
�w
��
��

�
�z��
��
����
�w
��
�|
�|
�w
����
�x
��
�{
�z��
��
�w
��
��

��x�w���������x��

��x�w���������x��

��zy���
����|wx{
��

��zy���
����|wx{
��

��zy���
����|wx{
��

��zy���

��zy���
����|wx{
��

��zy���
����|wx{
��

��zy���
����|wx{
��

��

���

���

��

�{xw|

y�z}}z���

��

{}

{}

{}

{}

{}

wx��xy

yx��}x��

wx��xy

yx��}x��

wx��xy

yx��}x��

y���{|�

y���{|�

y���{|�

y���{|�

wx��xy

yx��}x��

wx��xy

yx��}x��

wx��xy

yx��}x��

wx��xy

yx��}x��

��zy�

}x~z��

{}

{}

~|

{}

��

��

��

��

�{xw|

y�z}}z���

��zy���

��

wz��|�

}{x�w|�

������

�z�|����}

���

���

������

�z�|����}

���

���

��

������

�z�|����}

���

���

������

�z�|����}

���

���

������

�z�|����}

������

�z�|����}

���

y���z���

������

�z�|����}

���

���

yx�

yx�

yx�

�w|}��}

���~|�

�w|}��}�

�w|}��}�

�w|}��}�

|{|yw�zy�

y�{���

y�{���

y�{���

y�{���

y�{���

y�{���

y�{���

y�{���

�w|}��}�

|{|yw�zy�

|{|yw�zy�

�|y���x��

�{x�z��

���

�����

�w��|

y}�

y}�

y}�

y}�

���
���

�

{�y�|�����z��
����zw|�~z�zw�
x�xzwz������~|��|�~z�zw

�

����� ¡¢�£¤¥¡��¦§̈ ©ª«¬¬

� r o�n

o����

A�R

­®(̄S
,'°S̄

±®² S'#²
Q##)
³́�)4

�
��7
:�
���n�


n�;��
�7µ�


n�;�

�7µ�


n�;�

�7µ�

i�

i�

i�

i
�

i
�

i
�

�¶¬·̧¹¬¶̧¬¬¬
�©ºº̧¬¬¬̧¬¬¬

Q(̄S�®"�²S
»54�)4

A®&!�¼�̄S(
-#²S�'²("
4»�½)¾

a7¿s��7�;s
>
���

�����	�

���


���
��������

����������
��������

��������

��������

����� !������

"�##$

����

����	


		���

����

����

�����	�

����	

����	

����	

����	

����	

����
����

����	

����

����

����

����

����	

����	

�������


		���

����

�����


		���

����


		���

����

����

����

�����

����� �
!�"#

$%�&'�#%�#(�
)� *�%�+( �,

�	�-����

.��

/0%!'12%�#(�
)� *�%�+( �,

����	

3/%45)6%�+( �,

7%8  �,,�9*�%�+( �,

:;%����<��<%���=��

�>��	?

@@%A����%�>��	?

�#(��

��(#�12
8��(

B�*+
C�,D

)'EF�%G
H''I%8��(

�J�?������

��J�<�� .�K

B'#�*%L''M

3N%M/

B'#�*%L''M

3N%M/

B'#�*%L''M

3N%M/

B'#�*%L''M

3$%M/

B'#�*%L''M

3$%M/

B'#�*%L''M

3$%M/
B'#�*%L''M

3$%M/

B'#�*%L''M

3N%M/

B'#�*%L''M

3N%M/

B'#�*%L''M

3N%M/

B'#�*%L''M

3O%M/

B'#�*%L''M

3O%M/

8+(�#&'#�*%L''M

/$%M/
8+(�#&'#�*%L''M

/$%M/ 8+(�#&'#�*%L''M

PO%M/

8+(�#&'#�*%L''M

PO%M/

8+(�#&'#�*%L''M

/$%M/

8+(�#&'#�*%L''M

/$%M/

8+(�#&'#�*%L''M

70%M/
8+(�#&'#�*%L''M

/$%M/
8+(�#&'#�*%L''M

7/%M/
8+(�#&'#�*%L''M

/$%M/
8+(�#&'#�*%L''M

70%M/

8+(�#&'#�*%L''M

70%M/
8+(�#&'#�*%L''M

/$%M/
8+(�#&'#�*%L''M

7/%M/
8+(�#&'#�*%L''M

/$%M/
8+(�#&'#�*%L''M

70%M/

8+(�#&'#�*%L''M

P3%M/

8+(�#&'#�*%L''M

7/%M/

8+(�#&'#�*%L''M

7/%M/

8+(�#&'#�*%L''M

/$%M/

8+(�#&'#�*%L''M

70%M/

8+(�#&'#�*%L''M

/$%M/ 6*(1#QR46

/0%M/

45)6

45)6

45)6

45)6

45)645)645)645)645)645)6

45)6

45)6

HB
!S)8TUSV

3$
W/
/
O

X
Y
Z

[
Y

Y
\

X
Y
]

X
Y
Y

Ŷ

]%_̀%]a

Page 260



����

����	
���
���������
��
�������
�����������������
����� !"#$%&#�"'(� #)

*�+ ,�-.�/�� /001�

232445.2

�6����67
 8��9:�� 
96;� 8<���
��
�6=�

>&�??'?@AB .C

DEFD�G�HIJKL�MNOKL

PQR�

�S�T(�UV"#��."'(&��W #�,')'U(%

XINYNZK[�MNOKL�\]ZK̂ K_O�̀LNNI�XL]_DEFDGDEE

�aQbcP�

8�c�Pd

�aQbcP��Pef a��c
ceP

>S�A�-�

2gh24hi4ig

�e�Ped�
8Q���jaeR�dkc
��aQbcP�f

�e�Ped�l
��QPm�Qa�Q
�cP�c8Qd���jea��cdk�a��Q�lQdceP���la8kQ
�

Q���ea�QPm�edk�a�jeaR�ej����Q��m�ncP�cP��8ePdaQ8df

�e�Ped�a��ae�l8��QPm��Qad�ej�dkc
��aQbcP��bcdkeld��acea
bacdd�P�8eP
�Pdf��dkc
��aQbcP��a�RQcP
�dk��8e�mac�kd�ej
Q8oaem���ebac���d�f Xp

a�qf �6�� 8�rr�
�

�s

��

�st��t����

suts�t���u �;6

v
=�lw�6��

�s ��tsst���� �;6

v
=�cxx<�

v���y�<
�6�	

�zvx�v
=�x��<9�<��

���w�x���x��<9�<��

{$)
|}�)i

l
�

C�Th>&�?U
.~�(�'~U'?@
�gg�)i

C�Th>&�?U
.~���'~U'?@
���)i

�

����������������� �����

�

s�s��

s �r

Page 261



����

����	
���
���������
��
�������
�����������������
����� !"#$%&#�"'(� #)

*�+ ,�-.�/�� /001�

232445.2

�6����67
 8��9:�� 
96;� 8<���
��
�6=�

>&�??'?@AB .C

DEFD�G�HIJKL�MNOKL

PQR�

�S�T(�UV"#��."'(&��W #�,')'U(%

XINYNZK[�MNOKL�\IN]̂[�_LNNI�XL̀^DEFDGDED

�aQbcP�

8�c�Pd

�aQbcP��Pef a��c
ceP

>S�A�-�

2gh24hi4ig

�e�Ped�
8Q���jaeR�dkc
��aQbcP�f

�e�Ped�l
��QPm�Qa�Q
�cP�c8Qd���jea��cdk�a��Q�lQdceP���la8kQ
�

Q���ea�QPm�edk�a�jeaR�ej����Q��m�ncP�cP��8ePdaQ8df

�e�Ped�a��ae�l8��QPm��Qad�ej�dkc
��aQbcP��bcdkeld��acea
bacdd�P�8eP
�Pdf��dkc
��aQbcP��a�RQcP
�dk��8e�mac�kd�ej
Q8oaem���ebac���d�f Xp

a�qf �6�� 8�rr�
�

�s

��

�st��t����

suts�t���u �;6

v
=�lw�6��

�s ��tsst���� �;6

v
=�cxx<�

yz{y|}~��z�|��

{��{�~y~

��

{��{�~y~

��

{��{�~y~

��

{��{�~y~

�~��

{��{�~y~

�~��

{��{�~y~

�~��

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�z�����
�z�~�~�y

}|��y

{��{�~y~

�z���yz��|��

y|��~���

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

}�

{��{�~y~

��

{��{�~y~

��

{��{�~y~

��

{��{�~y~

��

{��{�~y~

��

{��{�~y~

�~��

{��{�~y~

�~��
{��{�~y~

�~��

�z�~�~�y

}|��y

�z�~�~�y

}|��y

�~yz}���

{��{�~y~

��

{��{�~y~

�~��

{��{�~y~

�~��

{��{�~y~

�~��

{��{�~y~

�~��

�~yz}���

�~yz}���

{��{�~y~

�z���yz��|��

��|{�

�z�|��

��

�~yz}���

�~yz}���

yz��z{

{z���z��

��|{�

�z�|��

��|{�

�z�|��

���

yz��z{

{z���z��

yz��z{

{z���z��

yz��z{

{z��z��

��|{�

�z�|��

y|��~�

�}z�y~�

������

�|�~�����

���

���

������

�|�~�����

���

���

��

������

�|�~�����

���

���

������

�|�~�����

���

���

������

�|�~�����

������

�|�~�����

���

{���|���

������

�|�~�����

���

���

{z�

{z�

{z�

�y~����

����~�

�y~�����

�y~�����

�y~�����

~}~{y�|{�

{�}���

{�}���

{�}���

{�}���

{�}���

{�}���

{�}���

{�}���

�y~�����

~}~{y�|{�

~}~{y�|{�

�~{���z��

�}z�|��

���

�y��~

{��

{��

{��

{��

���
���

�

}�{�~�����|��
����|y~��|�|y�
z�z|y|�������~��~��|�|y


v�����<
�6�	

��vx�v
=�x��<9�<��

���w�x���x��<9�<��

C�T

� (¡U
,'¢U¡

£ ? U'#?
S##)
¤g�)i

l�

l�

l�

S(¡U� "�?U
¥4i�)i

� U%##"
0W� (
g¥�)i

B�'?
�?U"�? (

,#¦¦$

�§ ©̈

0U#"(

B((U'?@
S##)

�§ ©̈

*'U V(?

0U#"(

0U#"(

0U#"(

0U#"(

0U#"(

0U�ª
S##)

0U#"(

�§ ©̈

�§ ©̈

�§ ©̈

�§ ©̈

0U#"(

0U#"(


��q��	

B((U'?@
S##)

,#¦¦$

B((U'?@
S##)

B((U'?@
S##)

�§ ©̈

�§ ©̈

>&�?U


��qv9�
�v«�

��
�����
�6	
8	9;��
w69�x

0U#"(

��Q99�xxv�;��
w69�x

k���;�a��r

s��r�

k���;�a��r

s��r�

k���;�a��r

s��r�

k���;�a��r

s��r�

k���;�a��r

s��r�

k���;�a��r

s��r�
k���;�a��r

s��r�

k���;�a��r

s��r�

k���;�a��r

s��r�

k���;�a��r

s��r�

k���;�a��r

s¬�r�

k���;�a��r

s¬�r�

­

®̄°±°²³́�µ̄°¶·́�̧¹°°̄ º»º¼¼

�

s�s��

s ½r

Page 262



����

����	
���
���������
��
�������
�����������������
����� !"#$%&#�"'(� #)

*�+ ,�-.�/�� /001�

232445.2

�6����67
 8��9:�� 
96;� 8<���
��
�6=�

>&�??'?@AB .C

DEFD�G�HIJKL�MNOKL

PQR�

�S�T(�UV"#��."'(&��W #�,')'U(%

XINYNZK[�MNOKL�\JIZOG]̂JI[�\LNNI�XL_̀DEFDGDEa

�bQcdP�

8�d�Pe

�bQcdP��Pfg b��d
dfP

>S�A�-�

2hi24ij4jh

�f�Pfe�
8Q���kbfR�eld
��bQcdP�g

�f�Pfe�m
��QPn�Qb�Q
�dP�d8Qe���kfb��del�b��Q�mQedfP���mb8lQ
�

Q���fb�QPn�fel�b�kfbR�fk����Q��n�odP�dP��8fPebQ8eg

�f�Pfe�b��bf�m8��QPn��Qbe�fk�eld
��bQcdP��cdelfme��bdfb
cbdee�P�8fP
�Peg��eld
��bQcdP��b�RQdP
�el��8f�nbd�le�fk
Q8pbfn���fcbd���e�g Xa

b�qg �6�� 8�rr�
�

�s

��

�st��t����

suts�t���u �;6

v
=�mw�6��

�s ��tsst���� �;6

v
=�dxx<�

�dke


m
�

m�

m�


eQdb


b�y<=�
Q��6

b�y<=�
Q��6

ofl


��qv9�
�vy�

l���;�b��r

sz�r�

l���;�b��r

sz�r� l���;�b��r

sz�r�

l���;�b��r

sz�r�

l���;�b��r

sz�r�

l���;�b��r

sz�r�

l���;�b��r

sz�r�

l���;�b��r

sz�r�

l���;�b��r

s{�r�

l���;�b��r

sz�r�

l���;�b��r

sz�r�

l���;�b��r

sz�r�

l���;�b��r

sz�r�
l���;�b��r

sz�r�l���;�b��r

s��r�

l���;�b��r

sz�r�

l���;�b��r

sz�r�

l���;�b��r

sz�r�

l���;�b��r

sz�r�

l���;�b��r

sz�r�

l���;�b��r

sz�r�

l���;�b��r

sz�r�

l���;�b��r

sz�r�

l���;�b��r

sz�r�

l���;�b��r

sz�r�

l���;�b��r

sz�r�

l���;�b��r

sz�r�

l���;�b��r

sz�r�

l���;�b��r

���r�

l���;�b��r

���r�

l���;�b��r

�u�r� l���;�b��r

���r�
l���;�b��r

���r�

l���;�b��r

���r�

l���;�b��r

���r�

l���;�b��r

���r�

l���;�b��r

���r�

l���;�b��r

�u�r�

l���;�b��r

���r�

l���;�b��r

���r�

l���;�b��r

���r�

l���;�b��r

���r�

l���;�b��r

���r�

l���;�b��r

���r�

l���;�b��r

���r�

l���;�b��r

���r�

l���;�b��r

���r�

l���;�b��r

���r�

l���;�b��r

���r�

l���;�b��r

���r�
l���;�b��r

���r�
l���;�b��r

���r�

l���;�b��r

���r�

l���;�b��r

���r�

l���;�b��r

�s�r�

l���;�b��r

s��r�

l���;�b��r

s��r�

l���;�b��r

���r�

l���;�b��r

���r�

l���;�b��r

���r�

l���;�b��r

���r�

l���;�b��r

���r�

Qr�
v�	

u{��r�


v���|�<
�6�	

�}vx�v
=�x��<9�<��

���w�x���x��<9�<��

~

���������������������������� �����

�

s�s��

s {r

Page 263



����

����	
���
���������
��
�������
�����������������
����� !"#$%&#�"'(� #)

*�+ ,�-.�/�� /001�

232445.2

�6����67
 8��9:�� 
96;� 8<���
��
�6=�

>&�??'?@AB .C

DEFD�G�HIJKL�MNOKL

PQR�

�S�T(�UV"#��."'(&��W #�,')'U(%

XINYNZK[�\N]IÔ�\LNNI�XL_̀DEFDGDEa

�bQcdP�

8�d�Pe

�bQcdP��Pfg b��d
dfP

>S�A�-�

2hi24ij4jh

�f�Pfe�
8Q���kbfR�eld
��bQcdP�g

�f�Pfe�m
��QPn�Qb�Q
�dP�d8Qe���kfb��del�b��Q�mQedfP���mb8lQ
�

Q���fb�QPn�fel�b�kfbR�fk����Q��n�odP�dP��8fPebQ8eg

�f�Pfe�b��bf�m8��QPn��Qbe�fk�eld
��bQcdP��cdelfme��bdfb
cbdee�P�8fP
�Peg��eld
��bQcdP��b�RQdP
�el��8f�nbd�le�fk
Q8pbfn���fcbd���e�g Xq

b�rg �6�� 8�ss�
�

�t

��

�tu��u����

tvut�u���v �;6

w
=�mx�6��

�t ��uttu���� �;6

w
=�dyy<�

ofl

v�s�
��s�

�dke


m�

m
�

m�


eQdb


b�z<=�
Q��6

b�z<=�
Q��6


��rw9�
�wz�

l���;�b��s

���s�

l���;�b��s

���s�

l���;�b��s

�{�s�

l���;�b��s

�{�s�

l���;�b��s

�{�s�

l���;�b��s

�{�s�

l���;�b��s

�v�s�

l���;�b��s

�{�s�

l���;�b��s

�{�s�

l���;�b��s

�{�s�
l���;�b��s

�{�s�

l���;�b��s

�{�s�

l���;�b��s

�{�s�

l���;�b��s

�{�s�

l���;�b��s

�{�s�

l���;�b��s

�v�s�

l���;�b��s

�v�s�

l���;�b��s

�{�s�

l���;�b��s

���s� l���;�b��s

���s�

l���;�b��s

���s�

l���;�b��s

���s�

l���;�b��s

���s�

l���;�b��s

���s�

l���;�b��s

���s�

l���;�b��s

���s�

l���;�b��s

���s�

l���;�b��s

���s�

l���;�b��s

���s�

l���;�b��s

���s�

l���;�b��s

�v�s�

l���;�b��s

���s�

l���;�b��s

���s�

l���;�b��s

���s�

l���;�b��s

���s�
l���;�b��s

���s�

l���;�b��s

���s�

l���;�b��s

�v�s�

l���;�b��s

���s�

l���;�b��s

���s�

l���;�b��s

���s�

l���;�b��s

���s�

l���;�b��s

���s�

l���;�b��s

���s�

l���;�b��s

���s�

l���;�b��s

t��s�

l���;�b��s

�t�s�

l���;�b��s

���s�

l���;�b��s

���s�

l���;�b��s

���s�

l���;�b��s

���s�


w���|�<
�6�	

�}wy�w
=�y��<9�<��

���x�y���y��<9�<��

~

��������������������� �����

�

t�t��

t {s

Page 264



����

����	
���
���������
��
�������
�����������������
����� !"#$%&#�"'(� #)

*�+ ,�-.�/�� /001�

232445.2

�6����67
 8��9:�� 
96;� 8<���
��
�6=�

>&�??'?@AB .C

DEFD�G�HIJKL�MNOKL

PQR�

�S�T(�UV"#��."'(&��W #�,')'U(%

XINYNZK[�MNOKL�\J]Ô�\LNNI�XL_̀DEFDGDEF

�aQbcP�

8�c�Pd

�aQbcP��Pef a��c
ceP

>S�A�-�

2gh24hi4ig

�e�Ped�
8Q���jaeR�dkc
��aQbcP�f

�e�Ped�l
��QPm�Qa�Q
�cP�c8Qd���jea��cdk�a��Q�lQdceP���la8kQ
�

Q���ea�QPm�edk�a�jeaR�ej����Q��m�ncP�cP��8ePdaQ8df

�e�Ped�a��ae�l8��QPm��Qad�ej�dkc
��aQbcP��bcdkeld��acea
bacdd�P�8eP
�Pdf��dkc
��aQbcP��a�RQcP
�dk��8e�mac�kd�ej
Q8oaem���ebac���d�f Xp

a�qf �6�� 8�rr�
�

�s

��

�st��t����

suts�t���u �;6

v
=�lw�6��

�s ��tsst���� �;6

v
=�cxx<�

nek

�cjd


l�


dQca


a�y<=�
Q��6

a�y<=�
Q��6


��qv9�
�vy�

k���;�a��r

���r�
k���;�a��r

���r�

k���;�a��r

���r�

k���;�a��r

���r�

k���;�a��r

���r�

k���;�a��r

���r�

k���;�a��r

���r�

k���;�a��r

���r�

k���;�a��r

���r�

k���;�a��r

���r�

k���;�a��r

���r�

k���;�a��r

�s�r�

k���;�a��r

�s�r�

k���;�a��r

�s�r�

k���;�a��r

���r�

k���;�a��r

���r�

k���;�a��r

���r�
k���;�a��r

���r�

k���;�a��r

���r�

k���;�a��r

�s�r�

k���;�a��r

s��r�

k���;�a��r

���r�

k���;�a��r

���r�

k���;�a��r

���r�

k���;�a��r

���r�

k���;�a��r

�z�r�

k���;�a��r

�z�r�

k���;�a��r

���r�

k���;�a��r

���r�

k���;�a��r

���r�

k���;�a��r

���r�

k���;�a��r

���r�

k���;�a��r

�z�r�

k���;�a��r

�z�r�

k���;�a��r

�z�r�

k���;�a��r

�u�r�

k���;�a��r

�u�r�

k���;�a��r

�z�r�

k���;�a��r

���r�

k���;�a��r

�z�r�

k���;�a��r

�z�r�

k���;�a��r

�z�r�

k���;�a��r

�z�r�

k���;�a��r

�u�r�

k���;�a��r

�z�r�

k���;�a��r

�z�r�

k���;�a��r

�z�r� k���;�a��r

�z�r�

k���;�a��r

�z�r�

k���;�a��r

���r�


v���{�<
�6�	

�|vx�v
=�x��<9�<��

���w�x���x��<9�<��

}

~������������������� �����

�

s�s��

s zr

Page 265



����

����	
���
���������
��
�������
�����������������
����� !"#$%&#�"'(� #)

*�+ ,�-.�/�� /001�

232445.2

�6����67
 8��9:�� 
96;� 8<���
��
�6=�

>&�??'?@AB .C

DEFD�G�HIJKL�MNOKL

PQR�

�S�T(�UV"#��."'(&��W #�,')'U(%

XINYNZK[�MNOKL�\NN]�XL̂_DEFDGDÈ

�aQbcP�

8�c�Pd

�aQbcP��Pef a��c
ceP

>S�A�-�

2gh24hi4ig

�e�Ped�
8Q���jaeR�dkc
��aQbcP�f

�e�Ped�l
��QPm�Qa�Q
�cP�c8Qd���jea��cdk�a��Q�lQdceP���la8kQ
�

Q���ea�QPm�edk�a�jeaR�ej����Q��m�ncP�cP��8ePdaQ8df

�e�Ped�a��ae�l8��QPm��Qad�ej�dkc
��aQbcP��bcdkeld��acea
bacdd�P�8eP
�Pdf��dkc
��aQbcP��a�RQcP
�dk��8e�mac�kd�ej
Q8oaem���ebac���d�f Xp

a�qf �6�� 8�rr�
�

�s

��

�st��t����

suts�t���u �;6

v
=�lw�6��

�s ��tsst���� �;6

v
=�cxx<�

y"((?�S##z
{|}�)i

>&�?U
."(�
2~}�)i

>�
.""�$
~{�)i

>�
.""�$
|g�)i

>�
.""�$
}|�)i

>�
.""�$
ii�)i

>�
.""�$
i4�)i

>�
.""�$
2{�)i

>�
.""�$
2��)i

>�
.""�$
ii�)i

>�
.""�$
i4�)i

>�
.""�$
2{�)i

>�
.""�$
2��)i

>�
.""�$
2��)i

>�
.""�$
2��)i

>�
.""�$
2{�)i

>�
.""�$
2~�)i

>�
.""�$
24�)i

�cjd



dQca



v�����<
�6�	

��vx�v
=�x��<9�<��

���w�x���x��<9�<��

�

������������������ �����

�

s�s��

s �r

Page 266



��
��
�
�
�
�

�
�
�	



�
��


�

�





�
��
�
�

�
�
	
�
�	
�

�
�
�
�	

�
�
��
	
�
��
�
��
�
	

�
��
�
�
��
 

!
"
#
$

%
&
�'
(�
	
��
�
��
	
	
�)
�*
+
�
�
+
�
�,
%
�-
�
.

/
�
0�
1
%
1
&
�2
2
1
�-
23
1

4
4
4
5�
6
7
89
:
;
�9
4
8�
<
56
9
=

>
$
?

@
"
A
�
#
B"
!

BC
C
D
$

�
E
�F
E
G�
�
�
H
*
,
�I
J
E
K
�G
L
M�
��
J
H
N
MF
.
O

�
E
�F
E
G�
P
�
,
�H
F
Q
�H
J
,
H
�
�M
F
�
M�
H
G
,
�
�I
E
J
�,
MG
L
,
J
�'
H
*P
H
G
ME
F
)�
/
P
J
�
L
H
�
,

�
H
*
,
�E
J
�H
F
Q
�E
G
L
,
J
�I
E
J
K
�E
I�
*
,.
H
*
*Q
�R
MF
�
MF
.
��
E
F
G
J
H
�
GO

�
E
�F
E
G�
J
,
/
J
E
�
P
�
,
�H
F
Q
�/
H
J
G�
E
I�
G
L
M�
��
J
H
N
MF
.
�N
MG
L
E
P
G�
/
J
ME
J

N
J
MG
G
,
F
��
E
F
�
,
F
GO
��
G
L
M�
��
J
H
N
MF
.
�J
,
K
H
MF
�
�G
L
,
� �
E
/
Q
J
M.
L
G�
E
I

H
�
S
J
E
Q
�
�*
E
N
J
M,
�*
G
�
O

TU
�
V

WX
Y
W�
Z�
[
\]̂
_�̀
a
b̂
_

F
H
K
,

�c
�d
<
�
ef
89
4
��
8�
<
��
"
g
6
9
�@
�=
�e
<
;

h
\a
i
a
ĵ
k
�̀
a
b̂
_�
l
_̂
m
n
b]
a
o
j

WX
Y
WZ
Wp
X

�
J
H
N
MF
.

�
*
M,
F
G

�
J
H
N
MF
.
�F
E
O

J
,
'
M�
ME
F

h
q

�
c
"
T
$
A
#

J
	
rO

�
�
�	

�
+
s
s
	
�
�

/
t

/
%

/
&

&
tu
1
3
u%
1
%
&

tv
ut
1
u%
1
%
v

%
3
u1
w
u%
1
%
w

/
��
�
�
x�
�
�P
y
�
�
�	

/
��
�
�
x�
�
�H
s
	
�
�
s
	
�
�z

�
x�
	
�{
+
�
�
�
�
�(

,
|x
z�
x�
�
�z
��
�
�
��
�	

/
�+
y
+
z	
�
�z
��
�
�
��
�	

}
~
��
��
�
~
�
��
��
��
�
�
��
~
�

�
��
�
�

}
~
��
��
�
~
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
~
�

�
��
�
�

1 t0
t1
1

t
w
s

H
��
s
x�
x�
s
��
��
�
�
x�
�
��
�N
�
x�
	

H
��
s
x�
x�
s
��
��
�
�
x�
�
��
�R
��
�
�

H
��
s
x�
x�
s
��
��
�
�
x�
�
��
�.
�	
(

,
|x
z�
x�
�
�{
�x
�
�
�y
�
x�
�	
�
��
�
x�
	

�
+
s
y
+
zx
�	
��
x�
�
+
�
z�
��
.
�	
(�
I�
�
s
	
z

H
��
s
x�
x�
s
��
��
�
�
x�
�
��
�.
�	
(

H
��
s
x�
x�
s
��
��
�
�
x�
�
��
�N
�
x�
	

�
+
s
y
+
zx
�	
��
x�
�
+
�
z�
��
.
�	
(�
I�
�
s
	
z

�
+
s
y
+
zx
�	
��
x�
�
+
�
z�
��
.
�	
(�
I�
�
s
	
z

�
��
�
�
��
�	
�y
�
x�
�	
�
�{
��
�
�

H
��
s
x�
x�
s
��
��
�
�
x�
�
��
�N
�
x�
	

H
��
s
x�
x�
s
��
��
�
�
x�
�
��
�R
��
�
�

H
��
s
x�
x�
s
��
��
�
�
x�
�
��
�.
�	
(

,
|x
z�
x�
�
�{
�x
�
�
�y
�
x�
�	
�
��
�
x�
	

�
+
s
y
+
zx
�	
��
x�
�
+
�
z�
��
.
�	
(�
I�
�
s
	
z

H
��
s
x�
x�
s
��
��
�
�
x�
�
��
�.
�	
(

H
��
s
x�
x�
s
��
��
�
�
x�
�
��
�N
�
x�
	

�
+
s
y
+
zx
�	
��
x�
�
+
�
z�
��
.
�	
(�
I�
�
s
	
z

�
+
s
y
+
zx
�	
��
x�
�
+
�
z�
��
.
�	
(�
I�
�
s
	
z

�
��
�
�
��
�	
�y
�
x�
�	
�
�{
��
�
�

Page 267



��
��
�
�
�
�

�
�
�	



�
��


�

�





�
��
�
�

�
�
	
�
�	
�

�
�
�
�	

�
�
��
	
�
��
�
��
�
	

�
��
�
�
��
 

!
"
#
$

%
&
�'
(�
	
��
�
��
	
	
�)
�*
+
�
�
+
�
�,
%
�-
�
.

/
�
0�
1
%
1
&
�2
2
1
�-
23
1

4
4
4
5�
6
7
89
:
;
�9
4
8�
<
56
9
=

>
$
?

@
"
A
�
#
B"
!

BC
C
D
$

�
E
�F
E
G�
�
�
H
*
,
�I
J
E
K
�G
L
M�
��
J
H
N
MF
.
O

�
E
�F
E
G�
P
�
,
�H
F
Q
�H
J
,
H
�
�M
F
�
M�
H
G
,
�
�I
E
J
�,
MG
L
,
J
�'
H
*P
H
G
ME
F
)�
/
P
J
�
L
H
�
,

�
H
*
,
�E
J
�H
F
Q
�E
G
L
,
J
�I
E
J
K
�E
I�
*
,.
H
*
*Q
�R
MF
�
MF
.
��
E
F
G
J
H
�
GO

�
E
�F
E
G�
J
,
/
J
E
�
P
�
,
�H
F
Q
�/
H
J
G�
E
I�
G
L
M�
��
J
H
N
MF
.
�N
MG
L
E
P
G�
/
J
ME
J

N
J
MG
G
,
F
��
E
F
�
,
F
GO
��
G
L
M�
��
J
H
N
MF
.
�J
,
K
H
MF
�
�G
L
,
� �
E
/
Q
J
M.
L
G�
E
I

H
�
S
J
E
Q
�
�*
E
N
J
M,
�*
G
�
O

TU
�
V

WX
Y
W�
Z�
[
\]̂
_�̀
a
b̂
_

F
H
K
,

�c
�d
<
�
ef
89
4
��
8�
<
��
"
g
6
9
�@
�=
�e
<
;

h
\a
i
a
ĵ
k
�̀
a
b̂
_�
l
_̂
m
n
b]
a
o
j

WX
Y
WZ
Wp
W

�
J
H
N
MF
.

�
*
M,
F
G

�
J
H
N
MF
.
�F
E
O

J
,
'
M�
ME
F

h
q

�
c
"
T
$
A
#

J
	
rO

�
�
�	

�
+
s
s
	
�
�

/
t

/
%

/
&

&
tu
1
3
u%
1
%
&

tv
ut
1
u%
1
%
v

%
3
u1
w
u%
1
%
w

/
��
�
�
x�
�
�P
y
�
�
�	

/
��
�
�
x�
�
�H
s
	
�
�
s
	
�
�z

�
x�
	
�{
+
�
�
�
�
�(

,
|x
z�
x�
�
�z
��
�
�
��
�	

/
�+
y
+
z	
�
�z
��
�
�
��
�	

}
~
�
��
�
�~
�
�
��
�
�

�
��
�
�

�
�
�
��
�
�~
�
�
��
�
�

�
��
�
�

1 t0
t1
1

t
w
s

H
��
s
x�
x�
s
��
��
�
�
x�
�
��
�N
�
x�
	

H
��
s
x�
x�
s
��
��
�
�
x�
�
��
�R
��
�
�

H
��
s
x�
x�
s
��
��
�
�
x�
�
��
�.
�	
(

,
|x
z�
x�
�
�{
�x
�
�
�y
�
x�
�	
�
��
�
x�
	

H
��
s
x�
x�
s
��
��
�
�
x�
�
��
�.
�	
(

H
��
s
x�
x�
s
��
��
�
�
x�
�
��
�N
�
x�
	

�
+
s
y
+
zx
�	
��
x�
�
+
�
z�
��
.
�	
(�
I�
�
s
	
z

�
+
s
y
+
zx
�	
��
x�
�
+
�
z�
��
.
�	
(�
I�
�
s
	
z

�
��
�
�
��
�	
�y
�
x�
�	
�
�{
��
�
�

H
��
s
x�
x�
s
��
��
�
�
x�
�
��
�N
�
x�
	

H
��
s
x�
x�
s
��
��
�
�
x�
�
��
�R
��
�
�

H
��
s
x�
x�
s
��
��
�
�
x�
�
��
�.
�	
(

,
|x
z�
x�
�
�{
�x
�
�
�y
�
x�
�	
�
��
�
x�
	

�
+
s
y
+
zx
�	
��
x�
�
+
�
z�
��
.
�	
(�
I�
�
s
	
z

H
��
s
x�
x�
s
��
��
�
�
x�
�
��
�.
�	
(

H
��
s
x�
x�
s
��
��
�
�
x�
�
��
�N
�
x�
	

�
+
s
y
+
zx
�	
��
x�
�
+
�
z�
��
.
�	
(�
I�
�
s
	
z

�
+
s
y
+
zx
�	
��
x�
�
+
�
z�
��
.
�	
(�
I�
�
s
	
z

�
��
�
�
��
�	
�y
�
x�
�	
�
�{
��
�
�

�
+
s
y
+
zx
�	
��
x�
�
+
�
z�
��
.
�	
(�
I�
�
s
	
z

Page 268



��
��
�
�
�
�

�
�
�	



�
��


�

�





�
��
�
�

�
�
	
�
�	
�

�
�
�
�	

�
�
��
	
�
��
�
��
�
	

�
��
�
�
��
 

!
"
#
$

%
&
�'
(�
	
��
�
��
	
	
�)
�*
+
�
�
+
�
�,
%
�-
�
.

/
�
0�
1
%
1
&
�2
2
1
�-
23
1

4
4
4
5�
6
7
89
:
;
�9
4
8�
<
56
9
=

>
$
?

@
"
A
�
#
B"
!

BC
C
D
$

�
E
�F
E
G�
�
�
H
*
,
�I
J
E
K
�G
L
M�
��
J
H
N
MF
.
O

�
E
�F
E
G�
P
�
,
�H
F
Q
�H
J
,
H
�
�M
F
�
M�
H
G
,
�
�I
E
J
�,
MG
L
,
J
�'
H
*P
H
G
ME
F
)�
/
P
J
�
L
H
�
,

�
H
*
,
�E
J
�H
F
Q
�E
G
L
,
J
�I
E
J
K
�E
I�
*
,.
H
*
*Q
�R
MF
�
MF
.
��
E
F
G
J
H
�
GO

�
E
�F
E
G�
J
,
/
J
E
�
P
�
,
�H
F
Q
�/
H
J
G�
E
I�
G
L
M�
��
J
H
N
MF
.
�N
MG
L
E
P
G�
/
J
ME
J

N
J
MG
G
,
F
��
E
F
�
,
F
GO
��
G
L
M�
��
J
H
N
MF
.
�J
,
K
H
MF
�
�G
L
,
� �
E
/
Q
J
M.
L
G�
E
I

H
�
S
J
E
Q
�
�*
E
N
J
M,
�*
G
�
O

TU
�
V

WX
Y
W�
Z�
[
\]̂
_�̀
a
b̂
_

F
H
K
,

�c
�d
<
�
ef
89
4
��
8�
<
��
"
g
6
9
�@
�=
�e
<
;

h
\a
i
a
ĵ
k
�l
m
b̂
\m
n
_�̀
a
b̂
_�
o
_̂
p
n
b]
a
m
j

WX
Y
WZ
Wq
q

�
J
H
N
MF
.

�
*
M,
F
G

�
J
H
N
MF
.
�F
E
O

J
,
'
M�
ME
F

h
r

�
c
"
T
$
A
#

J
	
sO

�
�
�	

�
+
t
t
	
�
�

/
u

/
%

/
&

&
uv
1
3
v%
1
%
&

uw
vu
1
v%
1
%
w

%
3
v1
x
v%
1
%
x

/
��
�
�
y�
�
�P
z
�
�
�	

/
��
�
�
y�
�
�H
t
	
�
�
t
	
�
�{

�
y�
	
�|
+
�
�
�
�
�(

,
}y
{�
y�
�
�{
��
�
�
��
�	

/
�+
z
+
{	
�
�{
��
�
�
��
�	

�~
�
�
��
��
��
�
�
��
�
�

�
��
�
�

�
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
�

�
��
�
�

1 u0
u1
1

u
x
t

H
��
t
y�
y�
t
��
��
�
�
y�
�
��
�.
�	
(

H
��
t
y�
y�
t
��
��
�
�
y�
�
��
�N
�
y�
	

�
+
t
z
+
{y
�	
��
y�
�
+
�
{�
��
.
�	
(�
I�
�
t
	
{

H
��
t
y�
y�
t
��
��
�
�
y�
�
��
�.
�	
(

H
��
t
y�
y�
t
��
��
�
�
y�
�
��
�N
�
y�
	

�
+
t
z
+
{y
�	
��
y�
�
+
�
{�
��
.
�	
(�
I�
�
t
	
{

Page 269



��
��
�
�
�
�

�
�
�	



�
��


�

�





�
��
�
�

�
�
	
�
�	
�

�
�
�
�	

�
�
��
	
�
��
�
��
�
	

�
��
�
�
��
 

!
"
#
$

%
&
�'
(�
	
��
�
��
	
	
�)
�*
+
�
�
+
�
�,
%
�-
�
.

/
�
0�
1
%
1
&
�2
2
1
�-
23
1

4
4
4
5�
6
7
89
:
;
�9
4
8�
<
56
9
=

>
$
?

@
"
A
�
#
B"
!

BC
C
D
$

�
E
�F
E
G�
�
�
H
*
,
�I
J
E
K
�G
L
M�
��
J
H
N
MF
.
O

�
E
�F
E
G�
P
�
,
�H
F
Q
�H
J
,
H
�
�M
F
�
M�
H
G
,
�
�I
E
J
�,
MG
L
,
J
�'
H
*P
H
G
ME
F
)�
/
P
J
�
L
H
�
,

�
H
*
,
�E
J
�H
F
Q
�E
G
L
,
J
�I
E
J
K
�E
I�
*
,.
H
*
*Q
�R
MF
�
MF
.
��
E
F
G
J
H
�
GO

�
E
�F
E
G�
J
,
/
J
E
�
P
�
,
�H
F
Q
�/
H
J
G�
E
I�
G
L
M�
��
J
H
N
MF
.
�N
MG
L
E
P
G�
/
J
ME
J

N
J
MG
G
,
F
��
E
F
�
,
F
GO
��
G
L
M�
��
J
H
N
MF
.
�J
,
K
H
MF
�
�G
L
,
� �
E
/
Q
J
M.
L
G�
E
I

H
�
S
J
E
Q
�
�*
E
N
J
M,
�*
G
�
O

TU
�
V

WX
Y
W�
Z�
[
\]̂
_�̀
a
b̂
_

F
H
K
,

�c
�d
<
�
ef
89
4
��
8�
<
��
"
g
6
9
�@
�=
�e
<
;

h
\a
i
a
ĵ
k
�[
i
l
\b
m
a
b̂
_�
n
\a
o
p
k
�q
_a
a
\�
h
_l
p

WX
Y
WZ
WX
r

�
J
H
N
MF
.

�
*
M,
F
G

�
J
H
N
MF
.
�F
E
O

J
,
'
M�
ME
F

h
s

�
c
"
T
$
A
#

J
	
tO

�
�
�	

�
+
u
u
	
�
�

/
v

/
%

/
&

/
w

/
x

&
vy
1
3
y%
1
%
&

vw
yv
1
y%
1
%
w

1
w
yv
%
y%
1
%
w

1
-
y1
x
y%
1
%
x

%
3
y1
x
y%
1
%
x

/
��
�
�
z�
�
�P
{
�
�
�	

�
��
�
z�
�
��
{
�
�
�	

�
��
�
z�
�
��
{
�
�
�	

/
��
�
�
z�
�
�H
u
	
�
�
u
	
�
�|

,
�
��
�
�
�
	

-
&
�u
%

�
u
+
�	
��
�
�
}�

�
u
+
�	

�
�
�
}�

�
u
+
�	

�
�
�
}�

P/

P/

P/

�~
�
�
��
�
~
��
�
�

��
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�

�
	
�t
z�
	

*
z}
�

�
g
�
8e
f
9
e<
�

$
�
e8
�
�
6
<

/
��
�
�z
�
�

/
��
�
�z
�
�

�
�
�
�	
�
�/
�
tz
�
�

C
<
8�
�6
��
 

V
�
:

%
1
�*
+
�
�
��
��
(

�
(�
�	
��
{
�
�
	
|

C
e9
8<

�
��
z�

�
	
�
�z
�
�

H
�	
�

L
	
�{

�
	
|�

�
+
�
�
	
��

I+
+
�
�H
�	
�

C
�
�
�e
�
e�
9
�

@
�
�
�
;
8:

V
"
d

L
+
�	
�
J
+
+
u

L
+
�	
��
J
+
+
u

v3
u
%

L
+
�	
��
J
+
+
u

v3
�u
%

L
+
�	
��
J
+
+
u

H
{
�
��
�
+
�	
��
J
+
+
u

%
3
�u
%

H
{
�
��
�
+
�	
��
J
+
+
u

%
3
�u
%

H
{
�
��
�
+
�	
��
J
+
+
u

w
�
�u
%

H
{
�
��
�
+
�	
��
J
+
+
u

w
�
�u
%

H
{
�
��
�
+
�	
��
J
+
+
u

%
3
�u
%

H
{
�
��
�
+
�	
��
J
+
+
u

%
3
�u
%

H
{
�
��
�
+
�	
��
J
+
+
u

&
1
�u
%

H
{
�
��
�
+
�	
��
J
+
+
u

%
3
�u
%

H
{
�
��
�
+
�	
��
J
+
+
u

&
%
�u
%

H
{
�
��
�
+
�	
��
J
+
+
u

%
3
�u
%

H
{
�
��
�
+
�	
��
J
+
+
u

&
1
�u
%

H
{
�
��
�
+
�	
��
J
+
+
u

&
1
�u
%

H
{
�
��
�
+
�	
��
J
+
+
u

%
3
�u
%

H
{
�
��
�
+
�	
��
J
+
+
u

&
%
�u
%

H
{
�
��
�
+
�	
��
J
+
+
u

%
3
�u
%

H
{
�
��
�
+
�	
��
J
+
+
u

&
1
�u
%

H
{
�
��
�
+
�	
��
J
+
+
u

w
v�
u
%

H
{
�
��
�
+
�	
��
J
+
+
u

&
%
�u
%

H
{
�
��
�
+
�	
��
J
+
+
u

&
%
�u
%

H
{
�
��
�
+
�	
��
J
+
+
u

%
3
�u
%

H
{
�
��
�
+
�	
��
J
+
+
u

&
1
�u
%

H
{
�
��
�
+
�	
��
J
+
+
u

%
3
�u
%

/
��
�
�
yK
,
/

%
1
�u
%

�
z�
	
��
+
�
�
�
�
�(

,
�z
|�
z�
�
�|
��
�
�
��
�	

/
�+
{
+
|	
�
�|
��
�
�
��
�	

�

�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
��
��
�
�

�
��
�
�

1 v0
v1
1

v
x
u

Page 270



��
��
�
�
�
�

�
�
�	



�
�

��
�
��
��
�
��
��

�
��
�
�

�
�
	
�
�	
�

�
�
�
�	

�
�
��
	
�
��
�
��
 
	

�
!"
�
�
��
�

#
$
%
&

'
(
�)
*�
	
��
�
��
	
	
�+
�,
-
�
�
-
�
�.
'
�/
�
0

1
�
2�
3
'
3
(
�4
4
3
�/
45
3

6
6
6
7"
8


��
9
:
!�
6
��
�
78
�
;

<
&
=

>
$
?
�
%
@$
#

@A
A
B
&

�
C
�D
C
E�
�
�
F
,
.
�G
H
C
I
�E
J
K�
��
H
F
L
KD
0
M

�
C
�D
C
E�
N
�
.
�F
D
O
�F
H
.
F
�
�K
D
�
K�
F
E
.
�
�G
C
H
�.
KE
J
.
H
�)
F
,N
F
E
KC
D
+�
1
N
H
�
J
F
�
.

�
F
,
.
�C
H
�F
D
O
�C
E
J
.
H
�G
C
H
I
�C
G�
,
.0
F
,
,O
�P
KD
�
KD
0
��
C
D
E
H
F
�
EM

�
C
�D
C
E�
H
.
1
H
C
�
N
�
.
�F
D
O
�1
F
H
E�
C
G�
E
J
K�
��
H
F
L
KD
0
�L
KE
J
C
N
E�
1
H
KC
H

L
H
KE
E
.
D
��
C
D
�
.
D
EM
��
E
J
K�
��
H
F
L
KD
0
�H
.
I
F
KD
�
�E
J
.
� �
C
1
O
H
K0
J
E�
C
G

F
�
Q
H
C
O
�
�,
C
L
H
K.
�,
E
�
M

RS
�
T

UV
W
U�
X�
Y
Z[
\
]�̂
_̀
\
]

D
F
I
.

�a
�b
�
"
cd
��
6
��
��
�
!�
$
e
8
�
�>
�;
�c
�
:

f
Z_
g
_
h\
i
�Y
g
j
Z̀
k
_̀
\
]�
l
[Z
h̀
Xm
\
n
_
o
i
�l
]_
_
Z�
f
]j
o

UV
W
UX
UV
p

�
H
F
L
KD
0

�
,
K.
D
E

�
H
F
L
KD
0
�D
C
M

H
.
)
K�
KC
D

f
q
�X
�r
sf

�
a
$
R
&
?
%

H
	
tM

�
�
�	

�
-
u
u
	
�
�

1
v

1
'

1
(
�w

L
K1

(
vx
3
5
x'
3
'
(

vy
xv
3
x'
3
'
y

L
-
��
�z
�
�1
�-
 
�	
{{

1
��
�
�
z�
 
�N
|
�
�
�	

�
�-
�	

�
u
-
�	

�
�
�
}�

�
u
-
�	

�
�
�
}�

�
u
-
�	
��
�
�
}�

N1

N1

N1

�
	
�t
z�
	

,
z}
�

H
	
}�
 
	

F
�	
�

H
	
}�
 
	

F
�	
�

J
-
�	
��
H
-
-
u

'
(
�u
'

J
-
�	
��
H
-
-
u

'
(
�u
'

J
-
�	
��
H
-
-
u

'
(
�u
'

J
-
�	
��
H
-
-
u

'
(
�u
'

J
-
�	
��
H
-
-
u

'
(
�u
'

J
-
�	
��
H
-
-
u

'
(
�u
'

F
|
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
u

(
3
�u
'

F
|
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
u

'
5
�u
'

F
|
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
u

'
5
�u
'

F
|
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
u

y
~
�u
'

F
|
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
u

'
5
�u
'

F
|
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
u

'
5
�u
'

F
|
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
u

y
~
�u
'

F
|
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
u

'
5
�u
'

F
|
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
u

'
5
�u
'

F
|
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
u

y
~
�u
'

F
|
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
u

'
5
�u
'

F
|
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
u

'
5
�u
'

F
|
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
u

y
~
�u
'

F
|
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
u

'
5
�u
'

F
|
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
u

(
'
�u
'

F
|
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
u

(
'
�u
'

F
|
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
u

(
3
�u
'

F
|
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
u

(
'
�u
'

F
|
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
u

'
5
�u
'

F
|
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
u

(
3
�u
'

F
|
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
u

(
3
�u
'

F
|
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
u

'
5
�u
'

F
|
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
u

(
'
�u
'

F
|
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
u

(
'
�u
'

F
|
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
u

(
'
�u
'

F
|
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
u

'
5
�u
'

F
|
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
u

(
3
�u
'

�
z�
	
��
-
�
�
�
�
�*

.
�z
{�
z�
 
�{
��
�
�
��
�	

1
�-
|
-
{	
�
�{
��
�
�
��
�	

�

�
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
��
�
�

�
��
�
�

3 v2
v3
3

v
�
u

Page 271



��
��
�
�
�
�

�
�
�	



�
�

��
�
��
��
�
��
��

�
��
�
�

�
�
	
�
�	
�

�
�
�
�	

�
�
��
	
�
��
�
��
 
	

�
!"
�
�
��
�

#
$
%
&

'
(
�)
*�
	
��
�
��
	
	
�+
�,
-
�
�
-
�
�.
'
�/
�
0

1
�
2�
3
'
3
(
�4
4
3
�/
45
3

6
6
6
7"
8


��
9
:
!�
6
��
�
78
�
;

<
&
=

>
$
?
�
%
@$
#

@A
A
B
&

�
C
�D
C
E�
�
�
F
,
.
�G
H
C
I
�E
J
K�
��
H
F
L
KD
0
M

�
C
�D
C
E�
N
�
.
�F
D
O
�F
H
.
F
�
�K
D
�
K�
F
E
.
�
�G
C
H
�.
KE
J
.
H
�)
F
,N
F
E
KC
D
+�
1
N
H
�
J
F
�
.

�
F
,
.
�C
H
�F
D
O
�C
E
J
.
H
�G
C
H
I
�C
G�
,
.0
F
,
,O
�P
KD
�
KD
0
��
C
D
E
H
F
�
EM

�
C
�D
C
E�
H
.
1
H
C
�
N
�
.
�F
D
O
�1
F
H
E�
C
G�
E
J
K�
��
H
F
L
KD
0
�L
KE
J
C
N
E�
1
H
KC
H

L
H
KE
E
.
D
��
C
D
�
.
D
EM
��
E
J
K�
��
H
F
L
KD
0
�H
.
I
F
KD
�
�E
J
.
� �
C
1
O
H
K0
J
E�
C
G

F
�
Q
H
C
O
�
�,
C
L
H
K.
�,
E
�
M

RS
�
T

UV
W
U�
X�
Y
Z[
\
]�̂
_̀
\
]

D
F
I
.

�a
�b
�
"
cd
��
6
��
��
�
!�
$
e
8
�
�>
�;
�c
�
:

f
Z_
g
_
h\
i
�Y
g
j
Z̀
k
_̀
\
]�
l
k
[Z
i
�m
]_
_
Z�
f
]j
n

UV
W
UX
UV
o

�
H
F
L
KD
0

�
,
K.
D
E

�
H
F
L
KD
0
�D
C
M

H
.
)
K�
KC
D

f
W
�X
�p
qf

�
a
$
R
&
?
%

H
	
rM

�
�
�	

�
-
s
s
	
�
�

1
t

1
'

1
(

1
u
�v

L
K1

(
tw
3
5
w'
3
'
(

tu
wt
3
w'
3
'
u

3
u
wt
'
w'
3
'
u

L
-
��
�x
�
�1
�-
 
�	
yy

1
��
�
�
x�
 
�N
z
�
�
�	

�
x�
	
�{
-
�
�
�
�
�*

.
|x
y�
x�
 
�y
��
�
�
��
�	

1
�-
z
-
y	
�
�y
��
�
�
��
�	�
�-
�	

�
s
-
�	
��
�
�
}�

�
s
-
�	

�
�
�
}�

�
s
-
�	

�
�
�
}�

�
	
�r
x�
	

,
x}
�

H
	
}�
 
	

F
�	
�

H
	
}�
 
	

F
�	
�

J
-
�	
��
H
-
-
s

'
(
�s
'

J
-
�	
��
H
-
-
s

'
(
�s
'

J
-
�	
��
H
-
-
s

'
(
�s
'

J
-
�	
��
H
-
-
s

'
(
�s
'

J
�
H

J
-
�	
��
H
-
-
s

'
(
�s
'

J
-
�	
��
H
-
-
s

'
(
�s
'

F
z
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
s

u
/
�s
'

F
z
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
s

u
/
�s
'

F
z
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
s

~
3
�s
'

F
z
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
s

u
/
�s
'

F
z
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
s

'
5
�s
'

F
z
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
s

'
5
�s
'

F
z
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
s

'
5
�s
'

F
z
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
s

'
5
�s
'

F
z
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
s

'
5
�s
'

F
z
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
s

'
5
�s
'

F
z
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
s

'
5
�s
'

F
z
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
s

(
4
�s
'

F
z
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
s

(
4
�s
'

F
z
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
s

(
4
�s
'

F
z
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
s

(
4
�s
'

F
z
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
s

'
5
�s
'

F
z
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
s

'
5
�s
'

F
z
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
s

'
5
�s
'

F
z
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
s

'
5
�s
'

F
z
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
s

'
5
�s
'

F
z
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
s

'
5
�s
'

F
z
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
s

'
5
�s
'

F
z
�
��
�
-
�	
��
H
-
-
s

'
4
�s
'

�

�
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
�

�
��
�
�

3 t2
t3
3

t
~
s

Page 272



��
��
�
�
�
�

�
�
�	



�
��


�

�





�
��
�
�

�
�
	
�
�	
�

�
�
�
�	

�
�
��
	
�
��
�
��
�
	

�
��
�
�
��
 

!
"
#
$

%
&
�'
(�
	
��
�
��
	
	
�)
�*
+
�
�
+
�
�,
%
�-
�
.

/
�
0�
1
%
1
&
�2
2
1
�-
23
1

4
4
4
5�
6
7
89
:
;
�9
4
8�
<
56
9
=

>
$
?

@
"
A
�
#
B"
!

BC
C
D
$

�
E
�F
E
G�
�
�
H
*
,
�I
J
E
K
�G
L
M�
��
J
H
N
MF
.
O

�
E
�F
E
G�
P
�
,
�H
F
Q
�H
J
,
H
�
�M
F
�
M�
H
G
,
�
�I
E
J
�,
MG
L
,
J
�'
H
*P
H
G
ME
F
)�
/
P
J
�
L
H
�
,

�
H
*
,
�E
J
�H
F
Q
�E
G
L
,
J
�I
E
J
K
�E
I�
*
,.
H
*
*Q
�R
MF
�
MF
.
��
E
F
G
J
H
�
GO

�
E
�F
E
G�
J
,
/
J
E
�
P
�
,
�H
F
Q
�/
H
J
G�
E
I�
G
L
M�
��
J
H
N
MF
.
�N
MG
L
E
P
G�
/
J
ME
J

N
J
MG
G
,
F
��
E
F
�
,
F
GO
��
G
L
M�
��
J
H
N
MF
.
�J
,
K
H
MF
�
�G
L
,
� �
E
/
Q
J
M.
L
G�
E
I

H
�
S
J
E
Q
�
�*
E
N
J
M,
�*
G
�
O

TU
�
V

WX
Y
W�
Z�
[
\]̂
_�̀
a
b̂
_

F
H
K
,

�c
�d
<
�
ef
89
4
��
8�
<
��
"
g
6
9
�@
�=
�e
<
;

h
\a
i
a
ĵ
k
�[
i
l
\b
m
a
b̂
_�
n
_̂
o
l
b
]a
p
j

WX
Y
WZ
Wq
r

�
J
H
N
MF
.

�
*
M,
F
G

�
J
H
N
MF
.
�F
E
O

J
,
'
M�
ME
F

h
Y

�
c
"
T
$
A
#

J
	
sO

�
�
�	

�
+
t
t
	
�
�

/
u

/
%

/
&

/
v

&
uw
1
3
w%
1
%
&

uv
wu
1
w%
1
%
v

1
-
w1
x
w%
1
%
x

%
3
w1
x
w%
1
%
x

/
��
�
�
y�
�
�P
z
�
�
�	

�
��
�
y�
�
��
z
�
�
�	

/
��
�
�
y�
�
�H
t
	
�
�
t
	
�
�{

�
y�
	
�|
+
�
�
�
�
�(

,
}y
{�
y�
�
�{
��
�
�
��
�	

/
�+
z
+
{	
�
�{
��
�
�
��
�	

~
�
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
��
��
��
�
�
��
�
�

�
��
�
�

~
�
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
�

�
��
�
�

1 u0
u1
1

u
x
t

H
��
t
y�
y�
t
��
��
�
�
y�
�
��
�N
�
y�
	

H
��
t
y�
y�
t
��
��
�
�
y�
�
��
�R
��
�
�

H
��
t
y�
y�
t
��
��
�
�
y�
�
��
�.
�	
(

+
t
z
+
{y
�	
��
y�
�
+
�
{�
��
.
�	
(�
I�
�
t
	
{

+
t
z
+
{y
�	
��
y�
�
+
�
{�
��
.
�	
(�
I�
�
t
	
{

H
��
t
y�
y�
t
��
��
�
�
y�
�
��
�R
��
�
�

H
��
t
y�
y�
t
��
��
�
�
y�
�
��
�N
�
y�
	

H
��
t
y�
y�
t
��
��
�
�
y�
�
��
�R
��
�
�

H
��
t
y�
y�
t
��
��
�
�
y�
�
��
�.
�	
(

+
t
z
+
{y
�	
��
y�
�
+
�
{�
��
.
�	
(�
I�
�
t
	
{

+
t
z
+
{y
�	
��
y�
�
+
�
{�
��
.
�	
(�
I�
�
t
	
{

H
��
t
y�
y�
t
��
��
�
�
y�
�
��
�R
��
�
�

Page 273



��
��
�
�
�
�

�
�
�	



�
��


�

�





�
��
�
�

�
�
	
�
�	
�

�
�
�
�	

�
�
��
	
�
��
�
��
�
	

�
��
�
�
��
 

!
"
#
$

%
&
�'
(�
	
��
�
��
	
	
�)
�*
+
�
�
+
�
�,
%
�-
�
.

/
�
0�
1
%
1
&
�2
2
1
�-
23
1

4
4
4
5�
6
7
89
:
;
�9
4
8�
<
56
9
=

>
$
?

@
"
A
�
#
B"
!

BC
C
D
$

�
E
�F
E
G�
�
�
H
*
,
�I
J
E
K
�G
L
M�
��
J
H
N
MF
.
O

�
E
�F
E
G�
P
�
,
�H
F
Q
�H
J
,
H
�
�M
F
�
M�
H
G
,
�
�I
E
J
�,
MG
L
,
J
�'
H
*P
H
G
ME
F
)�
/
P
J
�
L
H
�
,

�
H
*
,
�E
J
�H
F
Q
�E
G
L
,
J
�I
E
J
K
�E
I�
*
,.
H
*
*Q
�R
MF
�
MF
.
��
E
F
G
J
H
�
GO

�
E
�F
E
G�
J
,
/
J
E
�
P
�
,
�H
F
Q
�/
H
J
G�
E
I�
G
L
M�
��
J
H
N
MF
.
�N
MG
L
E
P
G�
/
J
ME
J

N
J
MG
G
,
F
��
E
F
�
,
F
GO
��
G
L
M�
��
J
H
N
MF
.
�J
,
K
H
MF
�
�G
L
,
� �
E
/
Q
J
M.
L
G�
E
I

H
�
S
J
E
Q
�
�*
E
N
J
M,
�*
G
�
O

TU
�
V

WX
Y
W�
Z�
[
\]̂
_�̀
a
b̂
_

F
H
K
,

�c
�d
<
�
ef
89
4
��
8�
<
��
"
g
6
9
�@
�=
�e
<
;

h
\a
i
a
ĵ
k
�[
i
l
\b
m
a
b̂
_�
n
_̂
o
l
b
]a
p
j

WX
Y
WZ
Wq
Y

�
J
H
N
MF
.

�
*
M,
F
G

�
J
H
N
MF
.
�F
E
O

J
,
'
M�
ME
F

h
Y

�
c
"
T
$
A
#

J
	
rO

�
�
�	

�
+
s
s
	
�
�

/
t

/
%

/
&

/
u

&
tv
1
3
v%
1
%
&

tu
vt
1
v%
1
%
u

1
-
v1
w
v%
1
%
w

%
3
v1
w
v%
1
%
w

/
��
�
�
x�
�
�P
y
�
�
�	

�
��
�
x�
�
��
y
�
�
�	

/
��
�
�
x�
�
�H
s
	
�
�
s
	
�
�z

�
x�
	
�{
+
�
�
�
�
�(

,
|x
z�
x�
�
�z
��
�
�
��
�	

/
�+
y
+
z	
�
�z
��
�
�
��
�	

}
~
�
��
�
�~
�
�
��
�
�

�
��
�
�

�
�
�
��
�
�~
�
�
��
�
�

�
��
�
�

1 t0
t1
1

t
w
s

H
��
s
x�
x�
s
��
��
�
�
x�
�
��
�N
�
x�
	

H
��
s
x�
x�
s
��
��
�
�
x�
�
��
�R
��
�
�

H
��
s
x�
x�
s
��
��
�
�
x�
�
��
�.
�	
(

�
+
s
y
+
zx
�	
��
x�
�
+
�
z�
��
.
�	
(�
I�
�
s
	
z

�
+
s
y
+
zx
�	
��
x�
�
+
�
z�
��
.
�	
(�
I�
�
s
	
z

H
��
s
x�
x�
s
��
��
�
�
x�
�
��
�R
��
�
�

H
��
s
x�
x�
s
��
��
�
�
x�
�
��
�N
�
x�
	

H
��
s
x�
x�
s
��
��
�
�
x�
�
��
�R
��
�
�

H
��
s
x�
x�
s
��
��
�
�
x�
�
��
�.
�	
(

�
+
s
y
+
zx
�	
��
x�
�
+
�
z�
��
.
�	
(�
I�
�
s
	
z

�
+
s
y
+
zx
�	
��
x�
�
+
�
z�
��
.
�	
(�
I�
�
s
	
z

H
��
s
x�
x�
s
��
��
�
�
x�
�
��
�R
��
�
�

Page 274



��
�
�
�
�
�
�

�
�
	


�
�
��


��
�
�



�
��
�
�

�
�


�
�

�

�
�
�
�


�
�
��


�
	�
�
	�
�



�
��
�
�
��
 

!
"
#
$

%
&
�'
(�


��
�
	�




	)
�*
+
�
�
+
�
�,
%
�-
�
.

/
�
0�
1
%
1
&
�2
2
1
�-
23
1

4
4
4
5�
6
7
89
:
;
�9
4
8�
<
56
9
=

>
$
?

@
"
A
�
#
B"
!

BC
C
D
$

�
E
�F
E
G�
�
�
H
*
,
�I
J
E
K
�G
L
M�
��
J
H
N
MF
.
O

�
E
�F
E
G�
P
�
,
�H
F
Q
�H
J
,
H
�
�M
F
�
M�
H
G
,
�
�I
E
J
�,
MG
L
,
J
�'
H
*P
H
G
ME
F
)�
/
P
J
�
L
H
�
,

�
H
*
,
�E
J
�H
F
Q
�E
G
L
,
J
�I
E
J
K
�E
I�
*
,.
H
*
*Q
�R
MF
�
MF
.
��
E
F
G
J
H
�
GO

�
E
�F
E
G�
J
,
/
J
E
�
P
�
,
�H
F
Q
�/
H
J
G�
E
I�
G
L
M�
��
J
H
N
MF
.
�N
MG
L
E
P
G�
/
J
ME
J

N
J
MG
G
,
F
��
E
F
�
,
F
GO
��
G
L
M�
��
J
H
N
MF
.
�J
,
K
H
MF
�
�G
L
,
� �
E
/
Q
J
M.
L
G�
E
I

H
�
S
J
E
Q
�
�*
E
N
J
M,
�*
G
�
O

TU
�
V

WX
Y
W�
Z�
[
\]̂
_�̀
a
b̂
_

F
H
K
,

�c
�d
<
�
ef
89
4
��
8�
<
��
"
g
6
9
�@
�=
�e
<
;

h
\a
i
a
ĵ
k
�l
a
m
n
k
o
\p
�q
_̂
r
o
b]
a
n
j

WX
Y
WZ
Ws
t

�
J
H
N
MF
.

�
*
M,
F
G

�
J
H
N
MF
.
�F
E
O

J
,
'
M�
ME
F

h
Y

�
c
"
T
$
A
#

J


uO

�
�
	


�
+
v
v


�
	

/
w

/
%

/
&

/
x

&
wy
1
3
y%
1
%
&

wx
yw
1
y%
1
%
x

1
-
y1
z
y%
1
%
z

%
3
y1
z
y%
1
%
z

/
��
�
�
{�
�
�P
|
�
�
	


�
��
�
{�
�
��
|
�
�
	


/
��
�
�
{�
�
�H
v


�
�
v


�
	}

�
{	


�~
+
�
�
�
�
�(

,
�{
}	
{�
�
�}
	�
�
�
	�
�


/
�+
|
+
}

�
�}
	�
�
�
	�
�


�
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
�

�
��
�
�

�
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�

�
��
�
�

�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�

�
��
�
�

�
�
��
��
�
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
�

�
��
�
�

1
z

w1
v

w0
%
1
1

,
�{
}	
{�
�
��
�
{��
	+
�~


��


v
+
u

�
)

~
�{
�
�
��
�
���
	+
�~


�{
�
�
���
�
� 
¡

3
1
1
v
v
��
�
�
�|
�
{�
	

�
��
�
{	



,
�{
}	
{�
�
��
�
{��
	+
�~


��


v
+
u

�
)

~
�{
�
�
��
�
���
	+
�~


�{
�
�
���
�
� 
¡

3
1
1
v
v
��
�
�
�|
�
{�
	

�
��
�
{	



,
�{
}	
{�
�
��
�
{��
	+
�~


��


v
+
u

�
)

~
�{
�
�
��
�
���
	+
�~


�{
�
�
���
�
� 
¡

3
1
1
v
v
��
�
�
�|
�
{�
	

�
��
�
{	



,
�{
}	
{�
�
��
�
���
	+
�~



�

|
�
{�
	

�
��
�
{	



,
�{
}	
{�
�
��
�
{��
	+
�~


��


v
+
u

�
)

~
�{
�
�
��
�
���
	+
�~


�{
�
�
���
�
� 
¡

3
1
1
v
v
��
�
�
�|
�
{�
	

�
��
�
{	



,
�{
}	
{�
�
��
�
���
	+
�~



�

|
�
{�
	

�
��
�
{	



,
�{
}	
{�
�
��
�
{��
	+
�~


��


v
+
u

�
)

~
�{
�
�
��
�
���
	+
�~


�{
�
�
�� �
�
� 
¡

3
1
1
v
v
��
�
�
�|
�
{�
	

�
��
�
{	



,
�{
}	
{�
�
��
�
{��
	+
�~


��


v
+
u

�
)

~
�{
�
�
��
�
���
	+
�~


�{
�
�
���
�
� 
¡

3
1
1
v
v
��
�
�
�|
�
{�
	

�
��
�
{	



R
+
�
�
�
�
�(
��
�
���
~
�
{�	
��
|
�	
+

wz
1
1
v
v
��
�
�
�|
�
{�
	

�
��
�
{	



Page 275



Site Boundary

© Crown copyright and database
 rights 2024 Ordnance Survey

AC0000810857

1:1,250

  KEY :

  DISCLAIIMER :

 ADDRESS :

 PLANNING APPLICATION
REFERENCE :

LONDON BOROUGH OF HILLINGDON

RESIDENTS SERVICES
PLANNING SECTION

CIVIC CENTRE, UXBRIDGE, UB8 1UW SCALE :

1:1,250

 PLANNING COMMITTEE :  DATE :

December 2025

Ariel Hotel
118 Bath Road

1126/APP/2023/3671

19

491

216

24.4m

28
26

479

1 to 16

Shelter

475

35 to 43

120

Holiday Inn

493

1

Arbour

17

MARLBOROUGH CRESCENT

Shelter

HATT

HEATH CLOSE

Sub Sta

ter

7 to 12

El Sub Sta

483

3

2

Hotel

13

350

Sub Sta

11 to 19

477

Oak Apartments

1 to 6

15

Ash Apartments

24.7m

497
487

1 to 9

18

Court

El Sub Sta

495

24.7m

HARLINGTON CORNER

481

24.7m

1

13 to 21

Telephone Exchange

19

489

1

DAVID CLO

20 to 34

El

499

El

1 to 8

118

1 to 10

BATH ROAD

485

MS

3

4

Page 276



Page 277



Page 278



Page 279



Page 280



Page 281



Page 282



Page 283



�

Page 284



���������	�
������
�����������������������������������������
���� !�!������

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

Page 285



�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

Page 286



���������	�
������
�������������������������������������
���
��������������

�

�

� �

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

� �

�

�

�

�

Page 287



�

Page 288



Site Boundary

© Crown copyright and database
 rights 2024 Ordnance Survey

AC0000810857

1:1,250

  KEY :

  DISCLAIIMER :

 ADDRESS :

 PLANNING APPLICATION
REFERENCE :

LONDON BOROUGH OF HILLINGDON

RESIDENTS SERVICES
PLANNING SECTION

CIVIC CENTRE, UXBRIDGE, UB8 1UW SCALE :

1:1,250

 PLANNING COMMITTEE :  DATE :

14th January

82-84 High Street
Ruislip

78935/APP/2025/2287

Rosedene

6

Chestnut Tree

Garage

87

82

to

27

68

45

TCB

52

Court

4

TCBs

3

9

81

2

52.1m

Ruislip

11a

15

2

2

4

Church

1

Tree

HIGH STREET

Methodist

2

85

12
2

54.3m

6

12
0

98

1

23a

POPLARS CLOSE

43

53
El Sub Sta

73

5

4

6
74

54

10

16

10
2

75 to 79

PO

4

61

14

83

11
0

6

Woodstock

2a

11

1 to 44

8

84

11

12

86

10

Jebsen House

Mimosa

Beech

12
6

10

Shelter

11

88

House

55

4a

Shelter

47 to 51

8

12
4

2

1

El S
ub Sta

Scout Hall

ICKENHAM ROAD

1

63

20

The Thomas More Building

2

4a

14

KING EDWARD'S ROAD

52.1m

13
0

10a

Crom
well

7

10

1

Page 289



9 KINGSEND RUISLIP

Facade alteration for the installation of On Demand Grocery Hatch (ODG) at 
ground floor level, with associated parking space for delivery vehicles (Description 
Amended)

36969/APP/2025/2303

Page 290



��������

��

�	



�
�
�
��


�
��
�
�
�

��
���
�

�����

�����

��

���� !���" ��

�� #��

�

�$

�%"&'��#(&�

�

�� #��

)*

�� #
�+�

�!����,'��#-� 

��

��

+

�

�
.
�

�

��

 #
��
�
)

/�(%$�����" ��

�

�#-� 

�%"&'�"(

�� #��)

����-0�� �

)
� #
�)
�

�
�
�

�� #��

�

12345�6789�:752�1;�647<43169�=�;5443169�>?�7::6@A782

7::6@A72@18�<@24

>1B8975?�64C489

DEF�GHIJKLMED�HN�DELO�PKQRLSM�HK�IQKD�DEFKFHN�TFUHSMO�DH�TQVTFK�W�KFPPQS�QKGELDFGDO�UDPX�
GHSDKQGDHK�DH�GEFGY�QUU�PLVFSOLHSO�IKLHK�DH�GHVVFSGLSM�RHKY�

Z[\]̂]_̀

âbc[�d�beafghijh kbl[h

l]lc[h

mZ_n[al

op�Oqrsqrturvv�Rwxyz
U{|u{|�S}�~UT
��pop��oo~�p�pp��
��urv��|��w|ut�wt�qX�{�
���X�w|ut�wt�qX�{�

�]c[�̀b�[ Z[\h

Qv
�|u��w�ru

Ip�

RQLDKHOF�K�LOULI

poXp�Xo�OP GG

OLDF�UHGQDLHS�IUQS
HPM�IKHIHOQU

}}����TQK�GK����PK�D�p}pp}�Oo

IUQSSLSM




�

âbc[��h

��e���������

�����

Kr�XT� Gqy Pw�r Prv�t�s��{|

IppOP GG poXp�Xo� O�TVLDDFP�NHK
IUQSSLSM

Ip}OP GG p~X}}Xo� KFP�ULSF�QVFSPFP�QO
IFK�KF��FOD�NKHV
UHGQU�Q�DEHKLDJ

IpoOP GG }}X}}Xo� TU�F�ULSF�QVFSPFP�QO
IFK�KF��FOD�NKHV
UHGQU�Q�DEHKLDJ

Ip�OP GG p�X}oXo� TU�F�ULSF�PFVLOF
�IPQDFP

�

Page 291



�
�
��
�
�
��

�
�

�
	


�

	
�

�
���
�����
��

�
��
�
�


�
�

�
��
�
�


�
�

�
�
��
�

�
�
��
��
�
��
�

�
�

 
!
�
"#$
��
!
%
#�
!

�
�#
&
��

�

�
'

�
(%
)
*�
	
&
+
)
!

�

�
�#
&
��

,
-

�
�#
&
��
�

�
$
!
�"
!
.*
��
&
/
�#

�
�#
&
��
-

�
�

�
�

�

�
$
!
"#!
�

���

�

�$!
"#!�

�
�

#&���,

0
!
+
('
�
"��
!
%
#�
!

�

�
&
/
�#

�
�
�

�
(%
)
*!
%
+

�
�#
&
��
,



"��
/
1
��
#�

,�#&�,�

���

�
�#&
��

�

�
 


��


�
��
�
��


0
�
�
�
��
�
�
�


�
2
� 
�
�
�
 
�0


�
�
3
�


�
�

�
�
�
�
�
4
�0
�
�


	
2
��
�
-
�
�
�
��
(+
!
�5
��
�
�
�
�
� 
()
$
��
�
�
	
3
�
��
�
�

�
 


��
6


�
�
	
	
�

�
�
0


��
�0


�
�
��
�
�
� �
�
 


�

4
��
�
��
�
�

�
	
�
7


�
��
�
�


	
��
�
��
�
��


��


0
�
6


�
��
�
�
��
 


��


�
��
�
�

�


0
�
�
�
��
�
�
�


�
2
� 
�
�
�
 
��
�
��
�
��


��
�
�
�
�
	
	


�
��
��
 
��
�

�
 


�

4
��
�
��
�
��
 
�
�


�
�
�
�
��
�
�


	
��
�
�0
�
�
�
 
��
 


�



�
�
0


�
�
�
�
��


��
 


�

4
��
�
��
�
��
 
�
�


�
�
�
�
��
�
 


��


�
�

�
 
�
�


�
�
�
�
��
�
	
�
3
�
��
�	
	
��


��
�
�0
�
�
�
 
��
 


�

4
��
�
��
�
�

�
�
	
�
3
�
��


��
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
�,
�
�6
�
�
�
2
�


��
�
�
�
�
��
�
�

�
�0
�	
�
�
��
��

�


�
��
�
�


�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�

�
�
�
�


8�
�


�
��
6
�
�	
�
�
	


�

�
�
�

�


	
�6


�
2
��
��


�
��
�
�
�6


 
��
	


�

9
:
;
9
<
;
�=
>
�?
9
@
A
9
B
=
?
C
�D
�>
E
9
9
B
=
?
C
�=
F
;
?
G<
9
C
�G
<
�H
?
F
9

9
:
;
9
<
;
�=
>
�I
?
@
<
<
G<
J
�@
I
I
?
GK
@
;
G=
<
�=
F
;
?
G<
9
C
�G
<
�E
9
C

H
=
F
<
C
@
E
L
�?
9
J
9
<
C

�

M
N
O
P
Q

R
S
T
�U
V
W
X
Y
Z[
S
R
�V
\
�R
S
Z]
�̂
Y
_̀
Za
[
�V
Y
�W
_
Y
R
�R
S
T
Y
T
V
\
�b
T
c
V
a
[
]
�R
V
�b
_
d
b
T
Y
�e
�Y
T̂

_̂
a
�_
Y
U
S
ZR
T
U
R
]
�c
R̂
f�
U
V
a
R
Y
_
U
R
V
Y
�R
V
�U
S
T
U
g
�_
c
c
�̂
Zd
T
a
]
ZV
a
]
�W
Y
ZV
Y
�R
V
�U
V
d
d
T
a
U
Za
[
�̀
V
Y
g
�ĥ
V
�a
V
R
�]
U
_
c
T
f

i
j
k
l
mM
n
O
mO
oP
p

q
j
N
rP
s
Op

i
j
k
l
mM
n
�M
N
p

Q
s
k
oP
�t
�k
u

s
v
w
p

x
y
p

i
k
OP
p

j
P
z
p

Q
Ok
O{
Q
p

q
j
N
rP
s
O�
M
N
|

q
j
N
rP
s
O�
q
v
k
Q
P
p

}
~
�]
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
��
�̀
�
��
�

c
�
�
�
�
�
�a
�
��
c
b

�
�~
}
~
��
}
}
�
�~
�
~
~
��

�
��
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�h
�
��
�
f�
�
�

�
�
�
f�
�
�
�
�h
�
��
�
f�
�
�

W
~
�

_
��
��
�
��
�
��
�

U���������f������̂���������}�~��hb_Yh��h��hd�h_h~~~~} �f������a�XSf�¡�

`
_
ZR
Y
V
]
T
�Y
�
Z]
c
ZW

]
ZR
T
�b
c
V
U
g
�W
c
_
a

W
c
_
a
a
Za
[

V̂
[
�c
_
X
V
�
R

R
S
Z]
�̂
Y
_̀
Za
[
�S
_
]
�b
T
T
a
�W
Y
T
W
_
Y
T̂

\
Y
V
d
�W
c
V̀
d
_
a
�U
Y
_
¢
T
a
�b
Zd

]
�
Y
¢
T
X

�
£
�
hW
U
c
hY
]
h�
�
hd
�
hX
h~
~
~
~
�
 
Y
}
~
}
¤
h]
�
hW
~
�

_̂
R
T̂
�}
�
f~
�
f}
�

]̂
U
U

�
�
¤
¥
£
hb
_
Y
hU
Y
h�
�
ĥ
Y
hR
h~
�
~
�
~
 
]
}

~
}
f~
£
f}
�

}
�
~
�
�

¦
�§
�̈
©
©

ª
«¬
­
�®̄
°
±
²
�³̄

µ́
�¶
°
·̧
�³
¹
°
³
°
ª́
¯

¦

º

Q
s
k
oP
�u
p

»
¼

»
º

u
¼

u
º

¼
¼

½
¼
º
º

Y
�
¡

b
�
¾U
�
�

�̂
��

�̂
��
��
�
���
�

�
�
�

�
�
8�
�

�
,
��
�
�,
�

�
3
�
0
��
�


�
�

�
�

�
	
�
�
�
��
�

�
�
�

�
�
8�
�

�
�
��
�
�,
�

�


�
�	
��


��
0


�
�


�
��
�

�


�
��


¿
3


�
�
�

�
�
0

	
�
�
�
	
��
3
�
 
�
�
��
2

�
�
,

�
�
8�
�

�
�
��
�
�,
�

�
	
3


�	
��


��
0


�
�


�

�
�
��


�
��


¿
3


�
�



�
�
0
�	
�
�
�
	

�
3
�
 
�
�
��
2

�
�
-

�
�
8�
�

�
�
��
,
�,
�

�
	
3


�	
��


��


0
��



3
�
�
�
�


�

À

Page 292



�
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
�
	


�
�
��
�
�


�
�
�
�

�


�


�
�	
�


�
�
�
�
�
�



�
�
�
�
�
�	


�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
��
�
��
�

�
�
�
�
�
��
��
 
��
�


�
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
�

�
!
�
�


�
�
�"
�


	
�
��
�	
�
�
�
��
�
�
#�

�
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
�
��
�


$
�
�
��


�
�
�
��
�
�

�
�
�%
�
��
�
	
�
!
�
�
�

�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�

�
�
��
�
	


�
�
��
�
�


�
�
�
��


�


�
��
�
�

�
�
�%
�
��
�
�
�


�
�
�
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
�

�
�
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
�
"
�
�
�
�
��


�
�
�
��
�
�

	


�


�
��
�
�
�"
�


	
�
�
�
�
&
��
"
��
�
�
�

�
�
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
�
"
�
�
�
�
#�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�

�
�
�
�
"
�
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�
�
��
��
�
�%
�
��
�
�

	


�


�
��
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
�
�

�
�
�
�
�
�

�
"
�%
�
��
'
�
�
��
�
�%
�(
�
�!


�
�
�
&
�
�

%
�
�
�
�
��
�
��
�	
��


�
#

�
�
�
�
�

)
*
+
,
-

.
/
0
�1
2
3
4
5
67
/
.
�2
8
�.
/
69
�:
5
;
<
6=
7
�2
5
�3
;
5
.
�.
/
0
5
0
2
8
�>
0
?
2
=
7
9
�.
2
�>
;
@
>
0
5
�A
�5
0
:
:
;
=
�;
5
1
/
6.
0
1
.
9
�?
.
:
B�
1
2
=
.
5
;
1
.
2
5
�.
2
�1
/
0
1
C
�;
?
?
�:
6@
0
=
9
62
=
9
�3
5
62
5
�.
2
�1
2
@
@
0
=
1
6=
7
�<
2
5
C
�D
:
2
�=
2
.
�9
1
;
?
0
B

E
F
G
H
I)
J
+
I+
K,
L

M
F
*
N,
O
+L

E
F
G
H
I)
J
�)
*
L

-
O
G
K,
�P
�G
Q

O
R
S
L

T
U
L

E
G
+,
L

F
,
V
L

-
+G
+W
-
L

M
F
*
N,
O
+�
)
*
X

M
F
*
N,
O
+�
M
R
G
-
,
L

Y
Z
�9
[
\
]
[
\̂
_
\̀
�̀<
a
bc
d

?
e
f
_
e
f
�=
g
�h
?
>

i
�Z
Y
Z
�j
Y
Y
h
�Z
k
Z
Z
��

l
�_
\̀
mn
f
o
p
a
f
_̂
Dâ
q
[
Bq
e
r

s
s
s
Bp
a
f
_̂
Dâ
q
[
Bq
e
r

3
Z
Z

;̀
�m
f
_
mq
a
t\
_

1uvẁ \̂ v̀̀B_sx\̂v:eqyr\ft̀vYzZghD>;5D{{D{{D@jD;DZZZZY|̀B_sx\̂h=k4/B̂}t

<
;
6.
5
2
9
0
�5
w
69
?
63

0
~
.
0
5
=
;
?
�0
?
0
�
;
.
62
=
9

3
?
;
=
=
6=
7

3
5
2
3
2
9
0
:
�?
;
4
2
w
.

.
/
69
�:
5
;
<
6=
7
�/
;
9
�>
0
0
=
�3
5
0
3
;
5
0
:

8
5
2
@
�3
?
2
<
@
;
=
�1
5
;
�
0
=
�>
6@

9
w
5
�
0
4

g
�
h
D3
1
?
D5
9
D{
{
D@
j
D4
DZ
Z
Z
Z
g
|
5
Y
Z
Y
�
D9
g
D3
Z
g

:
;
.
0
:
�Y
j
BZ
z
BY
z

9
:

1
1

g
g
�
�
�
D>
;
5
D1
5
D~
~
D:
5
D.
DZ
j
g
j
Z
|
9
Y

Z
Y
BZ
�
BY
z

Y
z
Z
g
h

�

-
O
G
K,
�Q
L

�
�

�
�

Q
Q

�
Q
�
�

�
��
��
�
�

�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
�

�

�

-
O
G
K,
�Q
L

�
�

�
�

Q
�

Q
�

�
�

�
�
�
�

�
��
��
�
�

�
�
�
��
�
�
�

�

�
��
��
�
�

�
�
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
�

�

5
\
}

>
x
�1
[
c
:
a
t\

:
\̀
q̂
m]
tme
f

�
�
�

�
�
�




�
(
#�
�
#(
 

�
�
%
	
��
�
�
�
�"
�
�

�
�


�
�
��
�

�

-
O
G
K,
�Q
L

�
�

�
�

Q
Q

�
Q
�
�

¡

Page 293



�
�

�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

�
	


�
�
��


�
�
�





�

�
��
�

�




�


�



�


��
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
	


�
��


�



�
�
�
�
�
�
�
��


�

�
�
�
�

�
��
	
�


�
�

�
	


�
��


�

�
�


�
	
�
��
�
��
	
�

�
�
�
�
�
�

��
�



�


��
�
�
�
�

��������	���

�
�
�
��
�
	
�
��
�



�	����
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
�
 
!
�
�
�"
#
�
$
�
#
%
��
!
�
$
�
� 
�
!
&
�
#
�
&
�

!
�
�
#
�
'
( 
!
�
�
)
%
�*
+
,
-
.
.
��
/0
1
�2
�3
-
-
.
.
��
/4
5
�(
�
$
)
�
�
(�
"
��
�
�
�

�
6
�
#
!
)
)
�7
#
!
 
�
��
( 
�
�
&
(�
�
&
8 �
�
�
�
��
'
(&
�
(�
"
�"
)
!
9
�
�
�

�
!
�
�
)
�(
&
��
�
�:
�
�#
�
 
�
6
�
�
�!
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
�
 
!
�
�
�

"
#
�
$
�
#
%
��
!
�
$
�
�(
&
��
�
�:
�
�(
�
&
�
!
)
)
�
�
��
(�
�
(�
��
�
�
��
'
(&
�
(�
"
�

&
�
�
�
7
#
�
�
�
��
!
�
�
)
��
�
� 
!
�
$
�
��
�
�
�7
#
!
 
�
�
�
#
;
��
7
��
�
�
�

�
'
(&
�
(�
"
�&
�
�
�
7
#
�
�
�
8�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�&
�
�
�
7
#
�
�
�
�$
�
)
�
�
#
��
()
)
�

:
�
��
�
� 
!
�
$
�
��
�
�
��
'
(&
�
(�
"
�$
�
)
�
�
#
��
7
�:
&
�+
<
-
-
�*
-
�:
�=
3
�

6
!
�
�
%
;
�
�:
#
�
�
�
��
#
�&
( 
()
!
#
8�
��

>
�
��
�

?
@
A
?
B
A
�C
D
�E
F
G
B
B
HB
I
�G
E
E
F
HJ
G
A
HC
B
�C
K
A
F
HB
?
L
�H
B
�M
?
L

F
?
I
?
B
L

�

N
O
P
Q
R

�
>
�
�

�
S
�
�
��
>
�
��
�
��
>
��
��
�
	
�
��
�
��
�
�S
	
�
�
��
>
�
�
�
�
�
��
�


�
�
�
�
��
�
��
	
�
�
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
	
�
�	
�


>
��
�


�
�
�

�
�
T�


�
�
�
�
	


�
�
�
��
�
�

>
�


�
�	




��
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
�S
�
��
�
��
�
�

�
�
�
�
�


��
�
��
�
�
�
�U
�
�
��
�
�
��


	


�
T

V
W
X
Y
ZN
[
P
ZP
\Q
]

Ŵ
O
_Q̀
P]

V
W
X
Y
ZN
[
�N
O
]

R̀
X
\Q
�a
�X
b

c̀
d
]

e
f
]

V
X
PQ
]

W
Q
g
]

R
PX
Ph
R
]

Ŵ
O
_Q̀
P�
N
O
i

Ŵ
O
_Q̀
P�̂
c
X
R
Q
]

j
k
��
l
m
n
l
m
op
m
��
��
q
rs
t



u
v
p
u
v
��
w
�x


�

y
�k
j
k
�z
j
j
x
�k
{
k
k
��

|
�p
m
�}
~
v
�
�
q
v
p
oU
q
o�
l
T�
u
�

�
�
�
T�
q
v
p
oU
q
o�
l
T�
u
�

S
k
k

w
��
�w
k
k


����mo���Tp��mo��u���mv���j�kwxU�	�U��U��U�zU	Ukkkkj��Tp��mox�{�>To��

�
	
��
�
�
�
�
��
�
��


�S

�
�
�
�
�
�
��


�
�
�
�S


	
�

S


	
�
�
��
�

S
�
�
S
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
	


�	
�
�
	
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

�
>
��
��
�
	
�
��
�
�>
	
�
��
�
�
�
�S
�
�
S
	
�
�
�

�
�
�
�
�S


�
�
�
	
�
�

�
	
�
�
�
��
��

�
�
�
�
�
�

w
�
x
US




U�
�
U�
�
U�
z
U�
Uk
k
k
k
w
�
�
j
k
j
�
U�
w
US
k
w

�
	
�
�
�
�j
z
Tk
�
Tj
�

�
�






w
w
�
�
�
U�
	
�
U

�
Uk
k
U�
�
U�
Uk
z
w
w
k
�
�
j

k
j
Tk
�
Tj
�

�
��
��
�
�

�
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
 
�
��
 
�
 
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
 
¡
 
�
¢
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

�

£

R̀
X
\Q
�b
]

¤
¥

¦
§

b
b

¨
b
£
£

�
m
�

�
�
©

l
s
�
q
�m

�
m
��
o}
n
�}u
v

�
-
-

&
�
ª$
$

-
=
8-
3
8=
«

&
�
:
 
(�
�
�
�
�7
�
#

�
)
!
�
�
(�
"

¬

Page 294



�
�

�
�
�
��
�
�
�
	

�

�
�

��
��
�


�
�

�
�
�


�
�
	�
�
��
�
�

�




�
�
��
	�
�

�
��
����	��

�
�
�
	�
�

�
�
	�

�
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�

�
�
�
�


�
�
�
��
�
��


�
�
�

�
�
�
�
��
�
�

�
	�
�
�
�
�
�

��	���
��
�����

��������

�
�
�
��
�


�
�
�




�

�


	�
�

�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

��
�
	�

�
�
�
�
�
��
�
 
 
!

"

#
$
%
&
'

�
�
�
��


(
�
�
	�
�
�
�

�
��
�
	�
��
�
�
�
	�
�
�

�
�(
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�


�
��
�
�


�
�
�
��


��
�
�
�
�
�
�

��
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
	�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
)�
�


�
�
�
�
�
�


�
��


��
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
	�
�
�
�
	

�
�
�(
�
	

�
��


��


�
�
�
�
�
	�
�
��


�
�
�*
�


��


�
��
�
�
�
�
)

+
,
-
.
/#
0
%
/%
1&
2

3
,
$
4&
5
%2

+
,
-
.
/#
0
�#
$
2

'
5
-
1&
�6
�-
7

5
8
9
2

:
;
2

+
-
%&
2

,
&
<
2

'
%-
%=
'
2

3
,
$
4&
5
%�
#
$
>

3
,
$
4&
5
%�
3
8
-
'
&
2

?
@
��
A
B
C
A
B
DE
B
��
��
F
GH
I

�
J
K
E
J
K
��
L
�M
�
�

N
�@
?
@
�O
?
?
M
�@
P
@
@
��

Q
�E
B
�R
S
K
T
U
F
K
E
D*
F
DV
A
)V
J
W

X
X
X
)U
F
K
E
D*
F
DV
A
)V
J
W

(
@
@

L
�Y
�L
@
@

�YZ��BD�Z�)EX[BDZ�JV\WBK]�Z?̂@LM*���*__*__*�O*�*@@@@?̀�)EX[BDM�P��)Da]

�
�
	�
�


�
�
��
�
	�
�
	(

�
�


�
�
�
��
�




�
�(
�
�
�

(
�
�
�
�
	�
�

�
�
	�
�
	�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

�
�
	�
��
�
�
�
	�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
�(
�
�
(
�
�
�
�

�
�


�
�(
�


�
�
�
�
��
�
�
b
�
�
��
	�

�
�
�
b
�
�

L
c
M
*(
�
�
*�
�
*_
_
*�
O
*�
*@
@
@
@
L̀
�
?
@
?
d
*�
L
*(
@
L

�
�
�
�
�
�?
O
)@̂
)?̂

�
�

�
�

L
L
d
e
c
*�
�
�
*�
�
*@
@
*�
�
*�
*@
O
@
L
@̀

@
?
)@
c
)?̂

f
�g
�f
h
h

i
j
k
l
m
n
�o
p
k
k
j
�q
p
r
m
�s
t
u
vw
x
vm
i
�i
t
m
t
j
r
p
�r
j
j
r
m
i
t
y
t
m
x
�s
k
n
i
�q
j
k
q
k
w
r
p

f

z

'
5
-
1&
�7
2

{
|

}
~

7
7

�
7
z
z

�
�
�

�
B
a

�
[
��
A
H
�
F
]B

�
B
�V
DR
C
]RJ
K

�
�
�

�
�
��
�

�
�
��
�
��
�

�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
 
!

�
�
�
"
"
�"
�

Page 295



 

Page 296



   
 

   
 

 
 

Meeting: Hillingdon Planning Committee  

Date: 14 January 2026 Time: 7:00pm 

Venue: Council Chamber, Civic Centre  

 

ADDENDUM SHEET 
 
 

Item: 8                      
                          

Location: 82 to 84 High Street 

Amendments/Additional Information: Officer Comments: 

One additional consultation was carried out with the Land 
Contamination Officer post committee publication as the 
land is within an area of potential land contamination. This 
has been addressed within sections 7.77 and 7.78 of the 

published Committee report.  
 
The Contaminated Land Officer has initially advised that a 
land contamination informative may be required considering 
the site is identified to be on potentially contaminated land.  
Follow up comments on the wording of this informative are 
to be provided in due course and this would be added to the 
final decision.  
 

Officers are awaiting the official wording of 
the informative in their final comments 
which are due to be received by the 
23/01/26 and this would satisfactorily 
address matters relating to land 
contamination. 
 

Item: 9 
                                           

Location: 9 Kingsend 

Amendments/Additional Information: Officer Comments: 

Since publication of this report, there is an amendment to 
the wording of Condition 5.  
Condition 5 (Operational Management Plan) has been 
altered to the following wording: 
 
“Prior to the approved delivery hatch becoming operational, 
an Operational Management Plan for the use and monitoring 
of the delivery hatch shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved 
Operational Management Plan shall thereafter be 
implemented in full and retained for the lifetime of the 
development.   
  
The Operational Management Plan shall include (but not be 
limited to) details of:  
  
a) How the delivery collection hatch will be operated by the 
store, including operation hours.    
  

The wording of Condition 5 has been 

amended since the publication of the 

report to ensure compliance with the 

statutory tests, in particular 

reasonableness. The condition continues 

to require an Operational Management 

Plan to control the use of the delivery 

hatch, and the amendment does not 

change the overall planning balance or 

recommendation. 

Page 297

Agenda Item 10



   
 

   
 

b) The collection procedure that delivery collection riders 
must follow in order to utilise the delivery hatch, which 
should include but not be limited to the parking of cycles 
within the designated parking space and not loitering in and 
around the site for long periods of time around collection of 
deliveries.   
  
c)  The management and reporting procedure to be utilised 
by the store to identify riders who do not follow the collection 
procedure and, where possible, report them to the relevant 
delivery platform.  
  
d)  Measures to discourage the improper use of pedestrian 
footpaths that run through the site by delivery drivers, such 
as clear site signage and advisory instructions to riders 
regarding approved access routes.  
  
e)  The methods of communication that will be utilised 
between parties of interest, including the relevant delivery 
apps and riders, in order to communicate the site rules and 
facilitate the reporting of breaches to the delivery platform.  
  
f)  A review and monitoring procedure, including how 
complaints relating to behaviour of delivery riders will be 
logged and raised with the relevant delivery platform.  
  
REASON   
To ensure the safe and convenient use of the site by all 
users, and to prevent detrimental harm to the amenities of 
the neighbouring properties to the site, in accordance with 
policies DMHB 11, DMT 1, DMT 2, DMT 5 and DMT 6 of the 
Hillingdon Local Plan Part 2 (2020).” 
 

 

Page 298



   
 

   
 

 

Page 299



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 To receive the minutes of the previous meeting
	 Planning Committee Report Part 1_Standard Information
	6 47 Sweetcroft - 15756/APP/2024/3112
	7 Ariel Hotel, 118 Bath Road - 1126/APP/2023/3671
	8 82-84 High Street, Ruislip - 78935/APP/2025/2287
	9 9 Kingsend - 36969/APP/2025/2303
	 Planning Committee Report Part 3_Policy Appendices
	 Plans for the Hillingdon Planning Committee
	10 Addendum

